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(1) 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate G€re ral 


with the 

European 1beater of Operations 


APO 887 	 REGR DEO VJJcL1tss~1-1E: J) 

BOARD OF REVIE# NO. 1 

CM :::TO 6342 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Private JOSEPH R. SlilITH 
(33503967), attached unas­
sigre d 34lst Replacement 
Company, 65th Replacement 
Battalion (formerly of 
Casual Detachment 13, 17th 
Replacerre nt Depot) 

'TJhb,8 FEB 194-S 	 BY AIll/ rrry f:F 

BY. CkJ.L £ .W1~q·A#-$tJ.I!.; Lr,, Cot. 
J/J:Cz.C:Jf¥AT[1, ES. ;?(I _~'1}' $.'­

) UNIT"'.!ill KINGOOM BASE, OOMMUNICA'II ONS 
) ZONE, IDIDP.EAN THEATER CF OPERATIONS 
) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at 187th 
) G€neral Hospital, Tidworth, :i::ngland, 
) 19 December 1944. Sentence: Dis­
) honorable discharge, total forfei­
) tures and confirerrent at hard labor 
) far seven years. Eastern Branch, 
) United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York • 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVID'/ NO. 1 

RITER, SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of tba soldier nrured 
above has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifi ­
cation: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 

Specification: In tha. t Private Joseph R. Smith, 
34lst Replacement ComparJ1, 65th Replacement 
Battalion, f~rnerly of Detachment 13, 17th 
Replacement Depot, Ground Force Replacement 
System, did, 'Viithout proper leave, absent 
himself from his organization at Camp Hinton Saint 
George, Somerset, England, from about 28 May 1944 
to about 7 October 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty to and, was fourrl guilty of the Charge and 
Specification. Evidence was introduced of two previous convictions: 

6342 




.1 

(2) 
 . 

one each 'by summary court and special court-martial for 

absence without leave for 98 and two days· respectively, 

in violation of Article of War 61. He was senl:.enced to be 

dishonorably discharged tl:e service, to forfeit all pay 

and all<:Mances dtB or to become due, and to be confined at 

hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authorl ty DJB:Y 

direct, for ten yea.rs. The reviewing authority approved 

the sentence but remitted three years of the. confinement, 

designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 

Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, 

and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to 

Articie o! War 50i· 


3. The evidence for tra prosecution is substpntially 

as follows: 


a. During June 1944 Casual Detachment 13 of the 

17th Replacement Depot (for convenience hereinafter referred 

to ae the 17th Depot) moved from Camp Hinton Saint George, 

England, to the continent. Prior to its depa.rture it trans­

ferred sore men, in various status, to tl:e 65th Battalion 

of the 12th Replacement Depot (for convenience hereinafter 

referred to as .the 12th. Depot). First Lieutenant :cyl~ W. 

Loomis of the 12th Depot, testified tra t he was stationed 

at Camp Hinton as personnel officer of his unit and that in 

that capacity he received original official records pertain­
ing w tl:e men who were transferred. A morning report of 

the 17th Depot for )) May 1~4 was am::mg these records. He 

stated that the records were turned over to him w take offi ­

cial custody of them. The prosecution offered in evidence 

an extract copy of this morning report of the 17th Depot certi ­


.fie d on 18 December 1<;44 as a true ar:d complete copy by Lieuten­
ant Loomis as personnel officer of the 12th Depot. The entry 

in:licates accmed 1s s;t.a.tus from dlty w .AWOL effective 28 1ia.y 

1944. Defense counsel objected to the adnission of the ex­

tract copy on the ground that Lieutenant Loomis was not the 

official custodian of morning reports of the 17th Depot (.R4,5; 

Pros.Ex.I). The objection was overruled and the extract copy 

was admitted in evidence. Presumably de.rense counsel's obje c­

t ion was directed at the authentication of the extract copy. 


b. ~s Prosecution Exhibit 2, over objection by the 

defense, the court admitted in evidence an eJ.'tract copy of 

tra morning report for 27 June 1944 of "Det 65 Ground Force Re-· 

placement System" i.e.,the 12th Depot•. The entry indicates 

accused's transfer from the 17th Depot in .Ar;OL status, Lieuten­

ant Loomis as personnal officer of 11Det 65 G.t<"11.S" i.e., the 12th 

Depot, certified it on 18 December 1944 as a true and complete 

copy (R5-6). Captain John s. V•hlte, 34lst Replacement Company, 

testified that accused had never been physically present in the 

ccmpany since he had been commanding (RB). 


fi:ld2 
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c. As Prosecution Exhibit 3, the defense stating 


it had no objection, the court admitted in evidence an ex­

tract copy of the morning report for 11 October 1944 of the 

12th De~t. 'The pertinent part is as follows: 


n33503967 Smith, Joseph R. Pvt. 
Fr AWOL to abs hands of Mil Au~)l Yeo­
vil, Sonerset 0300 hours 7 Oet 44, abs , 
han:is Mil. Autlt Yeovil, Somerset to abs

.• hands Mil Auth, Provost Marshal 12th 
Repl Depot, 10 Oct 44. E1£ held in 12th 
Repl Depot Guardhouse 11 (Pros.Ex.3). 

It is c'ertified by Lieutemnt Loomis in identi~al form and 

of same date as ·the two previous prosecution exhibits. Cor­

poral Gilbert J. Krackenberger, Headquarters Company, 12th 

Replacement Depot, testified tla t accused had been in the 

guardhouse, sime 11 0otober .10 or 15" (R9). . 
. 	 . ·. . . 

. 4. After an explanation of his rights, accused elected 

to remain silent (RlO). The defense of'fered no evidence•. 


5. 'I'b.s only issues requiring consideration perta:in to 

the rulings on the admissibility of the extract copies of the 

m~ningr~orts. · 


a. Though the trial rec~d is not as ~xplicit as 
it might be in reference to Lieutenant Londa 1 relati.on to the 
17th Depot 1 tfu Board of ReTiew will take judicial notice of 
.the peculiar transitory nature of pers0nnel, aid administration 
of necessity prevalent in Replacemnt Depots. It may thus 
fairly be inferred that the· 12th Depot became the successor 
to the 17th Depot and as such records of both units imrged in­

i to the conmon legatl. cmtody ot the personnel otfi.cer of the 
i succeeding unit. Thus Lieutenant Loomis became the official 
custodian of original records of botli the 12th and 17th Depots. 

':In tba t capacity he wa,s coliip:ttent to certify extract copies 
'trom original records of either unit. 

, 
11An extract 

~ 

copy of a moming report authenti ­
..	cated by an officer who certi!ieo himelf to 
9e, ·or whose official signature indicates 
th&t 1 he is, the custaiian of tre original, · 
is admissible in".evidence without. further 
-authentication by the o:>mmanding officer ot 
the regiment or similar unit of which the 
organization is a part" (CU: 197624 (1931), 
Dig. op. JAG 1912-1940, sec.395 (17) p.212). 

b. As- her~to.fore noted (subpar. a., supra) Proseeu--_­
6342 
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tion Exhibit 2, the morning report extract copy reciting 

accused's transfer in AWOL status "Was properly authenti ­

cated. -Defense's objec~ion was directed at the competenc1 

of the facts recited on the orig:i.Oal mo;rning report entry. 

Counsel asserted the ent r:r was not the beist evidence to 

prove the transfer in AWOL status. In a desertion case· 

in considering the alhissibilit7 o.t an em. ry similar to 

the instant one, the Board o.t Review (sitting in Washington) 


·stated the princ:.iple. involved a11. "follows: · 
I 

•The morning report entries were admissible' 
.to establish pri.ma. facie, the .tacts stated· 
therein in so .tar as it wa!!I the duty of the 
col!llIIB.Ilding officer o.t the Jd Recruit Company 
to know the facts and to make a recC1t'd of 
them. Par. 117,!, M.C.ll., 1928. The law pre­
sumes that public officers do as the law and 
their dlty require them, and tre presumption 
prevails until the contrary is shown. Op. JAG, 
A.ug. 4, 1890, P. 42, 246. The entries the..re­
fore were admissible to establish the fact 
that the accused was assigned to the 3d Re­
cruit Company md was absent without leave 
tm re.trom. It is the llllqualified duty o.t a 
company conmander to know·wbat officers arxi 
men are assigned to his organization aid t.o 
know their status, that is, whetb9r present 
or absent and, i.t absent, whether with or 
without leave. The canpaey c~der's en­
tries in the moming report as to such matters 
are trerefore based on pera:>nal knowledge and. 
are pl:'i.aary ev1d.ence o.t the existence o.t those 
facts" (ClL 199270, Andrews, 3 BR 342). 

' . 
I, * *. * 


·11Morning report entries d> not and are not in­

tended to recite all preliminary or intermed­
iate .tacts forming the basis o.t the authority 
for mald..q;!; them, and tl:»:ir administrative re­
gularity must be and is presUII&d. For ex.ample, 
it is presumed, in the usual case, that the 
soldier was dUly transferred to and· assigned 
for dut7 with the organization from which the 
report reciting his absence without leave comes. 
It is only when the accui'acy o~ regular:Lty o.t 
the rec.ital is impeacbeci·tha.t tre presumption 
falls" (CM 189682, Myers, 1 BR 179; quoted with 

,apprO'lal in the Andrews case, supra). 

In th,e instant case there was no attack on the verity of the 
report but conversely it was corroborated by the testimony -of' · 

..Captain YJhite, the company oommandar, who testified that accU.Sfi.3 4 2 
-4­
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had never been physically present in the company since he 
had been commanding. The law member did not err in overruling 
defense's objection to the admissibility of this exhibit. 

c. Prosecution Exhibit 3 was properly certified (sub­
par. a., supra). The defense expressly stated it had no objec­

' 	 tion to its admission. There was no attack on the verity of 
what it reported and it was in fact corroborated by the testi ­
moey of Cozporal_ Krackeriberger. The Board of Review (sitting 
in the European Theater of Operations) recently ruled as admis­
sible an extract cow of a rooming report in which the entry, 
as in the instant case, reported accused's change of status 
from absent without leave to confinement. Prosecution fuchibit 
3 was properly received in evidence (CM ETO 4740, Courtney; 28 
USC 695, sec.l; 49 Stat. 1561). 

6. The record contains competent and stbstantial evidence 
that accused did, without; proper leave, absent hims elf from his 
organization at Camp Hinton Saint George, Somerset, Engl.am, 
from about 28 lfa.y 1944 to about 7 October 1944. 

7. Tre charge sheet shows that accused is 20 years and 
one month of age and that he was iniu:ted at Kaynesboro, Pennsyl­
vania, 12 March 1943 tp serve for the duration of the war plus 
six months. He had flo prior service. 

8. The court was legally ex>nstituted and had jurisdiction 
of tre person and offense. No ettors injuriously affecting the 
substantial rights of accused were oommitted during the trial. 
The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support tre findings of guilty and the 
sentence. 

9. Confinament in the Eastezn Branch, United States Disci­
plinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, is authorized (AU 42; Cir. 
210, WD, 14 Sept.1943, sec. VI, as amended). 

·7.7 It . 
_ __._f_f__ ____ Judge Advocate1,_·"_.JJ.._._-~_-_._J_V_w 

i 

~C~ Judge Advocate 

~ f. ~~-Judge Advocate
71 . . 

- 5 -	
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Branch Ot!'ice of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Theater of.Operations 

APO 00'! 


BOARD OF REVIEVl NO. 2 	 2 4 FEB 1945 · 

CM ETO 6376 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 95th INFANTRY DIVISION 

) 


v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at AFO 95, 
) U.S. Army, $ January 1945. Sentence: 

Private JAMES D. KING ) Dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures 
(34547$67), Company C, ) and confinement at hard labor for life. 
379th Inf~tey ) Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 

) Barracks, Greenhaven, New York. 

HOIDING -by BO.ARD OF REvm'i NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named a.bove 
has been examined by the Boa.rd of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifica­
tions: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 75th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private James D. King, Company
"C", 379th Infantry, did, at or near Saarlautern­
Rodea, Genna.ny, on or about 16 December 1944, 
while before the eneicy, by his disobedience endanger 
the safety of his squad position, which it wu his 
duty to defend, in that he refused to stand his 
tour of guard. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

-1-	 6376 
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Specification: In that * * * having received a 
lawful order from Sergeant Frank A. Volpe, 
Company "C", '.3'Z9th Infantry, to ·go on 
guard, the said Sergeant Frank. A. Volpe, 
being in the execution of his office, did, 
at or near Saarlautern-Roden, Germany, on 
or about 16 December 1944, fail to obey the 
same. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court 
~~·esent when the vote was taken concurrine, was found guilty of both 
charges and specifications. Evidence was introduced of four previous 
convictions by special court-martial, one for absence without leave 
for one day, breaking restriction and making a false statement, in 
violation of Articles of War 61,69, and 96; two for absence without 
leave for one day and two days respectively in violation of Article 
of War 61 and one for failure to obey an order of a superior officer, 
in violation of Article of War 96. Three-fourths of the members of 
the court present when the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced 
to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and 
allowances due or to become due and to be confined at hard labor at 
such place as the reviewing authority may. direct, for the term of his 
natural life. The reviewing authority- approved the sentence, desig­
nated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­
haven, New York, as the place of confinement and forwarded the record 
of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 5ok· 

J. The prosecution's evidence shows that the second platoon 
of Company C, '.379th Infantry, on 16 December 1944 was fighting in 
Saarlautern-P..oden, G€rmany (R?). They had just completed an attack 
on the enemy, and at about one or two o'clock in the afternoon had 
.cleared 	some prisoners out of a building, had set up their security 
and guard and were awaiting further orders. The platoon was cut 
down to 17 men C!-t the time. They had made up a. guard roster and had 
arranged security (RS) which was continuous day and night. No man 
had to stand a double shift (R9) and had four hours off and two hours 
on guard. There was no break in the guard from the time th~ house 
was taken (R25). Two heavy machine guns were in the room on the 
ground floor (RB,14,19,20,21,25), at the front of the house with 
three men in support, one man was in front in the hallway and one 
man in the rear door of the building, also coveri~ the cellar in such 
a position that thefirst man could see the second (R2l). This was 
all the security they had (R2l-22). The men who were not on guard 
were to keep out of sight downstairs in the cellar where they slept 
(R8,22). The Germans held the build.in~ a.cross the street variously 
estimated to be 20 or JO feet distant (RS,10) to 50 yards (Rll), and 
there was enemy firing on the street continuously all night (R7,8,19, 
22). These were the conditions prevailing at nine o'clock in the 
evening of that day (R7). 

-2­ 6376 
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Private First Class Charles H. GWathney of the platoon 
attempted to wake accused at 15 minutes to nine that night, for 
guard duty (Rll,15,18) but Vihen awakened, accused continued to 
lay there and although he was called three times over a period 
of ten minutes, he did not get up {Rll) but just said, 110K, I'll 
get up in a minute" (Rl2). Sergeant Frank A. Volpe of the same 
platoon had awakened Gwati).ney, whose duty it was to get the others 
on the shift up (R22) and he was standing at the head of the stairs, 
heard the shouting and went downstairs. Gwathney was trying to 
get accused up and Volpe shook him and told him to get up without 
re~ult. Volpe then gave accused a direct order, repeated two or 
three times, to go on guard and accused shouted at the top of his 
voice "Are you going mma.ke me go on ~uard11 (Rl2,18,2.3). As the 
enemy was just across the street (R2.3) and there were openings 
all over the cellar covered only by blankets (R24) and accused was 
exceptionally loud (Rl2,l.3,l.4,18,23) they were forced to do some­
thing so Volpe pulled him up from the bed and told him to quiet 
down. Accused kept talking and Volpe with closed fist {R24) struck 
him once across the face when accused tripped and fell (Rl.3,lo,23). 
He continued to talk and yell and Vdpe (R23) who was ver:r angry 
(R21+) struck him in the face again (Rl.3,2.3) whereupon accused loudly 
stated, 11 By God, I am not going on guard now at all" (Rl.3). The 
noise awakened Platoon Sergeant Bundy who asked what was going on. 
When told, he said to accused, 11Just forget what they said, I'm 
ordering you to go on guard". Bundy repeated the order twice to 
accused viho replied, "By God, I am not going on guard, now, at all" 
(RlJ). Bundy then said, 110K, forget about it, we'll take ca·re of 
him later" (R24,27). 'Accused had been sleeping with his shoes (Rl6) 
and his other clothing on (Rl8). Gwathney had gone from the cellar 
to his post and accused was to have the BAR as security from the rear. 
Gwathney went to the rear to take accused's place, and covered two 
posts as accused's failure to go on guard left them short one man, 
there beine no other man to take his place (R25). At the time bf the 
trial Sergeant Bundy was in the hospital (R.14-15). 

4. Accused, as the only defense witness, testified that he was 
first on guard duty on 16 December, from five to €even o'clock, and 
was then to have four hours off, from seven till eleven o'clock. 
He pulled off his shoes when he came off duty at seven o'clock and 
went to bed in the cellar. The next he remembered Sergeant Volpe 
{lulled his covers of! and said, "Get the hell up and go on guard" 
(R.30). He raised up to put his shoes on when Volpe repeated the 
order twice and was told by accused to "Take tt easy". When he got 
his shoes on and stood up, Volpe hit him in the eye with his doubled 
fist. He had gotten up voluntarily but fell down when hit and on 
getting up again, Volpe again hit him in the face with the flat of 
his hand (R31). He denied he ever said he would not go on guard. 

-.3-
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Then Sergeant Bundy came over and told Sergeant Volpe, "Never 

mind, we'll take care of him when we get to the rear. \1e 1re 

leaving tonight at twelve". Bundy then ret'urned to the phone 

and Volpe disappeared (RJ2). Accused was not placed under 

arrest at that time but "just sat there. He told me not to 

go on guard". He testified that there was only one machine 

~ in the front of the house and he had helped set it up 

\R33,35,37). He admitted he was yelling loud enough to be 

heard in the next room and that he knew the Gennans were near 

(R33) but they couldn't hear the war he was talking (R34). He 

denied Gwathney woke him up (R34,36) and insisted that the in­

cident occurred about a quarter to eleven (R34-37). 


Sergeant Volpe, recalled as a prosecution witness, 
testified that when he shook him to get him up, accused had 
his shoes on and that it was more than five minutes after giv­
ing accused the order to get up that he struck him (R38). 

5. 	 11Any officer or soldier who, before the enemy, 

misbehaves himself * * * ~r by a.n.y misconduct, 


. disobedience, 	or neglect endangers the safety 
of any fort, post, camp, guard, or other com­
mand v.hich it is his duty to defend * * * 
shall suffer death or such other punishment· as 
a court-martial may direct" (Article of War 75). 

11llisbehavior is not confined to acts of .so,owardice. 
It is a general term and as here used Lin NH
72] it renders culpable under the article a.n.y 
conduct by an officer or soldier not conformable 
to the standard of behavior before the enemy 
set by the history of our arms. * * * · 
Urrler this clausa may be charged any act 
of treason, cowardice, insubordination or 
like conduct committed by an officer or 
soldier in the ~esence of the enemi" (MCM, 
1928, par.141.2,, p.156). · 

' 
The essential elements of proof are (a) that accused was serving 

in the presence of an enemy; and (b) acts or omissions of the 

accused as alleged (MCM, 1928, par.141.2,, p.156). 


This 	offense (a violation of .P:R 75) may consist in 

11 such acts by any officer or soldier, as * * * 
refusing to do duty or to perform some particu­
lar service when before the enemy. * * * The 
offence may be committed in a fort or other 

.6376 
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mllitary post as well as i..1 the open field, 
- as where an officer or soldier fails or 
neglects properly to defend or guard the 
post or its approaches, when threatened, 
attacked or beseiged by the enemy. * * * 
The act or acts, in the doing not doing, 
or allowing of which consists the.offence, 
must be conscious and voluntary on the part 
of the offender11 (Winthrop's Military Law 
and Precedents, 1920, Reprint, p.623). 

The evidence shows and accused admits that his platoon 
was located just across the street from the enemy by whom they were 
under fire. They were before the enemy (CJ..i ETO 1~9, Harchetti). 
There is a.conflict between the story of accused and that of the 
other witnesses in part only. Accused denied he ever said he would 
not go on guard but the testimony of the other witnesses is that 
he did not get up, that he failed to obey the repeated orders 
given him and that finally he definitely refused to obey the order. 
This was a question of fact which the court alone may decide and 
whose decision unless palpably in error, may not be disturbed upon 
review (~~ ETO 1191, Acosta; CM ETO 1953, Lewis) • 

. - . 

The phrase "which it was his duty to defend" may be 
rejected as surplusage as the remaining allegations state fact~ • 
sufficient to constitute an offense under the clause of the 
Article which declares that "any*** soldier who, before the 
enemy, misbehaves himself* * * by any misconduct, disobedience 
or neglect" is guilty of an offense (C'iJ ETO 1249, llarchetti). 

That such order as alleged was repeatedly given accused 
is shown by the evidence and admitted by accused. He denies that 
he refused to obey tqe order but it is clearly shown and admitted 
by accused that he did not obey the order to go on guard. 

The Board of Review is of the opinion that the court 
was warranted in finding accused guilty of violation of the 
?5th Article of War at the time and place and in the manner alleged. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 20 years and seven 
months of age. Without prior servi~e, he was inducted 10 March 
1943. ; 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the 
substantial rights of the accused were committed during the 
trial. The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of 
trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and 
the sentence. 

6376 
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8. The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of 
confinement is proper (Kfl 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept. 1943, 
sec VI, as a.mended). 

__,,,..--,. . . 
~-Qt~--.Y~ll- dge Advocate 

6376 
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Branch O!fice of 	The Juige Advocate "General 
with the 

European '!beater of Operations

APO 8f!l ­

BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. 2 	 ~ 4 MAR 1945- . 

CM ETO 6380 

UNITED STATES 	 ) UNITED KOODOll BASE, COWUNIC.A.TIONS ZONE, 
) EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPERATIONS. 

v. 	 ) 
) TriaJ. b;r GCM, convened at United States 

Private ROBERT J. HDWEI.MANN ) Naval Base, Exeter, Devonshire, England, 
(37613271), 217th General . ) 1-4 November, and at Burnshill Camp, 
Hospital ) Depot G-50, Norton-Fitzwarren, Somerset, 

l ·England, 13 and 18 December 1944. Sen­
tence: JJishonorable discharge, total 
!or;i,itures and confinement at hard labor 
for life, United States- Penitentiar;r 

. ~ Lewisburg, Penns;rlvania. 

HOI.DING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER,.Judg~ Advocates 


1. 'lbe record of trial in the ease of the soldier named above 
has been examined b;r the Board of Review. 

2. Accus8d was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

" 
CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Robert Joseph Himmelmann, 
2l7th General Hospital, APO 645, U.S. ArrJl:f, did, 
at or near Exeter, Devonshire, England, on .3 August 
19441 with ma.lice aforethought, willfully, deliberately, 
feloniously', unlawfu.ll;r, and with premeditation, kill 
one Phyllis Irene Kent, a human being, b;r stabbing 
her with a. knife. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote W[!.S taken concurring, was found guilty 
of the Specification and the Cmrge. No evidence of pt"evioua eon­

-1­ 6380 
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Tictions was introduced. Three-fourths of the mtmbers of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced 
to be dishonorab~ discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and 
allowances due or to become due and to be confined at hard labor 
at such place as the reviewing authorit;r mq direct for the term 
ot his natural life. The reviewing authorit7 approTed the sentence, 
designated the United States PenitentiB.171 Lewisburg,- Pennsylvania, 
aa the place of confinement and forwarded the record of trial for 
action pursuant to the provisions of Article of War 5ok. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that deceased 
was a pr-iTate in_ the British Auxilli&l7 Territorial SerTice, 
billeted at Rowancrott, an "A'l'S11 Hostel, at Exeter, DeTonshire, 
F.ngland (R35,39). Her room was.on the ground floor near the 
et~ leading from the entrance hall .to the first noor (i36­
37). At approximatel.7 2200 hours 3 August 1944, she ran screaming 
trom the direction of her room into the hall and haltwa.7 up the 
stairs (R?l,76-78,80), where she collapsed CR78). Blood epurted. 
tran a knife 110und at the base of her neck in the region of the 
collar bone and on the left side (R98,l07) and she saitl to the girls 
who quickly gathered around her that she was dying - bleeding to 
death - and that she had been attacked in her room by an American 
soldier (R54,88,90,98-99,200). Despite first aid and hospital 
treatment, she died abOut an .hour later from the effects of the 
wound (RU-17,103,107). Deceafed was wearing at this time a white 
woolen jumper (Rl75) •. 

Accused, leaving the hoatel hurrie~, was encountered by 
girls entering the front door, attracted there by deceased's screams 
lR40,4l,52,84,143). He was immediate~ pursued by several persons who 
were just outside the hostel when he emerged CR40-4l,52,143). Running 
neetly along the highway, he kept ahead of them for a.bout a hundred 
yards, then dived into some bushes bordering a drive (R41,ll3). One 
of his pursuers, executing a flying tackle of accused.thr~ugh.the 
shrubbeey, fell with him into the ditch on the opposite side and was 
assisted b7 the immediate arrival of others. Accused lay there 
on the ground in an unconscious or semi-conscious condition for about 
three-quarters of an hour until the police arriied(RJ.131149,155-157). 
He was searched and a bloodstained knife was removed his pocket . 
(Rl56,Ex.I). The field jacket he was wearing was bloodstained (RJ.67, 
170). Hie. breath was alcoholic , he had smears of blood on hie face 
(RUS) but no in.1Ul7 (RlJl) and had to be carried to the car in which 
he waw transported to the police station, and again when he was 
removed from the {><>lice station to the hospital some two hours later. 
He was not drunk lRll7,ll8,ll9,156-l61). 

Earlier that e•ening , beginning about 1800 or 18.30 houri, 
accused with a fallow soldier had d1'Ilk beer, whi slce;r am gin 
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at Tarious pubs 1n Exeter, then visited a fish and chips shop, where 
they met two British civilian girls (R23-24,27). The four left 
together !or a walk, accused and one girl maintaining a distance of 
about !i!teen paces behind the other couple (RJl). Accused did not 
appear drunk at that time {R25,31,45). As they passed Rowancroft 
accused disappeared. His comrade left the two girls and entered 
the shrub-bordered drive o! Rowancroft in search of the accused 
{R24-25,27). Through an open window of the recreation room, he 
inquired o! "ATS" girls inside if they had seen him. Learning that 
they had noj;, he abandoned his search and returned to his station 
alone {R25,31-32,50-51). A few minutes after.his comrade left 
Rowancroft, accused approached the same window and was told that his 
friend had been looking for him. He stood there, winked at his 
in!ormant, then proceeded toward the front door of Rowancrort {R51­
52). About 2130 hours the "ATS" company eergeant major saw him 
at the foot of the stairs and asked him what he was doing there. 
He muttered unintelligibly, staring 1n an abstracted manner, so she 
told him to clear out. He made no move until she seized his arm 
and turned him round, whereupon he walked out quickly. She followed 
him outside, foun:i him concealed in the shrubbery near the drive, 
and again told him to leave. He remained where he was without 
speaking. After informing him that she was going to do so, she 
telephoned for the military police. She then returned to the drivewq 
and engaged in conversation with some of the girls and their escorts_ 
who had just arrived, when she heard deceased 1s screams. She saw 
accused run out of the front door, tried unsuccessfully to trip him 
and joined in the chase (R39-40). Accused was not drunk {R45,55,Sl). 

Another "ATS" girl, going downstairs to the bathroon which 
was near deceased' s room on the ground floor, saw accused at the 
foot of the stairs a few minutes before deceased started screaming. 
'Ibis last witness asked accused "what he thought he was doing in the 
house as he had already been ordered out" {R70-71). She then 
proceeded to the bathroom and started running her.bath but before 
it was ready she heard deceased 1s screams and followed her as she 
ran up the stairs (R71,7S-79). 

A qualified p!!.thologist and medical practitioner testi!ied 
that he performed the post mortem on deceased and found that death 
was caused by hemorrhage and shock due to ·a stab wound of the upper 
left chest by a sharp in~tninnent which had penetrated a distance of
4i centimeters obliquely inwards and downwards, severing two large 
veins and puncturing the apex of the left lung {Rl.72-174). He took 
a blood type of deceased and found it to belong to group "0". Her 
jumper and brassiere were saturated with blood of this type. He also 
analyzed the stains in a field jacket and on a knife brought to him 
by an agent of the Criminal Investigation Division, of the United 
States Aney and found the stains on each to be human blood, type 
"0". The blade of the knife also had adhering to it several !ine 
fibres, one of which was a woolen fibre identified with the fibres 
of the jumper (Rl76,180). The assistant of the Chief of Labratory 6380 
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 . 
Service,· 67t.h General. lioapital., with the consent ot accused, 
typed his blood ancf town it to belong to type "A" (:ru.ss). 

Prior £0 the trial, after JrOper warning, accused made 
a statement that he remembered nothing from the time he was 
walking lfi th the civilian girls whom he h~ met in the fish and 
chips shop until he awoke in the hospital. the next morning. He 
acknowledged ownership of the bloodstained·kni!e and stated it 
was i.n bis possession when he left the barracks on the evening in 
question. He further stated that he did not know bow the blood 
got on his knife or on his .field jacket (Rl90-l91, Ex.M).. . 

During the trial, court adjourned 4 November 1944, to 
pennit an examination into the mental condition of accused (R20J-20J). 
Qn 18 Decenber the trial was resumed (R2J..4). Captain Charles Lawrence 
Holt, Medfcal Corps, testified that he was a man.her of a regularly 
appointed medical board mich conducted such an examination, as a 
result of which the board.concluded that accused nwas sane and 
responsible atter the time that we saw him under interview and at 
the time of the alleged incident" (R2l;). 

4. For the defense, Captain Henry Peskin, Medical Corps, 
testified that at about 0100 hours 4.August 1944, accused was 
brought into the station hospital wherewitness was detailed as 
administrative officer (R229,2J2). Peskin was present and observed 
accused's condition during a physical examination which consumed· 
about 45 minutes (R229,2Jl). Accused was in an al.cohollc stupor 
(R229,2J2) and his condition was such at that time, that he 
"could probably have been not as (sic~ responsible tor his actions 
within the previous tbirt7 minutes~ As the net result o! his 
examination witness could draw no conclusion as to accused's 
condition three hours prior thereto (R231); 

5. After accus~d' s rights were explained to him, he 
elected to remain silent (R2J2). 

6. The record of trial indicates1 bey-ond a reasonable 
doubt, that accused inflicted upon deceased the stab wound which 
resulted in her death an hour thereafter. The chain of signifi ­
cant Circumstances established. by abundant uncon,tra'1,icted testimOllJ" 
appears here "more convincing than a plausible L8J'JV lfit.nesa• · 
(YCU, 1928, par.ll2,h, p.lll). Moreover, accused's conduct prior 
to and immediatel.7 following the stabbing supports the inference 
that "an intention to gause the death or, or grievous bodily ha.nn 
to [the prosecutrf&i'" coexisted in accused 1a mind with the act 
which caused her death (Ibid., par.l4S~, p.l6J). 

"A sane person is presumed. to have intended 
.the natural and Jll"Obable consequences o! 

acts which he is shown to ban conmitted. 

* * * Mal.ice is presumed from the use o! a 
 6380deadl.7 weapon" (Ibid., par.1124, p.110). 
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Accused 1s knife, aa used, was such - and nmalice aforethought 
ma.7 exist when the act is unpremeditated.". (Ibid., par.l48A,1
p.163). 

The sole remaining issue is his sanit;r. During the 

trial the court adjourned for a period of more than a month to 

pennit a properl.7 constituted medical board to examine and report 

on the mental condition of accused at the time of the offense 

and at the time ot the trial. The board concluded he was sane 

"nd responsible !or his acts at both times. Although the board 

CW..! not know the exact quantity of liquor accused had consumed on 

the evening of and prior to the offense, they knew it was con­

siderable and they had information as to his physical condition 

when apprehended. The only testimoey that might be regarded as · · 

tending to suggest mental incapacit;r at the time ot the offense 

was Captain Holt's opinion that a person could consume enough 

intoJd.cating liquor to relieve him of responsibilit;r for his 

actions; and Captain Peskirls opinion that, three hours after the 

of!ense, ·accused was in such an alcoholic stupor as to indicate 

that his sense of responsibility was affected during the previous 

thirty minutes. Although the evidence shows that accused had been 

drinking heavily a short time prior to the offense,, his studied 

persistance in re-entering Rowancro.rt, and his prompt, spirited, 

and almost successful attempted escape, manifest purpose, co­

ordination and an awareness, for the tiriie being, ot the situation 

then existing, adequate_ to support an inference o! intent and 

concomitant responsibilit7. lhe court's determination, in this 

regard, is therefore final Cell ETO 3812, liarshner). · 


7. ·The charge sheet ·shows that accused. is 19 years nine 

months ot age, and that he was inducted at Jefferson Barracks, 

Missouri, 28 April 1943. No i:rior service is shown. 


$. The OOUl't Wa.S legall.7 constituted and had jurisdiction Of 

the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is ot the opinion that the record of trial is. 
leg&lly sufficient to su.ppor~ the findings o! guilty and the sentence. 

. 9. Confinement in a penitentiar;r is authorized for the crime 
of murder (AW 42; Federal CrJ.minal Code, sec.275; 18 USC 454). The 
desjgri.ation of the United States. Penitantia17, Lewisburg, Penns;rl ­
vania as the place of con!inement is proper lAW ~; Cir.229, WD, 
8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.lk(4), 312). 

~~~a-~'I ,/ :)./ C\~- 'I
/<~~

-

. - '-.;., "'¥' ~~vlUTV&~ Judge .Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 


with the 

European Theater of Operations 


APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 9 f£B 194S 

C.i.: ETO 6383 

UNITED S.TATES 	 ) UNITED KINGDOM BASE, COMMUNICATIONS 
) ZONE, EUROPEAN THEAT:IB OF OPERATIONS 

v. 	 ) 
) Trial by GCtl, convened at 187th 

Private CLARK D. WILKINSON ) General Hospital, Tidworth, England, 
(33692878), attached unas­ ) 19 December 1944. Sentence: Dis-
signed, 341st Replacement ) honorable discharge, total fo~feitures 
Company, 65th Replacement ) and confinement at hard labor.for 12 
Battalion. ) years. United States Penitentiary, 

) Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

RITER, SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Clark D. :'.:.~j_;:non, 

34lst Replac~ment Company, 65th Replacement 
Battalion, did, without proper leave, absent 
himself from his organization at Camp Hinton, 
St. George,· Somerset, England, from about 27 
June 1944 to about 23 October 1944. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 	96th Article of War. 

6383 
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. 
S~ificati~n: In that * * * did, at Yeovil, England 

on or about 23rd October 1944 without proper 
authority, wrongf'ully take and use for his own 
pleasure and benefit one 1/4 ton l+x4 truck, the 
property of the United States Government, f'ur­
nished and intended for the military service 
thereof. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE I: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 

qpecification: In that * * * did, without proper 
leave absent himself from the 12th Replacement 
Depot Guardhouse, Tidworth Barracks, Tidworth, 
Wilts, England, from 8 November 1944' to about 
9 November 1944. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE II: Violation of the 69th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * having been duly placed 
in confinement at 12 th Replacement Depot Guard 

. House about 30 October 1944, did escape from · 
said confinement at 12th Replacement Depot 
Guard House, Tidworth Barracks, TirtlOrth, Wilts, 
England, about 8 November 1944, before he was 
set at liberty by proper authority. 

He pleaded not guilty, and was found guilty of all charges and speci­
fications. Evidence was introduced of two previous convictions by 
special court-martial for absence without leave for six and 25 dais 
respectively in violation of the 6lst Article or War. He was sen­
tenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay 
and allowances due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor 
at such place as the~reviewing authority may direct, for 20 years. 
The reviewing authority approved the sentence but reduced the period 
of confinement to 12 years, designated the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and forwarded 
the record or trial for action pursuant to Article of War 50;!. 

3. The record-of·trial contains competent and substantial evi­
dence to establish all the offenses of which accused was convicted. 
The only question for determination presented by the record is whether 
penitentiary/confinement is authorized for any of the offenses herein. 

District of Columbia· Code, Title 22, section 2204 (6:,62) de­
fines the offense of unauthorized taking and using of a motor vehicle 
of another and provides as punishment 11a fine not exceeding one thous­
and dollars or imprisonment not exceeding five years, or both such 
tin.a and imprisonment". District of Columbia Code, Title 24, section 
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401 (6:401) provides in pertinent part that "where the sentence ia 
imprisonment for more than one year it shall be in the penitentiary". 
Article of War 42 authorized penitentiary confinement where the of­
fense is punishable by penitentiary confinement by "some statute of 
the United States, of general application within the continental 
United States, ***or by' the law of the District of Columbia". It 
follows therefore that penitentiary confinement is authorized for 
the unauthorized taking and using of a government vehicle. 

4.· The charge sheet shows accused is 27 years and four months 
of age and that he was inducted at Pittsburg, Pennsylvania, 9 June 
1943, to serve for the duration of the war plus six months. He had 
no prior service. · 

5. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affectL~g the sub­
stantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

6. Confinement in a penitentiary is au1;horized for the offense 
of unauthorized taking and using of a government vehicle (par•.3, supra). 
Article of War 42 authorizes penitentiary confinement upon conviction 
of two or more acts or omissions, any of which is punishable by confine­
ment in a penitentiarjr. Inasmuch as the sentence includes confinement 
for more than ten years,. the ~esignation of the United States Peniten­
tiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement is prope~ 
(Cir.229, Yi'D, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars. 1](4), 3~ as amended). . 

!~ / i~ .i·.r:­
·~;_/';, . . / .. 

______-~__._._,....__._--_._;_._:_~~-·_____________ Judge Advocate 

~:· 
_______.~_._<_?_.,.,,__/ ______·-_!_-"_,_._·__~____Judge Advocate 

Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judze Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BO!i.:'lD OF '7._:"wI.E'if NO. 1 6 APR 1945 
CiI :STO 6397 

UNITED STATES 	 ) L:JIY:S Sl~CT:::OH, CO::::'.UNICATlONS ZONS, 
) ~u:~o?:JJJ '!:·!:'Ji.GR ~J;' O?ft'. .l\T!ONS 

v. 	 ) 
) Trie.l 'oy Ge::, convened r.t Palais de 

Private First Class DOI! ) Justice, Le Hans, France, 11.i. November 
BUTIBR (36791393), 577th ) 19Lt4·. Sentence: Dishonorable dis­

\'~artennaster R.1.ilhead 	 j charge (suspended), total forfci tares 
Company 	 \ and confinement at ha-rd labor ::'or six 

) yeR.rs. Loire Disciplinary Training 
) ~2nter, Le 1:2.ns, France. 

p~DIION by B0.''..1.D or "".,"'WIE"'i NO. 1 
!l.:<.:T'CR, BU:oncr:r and .sTsvz:;s, Junge Advocates. 

1. T:1e record of trial in the case o:f the soldier named above has 
heen examined ih the :'.?ranch Office of The Judze LdvocG.te General with the 
Europeen T!1c::i.:.8r of Operati.ons und there found legally insuf:'icient to 
su:;;iport the findings and sentence. The record of trial has novr been · 
exam_i_ned by the ~oa.rd o;': :'Cevicw and t.'1e Board submits this, its opinion, 
to the Assistant J 1.iclce Advoca:.e General in c;iarge of said 3ra.rich Office. 

2. ,'..ccus~d was tried upon the following chc>rges and specifications: 

CI-IARGE I: Violation of the 92d Article 
...... 

Specification 1: In that Private First Class Don 
Butler~ 577th Quartermaster Railhead Company, 
did, at Le I~ans, France, on or about 15 Septem­
ber 1944, with malice afoi~ethou::;ht, M.llfully, 
delibera;tely, feloniously and uhlawfully, drive • 
a quarter-ton 4 x 4 truck (a motor vehicl~ of 
the United States .\r-my) 2.t excessive speed, 
and with c~pletA disrci:;arcl for :::>robable con­
sequences, upon and over a public place in said 
city where many other •rehicles and pedestrians 
vrere t'.rnn readily observable, and did thereby 
strike and kill 1fadame Uadeleine Papin, a 
hum;m being. 	 6 3 9 7 

~ 1..:. .. 
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Specification 2: In that -i.~ .;~ * did, at Le Hans, 
France, on or about 15 September 1944, with 
malice aforethought, willfully, deliberately, 
feloniously and unlawfully, drive a. quarte~ 
ton 4 x 4 truck (a. motor vehicle of the 
United States f.rmy) at excessive speed, and. 
with complete disregard for probable consecpences, 
upon and over a public place in said city 'Where 
many other.veftlcles and pedestrians were then 
readily obsetiable, and did thereby strike and 
-!cill i.fonsieur Auguste Trouillard, a human being.. 

CWJl.GE II~ Violation of the 96th Article of :.var. 

Spetification: In that -::- -1~ * did, at Le Mans, France, 
on or ebout 15 Septem.ber 19h4, without authority, 
wrongfully truce and use a motor truck, quartez­
ton 4 x 4, value more than fifty c;so.oo) 
dollars, property of the United States Army•. 

He pleaded not guilty and was found guilty of specifications 1 and 2 
of Cl11'.rge I, exce?t, in each case, the words 11wi th malice aforethought" 1 

"deliberately", and 11 and with complete disregard for probable consequences 
where many other vehicles and pedestrians were then readily observable", 
of the excepted Y10rds not guilty; not guilty of Charge I, but guilty of 

·violation of the 93rd Article of ·.·rar_; and guilty of Charge II and the 
Specification there~nder.· No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 
to forfeit all pay and allovrances d.J.e or to become due, and to be con­
fined at hard l:>.tor, at such place as the revtewing authority may direct, 
for six years. The reviewing authority approved the sentence and ordered 
·it executed, but suspen:ied the execution of that portion .:thereof adjudging 
dishonorable discharge until the sol~i,:i.er's release frcm confinement, and 
designated the Loire Disciplinary Training Center, Le Mans, Franc~, as. 
the place of confinement. The proceedines were p~blished by General · 
Court-!fa.rtial ·Orders Number 22, Headquarters Loire Section, Corrmru.nications 
Zone, European Theater. of Operations, APO 573 1 30 November 1944. · · 

3. The prosecution's evidence may be summarized briefly as follows: 

On the evening of 15 September 1944, accused and three other 

colored soldiers of :his company drank two bottles of calvados in ac­

cused's tent. Accused drank more th211 two-thirdsof one Ofthese bottles 

(P.12). The group separa.ted about 2030 hours and accused was not seen 

again that evening by his companions (R7,8,9,111 12). Later, at about 

2100 hours, a government jeep containing two soldiers w~s observed going 

at a high rate of speed and zigzagging along Rue de Tesse in Le !.fans, 

France. Witnesses could not say whether the soldiers were white or 

colored. The vehicle st~ a push cart 'Which was being propelled by 

Albert Papin, of 39 P.ue du Pre, Le Hans, F-rrince, then accomp~ed by 

his wife, 1.fadeleine Papin. Auguste Trouillard, on or with his bicycle, 

was near by (Pros.F..x.11). lladarne Papin and Trouillard each received 

at fae time of this collision a :~rtal i~ury which ca.used t~,e immelt~tg.7, 
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death of the former and the death of the latter on-the day following 
(Rl9,22,2J,24,26,27,28; Pros.Ex. 10). The jeep went on after the 
collision without stopping (R28). At about -2230 hours, a jeep numbered 
20330219 was discovered on higmvay N-23, about six J'll:i.les from Le !fans 
(R40). It was in a ditch, tilted at an angle of about 45 degrees (R36). 
Accused was lying in an unconscious condition along the right sic le of 
the vehicle, his head toward its rear and his feet on the step. He 
bore no evidence of injury (R291 311 32,33,36,37). The following morning 
it was noted that this vehicle was missin? from accused's organization 
·and had been taken without authority (IU4). Examination of. the vehicle 
disclosed a substance which looked like blood on the windshield, hood, 
and side of ~he bumper, which was brok~n. The hood was dented Where 
most of tjlis "blood" was found (R31 1 3J,37,38,42,43,45,46).

I ' 

At the close of the prose~tion 1 s evidence, the defense asked 
for an acquittal on the ground that no eVidence showed that accused 
11was ever in this vehicle on the r.ight alleged" (R52). The motion was 
denied (R55). 

4. a. For the defense, the testimony of Major Frederick w. Gieb, 
Medical Corps; 19th General Hospital, who was "experienced in neurology, 
many cases of alcoholism", showed that his examina.tion of accused :vmen 
"it was zetting .on toward midnight" (R62) on 15 September 1944 disclosed 
no injury and 11we.c~uld.n 1 t find even a hair out of place" (R62), but 

.. 
"The man was paralized drunk and in addition 
he seemed as if he-112.d been drugged. He was 
more than the usual type of iptoxicated per- , 
son that we see. I had a blood alcohol study 
done on him which came out to 330 milligrams 
per cent. That is a tremendous amount of 
alcohol in a maxi 1s system. There was a+so 
a hP-avy odor of ether from·the test that you 
never see in an ordinary drunken person" (R56). 

Accused was 11i~obile, as it were, out cold"• He ''wouldn't respond"• 
Most ·drunken people, no matter how drunk, can be slapped or pun~hed so 
that some sort of reaction j_s obtained, bit 'accused was 

"just like a limp doll and there was no motion. 
You could slap him or punch him and there was 
no reaction - - he was dead, but breathing" 
(R58). .. 

In the opinion of the witness, accused was drugged, -he "was. different 
than the ordinary type of drun!cen, stagnant_drunk~e af case that you 
get" when compared w.i. th, the "thousands of Ld:runkerJj cases" he had seen 
(R58) •. It would hmre been impossible for accused to have been driving 
up to 2229 hours that day "with 330 milligrams per cent of alcohol" 
because 
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, 	 1r:n1en you have 200 I'lilli<:rams per cent of alco­
hol you' really h:--.ve a tremendous amount of alco­
hol in '"our blood and the ex:-:ierience I have had 
with' tl1~ soldiers with high ~cohol contents in 
their blood you rarely see one over 230 milli ­
grams per ~cnt and I can't remember of one as hiGh 
as this one, just from the use o~ blood alcohol 
test, vri1ich of co'J.rse is co;n,11on ·in the Arny. Our 
ro..-per.i.ence is rnuch more on the Lrrrry type of d!".mk­
cnness. The cases t:1at I have seen over the years 
that I have been in the Army have been very rarely 
much more foan 2.50 millit;rams per cent" (:llil). 

:i:n 'answer to a i1ypothetical q.iestion the wi. tness gave his opinion that 
a norw.al individual vrho takes a~1-;:iroximately one-half tot hree-quarters 
of a liter of alcoholic be'r8rat;es containinr; ethyl alcohol at :.bout 
11 one-tr;enty to one-forty ~)r0of11 in a period of frol'l one-half hour to 
one hour shortly after a 11 normal Anny even:i.nz meal" will not be on 
his feet 

11m11ch P..fter i:ne hour to an ho"cir Md a half after 
he sto:::iped drlnking. I O..'ll goine; to the ma.x.'.mum 
am01mt that he could haye· stood on his feiet. I 
know I couldn 1t do it. That would haYe to be a 
pretty ru:;;;ed individual, incl,:;ed11 (~t61). 

Asked 11If fais person had no supper and started dr:::..nkinG at six in the 
evening, at what time would he have been off his .foet? 11 he ?l:lsvrered: 

11 0ne hour. I think alcohol o~ the.t :;:;roof which 
is 70 per cent <:ilcohol on an empty stom~.ch, thE'l 
man our;ht to h?'Te been paralyzed Very rapidly11 , 

and the witness indicated that wo'J.lcl be °b;;' 2000 hours (r:,62). ,\ccused 
was 11 coming to'' <:>round 0800 hours the nr:xt morning C'Ilcl Yras answerin~ 
questions coherently end j_ntellisently by 1000 hours (R6J) • 

Captain Henry H •. Leber, acc11sed 1s company co'.Ylr:tandcr, testi ­
fied that te had 1marm 2.ccused since !.'.ay 1944. His che.ra.cter was 
excellent 2.nd he usE:d accused in var:i,ous car,,aci ties as supply clc:::-k 
and checker. He 9romoted him fror.i private to '):ci'rate ?irst clr.ss and 
had been considering 11ir.i as a noncon"'ri.ss-:_cned orficer i"\S soon as a 
vacancy occurred. · He n2ver ~?.~ tro1.101A ..,-,'i th accused con.cernins alcohol 
and n2vsr '.ai.Gw h:i.m to be <lr'.mk ·oefore (J.64). 

b. After his :!:'i}1ts i:re:!:'e explained (R64-6.5) 2.ccused elscted 
to be sworn and testified th2.t on the ni:;ht of 1) Septe:nber 19h4 he 
11 dicL>J. 1 t have any chow11 bece.c.1se o:;~ duties ·which p-evented it. Three men 
came into his 11pup terit 11 e.nd they started drinkin:.; at about 1745 hours. 
He recalled drin.1dng the !.'irst bottle and they he.ct started fae second 
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bottle when "one by one we started dropping out". He had to go to 

the latrine and started out of his tent. He knew it was then about 

1945 hours because he heard "the Corpqral of the Guard calling the 

guards that the third :relief for guard was to go on and that it was · 

getting late11 • He stepped· in a hole· and remembered no '1!ore until · 

11 the next morning I was in the 19th General Hospital and Majo:i;" 


· · Gieb was standing over me 11 (R66-67). · 

5. .Ut.1.ough it is generally recognized that a conviction may 

be supported by circumstantial evidence alone (CH ~TO 3200,- Price; 

C:M :CTO 2686, Brinson ·and Smith), "circumstantial evidence must not 
only prove all the elements of the offense but mast at the same time 
exclude every reasonable hypothesis e~ept euilt" (CM 233766 (1943), 
Nicholl, 20 BR 121; II Bi.ill.JAG, sec.h53, p.238). A conviction upon 
circumstantial evidence is not to be sustained unless the circumstances 
are inconsistent with irmocence (People v. Galbo, 218 U.Y. 283, 112 
N.E. 1041, 2 AI.R 1220, and authorities ther~in cited). 

'}..There is no direct evidence of a.ccused' s participation in any 
of the acts alleged in the charges and specifications. The testimony 
of j,fajor Gieb most convincingly indicates that c<ccused, because of 
drunkenness that reduced ~m to a rare and astonish-Lng ·state of inebriety 
by 2000 hours on 15 September 1944, was then physically incapable of · 
either operating or taking a motor vehicle as alleged. That he was at 
that time 11paralized drunk" was made impressively manifest by the alco­
holic content of-his blood as revealed by test thereof taken just before 
midnight on 15 September and which warranted the rr.i tness' descri:Ptive 
hyperbole that he then was "dead, bit breathine" (R58). How the 11.dead11 

drunk accused came to be lying, unscratched and un..h.urt, beside the ditched 
govern.'Jlent jeep is a matter t>f conjecture. (See Clf "STO 339, Gage, 
wherein the effect of proof of intoxication to the degree that it 
incapacitates an accused from commission of a criminal act is discussed). 

The record of trial reveals, therefore, no direct or sufficient 
circumstantial evidence that accused operated the government vehicle at 
the time and plc:_ce alleged in the specifications of Charge I, or that 
accused took or used the vehicle as alleged in SpecL~ication of Charge 
II. In accordance with the foregoing authorities, the Board of Review 

is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally insufficient to 

sustain the fincFngs of guilty 3.Ild the. sentence, which therefore are 

invalid and should be v!:'.cated. '/.. 


6. The charge sheet shows that :c.ccused is 27 yea.rs ten months of 
c.ge and was inducted 28 July 1943. No prior serVice is shown. 

'le The court vras legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the person and offenses. Errors affecth1g the substantial rights of 
accused ~'rere conmri. tted ~s above set forth. ·For the reasons stated, 
the Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally insufficient to support the find"ngs of gu· .ty and the sentence. 
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1st Ind. 

1'la.r Department, Branch Office of The Jud_se Advocate General with the 

Europecin ThP.ater of Operations. 6 APK 1945 TO: Commanding 

General, European Theater o: Operations, APO 837, U. s. Army. 


1. Herewith tra."'lsmitted for joux r..ction under .Article of rTar 5o-?t, 
as amended by the Act of 20 !.u'.;Ust 1937 (50 Stat. 724; 10 USC 1522) and 
~ further cimended by the Act of 1 August 1942 (56 St.at. 732; 10 USC. 
1522), is the record of trial in the case of Private First Class D~ 
BU~q (36791393), S77th Quartermaster R~i.lhead CoM~any. 

2. I concur in the ooinion ·of the ·Board of R'eview end for the 

reasons stated therein reco~end that the ·findings of guilty and the 

sentence be vacated, and that all rights, privileges and property of 


. which he 	he.s been deprived by virtue of said findin:;s and sentence so 
vacated be restored. 

3. The accused may still be tried for being drunk under cir ­

~rw1sta.nces discreditins to the service and for a:ny other offenses 

not "included in the instant charges. 


4. Inclosed is a fonn of action designed to carry into effect 
the reconnnendation hereinbefore m~de. Also inclosed is a draft GCMO 
for use in promulgating the proposed action. Please retl.U'n the record 
of trial with required copies of GC:.ro. . · 

~ '.~4~--.~-~.~·I. __E:._Q~ Mc::~ __.. _j I 

Brigadier General, United States A.rrq, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

Incl. 1.- Record of trial 

Incl. 2 - Form of Action 

Incl. 3 - Draft GCI10 


( ( Findings and sentence vacated. GCKO i67 ~o, . 
· 17 Sept 1945) • . 

1 

6397 




CDrfflDENTIAL . 
(29) 

Branch Office of The Judge Advocate Gemral 
with the 


:ii:uropean Theater of Operati ona 

APO 8$7 


BOARD OF REVIEil NO. l 2 5 JAN 1945 
CU E'.ro 6405 

UNITED STATES 	 ) - FIRST UNITED STAT::S .AEiu.'Y 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GC?i, oonvenea. at 
Souma.gne, Belgium, 24 November 

Private JACK BECKETT ~ 1944. Sentence: Dishonorable 
(14044534),_ 3687th Quarter­ ) discharge, total forfeitures 
master Truck Company ) and confinement at hard labor 

) for five years. Federal Reforma­
) tory, Chillicothe, Ohio. 

HOIDIID by BOARD OF RZ1Jm'l NO. 1 

RITER, SHEEIAN and STEVJ!N~, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined by the Boa.rd of Review and found legally 
sufficient to support the sentence. 

2. Confinement in a penitentiary is alt.horized for the 
offense of assault vd.th intent to do bodily harm. with a dangerous 
weapon by Article of \1ar 42 and section 2761 Federal Criminal Code 
(18 USCA 455). Prisoners, however, under 31 years of age and un­
der sentence.of not more t~ ten years, will be confined in a 
Federal correctional institution or reformatory. The designation 
.of the Federal Refonnatory 1 Chillicothe, Ohio, as the place of 
confinement is proper (Cir.229, VID, 8 Jyne 1944, sec.II, pars.l.a. 
(1),3~). .. i ,, ­

- / .­

j ,//' ·1:r 
,.__fi_.//f;(..t:;,1___._,._________ 	Judge Advocate 

ffld~ C ~Judge Advocate 

~;(. ~ ·h. J_udge ·Advocft,~ {\ 5 
~"'J' 	 \) '-1 \J 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater or Operations 

APO 887 

BQ\RD CF REVlE W NO. 2 14.MAR 1945 
Clll E'IO 6406 

UNITED. STATES ) sm INFAN'IRY DmSION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at APO 8, 
) u. s. Army, 1 January 1945. Sen­

Private JAMES D. WAI ) tence: Dishonorable discharge,
(14037076), Company M, total forfeitures and confinement 
2~th Infantry ~ at hard labor for life. Eastern 

Branch, United States Disciplip.ary~ Barracks, Greenba.ven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD CF REVIEVI NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEP:rn, Judge Advocates 


1. The record or trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board . or Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon· the following charges and specitica­
tions: 

CHARGE I: Violation or the 58th Article or r.ar. 

Specification: In that Private James D. Way, 
Company M, 28th Infantry, did, a.t or near 
Vossenack, Gerivany, on or about 13 Decem­
ber 1944, desert the service or the United 
States by absenting himsel.f without proper 
leave .fl-om his organization with intent to 
avoid hazardous duty~ to wit: engage in 
combat with the enemy, and did remain ab­
sent in desertion until: he surrendered him­
self at Eupen, Belgium, on or about 17 
December 1944. 
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CHARGE II: Violation of the 75th Article of War. 

Specification:' In that * * * did, at or near 
Vossenack, Germany, on or about 19 Decem­
ber lo/44, misbehave himself before the 
enemy when, having received a lawful com­
mand from First Lieutenant Robert F. 
Spurrier, 28th Infantry, his superior 
officer, to get ready and go back·to his 
company, which was then engaged with the 
enemy, willfully disobey the same. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all the members of the court present when 

the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the charges and 

specifications. No evidence of previous convictions.~as introduced. 


-Three-fourths of the members of the court present when the vote was 
taken concurring, be was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the 

·service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due and 
to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing author­
ity may direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewiDg 
authority approved the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of 
conf'inement and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to 
the provisions of Article of War 5o?t. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that accused, a mem­
ber or MCompany, on or about 10 December 1944, was temporarily 
attached to K Company, which was then engaged in an attack, during 
the course of '9\'hich, the enelllY' broke thro~h and cut off the ma.chine 
gunners from the rest of the riflemen (Rl6) •.Accused was a member o~ 
the detachment thus isolated and one of its five survivors who, about 
an hour later, withdrew through the woods after their group had suf­
fered "quite a few" casualties and had had one of its guns knocked out 
(Rl7). These survivors succeeded in finding "the battalion" the fol­
lowing morniDg, after spending the night in the woods. When they 
reported to the battalion executive, the sergeant in charge was in­
structed to send the men to dugouts, then take them b ack to K Compa.n:- · 
on the opposite hill - and to be ready t.o move out at a minutes notice. 
Accused,who was with the sergeant,· told him that "he couldn't do it, 
he had tears in his eyes., he said he went through a lot of hell, he 
looked like on the verge of fatigue and eaid he is going back to the 
medics"(Rl7). The sergeant gave him permission to go and thereafter 
to the battalion executive about accused's "going to the medics"'Rl7). 

Two days later on 13 Deceinber accused arrived at the field 
train from the hospital. He was re-equipped by the MCompany supply 
sergeant and coniucted by him to the MCompany command post in Vossen­
ack (R7,9-14,18-19). A little later when ready to move up accused 
could not be found. He returned to the supply sergeants rear station 
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three times and stated to him that "he didn't want to go up there" 
(RlO). The battalion, at that time, was in line nearb,-, in contact 
with the enenw and continuously attacking, while aubjected to artil ­
lery, mortar and small arms f'ire - "everything the jel'l7 had" (R7, 
16,18,19). Accused was a gunner and ammunition caITier (Rl6,19). 
His duty was up in the front line (R19). Accused's absence was re­
ported by the platoon leader to the company commander, First Lieu­
tenant Joseph c. Hillman. Neither the platoon.leader or company 
commander, who were continuously on duty between the 13th and 27th 
of December 1944, saw accused during this period, 8Ild he bad no 
permission to be absent from his organization. The prosecution and 
detense stipulated that accused voluntarily returned to military 
control at Eupen, Belgium, on 17 December-1944 (R15,16,19,22). 

The evidence further shows that on 19 December 1944, ac­
cused. was under guard (R9,21) at a motor pool located roug~ four 
or five miles behind the line tmd~ col!IJlland .of the motor off'icer, 
P'irst Lieutenant Robert F. Spurrier. Lieutenant Spurrier was instructed · 
to equip the accused and have him report to his company that evening. 
He "instructed Wa;'7 to get his equipment and come up with me to the 
company rlth the chow vehicles that evening". The accused.replied: 
"I don't see wb;r I should have to go up there, I'm going to be court­
martialed anyway". The instruction was given the accused as an order 
ot a commissioned officer which the accused said he "realized" and 
when asked if be refused to obey eaid"he was going to be c9urt-mart18.led 
anyway•. He did not go to the company (R21). . 

4. Arter an e::xplallation of his rig~ts, accused elected to remain 
silent. No evidence was introduced by the def'ense. 

5. As to Charge I and its Specification, competent uncontradicted 
evidence establishes that accused absented himself' without proper 
leave from his organization on 13 December 1944 and that he remained 
absent without authority until he surrendered himself to military con­
trol at Eupen, .Belgium on 17 December 1944. At the time of his initial 
absence his battalion was in the front line attacking the enemy and 
was subjected to heavy German artillery, mortar and small arms fire. 
Accused was a gunner and ammunition carrier and his duty required his, 
presence and services in the front line. Instead of contributing his 
part to the assault against the ene:nzy", accused, newly returned, re­
equipped, from the hospital, refrained from reporting to his platoon 
for combat duty but took it upon himself to go back to the rear, 'with­
out authority, remaining there in unauthorized absence.for a period of 
f'our days while the battle with the enemy continued. Although the 
evidence shows that accused had recently suffered combat fatigue and 
that duri?ig his absence, he stated to a companion that he was sick, 
these somewhat alleviating circumstances in no sense preclude the 
inference that his unauthorized absence was motivated by the specific 
intent to avoid hazardous duty, within the meaning of Articles ot War 
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58,and 28, as charged (CM ETO 1400,Johnson; CM ETO 2473, Cantwell; 
CM ETO 5555, Slovik and authorities cited· therein). 

Concerning Charge II, the evidence shows that on 19 Decem­
ber 1944 accused, while a prisoner under guard, was given a direct 
order by a superior officer to prepare his equipment and to.return 
to his company which was engaged in combat with the enemy. At this 
time accused wa~ at the motor pool located about four or five miles 
behind the front lines. 'He refused to go back to his unit, statiiig 
that he was going to be court-martialed anyway. The .fact that he 
was a prisoner under guard did not relieve him o.f' his obligations 
to perform militar:Y' duties assigned to him by proper authority. In 
this instance the order involved an opportunity to demonstrate his 
worthiness as a soldier, despite his recent lapse. It was a chal­
lenge to his courage and his self respect. His refusal was - .from 
a military point o.f view - clearly' misbehavior. Although at the 
time the order was given accused was not in the front line in actual 
conflict with the enemy his battalion and company were engaged in 
combat with the enemy. ttThe words 'before the enemy' mean * * * in 
contact with the enemy, either in the .front line in actual conflict 
or in reserve.immediately to be engaged" (Dig. Op. JAG, 1912-1940, 
sec.433(2), p.303) (See also CM ETO 2602, Picoulas and authorities 
cited therein). Accused knew his organization was in contact with 
the enemy and actual fi~hting was in progress. He succeeded in 
avoiding the hazard in~ident to combat with the eneley', by failing 
to comply with the order to rejain his organization. Such conduct 
under the circumstances constitutes an act o.f misbehavior be.fore the 
enemy within the meaning o.f Article o.f War 75 (Winthrop's Military 
Law and Precedents, Reprint 1920, p.622-623). The ·Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the .findings o.f' guilty of Charge II and its 
Specli'ication are sustained by substantial evidence (CM ETO 4820, . 
Skovan; CM ETO 5114, Acers; CM ETO 6177, Transeau and authorities 
cited therein). . 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 22 years o.f age and 
that he enlisted without prior service, 12 December 1940. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction o.f 
the person and Oi"f~nsee. No errors injuriously ei'.fecting the sub­
stantial rights o.f accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the"record is legally suffi ­
cient to support the findings of guil~ and the sentence. 

8. The offenses of desertion and misbehavior be.fore the enemy 
in violation of Articles o.f War 58 and 75,. respectively, are punish­
able as a court-martial may direct, including death, if committed in 
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time of war (AW 58,75). The designation of Eastern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place 
of confinement is proper (AW 42; Cir.210, WI>, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, 
as amended). 

. ' 

- 5 -
LfU; \ .:.:. ; ' ; ' f ' 

<a..1; ' ..... 





(37). 
Branch Oi'tice ot The Judge A.dTocate General 

rlth the 

Euro_pean Theater 01' Operation.a 


Aro 887 


BOA.RD OF REV!Elf NO. 2 	 1 MAR 1945 

CM Ero 6',.28 

UNITED' STATES 	 ) UNITED llNGDOK BASE,. C<U,lUNICATIONS. 
) ZONE, .EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPERATIONS. 

v. 	 •) 
. ) ·Trial b;y Gell, convened at Newport, 

Private First' Class VASCO BOSTIC). Monmouthshire, South Wal.es, 7,8 Novea­
(36792548) and Privates l!.WING ber 1944. THOMPKINS Acquitted. Sen.­l 
SWEATT (34716.305) and JE.$E J. tence as to BOSTIC and SWE.lTTt Dis­
'IHOMPKINS (.33746781),-al.l ot honorable discharge, total torteitures 
53.3rd Port Com.pa.ey ) and con.tinem.ent at hard labor !'or lite. 

) United States Pen1tentiar7,· Lewisburg, 
) Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING-' b7 BOARD OF REVDM 00. 2 
CAN EENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 

l. The .record ot trial in the case of the soldie:ia named above 
has been examined b7 the Board of Review • ... 

2. Accused were tried upon the following charges and specifica­
tions: 

CHARGE I: Violation of.the 9.3rd Article 01' War. 

Specification l: In that Private Jesse J. Thompkins,
533rd Port Compacy-1 Private Ewing (NMI) Sweatt, 
53'3rd Port Colilp8.ey, and Private First Class 
Vasco (mil) Bostic, 533rd Port Company, acting· 
joint]J", and in pursuance 01' a common intent, 
did, at or near Abertiller;r, Monmouthshire, 
England, on or about 5 August 1944, with intent 
to do bodily harm, commit an assault upon · 
Uaster Sergeant HarJ:7 Henale71 by striking 
him on the head ldth a dangerous weapon, to 
wit: a pistol. 
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Specification 2: In that * * * acting jointly 
and in pursuance of a common intent, did, 
at or near Abert!llery, Monmouthshire, En~ 
land,, on or about 5 August 1944,, by force • 
and violence and by putting him in fear,, 
feloniously take, steal and car:ry away .from 
the person of First Lieutenant·~CE A. 
DER.MONT, one (l) Hamilton wristwltch,, the 
propert;r of the United States Army, value 
about $15.10. 

Specification J: In that * * * acting jointly, 
and in pursuance of a common intent,, did, at 
or near Abertillery,, Monmouthshire,, England,, 
on or about·5 August 1944, by force and 
violence and by putting him in fear, feloni­
ous~ take, steal and carry away from the 
:eerson of Master Sergean~ Harry Hensley,, two 
(2) billfolds and currency,, the property of 
the said Master Sergeant Harry Henslq,, value 
a.bout $150.00 

CHABGEII: Violation o.f the 6/+th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * acting jointl.J",, and 
in pursuance of a common intent,, did, at or 
near Abertiller;y, Monmouthshire, England, on 
or about 5 August 1944, strike First Lieutenant 
CLARENCE .A. DERMONT, their superior officer, who 
was then in the execution of his office, on the 
head, body, and limbs with pistols, their fists, 
and kicl!;ed him with their feet. 

:Each accused pleaded not guilt;r and, three-fourths of the members 
ot the court present when the vote was taken concurring, accused 
Bostic and Sweatt were each found guilt7 and accused 'lbompkina 
was found not guilty, of all charges and specifications. No 
evidence of previous convictions was introduced as to UJ.7 accused. 
Three-fourths of the members of the court present when the vote 
was taken concurring, Bostic and Sweatt were each sentenced to be 
dishonorab~ discharged the service, to forfeit all pq and al.lo'W"­
ances d\19 or to become due and to be confined at hard labor, at 
such place as the reviewing authorit7 may direct, for the term ot 
his natural life. The reviewing authorit7 approved each sentence, 
designated the United States Penitentiar;r, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 
as the place of confinement of both accused and forwarded the 
record of trial for action pursuant to the provisions ot Article 
of War 5oi· 
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). Evidence for the prosecution shows that at about 2 
o'clock on the morning of 5 August 1944, First Lieutenant 
Cl&r911Ce .A.. Dermont, with Master Sergeant Harey Hensle, a.a 
driver, stopped his vehicle, a t ton reconnaissance car, at 
a crossroads nea.r Abertillery, Monmouthshire, Wales; another 
njeep" which was "very crowded." went by at an excessive rate 
of speed. He followed it for 3 or 4 miles and finall)" over­
took it. When halted, .three colored soldiers and four white 
women were observed in this vehicle. Lieutenant Dermont asked 
the driver for his dispatch ticket and upon being infol'Jiled 
that he had none, interrogated him concerning his authorit7 
to transport civilians in the army vehicle (R.6,7,10,12). Dis­
satisfied with the answer ginn, the Lieutenant, who was in 
uniform and wearing insignia designating his proper rank, order­
ed the driver "to get out of the jeep" (R7,12J. He testified. 
concerning the events that occurred therea.i'ter as follows: 

"He Lthe drivei/md the other man in the !ront 
seat jumped out of the jeep with 45 Colt Auto­
matics in their hands. They covered Sergeant 
Hensle7 and ID1'Self * * * The driver ordered us 
ov.!V to th,t right side of the road ffereatening 
t2f blow t_o~ brains out. * * * I turned around 
and * * *wa.s struck along the right hand side 
of the head with a fist. It staggered me * * * 
I received another blow in the back of the head
* * *with a gun. I went down ***[ind thei/
* * * received another blow Zf/i' the head that 
left me*** woozy" (R7,8). 

He added that he felt saneone remove his wallet from hie pocket 
and a watch from his wrist. The watch bad a value of $15 alld 
was identified by it1 make, the number of jewels and serial 
designation (R7,819). A watch of this description, identified. 
as government propert7 and as the one taken from accused was 
received in evidence as Prosecution's Exhibit l (RS,9,12,44). 

At the same time Sergeant Hensley was also assaulted 
and robbed. He corroborated the testimol'l1' of the lieutenant 
and testified in addition that they were ordered to put their 
hands up and that one of the colored soldiers "put a pistol• 
on his "temple" (Rl4,15). He received several blows on his 
head, which stunned him. Both of his hands were bruised and 
smashed in using them to shield his head and !ace. He was 
knocked down and, while lying prostrate, was kicked and robbed 
of two wallets containing $140 in Uilited States currency and 1.2 
in Britieh money. The colored soldiers then drove awa:y rl th ' 
both Tehicles, leaving the officer and noncommissioned officer 
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beaten and bleeding and in a semi-conscious condition (Rl5-l7). 

However they were able to find their wq to the v.illage police 

station where they reported the as18lll.ts and robberies (R?,8, 

1.5,16). . . . 


Lieutenant Dermont and Sergeant Hensley each positive­
17 identified accused Bostic as the.driver of the jeep and u 

one of the asaa1Jax1ts (R7,10,ll 116,l8). Both stated that they 

belieYed accused Sweatt to be one of the other participants in 

the crimes but they were not positive in their identification ot 

him (R9,l6,l8). . 


llrs. Beatrice Edwards and Mrs. DiJ.7s Venn testi!'ied 

that at approxima.tely midnight of 4 August 19441 while walJdng 

along a roadW81' towards Abertille17, they were invited to ride 

in a jeep 1fith two American soldiers. They recogni&ed the 

driver of the vehicle, Bostic, as "Shorty", 'and the other occu­

pant in the front seat, Sweatt as "Peewee•, as th8f had been 

out with them earlier in the evening (R26-28,.3.3-.3.5), Thq · 

proceeded 1ome di1tance betore stopping to "pick up• two other 

girls, M11ae1 Joan Davies and Freda Leonard, who also identitiecl 

the accuaed Bostic and Sweatt from their previous associations 

(Rl9-2l,2.3-25,.37-.38). Arter boarding the car, the four girl1 

and three accuaed continued their ·drive until overtaken b7 the 

vehicle occupied b7 the officer and his sergeant. The testimoJl1' 

of the four women, regarding the as1ault1 and robberies, i• 


. 	substantial.17 identical nth that of the lieutenant .and. sergeant, 
although not too detailed. W.se Davies testified that one of the 
1oldiers told her to remove the of!'icer'1 watch and that •I done it•. 
She noticed one of the colored soldiers with the watch and another 
with & wallet in hi• possession after they got back in the jeep 
(R2.3,24). At an identification parade held at accus~; camp, in 
whicJ;i approximatel.7 600 colored soldiers were present, l!lhe identi ­ •fied both Bostic and Sweatt &1 two of the occu~t1 of the jeep in 

which she wu riding on the evening in question (R20,21,24,43). 

Mrs. Venn identified accused Bostic (R29). Mrs. F.dwards recognised 

and picked out each of the accused Bostic and Sweatt (R34,3.5). 

Yi.as Leonard did not make any identiticationa at the formation 

held !or this purpose, altqough she attended the parl¢e and 

viewed the soldiers therein (R39). She, as did the other witnesses, 

identified Bostic and Sweatt in court as two of the soldiers she 

was with on the evening and early morning o! 4-5 August 1944 (R.38). 


4. After an explanation of his rights as a witness, accused 

Bostic elected to be sworn and to testify in his own behalf'. The 

court failed to explain to accused Sweatt his rights in this con­

nection. However, his defense counsel stated that he had been so 
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advised and the record otherwise shows that he had the benefit 

of explanation o.t their rights given to the other accused. 

Sweatt declined to- testify or to make an unnorn statement 

(R4.8,49,57). . 


Bostic denied t~at he left his camp_ on the evening 
o.t 4 August 1944, that he drove the jeep or CQm.it.ted the 

offenses alleged. In explanation of his actions on this date, 

be st&t

0

ed that, after finishing his work and eating supper, he 

returned to his barracks where he remained !or sometime. He 

lq down and rested, later got up and washed, •sat around" ldth the 

bo7s tor a '{lhile, took a drink, again went to the mess hall, ate 

some food, returned to his barracks about midnight ~d went to 

bed and .tell asleep. He stated he stayed there until reveille the 

following mot'ning. He was included among those present at the 

identification parade held the next da7 and insisted that, al ­

. though he was 	 "picked out" b;r some ot the women as one ot the 
sol.di~rs who participated in the assaults and robberies, tae7 were 
mistaken in their identification. He testified that Mrs. :Edwards 
said she was sorry when she stopped in front o.t him at the for­
mation and that W.sses Leonard and Davis passed him three times 
and that Miss Leonard "pulled away" from her father, ld)o accom­
panied her, and refused to identify accuaed. He denied knowing 
&ey" of the women. He requested his detense counael to obtain 
for him certain witnesses to show that he was in his barracks on 
the evening in question, but indicated that nothing 11'&8 done to 
compl.)r with his request. He named aeveral soldiers o.t his barracks 
whom he believed could vouch .tor his presence in hia quarters, if 
available as w1tnesaes. He had no objection to B:lJ.7 member of 
the court, ma.de no request for a continuance o.t his trial and 
stated that he did not feel that his right.a were prejudiced (R49,
50,57). 

It was stipulated b.etween the prosecution and the 

defenae, the accused expressly' consenting, t~at it Lieutenant 

Sidney Weitzer, were present he would testify that he conducted 

bed check in accuseds 1 barracks at midnight be.tore the robberies 

occurred in the earJ.7 hours the following morning and that 

Bostic and Sweatt were present and asleep in bed and that neither 

was later observed absent (R48). 


/ 

At the request of the court, First Lieutenantzs Frederick 
E. 'lborpe and Robert L. ~elz, ~e regularJ.7 appointed Assistant, 

Defense Counsel and De.tense eounsel, who represented. accueed 

Thompkins only at the trial, appeared as witnesses. Lieutenant 

Thorpe testified that on 29 September 19JJ+ he interviewed Bostic 

and Sweatt .tor more than an hour, during which ti.me he discussed 

with them the ha.ture of their defense and obtained from them the 

names of the witneeses they desired to have brought into court. 
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He made notes in connection with the case and later gave the 

list ot ntnesses to Lieutenant Pelz, together with his other 

notations in connection with accuseds 1 defense. Pelz stated 

that on 4 October 1944, he interviewed all ot the men of 

accuaeds' organisation and their barracks mates who "were 


i interested." in the case and who were at that time aTailable. 
He spent 'all dq on these interviews and covered all informa­
tion ot benetit to the accused. He interviewed. all witnesses 
requested by accused except a Major Anderson, 'Whose testimozv1 
he believed, would be full;r covered b;r other witnesses. There­
after ac.cuseda 1 company departed fer the continent and, ·as 
detense counsel, witness arranged with the- prosecution to stipu­
late as to the testimony of certain unavailable witnesses. (There 
were five such stipulations, four of which related o~ to accused, 
'l'homptins, who was acquitted). About a week before the trial he 
saw Bostic and Sweatt again .and told them that he thought ·their 
interests 1110uld be best served b7 the use of special defense counsel. 
He suggested First ld.eutenant Pascal C. Reese "Who had been in 
accused•' Battalion, and as the;r knew him, each seemed pleased to 
have this officer represent them. Accused did not request a con­
tinuance or make any suggestion that an;rtbing .further be d6ne in 
their behalf {R69,70). Lieutenant Reese testified that he YaS requested 
to serve as special defense counsel a week before the trial, at 
which time he received all papers pertaining to the case. _On the 
dq before the .trial, he interviewed accused and discussed the 
evidence to be presented in their behalf. SWeatt made no mention 
qt 8ll1 additional witnesses llilom he wiehed called and Bostic 

1 	

asked about his barracks companions and Major Anderson ae wit­
nesses. Inasmuch as accuseda' c~ was on the continent and 
st.ipulationa containing the testimony ot .four witnesseS had pre­
Tiou.a17 been obtained b7 the regularlT appointed defense counsel, 
Reese considered the aT&ilable evidence au!ticient •to go to 
trial w1 th11 • He did not. think Major Anderson 1s testimony would 
be of material value, in Tiew o! what accused stated thq expected his, 
teatimoDT to be· (R701 7l). ~ 

5. The crime of robber,y is defined as 

"the taking with intent to steal, of the personal 
propert;r of another, from his person or in' his 
presenceJ agaill8t his ld.ll, bt violyip or intimi­
dation• UlC1l1 1928, par.l49L p.170 Underscoring 
supplied). . 

. The evidence tor the prosecution conclusively' establishes all of 
the elements ot the crime of robber;r. Two pocketbooks of Sergeant 
Henale71 containing the ~ount of mone7 alleged, were taken froa 
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his person after he was held up at the point of a pistol, and 
then knocked down by the butt of the weapon with violent blon on 
his head. Accused Bostic and Sweatt were identified as the 
assailants. Lieutenant Dermont was aimilarl7 assaulted and put 
in bodil..7 fear and, after he had been overpowered and while he 
was lying on the ground, a wrist watch was taken fran his person. 

' ' 

The evid~ce further shows.that in the accomplishment 
of the robberies accused .Bostic and Sweatt, "acting joint]J" and . 
in pursuance of a common intent", assaulted Sergeant·Henslq and 
struck Lieutenant Dermoit, their superior officer who was in the 
execution of his of!ice, in the manner and under the circumstances 
alleged. Each accused was armed and participated together in 
these crimes. They were Jrincipala in a joint enterprise and are there­
fore equall..7 guilt7 and joint]J" .responsible for all of the unlawi'ul 
acts regardless o.f' who committed the particular elements o.f' the 
assaults and robberies (CM ETO 374011 WUSon and Apder;m and author­
ities cited therein). 

The testimony of record raised a question o.f' tact ot prime 
importance regarding the identification of accused as the perpetrators 
of the crime. Each denied committing the offenses. ·Thompkins was ac­
quitted. However, Bostic and Sweatt were positivel..7 identified by 
several witnesses as two of the soldiers present and participating in. 
the commission of the. crimes on the evening in querition. Lieutenant 
Dermont definite11' recognized Bostic as the driver of.the jeep and aa 
one of the soldiers assaulting 'and robbing him. He bellend Sweatt 
was another of those present that night. Sergeant Hensle7 and tour 
women positivel..7 id~ti!ied both Bostic and Sweatt. The identifica­
tions b7 the women were based on their seeing them. that night and 
from previous association 1d. th accused. The women had been in com­
p8.?l1' with Bostic and Sweatt earlier on the evening in question, and 
at the time of the commission of the assaults and robberies. Three 
of them identified accuaed in the i'ormation held !or the purpose of 
identification o! the culprits, and all four. identified them in 
court. Their identi.f'ica.tions under the circumstances carries great 
weight. Although it was stipulated that Lieutenant Weitser 
if present, would ·testi.t)' that accused were present and asleep in 
bed at midnight on the evening in question, this" fact is not 
altogether inconsistent with nor does it render.impossible 
accuseds' presence at the place nearbJ' where the crimes were 
committed two hours later. Questions concerning the credibllit7 
of witnesses and the resolving of disputes of fact are issues for 
the sole determination of the court and such findings, where 
supported b7 substantial evidence, will not be disturbed by the 
Board of Review (CM: ETO 1899, Hicks; CM ETO 19531 ~). The 
record herein contains both substantial and convincing evidence of 
the correct identification of each accused (Bostic and Sweatt) 
and of their joint commission of the several offenses as alleged. 
(CJ! E'ID J62S, M!!.2!1• CM ETO 3478, Marcherlano. et al and author­
ities 

. 
cited therein). The separate specifications, in this case, do. 
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not constitute an illegal or.improper' multiplication of ehar$H 
(MCM, 1928, sec.27, pp.17,18; Bull JAG, Mar 1943, sec.428 (5), 
p.187; Bull JAG, September 1944, eee.1+22(1), p.379). 

· 6. The charge sheet shows that accused Bostic is 25 
years and three months of age and was inducted at Fort Custer, 
:Michigan, 24 August 194.3; accused slreatt is 19 years and five 
months of age and was inducted at Camp Forrest, Tennessee, 4 
June 1943. No prior service b7 either accused is shown. 

7. the cairt was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the persons and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting 
the substantial rights of the accused were committed during the 
trial. The Board of Review is of the opinion that, ·as to each 
accused, (Bostic and Sweatt) the record o! trial is legally suffi­
cient to ·support the findings of guilty aixl the sentence. 

8. The crimes of assault with intent to do bodily harm 
with a dangerous weapon and robbery are punishable b7 confine­
ment in a penitentia17 (AW 42; see.Z76 and 284 Federal Criminal. 
Code; 18 USCA. 455 and 463). The offense of striking a superior 
o.f'!icer while in the execution of his office is punish~ble b;r 
death or such other punishment as a .court-martial ma:r direct 
(AW 64). The #signation of -the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg; Pennqlvania as the pl.ace of confinement, of each 
accusedJ is authorized tAYr 42; Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, 
pa.r~.l£l4), 3£). . 

. 
....,."-ljrlLl.!.l:;,_.::..;~:::::::::::i:::~~~--~Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
AP0.887 

BOllRD OF REVIE\7 NO. l 23fEB1945 

CM ETO 6435 

UNITED STATES 	 ) ~ INF14ffllY DIVISION. 

) 


v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at Sermingen, 
) Luxembourg, 30 December 1944. Sen­

Private HAROLD G. NOE ) tence: Dishonorable discharge, total 
. (3140Q62l), Antitank ) forfeitures and confinement at hard 

Company, 	 8th Ini'antry ) labor for life. Eastern Branch, 
) United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDillG by BOARD. OF REVIEW NO. l 

RITER, SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named-above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE:· Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Harold G. Noe, Anti­
tank Company, 8th Infantry, who was then Special 
duty with Service Company, 8th Infantry, did, 
near Paris, France, on or about 25 August 1944, 
desert the service of the United States and did 
remain absent in desertion until he surrendered 
himself near Antwerp, Belgiwn, on or about 30 
November 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court pre­
sent at the time the vote w~s taken concurring, was found guilty of the 
Charge and Specification. Evidence was. introdu.Ced of one previous con­
viction by special court-martial for absence without leave for eight 
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days in violation of Article of '\Yar 61. rhree-fourths of the members 

of the court·present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was 

sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all 

pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be confined at hard 

labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for the 

term of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved the sen­

tence, designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Bar­

racks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, and forwarded 

·.the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 50:1-. 

3. Prosecution's evidence showed without contradiction that ac­
cused, a member of the Antitank Company, 8th Infantry, was on 25 August 
1944 attached to the Service Company of the regiment in the GRO section 
(RS,10). The Service Company arrived at a small town about 25 miles 
south of Paris, France, on the evening of 24 August, and remained for 
the night in that bivouac (R6,7,10). Accused was present with the com­

. pany 	at that time (R6). At 1030 hours 25 August the company was alerted, 
and it was ~xpected that the company would move in the direction of Paris 
about 1600 or 1700 hours {R7,ll). About 1530 hours accused and two 
other soldiers went to a cafe located about one-half mile from the com­
pany area where they drank wine. After the expiration of about 25 
minutes, accused left the cafe, without either an expression of his . 
intentions or explanation of his conduct to his comrades (Rll,12). He' 
was not with the comp911Y when it resumed its journey toward Paris at 
·about 1630 hours (Rl2) nor was he with it thereafter (RS,9,12). He had 
no permission to be absent from· the company {R5). It was stipulated 
that accused returned to the military service by surrendering himself' 
at Antwerp, Belgium,o.n or about 30 November 1944 C.R13). · 

4. After an·explanation of his rights, accused elected to remain 
silent. No evidence was presented by the defense (Rl4). 

5. Accused was absent from military control without permission 
or authority for 97 days during the height ot operations which even­
tually liberated the greater part of France from enemy domination. 
He offered no explanation of his absence. The court was fully warranted 
in finding him guUty of desertion as alleged (r!iCL1, 1928, par.130~, p. 
143; Ci! ETO 1629, O'Donnell; CM ETO 2343, .WelbeS" and authorities therein 
cited; CM ETO 5406, Aldinger; CM ETO 5~, ~). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 29 years of age. He 
was inducted 29 September 1943 at Ansonia, Connecticut. He had no prior 
service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of.the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 
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· 8• The· penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such 
other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 5S). The desig­
nation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement is authorized 
(AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, ,as amended). 

I • 

!~ j~ . ___&_V_____ ....+-z... Judge Advocate __ ~~ fk_'lll_______ 

. . ... . 

__... ~·---_.,. ,.... Judge Advocate ~.....,....._.....,...._.._C._:......... ________ 

--~-------· ;(........~··-.....:;.::;.;a.;.'j-ri"a_._ Judge Advocate 
......,.._....___ ........... 
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Branch Office of '!he.Judge Advocate .General 

with the 
European rnteater .1of Operations 

.APO 887 

BOARD OJ.I' Rll!VIEW NO• l 

CM ETO 6441. 

UNI1'"ED STATES).) 
. v. ) 

) 
Privates GEORGE C.A1.PBEU. )
(36021288), and JOHN H. ) 
COORS (39236863 ), both of )
4382nd Q,uartermas ter Truck ) 
. Company ) 

26 JAN 1945 

Trial by GCM. convened at Sarrebo.lr-g, 
·France, 29 December 1944• Sentence 
as to each accused1 Dishonorable 
discharge, total torteituru and con­
!inement at hard labor for f'in yea.rs. 
Federal Ref'ormatory, Chillico1ih•, Ohio • 

HO!Dim by BOARD OJ.I' REVIEW NO. 1 
RITER, SHERM~·l and STEVENS,. J'Udge Advocates. 

l. ~e record of trial in the case of the soldiem named above 

has been examined by the Board of Review and found legally sufficient 

to support the sentences. 


2. confinement.in a penitentiary is authorized for the offense 

. of robbery by .Article of War 42 and section 284, Federal Criminal Code 


(18 USCA 463). However, prisoners under 31 years of age and with sen­
.tences of not more than. ten years will be confined in a Federal correction­
al institution or reformatory. '!be designation of the Federal Reformatory, 
Chillicothe, Ohio, as the place of confinement is, therefore, proper (Cir.
229, WD, 8 J'une 1944, sec.II. pars.l~(l), 3,!)• 

, d ;.. ,. !,f 

__/_ ·--~-1....._~_/2/'_~.;...,,,. ;rudge .Advocate /11,.,r_A_.~_· ___ 
/ I 

'Ji,~4/~·,;.··1 (J ,cf.{_,•. .,~.··,..,. J'udge Advocate 

~L.~- J'Udse MYOC•t• 
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Branch Office o! the Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations · 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVI:Blf NO. 1 
27JAN1945 

~ UNITED STATES NaUWIDY BASE SECTION, CCl&UNICA'l'IOH3 
2X>NE 1 "EtROP.EAN '!HEATER CF OPEBA.TIOR:I , 

l 
) 

'1'rial by Gell, convened at st. I.aurent­
Private First Cl&sa RAFE Sui-Yer, Calvad0&1 1 France, 11,l.2 
JONES (.34419171) and Deceml:>er 1944. HORN, acquitted. 
Private CHARLIE HORN S.nt.ence·u to .JONESa Dishonorable 
(38477396), both of 95.2nd discharge, total tortei:t\U'N and oon­
Quartermuter Senic• Com- tinement at hard labor tor ten ,-ears. 
P'-1\Y Federal Retormator7, cpilllaothe, Ohio.l 

HOI.DIID b7 BOi\RD OF liEVIEJr NO. l 

RITER, SHEllCAN am STEVEm 1 Judge Adwca\H 


1. The reoord ot trial in the case ot the 1ol.dier D&D9d 
above has been examined by the Board ot Re"fiew and .found legaJ.l.T 
autficient. to sapport the eentenoe • 

.2. Coatinalllant in a penitenti&17 ii aut.bod.se4 tor U. ot­
tm•• ot ueauU wit.h i.Jrtmt to· ocmi\ rape b7 Ari.iol.e ot War 42 
and ..ouoa 2761 Federal CrhdnaJ Code (18 U3c:l_455). Prll••n, 
h••ftr, tm.tWr 31 J"9&rl ot age and under aa'ltence ot not. aore than 
tu ;rear•, will be oontined in a Federal oorreotional. inatit.ld.ion 
or retornat'11'7• Th• dHigm.tion ot th• FedeNl Betomat.017, Chil ­
lieot.he, <llio, aa the pla.ce ot contine.mant. 18 proper (Cire2291 11D1 
8 June l9441 1ee.II, par1.1!,(l), 3!.)• 

_...&..__·-~----·.._4_·_;~--- Jmge AdTOC&te 

--~-' r:_.4_--~---· Jud&• AdTOcat.• 
-

Jud&• .AdYocat.•~L-~~a ~ 
. . _/ 
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Branch Of'.tice ot The Judge Advocate General 
rlth the 


European Theater ot Operatioms 

APO ~87 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 


CM ETO 6457 

UNITED STATES 35TH INFANTRY DIVISION 

.,.. Trial b;r GCM, comened at Oriocourt,l 
France, 5 December 1944. ·Sentencer 

Private THEODCRE J. ZA.COI ~ Dishonorable discharge, total tor­
(36586012), Comp~ I, teitures an1 contineme11t at hard 
l3'7th Intantr:r .labor tor life. Eastern Branch, 

United States Disciplillaiy Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 
l 

HOLDING b;r BOARD CF REVIEW NO. 1 
RITER, BURROVI' and STEVENS, Judge Advocates ­

1. Th• record ot trial in the case of the soldier i::iamed above 
has been examined by the Board ot Review and the Board submits this, 
its holdirig, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge ot the 
Branch Oft'ice ot The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater 
ot Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges 8.Jld specif'ica­
tionsa 

CHARGE Is Violation 0£ the 58th Article ot War. 

Specification: In that Private Theodore J. Zacoi, 
Company "l", l3'7th Intantr;r, did, at Gremecey, 
France on or about Z7 September 1944 desert 
the service ot the United States by absenting 
himself without proper leave from his organi­
zation with illtent to avoid hazardous duty, 
to wits combat with the enemy, an1 did remaill 
absent in deeertt on lllltll he returned to his 
organization on or about 30 October 1944. 
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CHARGE Ilr Violation of the 64.th Article of l'Iar. 

Specitiea.ticn: In that * * * havillg received a 
lawf'ul command f'rom Lieutenant Colonel 
Alfred K Clark, his superior officer, to 
report to the Company Commander, Compall7 
•I", 137th Infantry, did, at Alinoourt, 
France on or about 30 October 19.44, will~ 
fully disobey the same. 

F...e pleaded not guilt1 and, all of the membera of the court present at 
the .time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilfy ot both chargee 
and apecitications. No evidence or previous convictions was introduced. 
All of the members ot the court present at the time the vote was taken 

concurring, he wu sentenced to be ehot to death with musketry. Tht 

:reviewizl8 autho:r1t;y,the Commandi?lg General, 35th Infantry Divieion, 
approved the eentence aJ'ld forwarded the record cf trial".for action lm• 
der Article of War 5ot: The confirming autbor1ty,'the Commanding General, 
European Theater cf Operations, conf'irmed the sentence, but, owiDg to 
spec1al circumstances 1n the case, commuted it to dishonorable discharge 
from the service, forfeiture ot all pay and allowances due or to become 
due 1 and conf'i11ement at hard labor te1r the term ot accused's :catural 
lif'e, dteignattd the :Eastern Branch, United States PisciplinaJ:7 Barracks, 
OreenhaTen, New Ie1rk, as the place ot confinement, and withheld the or­
der directing the execution ot ihe sentence pureuant to Article ot War
5of. Thia case is coneidered as having been torwarded to the conf'irm­
illl authorit;r urider the prO'rllions ot Article of War 48, notwithetendimg 
the.recital in the action ot the approving authority, that it was for­
warded "tor action undt:r Article ot War Sot"• 

3. Proaecution' a evidence established the tollowing tacte 1 Accused 

was a r1tleman in a squad ot Compan;r I, l37th Intantr7 led b;r Statt· 

Sergeant Franklin E. Maize (R7). On 25. September 19.44, the compan;r was 

in the village of Oremecey, Ger~. As a result o£ a cotmter-attack 

b;r the Germans it was disorganized and part ot it moved to a neighbor­

ing woods where it. established its front lines in an effort to 1top 

the attack. Maize's squad and other soldiers formed a detachment which 

:remained in the town to guard the battalion col!l1n8J¥l post. On Z1 Sep­

tember Maize am other eoldiers including accW!led left Gremecey in 

jeeps intending to join those elements of the compan;r in the woods. 

E!lroute the party encountered Germans who had infiltrated through the 

.American lines. The enemy blocked the road with tanks. Maize and his 


. men were forced to return. Upon arrival they were dispersed in groupa 
ot three's to guard the f'laDke ot the town (R7-10). AB accused left 
on this duty, Maize saw him for the last time until he met him in court• 
.A. day or so later runnera were sent about the town to assemble the men 
of the company in preparation to move to the lines 1n the woods. At 
that time accused was absent (R9) •. The compan;r commander did not give 
him permission to be absent. .A morning report ot the company showed 
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that accused returned to duty on 30 October 1944 (RlO; 11Govt." Ex.A). 

On 30 October Lieutenant Colonel Alf'red K. Cl.ark was the 
regimental executive officer. The military ~olice brought a group of 
atragglers which included accused to regimental headquarters at Alin­
court, France, where Lieutenant Colonel Clark gave accused a direct 
.oral order to return to his company end report to his company commander 
at once. Accused replied "he could not comply". Thereupon the execu­
tive o.f.f'ieer delivered to him a written order which directed him 

"to report to your Commanding Officer, 
Co I, l37th Infaatry, without delay. 
Failure to do so ma:y subject you to 
trial by General Court-martial, the 
consequences in time o.f' war may be 
death" (Rl2; "Govt." Ex.c). 

Accused acknowledge in writing the receipt of the order, but repeated 
that he "couldn't return to his company". Had accused indicated hil!I 
willingness to comply with the order he would have been guided-to his 
compaey or transportation would have been provided f'or him. He was 
then placed in arrest am aent to the service compa.IJ;T (Rl2,l3). 

4. Arter his rights were e::iqJlained, accused elected to be sworn 
as a witness on his own behalf (Rl4). He asserted that after his ar­
rival in France from England he suffered an infection of' his f'eet and 
had been hosp! talized. About the middle of' September 1944, the in­
fection again became active a.IXl he lef't his compa.?lY in order to secure 
treatment. He spent two days at the battalion aid station where his 
teet were bandaged. He continued absent .from his company for a period 
ot not less than ten days durillg which time he visited several mili­
tary organizations. Finally he returned to his company about 'Z1 S.p.. · 
tember. He then described the events as proved by prosecution's 
evidence (Rl5,l6,20,Z.) and stated that he and two oompanioDS atter 
their effort to reach the company lines bad taken cover in a cellar 
in Gremecey at about 1000 hours on 'Z1 September where ·he remained until 
about 1600 hours. The town was ·u.mer enemy shell fire during thi• 
period. There had been an enemy ccrcnter-attack in the woods and the 
3rd Battalion was surrounded. All Americans in the town commenced to 
fall back to Pettoncourt. Accused and another soldier rode a truck er 
an antiaircraft unit to tha't town where he remained in a barn overnight. 
He declared that at this time he 

"wasn't with Compaey I in Gre111ecey. I 
was just returning to Company I * * * 
I didn't leave the organization becaU8e 
I wasn't with the organization"(Rl9). 

He did not know where to !ind a.?lY one in Gramecey Forest (R25). When 
asked wbY he did l'lOt go back to the.torest when the shelling ceased 
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he answered : 

"Do j-ou think I was going to walk up 
to Gremecey Forest by myself't There 
had been a counter-attack up there 
and I didn't know what to do. There 
was no compaDy there. There was just 
a few scattered men there - this bunch 

and that bunch. There was no one 
in direct command** *n(R25). 

The next day.he went to Nancy where he remained two days, and then re­
ported to the military police who returned him to Headquarters J5th 
Division. Two days later he was sent to his regiment. He"was pretty 
nervous and pretty well banged around". He "didn't like the idea of 
goint up there to the lines". He was sent by a Captain Friedman to 
see Captain Schwartz, the division psychiatrist, but failed to see 
him because he had no appointment (R17,18). He was then sent to an 
area where he handled bSlTacks bags for about 2k or 3 weeks and at the 
end of that time absented himself' without permission and went to 
Nancy, where he remained from four to six days when. he surrendered to 
the military police who sent him to his regiment (RlS,22). At re­
gimental headquarters Lieutenant Colonel· Clark gave him ·an order to 
return to his company. It was both oral and in writing. He was con­
fused and nervous when he ree:eived the order. 

nr can truthfully say that I didn't 
know at that time what refusi:ng to 
obey en order ot a superior· officer 
was, and I didn 1 t have explained to 
me - - Well, I didn't say, 'No, I am 
not returning to the company'* * * 
I was aQsent from the company only ­
the only time I was actually absent 
without leave was the week I was in 
Nancy"(Rl8,19). 

He didn't disobey Lieutenant Colonel Clark's order 

"Because I, at the time, was still 
suffering from shock from several 
·close calls I had, atrl I wanted to 
talk to Captain Schwartz. I wanted 
to see if' ·r could get transferr'ed to 
another outfit" (R20). . 

He received no e:xplanation of the ~nalty if he refused to obey the 
order and he didn't have s:rry- idea or the seriousness of his offense 
(R2J). 
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5. a. Charge I and Specification: Prosecution's evidence, 
which is corroborated in its vital particulare by accused's mm 
testimony, showed that his company on 'Z'I September wae attacked 
by the ene!l!Y' aIXl forced to adjust its position anct lines. The 
exigencies ot the situation compelled its comms.nder to divide 
hie force and station part ot it in the town ot Gremecey to guard 
the battalion command post while the remainder ot the company 
sought to establish new lines in the.Forest in order to stop the 
ene!l!Y' counter-attack. Accused's place of' duty·was with the com­
mand post guard which although separated from the main bod1 remained 
a part of' that organization. When the detail includllig accused 
was toiled in its attempt to reach the newly established lines and 
was compelled to return to the town where flank outposts were estab­
lished, it was accused's duty to remain with his detachment. The 
tact that it was under ene!l!Y' artillery fire increased hie respon­
sibility rather than lessened it. He was in the midst or the com­
bat activities alld to attribute to him knowledge of' the critical 
situation of his company and the threats to the lives, alld physical 
well-being of' its personnel not only does no violence to rights of' 
accused but is the only permissible iDference within reason or 
probability. Findimg·himself' in this situation he left his command 
without authority. The court wae f'ul.ly justitied in concl\ld.ing that 
his departure was motivated by the intent to avoid .further hazards 
of battle. All ot the elements r:£ the offense alleged were proved 
b1 substantial evidence (CM ETO 76F?:'l, Jµrbala; CY ETO 7413, ~' 
and authoritiff therein cited). ­

b. Charge II and Specifieatiop: The eTidence substantiall.7 
supports the ti!lding that accused will.fUlly and knowingly violated 
Lieutenant Colonel 'Clark's order to return to hie company aJXl report 
to its commander. It was the court's duty to resolve conflicts iJl 
the eTidence and its t'illdings are conclusive upon appellate review. 
There can be ao doubt -as to accused's guilt (CM ETO 7687, Jurba1a, 
supra; CM ETO 7500, Metcalf and Wloczew;ld.). 

&. The charge eheet shows that accused is 26 years ot age 8.nd 
was inducted 17 March 1943. No prior service is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction ot 
the person and offenses. No errors injuriously af'fect:Ulg the sub­
stantial rights ot accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board oi' Review is of the opinion that the record or trial is 
legally' surticient to support the timings af guili,. and the sen­
tence as commuted. 

8. The penalty tor desertion in time or war is death or such 
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other punishment u a court-martial may direct (AW 58). The desig­
nation ot the F.astern Branch, UJlited States Discipl1Jlar7 Barracks, 
GreenbaTen, New Yark, as the place at is:ontaement, is authorised 
(AW 42; Cir.210, i'lD, 14 Sept. 194.3, sec.VI, as amended). 

1

_ __.,P_~__:_1......./_~_1(_,~'. _____Judge Adyocate 

I ­
__£...,.<::rz......,.,4 ................-r:'....."'*'~- ____Judge Advocate 

tku&[l'.~~..,,,A, Judge Advocai. 
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ls't" Ind. 

War Department, Branch ottice of The Judge Advocate General with the 
Earopean Theater of Operations. ~ 1 MAR 1QAI\ '1'01 Commandi.Dg
General, Europe~ Theater of Operatlone, A':Pt:rSS7, t1. s.. Jrmy. . 

l. 'In the case ot Private THEODOOE J. ZACOI' (:36586012), Com­
PSJJ1' I, 1:3?th Infantry, attention is invited to the f'oregoi.ng hold­

. 1ng of the Board or· Review that the record o£ trial is legal17 suf'­
.ticient to support the f'indil:lgs o.t gulley aDd the sentence as commuted, 
which holdi?lg is hereby approved. Under the provisions ot Article 
of War 5~, you :now have authority to order execution ~ the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the f'oregoi.Jlg boldiJ:lg and 
this indorsement. The .tile number of the record in this otf'ice 1e 
CM ETO 6457. For convenience at reference please :place that number 
1a brackets at the end at the orders (CM ETO 6457). 

~/~
/' 1(. C. McNEIL, . 

Brigadier General, lJJlited States !r'tq, 
Assistant Judie Advocate General. 

(Sentence as comma.ted ordered.. executed. OOllO 1001 ET01 4 April 194Se) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the · 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVm NO. 1 
21 FEB 1945 

CM ETO 6468 

UNITED STATES) 8arn INFA1'."1'!'RY DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at APO 80, 
) U. S. Ar'f!rl, 12 January 1945. 

Private MAURICE PANCAKE ) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
(35676663), Company D, ) total forfeitures and confinement 
318th Infantry at hard labor for life. Place of ~ confinement not designated. 

HOLDING b7 BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

Rim., SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case or the soldier '!la.Died above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation or the 58th Article or ITar. 

Specification: In that Private Maurice Pancake, 
Company D, 318th Infantry, did, in the vicinity 
or ·Thionville, France, on or about 15 November 
1944, desert the service of the United States, 
by quitting and absenting himself without proper 
leave from his organization and place or duty ' 
with intent to avoid hazardous duty to-wit: 
participation in operations against an enemy 
of the United States, and did remain absent in 
desertion until he was apprehended at Cherbourg, 
France, on or about 20 November 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members 6r the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty or the Charge and 
Specification. Evidence was in~roduced of two pr~vious convictions, one 

- 1 ­
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by special court-martial for ~bsence without leave for 13 days and one 
by summary cour~martial for absence without leave for 8 hours, both in 
violation of Article of'War 61. All of the members of the court-present 
at the time the vote was taken concUITing, he was sentenced to be dis­
honorably diseharged't.he service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due 
"or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the 
reviewing authority mai direct, for the term of his natural life. The 
reviewing authority approved the senten~e but did not designate a place 
of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant 
to Articl~ of-War~-

J. · The evidence for the prosecution established the following facts: 

On 15 November 1944 accused was a private in Company D, 318th 
Infantry, and served as a jeep driver. He was engaged in hauling a.mnnmi­
tion for the first machine-gun platoon ot the company, which was.then 
located in the· proximity of Thionville, France (RS). That platoon 
operated with one of the rifle companies of the regiment. It was in a 
defensive position three or four kilometers from the town. On that 
date anc> until the end of November the platoon was engaged with the 
enem;r (R7,s,10). · . · 

On the 'above-mentioned date accused was ordered to the motor 
pool for a gasoline inspection. He informed his platoon sergeant that 
he intended to go to the pool and that was the last he was seen by the 
sergeant (RS). The company commander and the first sergeant of the 
company instituted a search for him during the evening but he was no'b 
found (RlO). 

The·officer who investigated the charge against accused inter­
viewed him and, after he was duly informed of his rights, accused ma.de a 
statement. The investigating officer narrated this statement as follows: 

"He said he went AWOL. * * * he said he was a 
jeep dri~r and in the afternoon he was moving 
up some stuff with his car, he was getting some 
rolls from the roll truck and I believe he told 
his platoon sergeant that he had a flat and after 
the detail was finished he went to the next 
town an~ while'he was there he had himself treated 
at the aid station for a bad cold and he met a 
fellow by the name of Private Brown who was re­
turning to duty after being hospitalized and had 
got up as far as the rear train and that he and 
Brown went AWOL fiwm the aid station in the 
vicinity of Thionville, France. He ·drove his 
jeep back to the aid station and went off by 
bitch-hiking and h~ rode most of the night and 
walked quite a way too, and~theykept this up 
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for five days and that he went generally in the 
direction of Cherbourg, France and I believe I 
asked how come he got picked up and h.e said the 
MP's made a three day search.there loold.ng for 
AWOL' s and were stopping all GI' s and that 1 s how 
they picked him up. I don't believe it was in 
Cherbourg they picked him up but it was in a 
tovm close to Cherbourg. * * * hE! said be had 
been a bazooka man and an ammunition bearer and 
that he had flat feet and they made him a jeep 
driver. He said once before he had been under 
an artillery barrage and that shook him up and 

'that he was hospitalized for-seven days" (R6-7). 

4. The evidence for the defense sum.'1l8.l'izes as follows: 

Technical Sergeant Stanley A. Palmer, sergeant of accused's 
platoon, on cross-examination testified that all of the soldiers of his 
platoon were "pretty good men". He never noticed anything exceptional 
or anything discreditable as to accused (R9).. · 

Private Fred E. Beck, of accused's company, testified that ac­
cused complained to him concerning headaches. He "got dizzy and then 
he had to sit down for awhile" (Rl2). · 

Private First Class Luther W. Scheel, a cook of ac~used's com­
pany, stated that accused had complained that he suffered from headache. 
He talked in his sleep and when he awoke he seemed frightened. He was 
"mighty good.11 as a kitchen helper (Rl.3). 

Private First Class Patrick R. McCarthy, a squad mate of ac­
cused, testified he worked with accused under combat conditions, and 
particularly in "Lcleanui} out some snipers and things of that sort". 
He was a brave man and alert. At Sil le Guilliume,, while the company 
was yet 11green", it was under heavy sniper fire. Accused performed 
credita'bly. At St. Genevieve accused came under heavy artillery fire 
and "from that time on he didn't seem to be the· same, he was nervous and 
seemed very- fearful from that time on of the consequences to himself" 
(Rl4). . 

Major Isidore Tuerk, Medical Corps, division neuropsychiatrist, 
examined accused, who had been under his ca.re for battle fatigue. 

11He was a patient .from September 2.3d 1944 to Sep­
tember 27th 1944 at which time he was sent to the 
convalescent station and then returned to duty on 
September .30th, 1944. He claimed at the time 
that he came in on September 2.3d. that his head 
ached and that he was nervous and torn up" (R15). 

- .3 ­
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Witne~s examined accused on 10 Jan\UU"y 1945. 

"At that time he told me that when he left the 
convalescent station, his head bothered him a 

. little but he took a job as a jeep driver and 
got along rather well except on occasion when 
there was a lot of noise and then his head 
bothered him. However, on November 15th he 
said he go_t nervous and scared under artillery 
fire and took off because· he was nervous and 
his head ached. He finally got back to his 
outfit some time early in December and since 
then he says he has been getting around.rather 
well but at times he gets nervous and headaches 
bother him. He is preoccupied about his family, 
his sister and his father and nis mother who he 
claims were dependent upori him and he worries 
about them and is concerned about them. He 
knew that it was wrong to leave without permis­
sion and it was my opinion that he was sane at 
the time of the examination, that he knew the 
difference between right and wrong, that he was 
sane at the time of the alleged misdeed and 
that he could be held responsible for his 
actions!·(Rl5). · 

5. After his rights were'eJ!l)lained .to him, accused elected to 

remain silent (R16). 


6. Assuming th8.t proof of physical disablement of an accused to 

the extent he is unable to perform his duties is a defense to the instant 

charge, the court by its finding resolved this issue against accused. 

Such finding is binding on appellate review (CM ETO 4702, Petruso and 

authorities therein cited). 


The evidence is clear and uncontradicted that accused's pla­

toon on 15 November 1944 ia.nd for a considerable period thereafter was 

actively engaged with the enemy. Accused was an ammunition bearer 

whose duty required him to supply ammunition to the i'ront lines. He 

took advantage of the opportunity afforded him when he went to the motor 

pool on the evening of that date to leave his command without authority 

and remained absent until he was apprehended five days later. The 

evidence considered as a whole was or such substantial and pertinent 

nature as to justify the court in inferring therefrom that accused 

deliberately quit his place or duty with the platoon without permission; 

that he was ~ully informed as to the hazards and perils to be encountered 

and knew they would continue indefinitely; and that he deliberately ab­

sented himself to escape the same. The prosecution proved all elements 

or the charge against accused in a substantial manner (CM ETO 4054, 
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~et al; ?M ETO 4570, Hawkins; CM ETO 5155, CB.IToll and D'Elia). 

7. Evidence was admitted which showed that accused had been con­
victed by a summary court on 9 December 1944 for absence without leave 
for eight hours and 15 minutes on 7 December 1944 in violation of the 

· 6lst Article of Viar. The offense and conviction occurred after the 
offense involved in the instant case but before the trial thereof. 
The evidence of this conviction was improperly admitted (CM 199969, 
Harris, 4 B.R. 205; CM 230826, McGrath, 18 B.R•.53). The error did 
not influence the findings of guilt but only the sentence. A recon­
sideration of the. sentence by the reviewing authority is thus indicated. 

8. The' charge sheet shows that accused is 23 years and six months 
of _age. He was inducted 9 December 1942 to serve for the duration of 
the war plus six months. He had no prior service. 

9. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. · 

10. The perlalty for desertion in time of war is death or ·such 
other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58) •. By supple.:. 
mental action, the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, should be desi~ted as the place of confinement 
(AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sep 1943, se~/;~/B;fJ"'run_~f.ded). · 

1_-4/f;,_.LJ_:__/ __1._..._li___.....~____Judge Advocate 

/.
'lit a/.e,,.-C"1-t ('?..,,#,. :,.,~, ..,, Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judge Jlvocate General 

With the 
European 	'!heater of Operations 


.APO 887 


BOARD OF REV!Elf NO. 2 , 

CM ETC 6497 

UNITED STATES ) FIRST UNITED STATES ARMY 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, conTened at Saint' ) Trond,. Belgium, 4 January 1945• 
private WALTER GARY, Jr• ) · Seniences Dishonorable discharge, 
(34628558 ), 3168th Q.uarter­ ) total forfeitures and confinement 
master Service Company. at hard labor for 20 years. Ullited 

~ States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
) PennsylTania. 

HOID:nD by BOARD OF REYIEW NO• 2 
VAN BEN3CHOTEN, Rm. and SIEEP:ER, Judge .Advocates 

1. 1!J,e record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 

has been examined by the Board of Review. 


2. t,l!le SP' cification, Charge I, allegea that accused deserted 
7 September 1944, and remained absent in desertion until apprehended. 
2 November 1944, a period ·or 57 days. 'lhe reviewing authority approved 
only so much of the findings of guilty of the Specification, Charge I, 
and of Charge I, aa· involves conviction of desertion on 7 September 

'1944 	end remaining absent therein until 1 October 1944• Mere un­
authorized absence for 24 days does not, of itself alone, constitute 
a substantial basis, nor is any other circwnste.nce sho'Wll to support 
an inference of the requisite intent to establish desertion. In the 
opinion of the Board of Review the record of trial is legally suf~ 
f'icient to support only so much of the findings of guilty of the 
S:i;>ecification, Charge I, and of Charge I, as involves finding accused 
guilty of absenting himself, without proper lean, from his command 
in the vicinity of Marolles, France, from about 7 September 1944. to 
about l October 1944, in violation of Article of War 61. 
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3. penitentiary confinement .is not authorized on conviction 
·of a 	violation of .Article of War 61. The designation of the place 
of confinement should be changed to Eastern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barracks,. Greenhaven, New York (AW 4.2; Cir.210,, WD, 
14 Sept.1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

/ ,,.,.-----..........~, r - , ~,
~-' - .· 
~ ffrt>tf...,1) ~- J-......~ JUdge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

' with the 
European 	Theater of Operations 


APO 887 


BOA.RD OF REVJ::gy'{ NO. 2 

CM ETC iS'522 

·.UNITED ·STATES 	 ) 
) 

v. 	 )
) 

Private ID.'iA.."li.D 'CALDWELL ) 

(34418519), 3412th Quarter- .· ) 

master Truck Comp~ )


) 

) 


SE:LN!:': SECTIOH, COlt::1.mNICATIONS ZONE, 
EUROPEfJ'r THEA.TER OF OPERATIONS . 

Trial by GCM, Paris, France, 7 
December 1944. Sentence: Dishonorable 
discharge (suspended), total forfeitures 
and confinement at har4 labor for five 
years.' Loire Disciplinary Training 
Center, Le Mans, France. 

' 	 . 
HOWING by BOA.RD OF REVIEl'T NO. 2 

. VAN B:::lISCHOTEN, HILL and EVINS_, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 

been examined in the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 

European Theater of Operations and there found legally insufficient to 

support the findings and the sentence. The record of trial has now been 

exa'!lined by ~he Board of Review and.the, Board submits this, its holding, 


·to the Assistant Judge A~ocate General in charge of.said Branch Office. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications1 

CHARGE I: Violation of .the 92nd Article of War. 
. (Nolle Prosequi) 

Specification: (Nolle Prosequi) 

CHARGE :P:: 	 Violation of the 9Jrd Article of "\Var~ 

Specification: Ip that •.Private Edlvard Caldwell, 
3412th Quartennaster Truck Company, did, 
at Chartres, France, on or about 6 October 
1944, with intent to ·do him bodily harni., 
cormnit an assa11lt upon Edmond Champroux by 
wrong.fully holding a dangerous weapon, t<>-'W'ita. 
a knife, against the throat of the said 
Edmond Champroux and thereby placing him 
in fear. 6522 
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He pleaded not guilty to the charges, and s~cifications. The proseeution 

thereupon nolle prossed Charge I and its·Spec1fication. He was found 

guilty of Charge II and its Specification;. No evidence of previous con­

victions was introduced; He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged 

the service, to forfeit all· pay and allowances due or .to become die, and 

to be confined at hard labo:i; at such place as' 'bhe reviewing autho!lity may 

direct, for five (5) yea:rs; The reviewing authority approved the sen­

tence, ordered its execution, but suspended the execution of that portion 

thereof adjudging dishonorable discharge until the soldier.'s release from 

confinement, and designated Loire Disciplinary Training Center, Le Mans, 

France, as the place of confinement.· The-proceedings wer~published in 

General Court-Martial Orders No. 7, Headquarters Seine. Sec.tion, Communica­

tions Zone, European Theater of Operations, United States Army, 5 January 

1945. 


. .3. Evidence introduced by 'the:prosecution showed that accused is · 
a private in the .34l2th Quartermaster Truck Company' (Rl.0,12; Pros.EJcs. 1 1 2) •. 
On 6 October 1944, Edmond Champroux of Paris, France, was walking on the '--' 

· ·highway between· Courville and Chartres, accompanied by bis twelve-year old 

daughter. This .was at about 2100 hours (R7). :Monsieur Champroux testified 

that he was pushing a bicycle. At that· time, he was· accosted by .two co'iored 

men. In his testimony the witness called one 11 the big one" 1 ·and the other . 

"the little one". He was unable to identify accused. Hmrever, from the 

subsequent testimony of accused "the big one" was identified as Private 

Abbott and 11 the little one" as accused (R5,6,13,14). Abbott said to 

Champroux: "Chocolate". The latter refused. Then his daughter, walking 

behind him, shouted "Papa., Papa", and he himself was taken "at the throat 

from behind11 by Abbott•. He was also struck 11at the shoulder"• Turning 

around, Champroux saw another colored man, accused, going off 1ti.th his 

daughter. A struggle followed between Champroux and Abbott, during which 

the fonner was stabbed in the left arm by Abbott. The Frenchman fell down. 

and Abbott sat on him, holding a knife at his throat to prevent him scream­

ing· (R5,6,8). "A moment later", accused came back to replace Abbott. 

Champroux said Abbott gave accused his knife. . "He Laccuse1/ held me with 

his knife at my throat to prevent me from shouting" (R6)~ Champroux 

continu~d: 


11A moment later the big one came back. He took 
me under his arm and lay me over into the middle 
of the field. He threw me to the ground and he 
held me down with his knife. My litfie girl was 
about two or three meters distance from me. She 
was lying in a hole and the big·negro who had 
gone - away from me was lying on top of her. From 
time to time the two negroes talked between them 
but I couldn't understand v:hat they w~re talking 
about. Sometimes when cars were passing on the 
highway and illwninating t.he surroundings,. he put 
his knife closer to my throat and said 'sh, sh. r 
The little negro hid his face in hip hand in order 
that I may not recosnize him. A moment later the 
little one got o~f me and I took advantage of his 
movement and got to my feet, too. When I got off· 6522. 

' I ~if ii E~'". ' 
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I ·saw the big . one or the two arranging: and drawing 
up his trousers, and then the little one said some-. 
thing and 1;.hey took some money out·of their pockets • 

• He crumpled it in bis' hand and thrarit to the ground. 
· 	 I took .the money up because I saw by this money 

there might be a possibility to·discover them. After 
this event I said ·to m:r daughter, 'Now let's go home. t · 

• Jfe ~went· up to the highway where I took up my bicycle 
·'which was lying on the ground. At this moment m:f · ~ 

little daughter said tPapa1 Papa, , the negro is coming 
back. I They actual.17. came ·back and WOO t Up to hole '. 
·in which my daughter W;iJ.!3 lying. · It seemed to me ~ 

· had forgotten or lost something because they were 
·searching their pockets. Later they went away. I 
went away myself w.i.th my little daughter and myself 
and about one hundred meters later I fell down and 
.fainted. When I came to myself again I ·asked. m:r 
lltt+e daughter to·go over to Chartres and ask for 

• 	. help. ~he went over to the gendarmerie1 ·police, 
· and I myself went over to Chartres and there a · i 

policeman. br()ught me. to a hospital to have my'. w9u.nds 
treated and there I .fohnd my daughter. L4ter qn the 

· 	-American Milltary Police brought us to the camp of 
the negroes but I couldn't recognize·the·colored menn 

: (R6, 7). '· 

On cross..:.exaiD:i.nation Champroux again said that accused, 'Whom he described 
'as nth& little one" held _the knife in his ·left hand and said "sh,sh"1 , , , 

when the ·ears went by on Uie road. The prosecution al.so showed that lac-: 

. c11sed :made tfro stat~ents, after being warned of'·his rights (RlO,ll; 

· P?'os:.Exs.11 2); In the first statement accused said that Abbott. took him up 


·· the· road M~;showed hiJn a male French civilian and El. woman lying on the 

· grotind. .He. s?id that when he sa:w. ·the couple •he started to .back away · 

and~~despite threats made by Abbott, fied the scene and returned to camp. ·· 


' In the second statement made on 12. October 1944, a few days after the · , 

first, accused admitted th.at he had been present during the entire occur­

.. rence, admitted certaih acts of cooperation, .but claimed that this was due 

·.to thx"eats made bi.Abbott•... · , '· . "> ··, :·. «.~· · . . . · .. 
.. 

···-	 ., 
· ··., · The proseeution'.introduc&d as·a Witry.ess Claudine Champroux, the ~ 

: , 4aaghter of'· C~proux; ·~ twe~:ve-7ear old girl. Claudine testified without.· 
'·.' having firs~ been place4 unde~ oath.· The , trial judge advocate asked the-. .. 

, cou.rt 1s permission to examine the. daughter without placing her under oath; 
.to which request the law' member answered "'rhe court grants permissidn"• 

· ',.lm.ong. other. things.she ''said that.she "sn.the little one hold his. knife.: to 
1the th1_•tiat 9!,·mt i'ather" ~ (R9,10) · 	 • • , •• 

: ..• . 4. Acc'\lSed, advi~ed , o:t 'bis ri~te; · testi.tied· cm h±s mm behalf~ ·. He _ 
~. said that on the night in question Private-

1 

Abbott called him from a cllmp:f'ire :'! 
where he w~ heating a box or rations· and without explanation _took him up 

.. the road towards Chartrese;. :Accused said he th6u.ght they were going _to· giat 

._:·;~ ·~ ,(R13,l4,17). ·,~ fe· rJad,/o~~-~e: ~ame, directi~~ tJie~~was 65· 22. 
. . . . . · ~.Gp~~,fl_D~~J~~-:-~. ~, :. ·. ,... 	 . - . . ..... 
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man and a littJ.A f;;\rl" Tf% r.ian was pushing a bicycle and the little girl 
was walkinG bemRa:;rr::1~t li.e thou~ht that Abbott would pass the man, but 
that Abbott walked up bahind the man and, instead of passing, grabbed him 
from the back. The little girl shouted 11Papa, Papa"• Abbott said to ac­
cused 11Boy,, get that woman"• Accused e:qilained, 11'\7ell, I got the little 
girl by the hand and went out into the field about 10 feet and I looked 
back and I couldn't see Abbott or the man,, either oni=i"• He then returned 
to where Abbott was holding Champroux,, the girl follO';ring him, and Abbott 
told accused to hold the man and threatened to cut off his head if he did 
not comply. Abbott had a knife out and the blade was open. Accordingly 
he "squatted down by the man but11 according to accused "I did not have 
anything in my hand". He insHted that he did not have a knife in his. 
hand and that when he squatted down beside the ma.rt he did not do anything, 
but that he only told him "I am good. I a'U not going to hurt you"• Asked 
why he told this to the Frenchman accused anSW'ered: "Well, he was strug­
gling like he was hurt, or something or worrying". He also testified that 
Champroux and his daughter lookei1 like the couple that he and Abbott had 
met that night (R.14-20). · ' 

5. The record shows 'that the W'lS'\1orn testimony of Claudine Champ~oux, 
the 12 yeax old child,, vias received by the court without objection by the 
defense. The defense did not expressly waive its right to object to this. 
t8stimony. The admission of the testimony of this girl was clearly er­
roneous (Dig. Op. JAG 1912-19hO, sec.395, (58), p.238, CM 1859721 186545 
(1929); Bull Jf:J Vol.I, sec.376(3), CM 220359,, Archibald; A.Vt. 19) • . 

In ri.etennin.i.ng whether the er:-or of the· court in accepting this 

uns~·:orn te:;timony injuriously affected substantial ri13hts ·of accused, it 

is nRcessary to apply the established ~tle that 


"The reception in any substantial quantity 
of illegal evidence must be held to vitiate 
a finding of guilty of the charge to which 
such evidence relates unless the legal evi­
dence of record is of such quantity and 
quality as practically to compel in the 
minds of conscientious arid reasonable men 
the finding of guilty" (CH :CTO 1201,, Pheil; 
C';;I 'STO 1693, Allen; CJ,~ ETO 219),, Shor~ 

The evidence shows that at the time and place alleged in the 
· specification there was an assault vii.th a dangerous weapon, a lmife, made 

upon Edmond Champroux. This assault lasted and continued from the time 
that the struggle started between Champroux and Abbott, durine the subse­
quent period when Abbott stabbed the Frenchman in the left ann, ~ot him 
dovm, ancl sat on him, holding a knife at his throat to prevent him from 
screaming, ,after which he,, Abbott, was relieved by accused who took his 

-"place, up until the time that Champromc wi:ts finally released and pennitted 
to leave ~~e scene. The fact ~hat the assault had changing aspects such as 
the physical struggle, the actual stabbing, the chMge in the position of 
the knife to one of close proxim.i. ty· to the throat, the change in the person 
of the assailant or the guard, does not alter the fact that it was one 
c'ontinuing assault. 

• ' I 'I -- \. .., ~. ~ I 
iJLI ,d· . • '" ­
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Nor is the foregoin8 conclusion dependent on the knife being 


in close presence of the victim at all times. F.ven if accused did,not have 

the knife in his possessipn when .he was ~uarding Cha.'llprolL'{, it remained a 

continual. threat since it had already been used as a weapon of intimida­

tion and was nva.ilable for use by TJoore on a mqment 's notice should 

Champroux start struggling to escape fror.i. accused. 


The evidence, found in the admission of accused on the stand that 

nhen Abbott grabbed foe father, he at the direction of Abbott 11 got11 the 

little girl by the hand and took her out into the field, shows that Abbott 

and accused were acting jointly vii th each other and in pursuance of a common 

purpose. Accordingly, the act of the one was the act of the other (MCM,, 

1928,, par.ll4c, p.117; \'Jharton's Criminal ~vid.ence, _11th Ed. 1935., sec.699, 

pp.1183-1188)'; ' 


If Abbott held a knife at the throat of Champroux during this 

assault, since this was a joint undertaking, that act was the act of accused, 

could be charged against him, and would afford the basis of a finding of 

guilty against accused. Nor is the rule thus applied affected by the fact 

that Abbott and accused were not charged jointly nor by the failu.J;'e of the 

specification to allege the.t accused was acting in conjunction witi1 Abbott 

(ltC1I, 1928,par.27, p.18, appendix 4, par.X, p.237; \Tha".'ton 1s Criminal Evi­

. dance; ibid, s701, p.1190). 

Proof that the knife was held by Abbott rather than by accused; 
as alleged in the Specification, was :not a fatal varia.vic~. 11An indictment 
may c:iarge a defendant with bein['. a principal. in the corrmlission of an of­
fense, e.nd conviction will follow if the evidence sufficiently shows that 
he was merely present, aiding and abetting" (Tlha.rton's, i.bid, sec.1032, p.18ll). 

Entirely disregarding all of the.girl's testimony, there still 

remains compelling evidence ··to support the court's findings of guilty. 


In view of the foregoing, it is the opinion of the Board of P.eview 

that the acceptance in evidence of the unsworn testimony of the daughter 

was harmless and did not constitute error prejudicial to the substantial. 

rights of a.ccused (Bull. JAG, vol. III, No 5, p. 185, sec.332(2), CH ETO 

1693; .Al.JJm). 


7. The charge sheet shows that accused: is 23 years of BGG nnd was 

inducted at Fort Benning, Georgia, on 12 October 1942 to serve :for the 

duration o:: the war plus six months. He had no prior service. 


8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
. person and offense. No errors injuriously affectin~ the substantial. ri:::;hts 

of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the record is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sentence. 

6522 
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9. The o;fense of t..ssap.lt with intent to do bodily harm with a 
.dangerous weapo,n in violation of Article of War 93, is punishable by 
confinement for· fiv-e years (~ICH, 1928, par.104c, ·p.99). The designation 
of Loire Disciplinary Trainirlf; Center, Le Mans'; France, as the place of 
confinement is prop~r (Ltr., Hq. European Theater of Operations, AG 
2)2 Op TH.I, 19 Dec. 1944, par.3). 

~Judge Advocate 

652.2 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Theater or Operations 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CM ETO 6523 

. 
UNITED STATES 

v. 

First Lieutenant JOHN R. 
KNAPP (0-1107523), Sl6th 
Engineer Aviation Batta­
lion 

~4 FEB 1945 

~ SEINE SECTION, COMMUNICATIONS ZONE, 

ElJROP"'M.N 'IIBATm OF OPERATIONS. 


) 

) Trial by GCM, convened at Paris, 

) France, 7-8 November 1~4. Sen­

) tence: Dis.missal., tot.al forfei­

) tures and confinement at hard 

) labor !or ten years. Eastern 

) Branch, United States Disciplin­

) ary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York. 


HOIDING by BOARD CF REVIEW' NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SIEEPER, Jl.Xige Advocates 


l. The rec:ord or tr.Lal in the case o! the officer named 
above has been exam:i.ned bT the. Board of Review and th9 Board sub­
mit• this, its hold~, to tm Assistant Judge Advocate General 
in charge o! th• Branch Of'f'ice o! The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater ot_ Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and speci­
fications: · 

' 
CHARGE: Violation o! th!I 93rd Article of War. 

, Spsciticat.ion i: In that First Lieutenant John 
R. Knapp, 816th Engineer Aviation Battalion, 
European Theater of' Operations, United 

• 	 States Arrey, di.d, in ccnjunction with 
Private IJ.oy-d D. Thomas, 816th Engineer Avia­
tion Battalion, European Theater o! Operations, 
United States Arrrq, at Paris, France, on or 
about 2 October 1941+, in the nighttime felon­
iouly and wrgl.ar.Lous~ break and enter the 
dwelling house or Andre Dales, 19 Rue La.uriston, 

-	 1 -
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with the intent to o:>nmit a felony, 
viz, l.a.rceey t}l, rein. ~-

Speci.tica.tion 2: In that First Lieutenant 
John R. Knapp, 816th Engineer Aviation 
Battalion, European Theater of Oi:era­
tions, United States A-rm:1, did, at 
Paris, France, on or about 2 October 
1944, in.conjunction with Private 
IJ.oyd D. Thoma.s, 816th Engineer Avia­
tion Battalion, European '!heater ot 
Operations, Unitea States Arley', and 
Private Dolliver Spurlock, 816t.h Engii­
neer Aviation Battalion, European 
Theater of Operations, United States 
Army, .feloniously and wrongfully take, 
steal and carry away .f'rc>m the dwelling 
house at.Andre Dales 180,000 trancs, 
French currency, of the value of about 
$3,600.oo, the property or the afore­
said Andre Dales. 

He pleaded guilty an::!. was found guilty o.f' the Charge and speci­
fications. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. 
He was sentenced to .be "dishonorably" disnissed the service, to 
.forfeit all pay and allowances due or to becaue due and to be 
confined a.t hard labor at sucn place as the reviewing authority 
ma.y direct, for ten years. . The rev:ie wing authority, the Com­
narding General, Seim Section, Communications Zone, European 
'!heater of Operations, approved the sentence and forwarded the 
record o.f' trial for action unier tre provisions of Article of 
War 48. The contirmi.ng authority, the Commanding Gemral, 
European lbeater o.f' Operations, conf'iimed the sent.ence, de1Jig­
nated. the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary- Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place ot confinement and Yd.thheld 
the order directing execution thereof pursuant to the provisions 
of Article of War 5~. 

3. The prosecution1s evidence substant iall;r S1ows tba t 
on 2 October 1944, M. Andre Dal.ea was the proprietor of a cafe 
at 19 Rue Lauriston, Paris, where accwed had visited a nuni:>er 
of times and had becolll8. friendly-with Dales who aaced accused 
if he would be able to bring him s:>DD cmll1!8gne trom the countey. 
Accused agreed to d:> so and on the night of 2 October, visited 
the cafe am ini'orim:ld Dales that the truck with champagne wu 
waiting outside Par.i. s and Dales and his friend Jimn;r de Mont­
Sa.int Amani, who fPOke English, went with accused to the water 
disposal plant o.f' St. Cuen, where tllO armed soldiers appeared 
and talked with accused (RS-9). Dal.es was then informd by ac­
cused tra t the truck had eit bar broken down or been taken b1 
the police ani they all .returned with accused to the ca!e, where 
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accused asked Dales if he really had the money to pey for 
the champagne (RlO) • On being told that Dales had the 
money, accused asked to see it and was taken by Dales to 
his apartni3nt over the cafe and shown the money, .about 
180,000 francs, including about 15 Lnglish pounds and 
SOJl¥3 Aimrican dollars, in a little iron box. There were 
two wa:ys to get into the apartment, ·one from the back 
of the cafe and one from the street. This visit to tl'E 
apartment occurred about ten o 1 clock that night. They 
then retu~d to the cafe downstairs where the two 
soldiers waited and the three of them (accused and two 
sold:iers) left shortly after (Rll). About one o 1 cJ.ock that 
night, the cafe was closed and Dales returned to his apart ­
ment upstairs where he foun:i the street door open, the lock 
on it broken and the iron b:>x and money g>ne. He immediately 
reported his loss to the American Provost Marshal. The rext 
morning ha saw accused on the street in his truck am accused 
inclic ated he wanted to see Dales. After he was arrested ac­
cts ed took the money from his blouse in the rresmce of the 
police; they counted it together and Dales put it in his poc­
ket. It was later turred over to the police (Rl2-13,l4,17-18, 
25). Accused was not drunk on the night of 2 October 1944 
(R.14). Accused, after dw warnirg of his rights in so doing, 
gave an agent of the Criminal Investigation Division, United 
States Army, on 4 October 1944, a s:igred sworn statement 
(R22; Pros.Ex.D) aJIDunting to a complete oonfession as follows: 

"On 2 Oct. 1944 at about 1900 hrs. I ar­
rived in Paris with pvts. Spurlock and 
Thomas, from my organization. 

\'!e had just been paid and we had come to 
Paris to do some drinking. We went to 
a cabaret,· I don1 t kna.v the name of the 
street and entered a bar called 1Maurit ­
zon' as closely as I can remember. 

Arter having a few drinks the proprietor 
approached me and asked ma if I would 
transport some champagne for him. 

I asked him if he had the money to pay me 
i! I did. He then took me upstairs to his 
apartment and showed m:i his strong box full 
of francs, dollars and poundso 

Thinking to myself that this man was no good 
we decided to bust into his room and take 
the money. 

- ~ ­
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We went dcnmstairs again andcrank for 

a couple of hours and left at about 

2300 hrs. 


In about 15 minutes Thomas and Jey'self 
returned and went upstairs to the man1s 
apartment, and Thomas pushed open the. 
door breaking- the lock. I was standing 
at the bottom of the stairs and told him 
where the money was. He took the money 
and we fied to the waiting jeep. Spur­
lock was behind the wheel ready to drive 
as he knew where we had gone and wha. t we 
were going to do • 

We stopped on the ~ back to camp. 

On 4 Oct. 1944 I gave a. man whom I recog­
nized as the proprietor of the cabaret 
known as 1Ma.uritson' tm sum of 180,000 
francs, in English, French ani American 
money. 

This sum 'fa:s obtained from Thomas, Spur­
lock, and iey-self and is the approximate 
amount we had ootaihed Monday night, 2 
October 1941+ when we broke into the aplrt ­
ment. 

This man gave me a receipt for the 180,00_ 
fSii} francs 11 • 

4. For the defense, the officer in charge of the prison 
office, Seine Section Disciplinary Training Center, Paris, testi ­
fied that accused, assigned to administrati. ve work for t~ pre­
vious month in that office, had been a clear, dependable and will ­
ing worker. Defense counsel stated that the right of accused to 
testify had been explained to him. This right was not explained 
by tre court and accused did not become a witness (R26-27). 

5. The effect of accused's plea of gullty was explained 
to him by the court. It is in effect a confession of the offense 
charged (CM ETO 1266, Shiwan; CM E1'0 1588, Moseff). Good practice 
and a proper consideration of the elements involved in a plea of 
guilty require that some evidence, if avail~ble, of the circum­
stances of the offense be µ-esented to the court (CM ETQ 839, 
Nelson; CM ETO 3056, Walker). This was done. 

The evidence submitted herein in no way da'lied or con­
tradicted the plea of guilty and the plea of guilty and the find­
ings of guilty of the Charge and of both specifications are fully hr- Cl') 

supported. •.1 ,.,; ·"' .J 
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6. The charge sh•t shes• that accused ia 26 year• 
ot age am. was inducted S June 1942 at Chicago, DHnoia. 
He waa comniasi.oned in Dec•ber 1942. No prior aerrlce 
ia ahown. 

7. ibe co\IE't wu legallT constituted and had juris­
diction ot the person am ot!enaea. No errors injuriou.117 
attecting the ali>atantial ~?'j ot the accused were coa­
mitted duri~ the trial. ibe BOard ot Renew ia ot the 
opinion that the record ia legall.7 lllltficient to support 
the tindinga ot gullt7 am the eentence. 

8. Diaml.aaal and con11nemmt a.re authorised under 
ArticJ.e ot -War 93. '!be deaignation ot the Eastern Branch, 
United states Disc::iplinar;r Barracks, aa the place ot con­
!iDl!lmmt ia authorised (Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept. 19431 sec.VI, 
as amended). 

Judge Ad'fOCate 

6523. 
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1st. Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The JtP.g~ M:y:_o9ate General w:ith 
the European Theater of Operations. ~-4 tttl 1;;; ,._; TO: Com­
manding General, European Theater of Operations, APO 887, u. s. 
Army. 

1. In the case of First Lieutenant JOHN R. KNAPP, 
(0-1107523), 816th Engineer Aviation Battalion, attention is in­
vited to the fcregoing holding by the Boa.rd of Review tmt the 
record of t:cial. iio legally sufficient to support the timings of 
guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under 
the provisions of Article of War 5~, you now have aµthority to 
order execution ot the sentence.­

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded 
to this office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing hold­
ing ancj this indorsement. The file number of the record in this 
office ia CM ETO 6523. For convenience of reference please place 
that number in brackets at the erxl of thi order: (CM ETO 652.3). _ 

~e?u-y'
/ ~c. McNEIL, , 


Brigadier General, United States Army, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 


(Sentence_ ordered ~xecuted. GCMO 6J, ETO, 3 Mar 1945.) 
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Branch Oi'fice of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

~.)FEB 1945BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CM ETO 6524 

UNITED STATES) 2D ARMORED DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at Headquar­
) ters 2d .Armored Division, APO 252, 

Private GLEN C. TORGEJCON ) U.S. Army, 6 December 1944. Sentence: 
(37651192), Company A, ) Dishonorable discharge, total for­
67th Armored Regiment ) feitures and confinement at hard 

) labor for life. Eastern Branch, 
) . United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIE'i'T NO. 2 I 

VAN BEIJSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its 
holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch 
Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater of Opera­
tions. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of' War. 

Specification: In that Private Glen c. Torgerson, 
Company "A", 67th Armored Regiment, did, at 
1-1/2 mile nor\h of Ubach, Germany, on or about 
10 October 1944, desert the service of the 
United States by absenting himself Trithout 
proper leave from his organization and place 
of duty with intent to avo~d hazardous duty, 
to wit: to engage in combat with the enemy, 
and did remain absent in desertion until he 6524was apprehended at Brvnssum, Holland, on or 
about 17 October 1944. 
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. He pleaded to the Specification of~the Charge, guilty, exce:_..rt; the words 
"desert the service of the United States by absenting himself without 
proper leave from his organization and pl:·o~ Qf duty with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, to JTit: to engage in combat with the enemy" and "in 

. desertion11 , substituting respectively therefor the words "absent himself' 
without proper leave from his organization and place of duty" and "without 
leave", to the excepted Trords, not guilty, to the substituted words, 
guilty; to the Charge, not guil:ty but guilty of a violation of the 6lst 
Article of Har. All of the l'!lernbers of the col.1rt present at the time 
the vo~·was taken concurring, he was found guilty of the Charge and 
Specification. No evidence of previcua convictions was introduced. 
All of the members of -~he court present at the time the vote was taken 
concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service,. 
to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to beco~e due, and to be shot 
to death with musketry. The reviewing authority, the Commanding General~ 
2d Armored Division, approved the sentence vdth the recommendation that 
it be commuted to dishonorable discharge, forfeiture of all pay and 
allo\Ya.nces due or to become due, and confinement at hard labor for 
20 years, and forvrarded the record of ·trial for action pursuant to 
Article' of Viar LiS. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, 
European Theater of Operations, confirI:led only so much of the sentence 
as provided that accused be shot to death with musketry but, 11owing to 
special circumstances and the recommendation of the convening authority 
for clemency", corriJJillted the sentence as confirmed to dishonorable dis­
charge, forfeiture of all pay and allowances due or to become due, and 
confinement at hard labor for life, designated the Eastern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New Yor1'::, as the place of con­
fineoent, and withheld the order d1recting the execution of the sentence 
pursuant to the provisions of .Article of War 5~. 

'.3. The ev.idence for the prosecution may be summarized as follows: 

On 10 October 1944, Company A, 67th Armored Regiment, to which 
col!lpa.ny accused ~as assJ-gned as assistant driver of a light.tank, was in 
a reserve position approximately one mile and a half north of Ubach, 
Germany (R5,6,7). Accused's platoon was 

"dug in, in a line formation across open 
country, and our mission was to defend the 
area and to attack if the enerr;y attacQed 
from the direction of Waurichen11 (R6). 

The platoon v:as ··separated from the front lines by a distance of some two 
miles with approrlmately a company of infantry and a battalion of tanks 
deployed between it and the enemy (R7). On the afternoon of 10 October, 
as the result of a report received from accused's tank commander, the 
platoon sergeant searched the area occupied by the platoon and fo\Uld 
accused to be absent (R6). The ~bsence was reported to the first 
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sergeant, who searched for accused "around the area of the rear C.P. 11 

without success (R9). The platoon remained in the area a mile and a 
half north of Ubach for appro;dmately four days after which it relieved 
another platoon in the front lines near Waurichen, Germany, where its 
mission was 11 to ward off counter blows if any came through" (R6). Ac­
cused was not with the unit during this time (R6,8,9). On 17 October 
accused was returned to his organization, at ~hich time, after being 
advised of his rights, he voluntarily made the following statements to 
his company commander: 

"After asking him where he had been he answered 
he had been in Brunsswn, Holland. I then asked 
him why he had left his assignment and he stated 
that he did not like his job in the tanks while 
on the line, that he wanted to go back to a 
maintenance vehicle called a 'T-2 1 , I further 
questioned him as to the ·discrepancy as to why 
he was in Brunssum and not at the 'T-2 1 , and he 
stated that he went back to see a girl friend 
back in Brunssum. I asked him where he had 
stayed during the time he 1':as in Brunssum and 
he stated he stayed in Brunssum with his girl 
friend. I asked him why he caine back and he 
stated that the U.P' s. had brought him back, 
that they had apprehended him and brought him 
back" (RS). 

Accused's platoon sergeant did not give him permission to leave on 

10 October and the first sergeant testified that "to ny knoTiledge" ac­

· cused had no permission to absent himself on that date (R6,9). Subse­
quent to his departure he was carried on the morning report as absent 
without leave {RlO). After his return to the company on "t7 October, 
he was placed on a full duty status (RS). Prior to October 10 he 
had performed his duties in a satisfactory manner and he never before 
ha(I. been in any difficulty in the company (R7 ,10). 

4. After having been advised of his rights as a witness, accused 
elect."'d t.o be sworn as a witness in his own behalf. In explanation of 
his absence he testified as follows: 

"Well, First Sergeant Patton came along, he ca.I!le 
by the 'T-2 1 and said, 'You are going on a tank, 
Torgerson 1 , a.'tld I didn 1 t think very much of 
that after being up there and pulled back 
knocked-out tanks and seen guys in them after 
they had been hit. So I gets nr<J stuff off the 
1T-2 1 and gets on the light tank and gets out 
there and don1 t think 1!1Uch of it and they started 
drOiJJ)i:r..g i11 a few shells and it didn 1t bother me 
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that night, but I didn't think much of that as 
you c oulcn1 t get out of the tank. And I got 
tired of sitting in there and l don't know, I 
got all excite:d and just ..,,ent and took off and 
came back on the 17th, and a.!'ter I left the 
tank it started getting dark and I had to think 
up some place to stay after I'd left and I hap­
pened to think of this girl and thonght I'd 
bett€r stay with her a couple of days and come 
bacl~ to the company and r1B.ybe they v;ouldn 1 t put 
me in the lit):t tank any more, and I goes down 
to turn reyself in to the fo.P 1s. and one came 
along just before I could turn in and I tried 
to £et him to let me go as I·wanted to turn into 
the IJ.P' s., but he said no and he wouldn 1 t let 
me do that, and he vras a Second Armored Li.P., 
and then r Ca.17le back to the Cor.ipany 11 (Rll). 

He did not take hif' helmet or v:eapon with him 1•rhen he departed but left 
them in the tank (Rll). It was developed on cross-eY..amination that the 
company command post was appro:dnately a mile to the rear of the area 
where the tanks were in· position and that accused passed 1dthin a quarter 
of a mile thereof a.ftf'r leaving his tank (R12). Upon being asked by 
the court to state the reason for his departure on 10 October, accused 
stated he had no previous training in tanl:s and that his fa.miliari ty 
there\vith i"as limited to the information which he had been able to secure 
from the driver through inquiry and "what I had picked up i!hile there on 
the front". He stated that had he been assigned previously to tanks, 
rather than to a maintenance ve~icle, he "probably wouldn't have minded 
it so" (R12). 

5, a. Accused was charged •vith deserting the service of the 
United States by absenting himself without leave from his organization 
and place of duty with iptent to avoid hazar<'i.ous duty in violation of 
Article of War 58. That accused absented himself without leave at the 
time and place "alleged is established not only by his oTm testimony while 
on the stand but also by other competent evidence of record. Further: 
accused pleaded guilty to the lesser included offense of absence without 
leave in violation or Article or War 61. With reference to the second 
element of the offense charged, the evidence shows that accused, an 
assistant tank driver, left his platoon at a time ~hen it was in a reserve 
position some two miles from the enemy lines. Its mi~sion at that time 
was to defend the area in question and to attack if the enemy attacked 
from the direction of Waurichen. Four days ai'ter accused absented him­
self, his platoon moved into the front lines. While on the stand, ac­
cused stated that, ~hen he was assigned as assistant driver of a tank, 
he 11 didn 1 t think very much of' that after being up there and pulled back 
knocked-out tanks and seen guys in them after thP-y had been hit 11 • The 
area from v:hich accused left vras shelled on the night previous to his 
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departure. He remained absent for about seven days until he was appre­
hended by military police. Fro~ these facts the court could reasonably 
conclude that accused quit his organization with intent to avoid hazard­
ous duty. 

b. The evidence shows that accused was returned to.duty upon 
rejoining his unit. An unconditional ~estoration to duty without trial 
by an authority competent to order trial rray of course be pleaded in bar 
of trial for the desertion to which such restoration relates (LUM, 1928, 
par.69£, p.54; CM NATO 21.39, Grabowski; Dig.Op.JAG, 1912, p.415, IX N). 
The evidence in this case does not show by what authority accused was 
restored to duty. However, it is presumed that defense counsel per­
formed his full duty toward accused and, since he entered no plea in 
bar of trial based upon constructive condona~ion, it is presumed that 
accused's restoration to duty was not effected by an authority competent 
to order trial for desertion (CM ETO 4489, Ward). It thus appears that 
the instant trial was not barred because of constructive condonation of 
the offense. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 2.3 years of age and was 
inducted at Camp Dodge, Iowa, on 18 December 1942. No prior service is 
shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affect~ng the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The BoaTd of' Review 
is of the opinion that the record is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence as commuted. 

8. The penalty .for desertion in time of war is death or such 
other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58). The designa­
tion of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks,'Green­
haven, New York, as the place of confinel'lent is authorized (AW 42; Cir. 
210, WD, 14 Sep 1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

~~udgeAd~caU 
~ Judge AdvocaU 

~ Judge Advocate 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 2 3 f [B 19!;.5 TO: Commanding 
General, European Theater of Operafions, APO 887, U. s. Army. 

l. In the case of Private GLEN C. TORGERSON (37651192), Comp_any A, 
67th Armored Regiment, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by 
the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence as commuted, which hold­
ing is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of Viar 50h 
you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order ~e forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 6524. For con­
venience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end 
of the order: (CJ.I ETO 6524) • 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

~-- ·----. 

( Sentence as commuted ordered executed. GCVO 62, ETO·, 2 Mar 1945.) 
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BOARD OF REVTh'W NO. 2 . 

CJ.I ETO 6545 

UNITED STATES) 
) 

T. ) 
) 

Private MANESS L. mr ) 
(38079362), Battery C, ) 
203rd Field Artillery ) 
Battalion ) 

~ 

2 MAR 1945 

NORM.&'IDY ~ smTION, COMMUNICATIOO 
ZONE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPmAXIOR3 

Trial by: GCM, convened at Granville, 
Manche~ France, 2 December 1944. 
Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
total .forfeitures, and confinement 
at hard labor for life. United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BO.ARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BE1ECHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPIB, Judge .Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

·2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private V'8.lless L. Jett, 
Battery c, 203rd Field Artillery Battalion, 
did, in the vicinity·ar St. Sever - Calvados, 
France, on or about 9 August 1944, .forcibly 
and feloniously, against her will, have 
carnal knowledge of Denise Soul. 

•. 
He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court present 
at the time the vote was taken-concurring, was found guilty of the Ch.arge­
and Specification. - No evidence of previous con'Yictions was introduced.- ­
Three-fourths of the members of the cotll't present at the time the vote 
was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the 
service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to 
be confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority 'flay 
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direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved 
the sentence, 'designated the United States Penitentiary, .Lewisburg, Penn­
sylvania, as the place of confine~ent, and forwarded the record of trial 
for action pursuant t~ Article of War 50k-. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution may be summarized as follows: 

At about 1600 or 1630 hours on 9 August 1944, Denise Soul, 20 
years of age, and her brother, Jules Soul, 21 years of age, returned from 
St. Kauvie~ Bocage, where they had been refugees, to their home near La 
Vicomtiere in the St. Sever Forest (R6,7,10,27,28,42). · Upon reaching 
the house they noticed that the lock on the door was broken and that there 
was a "bottle 'With calvados!' near the door (R28). They also saw three 
soldiers in the yard, one of whom was the accused. The other two soldiers 
are usually referred to in the record as "the red-haired soldier" and "the 
short, dark soldier". The soldiers entered into a conversation with 
Denise and Jules, asked for and received cider, and entered the house 
where they drank some of the cider after mixing it with some cognac or 
calvados which they had with them (R7,ll,12). The soldiers were friendly 
and amiable at this time (RJO). After remaining in the house with the 
soldiere for approximately one-half hour, Jules and Denise went to perform 
various tasks around the farm, Jules to bury a dead cow and Denise to 
attend to the cattle which had been neglected in their absence (R7,12). 
The three soldiers joined Jules and worked with him for about an hour and 
a half or two hours in disposing of the dead cow (Rl2,28,Jl). While they 
were thus engaged, Denise heard the sound of several shots (RlJ). After 
Jules and the three soldiers finished their task, they returned to the 
house (R7). At this time two infantrymen joined the group and the 
drinking was resumed (R28,32). The infantrymen asked for chicken and 
two chickens were killed and picked. Denise, who returned to the. house 
at about this time, was given the task of cooking the chickens (RlJ,28,32). 
Some incident not clearly brought out by the record then occurred which 
apparently caused the soldiers, or at least the two infantrymen, to dis­
trust Jules and Denise and all five soldiers began to search the house. 
Jules testified that the "'soldiers appeared to believe that "there were 
some Boche·on the farm" (R14,33,34). At or during this time a Sergeant 
Wilfred Caro and a Private First Class Paul Mayeux "strolled" down to 
the house from a nearby gtm position (R32,42,44). One of the infantry­
men ask~d Mayeux, who spoke French, to question Denise and Jules. Caro 
testified that, although the soldiers at the farmhouse were intoxicated 
at this time, they appeared to be "thinking reasonably" (R44). Caro and 
Mayeux then left the scene and the search through the house apparently 
continued (R33). / A radio was found and thrown out into the yard (Rl4, 
19,42). During this' time sever~ shots were fired in and about the 
house and one of the infantrymen threatened Denise and JuJ.es with his 
rifle (Rl3,16,33). Denise was frightened and crying at this time and 
accused "defended" her by taking her aside into a small room in order to 
avoid trouble. He made no attempt to molest her while in this room 
(RS,15,17,33,34). Later a fight-developed among the men, blows were 
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exchanged, 8.nd the two infantrymen departed (Rl6,.34). -- The acC'USed and 
the two other soldiers then began to eat some of the chicken which bad- -· 
been prepared: Denise testified that-the soldiers-also "make us eat the 
baked chiclceni3" (Rl.7): All three of the soldiers continued to drink and 
they al.so forced Jules to drink (R.14,15): - During the ·time· the chicken · · 
was being eaten or shortly therea.f.'ter; acC'USed and the short~ dark soldier 
threw Denise on her brother's be~ in the kitchen and, according•to Denise, 
the short, dark soldier "started to rape ~en (RS). Et "rape" she- meant 
"when a man introduce his organ into the private organ of the woman with­
out· her consent". However, he did nat succeed in his purpose at this 
time (R9,20). - The short, dark soldier then took her· into the garden and 
returned with her to the house shortly therea.f.'ter (R20,2l,.30). On-thetr 
return, accused and· the red-haired soldier seized her and threw her on her 
brother's bed (1'9,10,17 ,lS,.30). She shouted :for help but "not Tery long 
because they put their hand on 'TJI1'. mouth1 over my mouth" (R10). ·She also· 
tried to push-accused back with her hands and feet. However, accused 
effected penetration~ During this period the red-haired soldier wa.1· ­
holding Denise (R9,10,l7,18). .lccused struck Denise earlier in the even­
ing but did not strike her 11 Teri much" at this time. She testified that 
she struck accused lfwhen he wanted to ra:pe me" but "I could onJ.y do· it once 
because he was stl"ildng 'lfIY face" (R18-l9). Her brother was present at the 
time and heard his sister shout tor help but was unable to come to her aid 
becaus'e, as he testified, - "one soldier 'had hit· me in the face and put me 
on the ground, and as soon as.I was moving he was striking me": · He could 
not remember how many times she shouted pecause he was "halt-dazed"· from 
the _blows (R28,.39) ~. Accilsed had intercourse with Denise again about an 
hour or two later on· the bed in the kitchen, and the two other.soldiers 
also later took her into her own bedroom and had intercourse with her·there 
(Rl7,20). During this time accuaed was on her brother's bed in the kitchen 
(R20,39). · At one time during the night Jules heard Denise say, "I'd rather 
die than to surter like I do now" (R.35). Accused slept on Jules' bed in 
the kitchen until about r:noo hours the following morning atwhichtlle he 
and the other t1r0 soldiers left the' house. Denise testified that her 
"drawers" were torn during the night and that her corset was "ripped f'ra 
top to bottom" (R25). She received minor bruises and scratches in her 
struggles (R26,28). Although it was dark when certain ot the evening'i-­
occurrences took place, both Denise and Jules positively' identitied accused 
as one ot the participants-in the attacks upon her (R25,.30). ­

' ­

Caro and Mayeux returned to the house at about 1100 hours en the 
tollowing·etay, 10 Ailgust 1944. is they entered the house Denise began to 
cry (R42,46). She appeared nervo'lls at the time (R.46). She did not·h.A.n 
&?13'. marks· or bruises on her face but did have a bruise on her arm (~148). ­
Jules' tace was bruised (R43). Denise told Mqeux ot the occurrences ot · 
the preTious night and Mqeux reported the matter to the authorities (B.46) ~ ~:{ 

On 11 Auguet 1944 Denise was eXSJdned by IE.jor Robert E. ROugelet,·­
Jledieal Corps, who testified that, 'as the result ot his examination, he 1IU - ­
ot the opinion that the girl had had ihtercourse withiD. two to ti'V8 dqa. . \ . . 
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preceding the date of his examination and that previous thereto she had 
been a virgin (R51,52). He could not state bow much, if' any, violence 
had been used in accomplishing such intercourse since, although there 
was bruising and inflammation of the genitalia, a certain amount of 
injury was to be e:xpected even in normal intercourse with a virgin. 
His examination revealed no bruises except in the region of the genitalia 
other than a bruise about two inches in diameter on her right upper arm 
(R49-5.3). 

4. Accused, after having been advised of his rights as a w1 tness, . 
elected to be sworn as a witness on his own behalf. He testif'iedthat 
his battery received "cease .firing" on 7 August for the reason that "the 
enemy had got out of reach". This being true, his commanding officer 
told the battery that some time would.be taken to clean "the gun" after 
which .forward move:nent would be resumed (R55). On 9 August he, together 
with two other nrambers of the battery, began drinking about 10.30 hours. 
They exhausted their supply at about 1430 hours whereupon they le.ft the 
battery area in search ofcognae. They secured some "pretty hot stuf'f" 
at a farmhouse, filled a jug," and continued on. They stopped at another 
farmhouse and there encountered Jules and Denise Soul (R56,57). His 
version of the events next occurring does not differ materially from 
that related by the prosecution witnesses up to and including that portion 
of their testimony relating to the events which took place after the"two 
infantrymen left the house (R57,58). Accused stated that, during the 
period when the infanti-ymenwere firing in and around the house, he be­
came somewhat nervous, "drank ~own" a half of a glass of cognac and 
shortly thereafter became ill and vomited (R58,59). After the infantey­
men left he returned to the house and 

11 there is the leg of the chicken in the pan. 
I picks it up and takes a bite and everything 
started going around and around, and I laid 
back, seems like, on that bench, and goes to 
sleep. When I eome to my senses it was in 
the morning" (R59). · 

He did not remelliler how he got to the bed upon which he found himself 
when be awoke (R62). He stated that he was "pretty well intoxicated" 
during the evening but that· until he fell asleep in the ld.tchen be was 
conscious of his actions because "as long as I am on my feet I know what 
I am doing" (R58,60). He expressly denied that he threw Denise on the 
bed or that he had intercourse with her at till.Y time (R60). 

5. Rape is the unlawful carnal· knowledge of a woman by f'orce and 
without her consent (IDM, 1928, par.1492, p.165). The instant record 
of trial presents an issue of fact with respect to the underlying ques­
tion whether accused had carnal knowledge of the prosecutrix, entirely­
aside .from the questions whether such carnal laiowledge was by force· and · 
without consent. The testimony of Major Rougelot indicates that someone 
had intercourse with the proseeutrix on the night in question. Accused 
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firmly denied that it was he. On the other hand, the testimony of Denise, 
corroborated to a substantial degree by that of her brother, indicates 
that accused carnally lmew Denise on the night alleged. Thus, despite 
accused's denial, there was substantial evidence from which the court 
could find that accused had carnal lmowledge of the prosecutrix, as 
alleged. The testimony of the prosecutrix and her brother was to the 
effect that accused and another soldier seized the prosecutrix and threw 
her on a bed after which acqused effected penetration. Previous tQ the 
night in question she was a virgin. The testimony indicates that at 
least one of the acts of intercourse was accomplished by accl.tsed with 
the active assistance of one of the other soldiers and that a third soldier 
forcibly prevented her brother from coming to her aid. There was testi ­
mony that she cried out at the time and that her outcries were stifled 
either by the accused or the soldier who was helping him in the further­
ance of his design. ·There was also testimony that accused struck her 
and that her clothes were torn sometime during the night. Her appear­
ance and behavior on the day following were consistent with her version 
·of the events of the preceding night. From this testimony, which the 
court could accept as true despite the conflicting testimony of the ac­
cused, the court could reasonably conclude not only that accused carnally 
knew the prosecutrix but also that such carnal knowledge was by force and 
without her consent (Cf CM 227809, Bull.JAG, Vol.l, No.7, 450(9), p.J6J). 
The evidence is therefore sufficient to support the court's finding that 
accused was guilty of ra:(>&., as alleged. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 26 years four months of 
age and was inducted on 10 February 1942. Ha had no prior service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the • 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The offense.of rape is punishable by death or confinement for 
life (AW 92). The designation of the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of co~inement is proper (AW 42; 
Cir.229, WD, 8 Jun 1944, see.II, pars.1£(4), Jh). 

~:;;_ Judge Advocate 

~~ Judge Advocate 

if:~Jfi!LJudge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the · 

European 	'!beater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIF..V'I NO. 1 	 3 0 JAN 1945 

CM ETO 6546 

UNITED STATES 	 ) NORMANDY BASE SECTION, C011Mn.'!ICATIOH3 
) ZONE, EO'ROP'!"....AN THEATER OF OPERATIONS 

v. 	 ) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at Cherbourg, 

Technician Fifth Grade J.A?.£3 ) Normandyi France, 28 December l<Jt4. 
c. FRAZIER, ;rr. (33749151), ) Sentences Dishonorable discharge, 
3077th Qrdnance Motor Vehicle ) total forfeitures and confinement at 
Distributing Company hard labor for five years• Federal 

~ Reformatory, Chillicothe, Ohio. 

HOU>ING by BOARD OF REVIEW no. 1 

RITER, SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


l. '!be record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
hes been examined by the Board of Review and found legally sufficient 
to support the sentence. 

2. Confinement in a peni~entiary is authorized for the offense 
of assault with intent to do bodily harm with a. dangerous weapon by 
Article of War 42 and. section Zf6, Federal Criminal Code (18 'll'SCA 455). 
prisoners, however, under 31 years of age and under sentence of not 
'more than ten years, will be confined in a Federal correctional in­
stitution or reformatory. '!he designation of the F~deral Reformatory, 
Chillicothe, Ohio, as the place of confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, 
a June 1944, sec.II, p.arsll.!), .3.!)• id. / 

· t~~!l<'i Judge Advocate 
i 

--~-' ___ Judge Advocate ___._C'_._~ir_.a_·~_;_ 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocatfl General 

with the 


European Theater of Operations ' · 

APO 887 


BOARD OF IlEV.IEW NO. 2 2 MAR 1945 

CM ETO 6548 

UNITED STATES ) JRD INFANTRY DIVISION 

l 
) 

v. Trial b7 GCY, convened at Molsheim., 
France, 4 December 191+4. Sentence: 

Private HENRI T. OOBECK Dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures, 
(33793725), Company A,. ) and contiaenent at hard labor for lite. 
J()tb Infantr,y. Eastern Branch, United States Discipllnar;r~ Barraclcs, Greenhaven, Nn York. 

HOIDING b7 BOARD OF REVIEW W. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SI.EEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the caae of the soldier named above 
has. be en examined b7 tbe Board of ReviE!W. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifica­
tions: 

CHARGE I: Violation o! the 58th Article of War. 

Speci!icationh In that Private HENRI T. DOBECJC, 
Compan7 "A", 30th Infantry, did, at or near 
Bruyeres, France, on or about 25 October 
1944, desert the service of .the United States 
b)" absent~ himself without proper leave from 
his organization, with intent to avoid hazardous 
dut7, to wit: Combat with the eneul1"1 and did 
rems.in absent.in desertion until be surrendered. 
himself at or near Bois de i.. llade.1.eine1 France, 
on or about 30 October 1944. 

Specification 2t (FiruHng of not guilt7) 

-1- "6548" 

http:absent.in


'•Ji\11 ·~··: '' 
(96) 

CHARGE II: Viola..tion of the 6/+t.h Article of War. 

· Specification: In that * * * having received a 
lawful command from 2nd Lieutenant Gilbert 
B. 1funt, his superior officer, to rejoin 
his platoon then in combat, .did, at or near 
Bois de la Madeleine, France, on or about 
1 Novanber 1944, willfully disobey the same. 

Be pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring in each f:iilding 
of guilt7, was f~nd not guilty of Specification 2, Charge I and 
guilty of the remaining charges and specifications. The record 
.recites (RZ?) that evidence of fin previous convictions was read 
to the court, Although no certificate of previous c~nvictions was 
formalJ.T in~roduced. into evidence, such a certificate is found 
among the documents accompanying the record of 'H:;ial. proper am 
indicates that of the five prerl.ous conviction~Which reference 
was made three were by summary court for absence without leave 
for two, four and five days respectively, one by special court­
martial for absence without leave for sixteen days, all in vio­
lation of Article of War 61, and one by special court-martial 
for absence without leave for five days and breach of arrest in 
violation of Articles of War 61 and 69.. Three-fourth~ of the 
members of the court present at the time the vote was taken 
concurring, he was sentenced tobe dishonorably discharged the 
service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, a;id 
to be confined at hard labor, at auch place as the reviewing author­
ity- JDa3" direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewing 
authority approved the sentence, designated the Ea.stern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the 
place of confinement and forwarded the record of trial for action 
pursuant to Article of War ~. . 

'.3. For the pro"!!ecution, Staff Sergeant Cleo A. Toothman, 
second platoon, Company A, '.30th Infantry, who was accused's platoon 
sergeant, testified that on 25 uctober 1944 his company and platoon 
were maldng an approach march from Remiremont to Bruye~ trance. 
At that time, the com~ was "going into an assemb~ area to make 
an attack" which fact, was known by the accused and general.17 
throughout the platoon. , During the march accused "dropped out and 

told him to come on, and he said he couldn't make it11 • Accuaed 

waa not given, permission to £all out and he offered no speci!ic 

reason whJ' he could not proceed further. At the time he fell out 

the company was not re~eiving-.any small arms fire but was "receiv­

ing a few shella". The compan;r bad a rest period approximate~ 

five minutes after accused fell behind but he did not rejoin hie 

unit during this period. He llfa• not thereafter seen by witness 


; 
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until the day of trial (R7,8,9). 

Technical Sergeant David H. Ogle8b7, acting first sergeant, 
Company A, 30th Infantry, testified that on 25 October 1944, during 
an approach march through wooded terrain and at a time when there 
were "some artillery shells falling around", he noticed that 
accused had. fallen out of the column apparen~ for the purpose 
of adjusting his pack. He told. accused to compiete the adjust­
ments and, when he had done so, to catch up with the end of the 
column (RlO,l,3). Accused indicated that he would do so. However, 
although the company was proceeding along a well defined road and 
had a rest period shortly after the_accwsed !ell out, so that it 
would have been possible !or him. to catch up, he did not rejoin 
his unit on 25 October and was not again seen b7 witness until 
JO October after the com~ had relieved another unit near the 
Bois de la Madeleine, from. 25 October to JO October. 

"The company was mving through wooded debris on 
an infiltration job to move in and through the 
Bois de la Madeleine i> the valley on our front 

· to get clear observation and to destroy &rfT 
enemy on our front" (Rl.J). 

To Oglesb71s knowledge, accused was not present with the compml7 
during this period (RlJ). · ­

With reference to Charge II and its Specification, Second 
Lieutenant Gilbert B. Hunt, commanding C~ A, 30th In!ant17, 
testified that at about 0845 hours on l November 1944, at a 
time when the com.pan)" was in combat with the enezq near the Bois 
de la Mac;leleine, _accused came to him, stated that he "couldn't 
take it on the-line any longer" and requested perinission to go to 
the rear. After refusing such permission, Lieutenant Hunt asked 
accused how long it would take him. to return to his platoon. 
Accused replied that it _would require about ten minutes. Lieuten­
ant Hunt, who at the time ns wearing his insignia of grade, ordered 
accused to return to his platoon within an hour. A.t 1040 hours, 
aa the result o! a report from accused's platoon leader, Lieutenant. 
Hunt and Acting First Sergeant Oglesb:r searched the area and accused 
could not be foUnd. He never thereafter rejoined his unit (Rl4,15, 
16). Sergeant Oglesb7 was recalled a. a witness and his testimo01' 
was in substantial accord with that given b;r Lieutenant Hunt (Rl.7,18). 

4. A!ter having been advised ot his rights as a witness, 
accused elected to be sworn as a witness on his own behalf. His 
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narrative with respect to his activities from 25 October to 1 
Novemberwus as follows: 

"We were on this march and going through these 
woods and the company started passing me b7 and 
I was falling back all the time. Sergeant Tooth­
man told me to throw awa:r some of the stuff and 
keep up. I tOld him I couldn1t keep up. This 
first sergeant passed me as I fell out on the 
side to fix my stuff. He asked me if I n.s going 
to catch up -,rl.tb the company. I caught up with 
the comp&Il1', but I was on the end and rq platoon 
wa.a leading. After the break, I kept moving and 
I discovered I had left my rifle behind, leaning 
against a tree. One of the fellows noticed that 
I dicil't h&Te· a rine and he told me I had better 
go back and get it, so I went back to get it. I 
was so tired, my head was spinning, and it wu 

. 	getting dark, so I unrolled my roll and stayed there 
for the night. And in the morning I got up and 
atarted to look for the compBn¥. I went back 
to where I left them, but the;y had gone and no one 
seemed toknqw juat where the first battalion 
was at that time. I stopped at a 15th In!antr;r 
Cl' and asked where the first battalion would 
be. They said it was about eight miles awa;y. 
'l'hq told me a road and I went there and tried· · 
to get a ride in a jeep or a truck that was 

1B1passing b7• I happened to catch a jeep to 
Compall1' of the first battalion and I got back to 
my compaq on the night of October .30th. And the 
next morning I talked rlth Lt. Hunt; my platoon, 
leader aent me onr there and I wanted to talk 
with hill, so I went. He asked me· what happened 
and I tOld him. I just couldn't kffp up with the 
coapann my legs c:ouldn 1t keep up with me. I 
told him I was afraid to be falling back like I 
did that night. I told him, Lt. Hunt, that I 
wanted to go back to the rear and aee the Pro­
vest llarshal. He told me I could see hill in 
the morning and to go on a patrol that night 
and I went on the patrol. The next morning I 
went to see Lt. Hunt, again, to tell him that 
I was gq to aee the ProTOat M'.a.rehal. a'nd he 
gave me a direct order and I turned in to the 
Provost Marshal on the 1st of NoTember and 
ever since I have been locked up" (R20,21,22). 

·1no.1 -,'.~'f"< I• ' 	 6548 
~· 111t ' u. ! 



1 c;N-•r.E"'rl'Llvl l""lu 1·1 I .. ~ 

(99) 

He testified that he did not fall out of the column on 25 October 

because he was afraid to fight (R26). His limit o! endurance on 

marches was three or four miles after which his "legs give out and 

I can't keep up". He had experienced similar difficulty during, 

training in the United States (R.24). However, he had never re­

quested permission to consult the battalion surgeon with respect 


.to the matter nor had he ever asked for or received medical 
treatment in connection with this disabilit7 (R24,25). When he 
talked to Lieutenant Hunt, he told him ,that he wanted to see the 
division psychiatrist because he felt that there was "something 
wrong" with hia, and was told that he would be permitted to eee 
the psychiatrist as soon as the division was relieved. He later 
told Lieutenant Hunt he wanted to report back to the Provost 
Marshal and place himself under arrest. He desired to place hill ­
sel! under arrest because "My head was spinning; I couldn't stand . 
it. I wanted to find out what~ wrong with me" (R25). He 
again informed Lieutenant Hunt is intention when the Lieutenant 
ordered him to return to his p toon on the morning of l Novenber 
(R22). He did not ob87 the order given him but instead "turneq in" 
to the Provost Marshal ·early that afternoon and was placed in 
confinement (R22,24). After he was confined he was interviewed by the 
division psychiatrist but was not informed of the result of the 
examination. Accused did not tell the doctor about his legs or of · 
his head s:einning. He was not sent to the aid station subsequent to the 
interview (R25,26). · · . 

5. The evidence adduced shows that on 25 October 1944, while 

his compacy was making an approach march under sporadic artiller,r 

fire to an assembly area prior to making an attack, accused fell 

out of the column and failed to rejoin his unit for & period of five 

days•• He had no permission to be absent during this period. Although 

he voluntarily returned to his company on 30 October, two days later 

he requested pennission from his company com;ander to return to the 

rear and, when refused such permission and ordered to return to his 

platoon, aclmitted.17 did not do so but instead "turned in" to the 


·Provost Marshal and was confined~ Accused denied that his behavior 
on 25 October was the result of his fear of combat but asserted that 
he fell behind as the result· of physical disabilities and was thereafter 
unable to locate his unit until 30 October. ·Thus, although the 
evidence adduced in support of Specification l, Charge I, and Charge I 
clearly shows that accused a"bsented himself without leave on 25 October, 
the record presents an issue of fact with respect to the question 
whether his action in absenting him.sell was accompanied by the intent 
to avoid hazardous duty. This was essential.ly' a matter for the court 
to decide and, upon the entire evidence, it does not appear that the 
court abU8ed its discretion in resolving the issue adversely to the 
accused. The evidence adduced in support of Charge II and its Speci­
fication, together with accused's admissions, is amply sufficient to 
support the court's findings that accused willful.ly disobeyed the 
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lawful. co:aim&nd of his superior officer, as alleged. 

6. Tho charge sheet shows that accused is 29 years o! age 
and was inducted on 3 August 1943. No prior service is shown. 

7. The court was legallJ" constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the 
substantial rights of the accused were committed during the 
trial•. The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record 
of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings o! guilty 
and the sentence. 

_ S. The desigoation· of the Eastern Branch, United States 
Discipl.ina.ry Barracks, Greenbaven, New York, as the"place o! 
confinement ~s authorized (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, l4 Sept. 1943, 
sec.lJI, as amended). 
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Branch Office of The Judge Adv0cate General 
with .the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 . 

BQ\RD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CU ETO 6549 

UNITED S T-A TES 

v. 

Private TONY A. FE.STA 
(42057956), Cozrq:any A, 7th 
Ini'antrt 

1 MAR 194.5 

) 3RD INFANTHI mVISION 
) 

) Trial b7 Gell, convened at 


; ) Molsheim, France, 19 December 1944~ 
) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, · 
) total torte:!. tures and confinement; 
) at bard labor tor lite, Eastern 

, 	 ) Branch, United Statea Disciplinar;r 
) Barracks, Gremhaven, ~ew York. 

·" 

HOLm:NG b,- BOARD OF REVIEJf NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL B:Ud SIEEFER, Judge Ad;rocatea 


l. 'lbs record or tr.Lal in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined b7 the Board ot ReT.iew. · 

2. Accused was 'tried upon the following Charge and Speci­
tication: 

CHARGE: Violation ot the 5ath Article of War. 

Specitication: ~ that. Private. Toni A. Feat&, 
Compan7 "A" 7th In!antrt did, near Fremi-. 
tontaine,; France, on or about. 19 November. 
1944, dHert tl:D serT.ice .or the United. 
States bf' absenting himself without pl"oper -· 
leave from his orgardzation, with intent 
to a"YOid hazardous dut7, to wit t Combat 
with the enem;r, and did remin absent in 
desertion until he came il;lto military con­
trol on or about 1 December 1944, at Epinal., 
France. 
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He pleaded not guilty and, 
~ 

all the members ot the cour·t pre­
sent when the vote was taken conci.rring, was !ouni guilty 
o! the Charge and Speci.i'ication. Evidence wa.s introduced 
c-t one previous 'conviction ot absence without leave tor 
seven days in violation of Article of War 61. Three-fourths 
or the members or the court present at the time the vote · 
was taken con::urring, be was sentenced to be dishonorably' 
discharged· the service, to tor!eit all i;ay and allowances 
due or to beco!I8 due and to be confined at hard labor at 
such· place as the rev:iewing authorl. ty may direct far the 
tenn of his natural ille. The reviewing authority approved 
the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United States 
Discipl.i.nar;r Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place 
ot coni'iremmt and forwarded the record o! trial .tor action 
pursuint to Article ot War 50!. 

3. The prosecution's evidence in substance ehon: 

The morning reports of Compa.Il1' A, 7th Infantr,r, 
contain: entries as to accused on ~ November 1944 n~ to 
AWOL 2245 hrs. 19 Nov 194411 and on 6 December 1944, ."Fr• 
AWOL to oc;nf• 7th Int. Stockade as of 2 Dec. 44"(R7,8; Pros. 
Ex.A). 

only
Sta!! Sergeant Wusil Barna, Jr., the/wit~sa 1n 

the case, testified that• or. 19 November 1944, accused was a 
menber of Compa.rl1' A, 7th Inf'antzy (R9,l0), second sqtBd, .3rd 
platoon, of which rltnue was •quad leader. On that dq the 
company was located just outside of Fremifontaine, France, and 
was preps.ring to move across the l!eurthe River in an attack on 
the ene1117. At about "5:30" that day the platoon lined up their 
equipznt prepe.rato17 _to pulline; out, at which tim accused was 
present with his equipaent (Rl.OJ, witness told his squad to 
0 std.ck around becaus• we were going to move out at night"• At 
about 9::~0 witm ss wanted a man to carey a Bangalore torpedo 
and called tor accused but though search was made, he could not 
be found (Rl.l-12). The7 moved out ot the area a.bout 10:45 that 
night (Rl.2,). Accused was still missing from his squad when .the 
attack was made across the river at about 6:45 the next morning 
and witness has not- seen him since 19 November 1944 (Rl.3). 

By )3tipulation a statement waa admitted in evidence,, 
made b7 accused to the investigating officer, reading 

"I was with ~ co~any on 19 November 
1944, and left on about that date. I 
was in Epinal when I waa pick9d up b7 
the Military Police. I di.d not have 
a.rq of ~ equipimnt wi.th me when I 
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was apprehended as I had left it in 
tre compaey- bivouac area near Fremi­
fontaine 1 France on or about- 19 Novem­
ber 1944• I was absent from my com­
pany and don 1t suppose they misses me 
urrt.il they ma.de a check;" (Rl.5). 

4. Accused remained silent aIXi no w:i:tm sses were intro­

duced far the defense. 


5. 	 "Desertion is absence without leave 

accompanied by the intention not to 


.return, or to avoid hazardoua duty, 
or to shirk important service 11 (MCM1 
19281 sec.lJ0!,1 p.l.42; AW 28). 

. It was necessary in this case to prove (a) that the 

accused absented himself without leave, as alleged and (b) that 

he intended at the tin to avoid hazardous dut71 as alleged. 


'!be undisputed testimony shows that accused disap­
peared shortly after the. platoon of 'Which he was a m!mber· had 
been lined up late in the a.t'ternoon of 19 November 19441 with 
tre ir ecpipment · preparato?Y to move in an attack across the 
Meurtm River and were told to stay- close for that reason. At 
this time, accused was present. At 9(30 that night just as the 
move was about to start, be was missing and has not since re­
turned to his platoon. His absence was w:ithout leave. His 
platoon and canpa.ny did move out and launched an attack, certainl.T 
a hazardous duty-1 against the enezey- early the next; morning. He wu 
ab'sent until "picked up11 at Epinal on l December. The evidence 
clearly shows accused guilty of a violation of Article of War 58 
(CM ETO 52871 Pemberton; CM ETO 52911 piantedosi). · 

6. The charge sheet shaws accused to be 19 years of age. 
Without prior service· he was inducted 2 December 1943 at New York 
City, New York. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the penDn and offenses. No errors injuriousl7 a.t.t'ecting the 
substantial rights of the accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record o.t trial is 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sen­
tence. 

8. The penalty far desertion - absence without leave llith 
intent to avoid hazardous <ilt7 in time or war, is death ar such 
other punishment as a court-martial mq direct (AW 58). The de­
eignation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinar;r 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place ot confinement is. 
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proper (AW 42; Cir. 210, WD 14 September 194.3~ sec.VI, as amended). 


~\.( ,r-1,...
'vv~~~ ._., Judge Advocate 

~~J~e AdvocateI ~ 

~4' Jud8• Advocate 

6549 
,.,_,~ l' ,:·1 "l=NTIAL 
t ,~ I, I LJ""' 



( 1 (105) 

Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 1 

CM ETO 6553 

UNITED STATES) 
) 

v. ) 
) 

private WIUIAM D, NAJ~IE ) 
(35101448), Battery A, 106th ) 
Antiaircraft Artillery Bat- ) 
talion · ) 

) 

~-3 0 JAN 1~~~ 

VI CORPS 

Trial by GCM, convened at APO 46, 
U. s. Arm:! (France), 29 December 
1944. Sentences Dishonorable 
discharge, total forfeitures'and 
confinement at hard labor for ten 
years. Federal Reformatory• 
Chillicothe, Ohio. 

HOIDINJ by BO.ARD OJ!' REVIEW NO. 1 . 
RITER, SHER.\t~ and STEVENS; ;:ru.dge Advocates 

l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and fowid legally sufficient 
to su~port t~e sentence. 

2. Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized !or the offense 
of assault with intent to do bodily harm with a dangerous weapon by 
.Article of War 4,2 and sect-ion Z76, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 455)• 
The same article of .war authorizes penitentiary confinEment upon con­
viction of two or more acts or omissions, any of which is punishable 
by confinement in a penitentiary. However, prisoners under 31 years 
of ege and under sentence of not more than ten years will be confined 
in a Federal correctional institution or reformatory.. The place of 
confinement herein designated is therefore proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 J'u.n• 
1944, sec.II, pars.1_!(1), 3~)~

1 ·_ - 1 
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Branch 	Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 

BOARD OF BEVIEW NO. 3 

CM ETO 6554 

U N I T E D S T A T E S 	 )
) 

v. 	 }
) 

Private WALTER HILL (34752806), ) 
3102nd Quartermaster Service ) 
Company ) 

) 
) 

21 /\PR 1945 

LOIRE SECTION, COMMUNICATIONS ZONE, 
EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPE:R.ATIONS 

Trial by GCM, convened at Le .Mans, 
France, 9 November 1944. Sentence: 
Dishonorable discharge, total for­
feitures and confinement at hard 
labor for life. United States Peni­
tentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVI1'W' NO.· 3 

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advoca~es 


\ 

1. The record of trial in the ease of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried on the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private 	Walter Hill, 
3102nd Quartermaster Service Company 
did, at Connerre, France, on or 	about 
24 August 1944, forcibly and .feloniously, 
against her will, have carnal knowledge 
of Janine Alliiineau. . 

He pleaded not guilty to and three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of 
the Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. Three-fourths of the members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably 
discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to be­
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come due, and to be confined at hard labor at such place as the review­
ing authority may direct, for the term of his natural life. The review­
ing authority approved the sentence, designated the United States Peni­
tentiary, Lewislrurg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and 
forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War ;~. 

J. The evidence for the prosecution is substantially as follows: 

Mademoiselle Janine Audineau, the alleged victim of rape, 
resiaed at Longlee, Duneau, France, with her mother, two sisters and 
her mother's fiance. Janine was 16 years of age; one sister was older and 
one ten years old (R7,8,25,26). The house in which they lived appears 
to have consisted of two rooms, one wt which was occupied by Janine and 
her sisters and the other by Mme. Audineau and her fiance. The rooms 
were connected by a door, and there was another door leading from Wime • 
.Audineau•s· room outside the house (Rl6,24). 

On or about 22 August 1944, accused and two companions came 
to the Audineau home. Accused conducted himself properly and.. gave 
Janine some candy. He said something about "shoes", and that evening 
he returned alone and presented Janine with a pair. He stayed for 
about an hour and asked for cider which was given him. Janine's mother 
was present throughout both these visits (R9,10,12,13,25). 

On 24 August 1944 at about 2330 hours, the family was dis~ 


turbed by accused and another colored soldier knocking on the doO'I' and 

window. The knocking grew louder and finally a window pane was brok~. 


Accused's companion entered through the window while accused stood out­

side with a rifle. The companion struck some matches and looked about 

the.house. Janine's sister hid in a clos.et in their room and Janine 

concealed herself in a corner of her mother's room. Mme. Audineau 

opened the door and she, her youngest daughter and her· fiance fled. 

Apparently at about the same moment, accused's companion· joined him 

outside and then bot~ entered the house through the door. In the in­

terval, Janine, .Being unable to escape, returned to her own room and 

hid under the bed (R?,8,14-17,25,27). This disturbance was heard by 

a neighbor whose home was some 70 meters distant from the Audineau's 

and who, seeing "that they were not in our house", went away (R30). 

Mme. Audineau tried to find help, but her neighbors were not at home. 

She returned to her house a few minutes after leaving it, but the 

soldiers were still inside and she was afraid to enter. She and the 

others who e~caped, thinking that the two girls had also succeeded in 

getting away, then spent the _night in the fields (R20,25-26). , 


The two soldiers pro~eeded to s~arch the houset lighting 

matches so that they could see. They found Janine 'llIXler the bed in 

her room. Accused pointed his rifle at her and moved the bed a little. 

She got u~ whereupon he said "Zig-Zig, Mlle" to which she replied 

"never". He blew out the light and Janine began to scream. He lit 
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the electric light and she screamed more loudly. The solQiers then 
put her on the bed. One held her arms while the other ~ot on top 
of her. They then changed places. Accused "deeply penetrated" into 
her vagina. i'/hen they both finished, they went away. This was about 
midnight. Janine was unable to defend herself because she was afraid 
they would kill her. She had never had sexual intercourse before, and 
after the experience she bled for about 20 minutes {R8,ll,16,18-19, 
21-22,36-37). 

Janine's sister who was hiding in the closet in the same 
room heard Janine's screams and the voices of the men. She emerged 
from· the closet when the men left and found her sister screaming and 
weeping. Janine told her she was bleeding. The next day (25 August 
19.44) Janine was examined by a civilian doctor. Examination revealed 
a recent "breakage" of the hymen accompanied by "a small hemorrhage, 
ecchymosis". There were, how~ver, no scratches on the arms, thighs 
or genital parts and no other evidence of a struggle (R23-24,28). 
-Thereafter on 28 September 19.44, Janine and her mother identified ac­
cused as Janine's assailant, such identification being made at a line­
up of 12 soldiers he:IA at the guardhouse (R33-34). 

4. Accused, after being warned by the law member of his rights, 
elected to remain silent and no evidence was presented in his behalf 
(R38-39). 

5. The identity of accuseQ as the offender in this case is 
clearly established by identification in court by Janine and her mother 
both of whom, as the evidence demonstrates, had previously seen accused 
at their home two days before. The evidence of identification by these 
same witnesses at the guardhouse line-up w~s improperly admitted (CM 
270871, IV Bull. JAG 4), but in view of the other competent and compell­
ing evidence of identification, no prejudice to the substantial rights 
of accused resulted therefrom. 

The only remaining question meriting discussion is whether the 
record of trial satisfHctorily shows that the victim resisted to the 
full extent required of her under the circwnstances and that penetration 
by accused was accomplished. 

As to the matter of consent, the evidence, including the 
medical testimony, indica.t::;s that no physical violence other than the 
intercourse itself was inflicted upon the victim. However, the un­
contradicted testimony shows that the attack occurred late at night, 
that accused was armed and that the circumstances were such as to 
frighten away everyone able to escape. Janine was induced to come 
out :from under the bed at the point of a gun. 'Jhen she refused ac­
cused 1 s suggestion of intercourse, she was forcibly put upon the bed 
and held by one of the soldiers whilP- the other cornmitted the se:x"U..'.ll. 
act with her. The soldiers then changed places and repeated the per­
formance. She screamed throughout and when seen by .her sister immed_A-,., _ tt 
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ately after accused's departure was still screaming and weeping. 

Under the circumstances it cannot be said that the victim was re­

quired to offer further physical resistance or that. her failure 

to do so was tantamount to consent· (CM ETO ·3933, Fer@.~ and Rorie). 


On the issue of penetration, the evidence, possibly because 
of the victim's apparent unfamili~ity with the nomenclature of the 
sm:ual organs or possibly because of ineffectiv~ interpreting, is not 
as clear as might be desired. Her testimo?JY and that of the doctor 
leave no doubt that penetration of her vagina was effected, but there 
is no direct evidence that such penetration was accomplished by ac­
cused 1 s penis. However, the girl testified that 11 he deeply penetrated 
into my vagina11 (R36), "he penetrated matt (R8), and 111 felt something 
inside of me" (Rl9). This evidence, when combined with her testimony 
that accused had inunediately before proposed 11 zig-zig11 to her and up­
on her rejection of the proposal, put her on the bed and got on top 
of her while his companion held her arms, is sufficient, in the com- · 
plate ·absence of any evidence to the contrary, to raise a fair inference 
that the penetration was accor.iplished in the nor.mal way and to justify 
the court's findings to such effect (See CM ETO 5869, Williams). 

6. The charge sheet shm'fs that accused is Z7 years and two months 
of age and was inducted 8 June 1943 at Fort Benning, Georgia. He had 
no prior service. ' 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The penalty for rape.is death or life imprisonment as the 

court-!llartial may direct (A~ 92). Confinement in a United States 

penitentiary is authorized upon conviction of the crime of rape by 

Article of '.far 42. and sections Z78 and 3.30, Federal Criminal 0ode 

(18 USCA 457,567). The designation of the United States Penitentiary, 

Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement is proper (Cir. 

229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.ll?_(4),Jl?_). 


~· Judge Advocate 
, I 0554 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Theater of Operations 

Aro 887 


BOARD OF REVlEW NOe l 

UNITED STATES ) 
) 

v. ) 
.) 

PriTate FREDERICK G. WEST ) 
(35549701), Company E1 ) 

39th Infantr7 ) 
) 
) 

9TH INFANTRY DIVJSION 

Trial by GQt, eonnned at Eupen, 
Belgium, 9 January 1945• Sentence a 
Dishonorable discharge 1 total tor­
fei tures1 and confinement at hard 
labor tor lite. United Statee 
Fen1tentiar7, Lewieburg9 Penn­
eylvania. 

HOLDIOO by BOARD OF RiVIEW :OOe l 

Rl'l'ER, BORROW and STEVENS•. J'udge .4dTocates 


i. The record of trial in the caae ot the soldier named 
above has bsen examined by the Board of ReTiew. 

2. Accused was tried upon the follow! Dg charges and speci• 
ti cations a 

CHARGE Ia Violation of the 75th Article of war. 

Specification& ~ that Private Frederick G. West, 
Company •E•, 39th Infantry, being present 
with his ·company while it was engaged with 
the enemy, did near Elsenborn, Belgium, on 
or about 30 December 1944, shamefully abandon 
the said ' company and seek: safety in the rear. 

CHARGE II 1 Violation of the 58th Article of war. 

Specification a In that • • • • on or about 36 Decem­
ber 1944, near Elsenborn, Belgium, did desert 
the service of the Unitad States by absenting 
himself without leave 1fi th the intention of 
avoiding hazardous duty and shirking important 

service~ and did remain absent in desertion 
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until he surrendered himself et Stolberg, 
Germany on or about 30 December 1944· 

He pleaded·not guilty and, all of the members of the court 'present 
at the time the·vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of both 
charges and specifications. Evidence was introduced of one previous 
conviction by general court-martial for desertion with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty in violation of Article of War 58. Six-sevenths of 
the members of the court present at the ti~ the vote was taken con­
curring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the senice, 
to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to ~come due, and to be 
confined at hard labor at such place as the reviewing authority maY' 
direct for the term of his natural life. 'l'he renewing aithority 
approved the sentence, designated the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, .Pennsylvania1 as the place of confinement, and forwarded 
the reco~ of trial for action pursuant to .Articie of War 50i• 

3• During battle while his platoon was receiving fire ili a 
crucial phase of the great Germen winter attack, accused, though 
ordered forward, went twenty miles to the rear. The evidence is 
legally sufficient to support the findiDSJ of guilty, and the one 
act violates both the 75th and the 58th .Articles of War (CM 130018, 
par.428(5), P•294J CU 230222, III Bull. JAG l43,144J CM ETO 4570, 
Hawldps; ad ETO 5155, Carroll and D'EliaJ al ~l'O 75901 Metcalf and 
Wloczewski J 13 CJ, sec.9, pp.58-59) • 

4. The charge sheet shows that the accused is 2J years and 
eleve~ months of age and we.a inducted 5 March 1943 at Toledo, Ohio1 
to serve for the duration of the war plus six months. 

5. The court was legally constituted and had ju.riediction of 
the person and offenses. No errors injuriouslY' affecting the eub­
stantial rights of accused were colllllitted during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally sufficient 'to support the findiDga of guilty and the sentence. 

6. The penalty for desertion in time of war and also for 
misbehavior before the enemy is death or auch other punishment as a 
court-ma.rtial me;y direct (.il 58.75). Confinement in a penitentiary 
is &J.thorized by Article of War 42. The designation of the United 
states Penitentiary• Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of con• 
finement is proper (Cir. 229, WD, 8 J.Une 1944, sec.II, pars.1~(4), 3.!2)• 

------------ Judge Advocate 
I 

:4. ·1,~ Judge AdY<>cete 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater of Operations 

AP0'887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 
12 MAY 1945 

CM ETO 6620 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 4TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 Trial by GCM, convened at Wolferdang,~ Luxembourg, 11 January 1945. Sentence: 

Private .First Class ROBERT ) Diahonorable discharge, total forfeit ­

GRIFFITH (35773122), Compall1' ures and confinement at hard labor 

A, 8th Infantry ~ for life. Eastern BrancP, Urrl,ted 


) States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­
) haven, New York. 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 
RITER, BURROW and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 

l. The record of trial in the ease of the soldier naiood above 
has been examined by the Board ot Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifica­
tion: 

CHARGE: . Violation ot th8 64t.h Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class 
Robert Griffith, Company "A", Sth Infantry, 
having received a lawful command from 
Captain Gilbert P. Garrmill, 8th Infantry, 
his superior officer, to report to his 
organization, Company "A" 8th Infantry, 
for duty, did, near Wecker, Lux:enbourg, 
on or about 23 December 1944, wilfully 
,disobey the same. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the lllElll.bers of the court present 
at the time the vote was taken concurring was found guilty of the 
Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. Three-fourths of the members of tre court present at 
the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to 'be 

.;. l -	 G~20 
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dishonorably- discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and 
allowances due or to become due, and to be confined at hard 
labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, 
for the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority 
approved the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United' 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the 
place or confinement, a.nd forwarded the record of trial for 
action pursuant to Artie le of War 5.~. 

3. The court was legally con5tituted and had jurisdiction 
ot the person and offenses. N~ errors injuriously affecting 
the substantial rights of accused were committed during the 
trial. The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record 
ot trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sentence (CM ETO 6457~ Zacoi; C.M B'IO 7687, Jurbala; 
CM ETO 7500, Metcalfe and WloczewskiJ. 

4. The charge sheet shows that the accused is 2J years of 
age and that he was inducted 26 August 1943 at Fort Thomas, Kentucky. 
He had no prior service. 

5. The penalty for willful disobedience in violation of Article 
of War 64 in time of war is death or such other punishment as a · 
court-martial may direct (MCM, 1928, rar.104c, p.98). Confinement 
in Eastezn Branch, Ui1i.ted States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 
New York, is authorized by Artlcle of War 42 and Circular 210, War 
Department, 14 September 1943, section VI, as anended. 

;1 
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i Judge Advocate 
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~;(, ¥'~ ) Jlrlge Advocate 
.·~ 

G~20 




CG i'ff iCCilTIAL 

(115) 

Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
Aro 887. 

BOARD OF REVIE'f NO. 2 

CM ETO 6622 

U N I 'l' E D S 'l' A 'l' ES ) 4TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

Te ) Trial by GCM, convened at Walterdang, 
) Luxembourg, 12 JanU&l'7 1945. .sentence: 

Private First Class HUDEY 

l
Dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures 

E. BOX (17014397), Headquarters and confinement at hard labor tor life. 
Comp&n,7, lat Battalion, 12th - Eastern Branch, United States Disciplin­
Inf#lntry ary Barracks, Greenhaven, !Jew York. 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates. 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specific&­
tion: 

CHARGE: Violation o! the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class Hudq 
E. Box, Headquarters Company, lst Battalion, 
12th Infantry (attached Headquarters Compall1', 
4th Infant¥y Division) did in the vicinit;r of 
Consdorf, Luxembourg on or about 22 December 
19.44, desert the service of the United States 
by absenting himself without leave with intent 
to avoid hazardous dut7, to-wit: defensive 
action against attacking German forces, and 
did remain absent in desertion until he sur­
rendered at LuxElllbourg, Luxembourg, on 26 
December 19.44. 
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Be pleaded not guilty and three-fourths of the members of the court 

present when the vote wa.s taken concurring, was found guilt;y of the 

Charge a.nd Specification. No evidence of previous convictions was 

introduced. Three-fourths.of the members of the court present when 

the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorabl;y 

discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 


· becane due and to be confined at hard labor, ..at such pl.ace as the 
revi8'1ing authorit;r may direct, for the term of his natural life. The 
reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the Eastern 
Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as 
the place· of oonfinement and forwarded the record of trial for action 
pursuant to the provisions of Article of' War So!. . 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that on 20 December 

1944, accu8ed was on special dut7 ld th the securJ.t7 guard of Head­

quarters CompaIV, 4th Infantry Division, which was located at Luxem­

bourg, Luxembourg. The Commanding Officer of' this organization, First 

Lieutenant Henry B. Yeagley, on this date, organized a provisional 

force of 60 men of which accused was designated a member. The group 

was divided into two platoons of two squads each and charged with 

the special mission of assisting the 12th Infantry in defending 

ag&inst a German attack during their December offensive. At approx­

im&tel.7 on the morning of the 20th this detachment, with ace.used present 

aa a member of the first platoon, reported to the headquarters of the 

2nd Battalion, 12th Infantry, located at Consdorf, Luxembourg (R5,6,9). 

Some orientation and instruction was given to the security guard, 

concerning where they were going and the nature of their mission. 

Accused was a member o! this guard (R5,7,9). On the evening of the 

20th of December, the platoons were aHigned the dut7 of holding a 

sector, along a line on which the;r were depl.07ed, so that a comp&ny" 

o! the battalion cculd Yd. thdraw from their advanced positions. The 

platoons were subjected to ama.ll arms and art111ery fire while they 

were "dug in" at a fire break along the road during their first night 

in the front line (R6,7). The following dq they encountered eneJcy" 

fire again but held the positions they had occupied. On the 22nd of 

December, a German combat patrol endeavored to break through and 

subjected the men of the detachment. to heaV7 small arms and machine 

gun fire (R6,7). Under orders the platoon withdrew a distance of 

about three hurxired yards to another position where thef received 

artillery fire from the en8JD1' but bad no casual.ties (R7). On the 

morning o! the 23rd, accused was reported absent by hia platoon 

sergeant. The compan7 commander made a personal check o! his men b7 

counting those Jresent. He went along the entire sector contacting 

each foxhole. They were dug in, two men to each foxhole. Accused 

was not present with his unit in the line (R7,8,10). His absence 

was unauthorised (R7,8). The platoons remained "up" with the 12th 

Infantry until the 24th o:r December, when they were relieved arxi 

ret\UTled to the Division headquarters at Luxembourg (R7,Sl. 
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On the 26th accused voluntarily appeared at the Division Command 
Post and on being questioned by his CCDlll&llding officer as to wb7 
he had not been with them, stated that he left his platc>on because 
he "just couldn't take it any longer"(R8). He showed no evidence 
of injury or illness and bis phisical condition appeared to be 
norm.al (RB,10,ll). • . 

4. A!ter an explanation of his rights as a witness accused 
elected to remain silent. No evidence was pr~sented by the 
defense (Rll). 

5. A recital of the undisputed evidence disclosed a typical 
"battle line" desertion case. AcCW!led was a member of an emergency 
detachment lihich had been dispatched on ·a mission of great import­
ance. In company with men of his unit he marched to the front, en­
gaged the enexey- and encount.ered their shellfire. At the crucial 
moment when his organization was under attack and his sernces 
most needed, he left his crnmn•nd and did not return until the enemy 
action was concluded. When he absented himself from his platoon 
on the night of the 22nd of December, he had tull knowledge of th• 
hazards and perils llhich con.fronted him. He left to avoid these 
risks and dangers. The Yanu.al provides that: 

"any person, subject to military law, who 
quits his organisation or place of duty 
with intent to avoid hasardous duty or 
to shirk important service shall be deaned 
a deserter" (AW 28; MCM,. 1928, par.130, 
p.142). 

The only credible ini'erence which can be drawn from the 
evidence of accused's conduct under the circumstances is that he 
understood that his presence at his post of duty involved tremendous 
risks of his life and that he deliberately absented himself to avoid 
these battle hazards. Proof of comntl.seion of the offense with 
which accused was charged is tull;r established by- convincing and 
substantial evidence (CX ETO 4570, Hawkins; CM ETO 5155, Q!fil,h 
et al; CM ETC 6625, Anderson and authorities cited therein). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 22 years and four 
months of age. He enlisted, without prior service, at Camp 
Robinson, Arkansas on 11 March 1941. 

7. The court was lega.l.l;r eonstituted and had jurisdiciloa of 
the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sen­
tence. 
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8. The offense of desertion, in time of war, is punishable 
by death or such other punishment as a court-martial may direct 
(AW 58). The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of con­
finement is proper (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, , 
as amended). 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BO.ARD OF REVIEW.NO. 1. 

CM ETO 662.3 

UNITED STATES 

'v. 

Private EDWIN F. MILNER 
(.35294221), Company L, 
12th Infantry· 

2 3 FEB 1945 

) 4XH INFANTRY DIVISION. 

~ Trial by GCM, convened at Walferdang, 
) Luxembourg, 10 January 1945. Sentence: 
) Dishonorable discharge, total for­

l feitures and confinement at hard labor 
for life. Eastern Branch United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­. ) haven, New York. 

HOLDDTG by BOARD OF REVIE'R NO. l 

RITER, SE!mIAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Edwin F. Milner, 
Company 11 L11 , 12th Infantry, did, in the 
vicinity of Hurtgen Forest, Carmany, on or 
about 11 November 1944, desert the service 
of the United States by absenting himself 
without proper leave from his organization 
with intent to avoid hazardous duty, to 
:rlt: an engagement with the enemy, and did 
remain absent in desertion until he sur­
rendered himself at Esneaux, Belgium, on 
or about 1 December 1944 •.. 
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He pleadeu.not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty 
of the Cbarge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced. '.I:hree-fourths of the members of. the court present 
at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be 
dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place 
as the reviewing authority may direct, for the term of his natural 
life. The reviewing authority ayproved the sentence, designated the 
Eastern' Branch,. United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New 
York, as the place of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial 
for action .pursuant to Article of ~'far 50-}. 

3. Uncontradicted evidence for the prosecution showed the fol­

lowing facts: 


, On S November 1944 Company L, 12th Infantry, was part of the 
. forces which relieved the 2Sth Infantry Division in the Hurtcen Forest 

in Ge~many. The company was engaged in active combat and had visual 
contact with the enemy. It was subjected to concentrated and continuous 
fire from heavy artillery, mortars, and small arms. In addition, m.tnes 
and "booby traps" made the advance dangerous and bloody. From S l'.ovem­
ber to 11 November its casualties amounted to 50;:; of its strength. From 
ll November lU1til it was relieved from· duty in the Forest, its casual­
ties amounted to 85% of its membership. The terrain in which it was 
engaged was mountainous and wooded and great- difficulties in operations 
r:ere encountered (R6). 

Accused was a rifleman in the third platoon of the company 
and was with it when it entered the Forest. On the night of 10 IJovem­
ber he canato the company command post during a heavy artillery bar­
rage. · The com,a.ny commander ordered him to take cover in a foxhole 

· with directions to remain in it until the barrage lifted and then to 
ret:.irn to his platoon~ Later in the.evening a search of the area uas 
made ,and he could not be found. The next morning the first sergeant 
of the company again searched the area of the foyJJ.ole and determined 
he was not with his platoon. He was not present with the company from 
11 November to 4 December 1944, when he was returned to it. He had 
not been evacuated through medical channels and had received no per­
mission to leave his platoon (R5,6). On 1 December 1944, accused 
surrendered himself to military control at Esneaux, Belgium, several 
miles to the v:est and rear of the scene of the fighting (R7). 

4. After his rights ~er~ explained, accused elected to remain 

silent. The defense offered no evidence (r~7) • 


5. The evidence discloses a typical "battle line" desertion case. 
The accused left his platoon ~hen it was under fire and appeared at his 
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co~;_:iany's command post during a heavy artillery barrage. He was tem­
porarily sheltered in a foxhole under orders to return to his. platoon 
when the barra~e lifted. Ee violated this order ana absented himsel:f 
without leave for 20 days in a place of comparative safety in the rear, 
during which time his company was ene;aged in sanguinary conf1ict with 
the enemy·and suffered tragic casualties. The only inference which 
can be honestly deduced from this evidence is that accused, with full 

. knowledge or the fact that his presence at his post or duty involved 
tremendous risks to his life, deliberately left it in order to avoid 
these battle hazards and perils. This offense was proved beyond all 
doubt. (CM ETO. 4570, Hawkins; CH ETO 4701, Minnetto; CU ETO 4743, ~;. 
CH ETC 5293, Killen). , .. <> 1 , , 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 19 years old. He was 

inducted 22 October 1943 at Sandusky, Ohio, to serve for the duration 

of the war plus six months. He had no prior service. 


7; The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the· 
person and offense. N~ errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record is legally sufficient to suuport the 
findings of guilty and the .sentence. ·· • 

8. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such other 
punishment as a court-martial nay direct (A~ 58). The designation of 
the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplin~y Barracks, Greenhaven, 
New York, 83 the place of confinement, is authorized (.8.";1 42; Cir.210, IID, 
14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI,i as amended)~ 

. // /j 

./)}''' -; f ~ 
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l", • -,r.-., '· · " ·. Judge Advocate 
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CONFIDENTIAL 
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Branch Office or The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater or Operations 
APO Sf!J7 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 2 2 FEB 1°ii~ 
Cl.1 ETO 6625 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 4TH INFANTRY DIVISION. 
) 

v. 	 Trial by Gell, convened at 7!alferdang, 
. ~ Luxembourg, 12 January 1945. Sentence: 

Private First Class IRVING ) Dishonorable discharge, total for­
G. Al:DIBSON (.3727.3655), ) feitures and confinement at hard labor 
Company B, 12th Infantry for life. Eastern Branch, United 
(attached to Headquarters ~ States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­
Company). ) haven, New York. 

HOLDma by BOARD ar REVIEIT }TO. 1 

RITER, SEEPJ.'iAf! and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examine.a by the Board of f...eview. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

ClliillGE: Violation of the 58th Article of liar. 

Specification: In that Private First Class Irving 
G. hnderson, Company "B", 12th Infantry, 
(attached Headciuarters Company, 4th :::::nrantry 
Division) did in the vicinity of Consdorf, 
Luxenbourg, on or about 22 December 1944, 
desert the service of the trnited States by 
absenting himself without leave with intent 
to avoid hazardous duty, to wit: defensive 
action against attacking Gernan forces, and 
die remain absent in desertion u.~til he sur­
rendered at Luxembourg, Lux,~mbourg, on or about 
25 December 1s:·44. 
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He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the n:embers of the court 
present at the time the vote was. taken concurring, was found guilty 
of the Charge and Specification. Evidence was introduced of one 
previous conviction by suminary court for abrence without leave for 
11 hours in violation of • .U-ticle of ·:;e:r 61. Three-fourths of the 
menbers of the court present at the time the vote was taken concur­
ring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to 
forfeit all p~ and allowances due or to become due, and to be con­
fined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may 
direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority 
approved the sentence,casignated the Eastern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of·confine­
ment, and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to Ar.ticle 
of War 5%. 

J. The evidence for the prosecution. established the following 

facts: 


On 20 December 1944 accused was on special duty with the 
security guard of the Eeadque:rters Company of the 4th Infantry Division, 
which was located at Luxembourg (Luxembourg). On that date he was 
designated as a member of a detachr:ent of 60 men (divided into two 
platoons of two squads each) charged with the special mission of 
assisting the 12th Infantry in defendi:pg against the attack of the 
Germans in their Decenber offensive. The detachment reported to the 
Headquarters of the 2nd Battalion, 12th Infantry, at 1015 hours on 
said date. It was cor.unanded by First Lieutenant Henry B. Yeagley. · 
Accused was designated leader of the first squad of the first platoon. 
(R4,5,9). 

On the evening of 20 December the two platoons were assigned 
the duty of holdir.g a sector while a company fell bacl: through the 
platoons. En route to their position·the platoons were subjected to 
enemy small-arms fire. On 21 December the platoons encountered enemy 
small-arms fire and fell back to a fire break where they "dug inn. 
On 22 December the platoons held the last-described position until 
they withdrew a distance of 4oo·yards under battalion orders to another 
position where in the evening they received small-arms fire. During 
the process of withdrawal, and as the platoQns co:r:unenced to "dig in" 
at the new position, a German patrol fired on them. Accused and 
another soldier then rant~ the rear (Rl0-11). The·platoons remained 
in that position until they returned to Division Headquarters o~ 2~ 
December (P.6,9,10).. From the night of 22 December until they with­
drew on 24 December the platoons received ar~illery, mortar and rocket 
fire from the enemy. Two casualties were suffered (R7,13). 

Although no permission had been given accused to be absent 
from his detachment (R~)), he was absent therefrom on the morning of 
23 December, and search by the detachment commander failed to disclose 
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his preseqce. His absence·continued durinci 24 December (Rl3). 

On 25 December, after the platoons had returned to the 
· 	 Division Headquar~ers, accused voluntarily appeared at the guardhouse. 

He made no e;xrlanation of his absence. At that time he carried no 
evidence of injury or illness and his physical condition appeared to 
be normal (R7,13). 

4. After an explanation of his rights, 'accused elected to re­

main .~ilent and presented no evidence (R41). 


5. a. A recital of the undisputed facts of the case is all 

that is necessary to support the court's findings of guilty. Accused 


.was a member of an emergency detachment which had been dispatched on 

a mission of supreme importance. At the crucial mdment when his unit 


· was under attack he left his command and did not return until its 

action was concluded. It is obvious that when he left his platoon 


.. on the night of 22 December he understood full well the nature of.the 
perils which confronted him. He left to avoid them. · Commission of 
the offense with which he is charged was proved beyond doubt (CM ETO 
4570, Hawkins; m.1 ETO 4701, Minnetto). · 

b. The failure of the Snecifica:tion to allege the organi­
zation or place from which accused absented himself.Without leave is 


. not a fatal defect (CM ETO 5359, Young). 

. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 25 yea.rs and eight 

months of age. ' He was inducted 8 ~iay 1942 at fort Snelling, 

Minnesota. He had no prior service. 


. . 
7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 

the person and offense. Ko errors injuriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board 
of Review is of the o~inion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such 

other punisr.J11ent as a court-martial may direct (AW 58) •. The desig­

nation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 


· Oreenhaven, 	New York; as the place of confinement, is authorized 

(A~7 42; Cir.210, rm, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, as amended). 


__...._;J_,_~_:,...4_ _.._~-·~---___ Judge Advocate 

" 
-----~-~----i_..;(;.;.~-~~/-~u_'""_~_"·_u_.,..,_•.c...;l:....__ Judge Advocate 

__f;&4._...%tf:~kL;,,,...;.~--· __..._,_,_.,i""-- Judge Advog~5__ __.~--~--,. 
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Branch Office 	of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO &!t7 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 	 1:4MAR1945 
CM ETO 6626 

T E D v. S T ATE S lU N I 4TH INFANTRY DIVISION 

Private EMME'ITB. LIPSCOle 
(332277CJ9), Company B, 
802nd Tank DestrOj"er 
Battalion 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Walferdang, 
. Luxembourg, 10 January 1945. Sen­
tence:. Dishonorable discharge, total 
torfeitures and confinement at hard 
labor for lite. Eastern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIElf NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL _and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been e:xamined by- the Board of Review. · 

2. Accused was 	 tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of lfar. 

Specification: · In that Private Emmett B. Lipscomb, 
ComM.ny B, 802nd Tank Destroyer Battalion, 
did, at Be;yren, Lu:xembourg, on or ab011t 1700 
18 December 1944 desert the service or the 
United States by absenting himself' without 
leave from his organization 'With intent to 
avoid hazardous duty, to wit: an anticipated 
engagement with the enemy, and did remain 
absent in desertion until he was apprehended 
and turned over to the 4th Infantry Division 
Military Police Lwrembourg on or abont 1630 
29 December 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members or the court 
.present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty or 
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the Specification except for the words "was apprehended and turned over 
to the 4th Infantry Division Military Police, Luxembourg, on or about 
1630 29 December 1944",substituting there.for the words "surrendered him­
self' to Third Anrrsr Military Police at Canach, Luxembourg, on 25 December 
1944", of the excepted words not guilty, o.f the substituted words guilty-, 
and guilty of the Charge·. Evidence was introduced of one previous con­
viction by- summary court .for absence without leave for two days in viola­
tion or the 6lst Article or War. Three-fourths of the members or the 
court present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he ·was sentenced 
to be dishonorably discharged the service, to .forfeit all pay and allow­
ances due or to become due, and to be con.fined at hard labor, at such 
place as the reviewing authority may direct, .for the term or his natural 
life. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the 
Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New 
York, as the place or confinement, and .forwarded the record or trial 
.for action pursuant to Article of War 5~. 

3. The prosecution showed by his company commander that accused 
was, on 18 December.1944, a private, Company B, 802nd Tank Destroyer 
Battalion. On 17 December, this company was outside o.f Beyren, Luxem­
bourg, eight or ten miles east or the city o.f Luxembourg. At eleven 
o'clock that morning, the company was alerted by its captain as a result 
of in.formation received by him (R4,5,7). He gave instructions to his 
platoon leaders (R5), who in turn communicated them to the company 
section sergeants (R6). • As a result of this, the colllil!llnication was 
passed domi to the sergeant who led the f'irst squad, .first platoon (R7,
8), of which accused was a member. This sergeant, .following his in­

- struction, thereupon told each or his men that morning, including 
accused, that he was not supposed to leave the area, that the company 
had been alerted, and that "we were supposed to move to a certain area 
and when the counter attack started the move was ordered~ and until 
f'urther notice to be there on a thirty minute alert" (R9J (Underscoring 
supplied). The captain had told his platoon leaders that he had 
learned through channels that the German counter attack had started 
(R5). Under the company operating procedure, all the members o.f the 
command were supposed to stay in the immediate vicinity.of.their respec­
tive platoons. Three or .four days after 17 December, the date of this 
alert, although the enemy was not "actually11 .contacted, the company 
moved up into "firing positions" in support of the 12th Infantry, 4th 
Infantry Division. Duri~ 17 and 18 December about two enemy shells 
dropped in Beyren (R5,7,10). At .five or .five-thirty in the afternoon 
or 18 December, accused's squad leader checked his squad and accused 
was then missing and did not thereafter return to his squad (R7,10; 
Pros.Ex.A). Accused had no permission on either 17 or 18 December to 
leave his platoon area (R7,10). Accused's absence was terllinated by 
his surrender to l!lilitary police at Canach, Lu.-xembourg, on or about 
25 December (Rll). , 

4. Accused, advised o.f his rights as a witness, elected to remain 
silent. He called as his witnesses his company com.roo.nder and his sq1lad 
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leader. The captain testif'ied that accused had given trouble before: 

"drinking and wandering· oft". When not drinking, he was "working all 

right. n But "off hand" the captain "would say he was" an habitual 


·drinker, not giving any trouble when not drinking (Rl3,14). Accused's. 
first sergeant said accused had.been a member of his organization since 

f I
July 1942 and that "other than for his drinking I have had no trouble 

with him at all. lie is a very good worker. * * *he drinks pretty 

heavily and too otten". When not drinking, accused was a "pretty 

valuable man - as tar as his work is .concerned". Under fire, in 

actual contact with the enemy, he acted like the average person; "he 

didn't flinch. When they came too close we all jUI!q)ed" (Rll,12). 

The sergeant said f'urther: 


"Well, I'll tell you, sir. On the morning of 
the 18th evidently he found some liquor some­
where and, well, I happenM to go out on patrol 
that morning with the lieutenant and when I came 
back at about J:OO in the afternoon Lipscomb 
came back .from somewhere and had been driilking 
~nd was feeling quite high. At that time we knew 
we were on the alert and I told him he was sort -0£ 
misbehaving and to stay around there. That was 
about 3:00 o'clock, and then the platoon leader 
called us all together again .for about an hour's 
critique. Then I went pack and Lipscomb was 
~one and I haven't seen him until last night"
(Rl2). . 

Told by the court that he had said that he reminded accused ot the alert 

on the afternoon of 18 December, and asked i.f in his opinion accused was 

rational enough to understand, the sergeant answered: 


"That is hard tor me to say, because I really 
don't know. He might have and he might not. 
Personally, I don't think be did understand very 
much and didn't realize what I was telling him. 
And, then, I really couldn't say, because when 
a man is half' info::xicated you never can tell 
just what his mind is doing" (Rl2). 

5. The evidence thus shows that at the time and place alleged in 
the Speci.fication accused absented himsel.f without leave from his organi­
zation when it was close to the enemy, was alerted and was momentaril~ 
expecting to take an advanced position to resist the enemy- counter attack. 
The proof rather indicates that the motive for accused's conduct was not 
.fear. Rather, it appears that he went off to indulge his appetite "for 
liquor, or that his conduct resulted from his having theretofore over-. 
indulged to the extent that he lost all sense of responsibility tor the 
performance o.f essential duty at a crucial time. Accused had a known 
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and grave propensity for drink. · The evidence indicated that by .3 pm, 
18 December, he ~as in a state of intoxication. But his condition was 
volunta.r;r. His willingness to put himsel.1' hors de combat through drink 
necessarily involved an intention to shirk his duty, hazardous duty at 
~hat particular time"and known by him to be such. 

In a charge of desertion involving Article of War 28, as here, 
it is necessary to show that at the time accused absented himself' he had 
the specific intent of avoiding hazardous duty (CM ETC 5555, Slovik; CM 
ETC 2.368, .Lybrand; CM ETC 5958, ~ and illfil:!). 

When a man has a known duty to perform, a deliberate engagement 
by him in conduct which he knows will render impossible performance by 
him of his duty certainly carries with it, legally, an intent ~ to per­
form his duty. And if as a consequence of his misconduct, involving 
such intent to flout duty, he separates himself" from his command, he can 
properly be said to have intentionallY_absented himseli'. 

' Accordingly it is the opinion of the Board of Review that 'Uilder 
the circumstances there was an intentional absenting of himself' by accused 
from his collllllalld to avoid hazardous duty. Article of War 28 does not 
condemn such conduct only when it is inspired by fear. It is probably 
far worse for a man to keep out of combat through laziness or through 
preference :for a few hours sleep than it is for a ;youngster who is so 
afraid that his feet won 1t move. The language of .Article of War 28 
is certainly susceptible of this conclusion. 

The findings of guilty of"the Charge and Specification were 
.fully sustained by the evidence (CM ETC 5555, Slovik; CM ETC 2.368, Lybrand; 
CM ETC 5958, ~ and ~' all supra; and CM ETO .32.34, ~). 

6. Accused at the time or the trial was .32 years of age. He was 
inducted into the Federal service on 1.3 October 1942. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction o:f the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously a:f:fecting the substantial 
rights o:f accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. Desertion in violation of Article of War 58 is, in time of war, 
punishable by such sentence as a court-martial may direct, including death. 
The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the plac_e or confinement is authorized (AW 42; 
Cir.21C, WD,. 14 Sep 194.3,. sec.VI,·as amended). · 

~ ';£ f 

_,_~"'-'~;~,__Judge Advocate 

-r,.,..~......_.__.......,._::;:;::=:;::---+.t----Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office or The Judge Advocate General 
with the • 

European Theater or Operations 
APO 887 

Bal!ID OF REVIEW NO. 1 

CM ETO 6637 

UNITED STATES 

Prlvate JAMES J. PITTJLl 
(32373205), Yedical Detach­
ment, 7th In!antey' 

21APR1945 

) 3RD INF.ANTRI' DIVISICE' 
) 
) Trial b7 CCll, convened at Brn7erea, 
) France, 14 lTovem.ber 1944. Sentences 
) Di.shoaorable discharge (suspendad), 
) total ferteitu.res and continement 

at hard labor .tor ten years. Loire ~ DL•o1Plina17 '.fr&ining Center, Le 
r Yan81 1ranoe. 

HOIDING 'by BOARD <E REVIm NO. l 

RITER, BJRRQt and STEVnlS, Judge Advocates 


l. The record o.t trial in the case ot the soldier named above has 
been examined in the Branch Office of '!he Judge Advocate General with the 
Tu.ropean Theater of Operations ani there found legall7 insu.tf'icient in 
part to support the flndings and sentence. 1he record of trial has now 
been examined by the Board of Review and the Board. submits this, its hold­
ing, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of said Branch Of­
fice. · 

2. Accused was tried upon the follning charges and specifications a 

CHARGE I: Violation or the$8th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private James J. Pittala, 
Medical Detachment, 7th Infant17, did, near 
Vy les Inre, France, on or abmt 17 September 
1944, desert the service o.t the United States 
by absenting himself ldthout proper leave from 
his ,organization, wl th intent to a'foid hazardous 
duty-, to 'W1. t: combat with the elle!ll1'1 and did 
remain absent in desertion until he surrendered 
himself at Faucogney-1 France, on or about 20 
Septsnber 1944. 6537 
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CHARGE IIr Violation of the 7.5th lrticl.e of War. 

Specification: In that * * * did, near Rupt-Sur­
.Moselle, France, on or about 27 September 
1944, run away- !rom bis place of chty, with 
Company "D" 7th Infantry, lilich was then en­
gaged with the enemy, arrl retu.sed to return 
thereto. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the c011rt present at 
the time the vote was taken concu.rring, was .f'ound guilty of both charges and 
specifications. No evidence or previous c onv:lc tions was introduced. Three­
.fourths or the members of' the court present at the time the vote was taken 
concurring, he was sentenced. to be dishonorably discharged the service, to 
forfeit all pay and allOW"ances due or to become due, and to be confined at 
hard labor, at such place as the reviewing auttlority ms;r direct, for 2.5 
years. '!he reviewing authority- approved the sentence, blt reduced the period 
or confi.nenent to ten years, ordered the sentence as thus modi.tied du:ly exe­
cuted, but suspended the execution of that portion thereor adjudging dis­
honorable discharge until the soldier's release from confinement, and 
designated the Loire Disciplinary Training Center, Le Yans, France, as the 
place or confinement. The proceedings were published by General Court­
Martial Orders No. 6, Headquarters 3rd Infantry Division, APO 31 u.s. A.rmy, 
9 January 194.5. . 

3• 'On 17 September 1944,~ accused and five other soldiers were 
transf'erred from the division's organic medical battalion to the 7th 
Infantry Regimental Medical Detachment, end reported to the Assistant 
Regimental Surgecn at the regimental. aid station located in Vy les Lure, 
France. The surgeon infonned accused that he was assigned to the detach­
ment's section of the regtment's 1st battalion of infantry, and ordered him 
to remain in an adjacent room until transportation would be available. to 
cany him to his place ofduty (R7,81 10). The lst Battalion and the regiment 
were then in can.bat in the vicinity of lure, France, which was a matter of 
general lmowrledge (R8,10) •. Later in the da:;r llh.en transport was ready, ac­
cused was not in the room and could not be found in the area after search 
by the detachment's. first sergeant. He had no permission to be absent. 
He was not in the detachment again until hesurren~ered at the regimental 
aidstation in Faucogney, France,, on 20 September 1945 (R8-11J Pros.Ex.A). 

On 27 September 1945, after accused had performed hie duties for 
two day-a in the 1st Battalion Medical Section as a company aid man attached · 
to a platoon in B Company,, he ns again missing when needed. '!'he platoon 
was then in combat with the enem;r in the vicinity of Rupt-sur-Kos.Ue,, 
France (RU). He had no permissicn to be absent, and was found bJ' h18 sec­
tion leader in a building on a hill some two and a half' miles arq (m.4,lS). 
He said he "could not take it" and "1r0Uld not go back up". He later re- · · 
tnmed to the rear aid station about 41 miles f'rom his proper place (El.5116). 

4. Accused, after his rights were tully explained to him, el~cted . 
to make an unSll'orn statement through counsel (Rl7) • It was stated tl}f1'. l\8 
had been in the service since June 1942, end overseas since Sept,embef) ~J 7 

'I' "r:'~'"ll~l\Ili ... 1.l·'-1• /"IL. 
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that year. He served as a litter man with the 36th Infan"trtJ Division 
throughout the Tunisian campaign, and with the 3rd Infantry Division at 
Casino, Anzio and Rome, and in the campaign or southern France. His ser­

.vice was without previous conviction by court-martial or time lost through 

hospitalization (m7-18). No other evidence was introduced in his behalr. 


I 

5. a. The case is that of a soldier 'With long and honorable ser­
vice transferred !rom the comparative safety of the Red Cross marked instal­
lations of a medica1 battalion, forward to duty with an infantry battalion, 
whose hazards he knew from experience. · 

be Specification1 Charge· I; The Board ot Review may take 

judicial notice of the landing oft.he Seventh Arm:! and the .3rd Infantry 

Division as a unit thereof on the southern coast of France on 15 August 

1944; the Army-•s rapid northern advance and junction with the 'lhird Arnzy­

near Chaumont, France, 14 September 1944, and of the Seventh .lrmy 1s cap­

ture of the City of Epinal, France, 24 September 1944 (CY ETO 7413, Gogol, 

and authorities therein cited). These events were described in the press 

throughout the world as they occur.red, and in communiques issued by the 

high connnand. Reference to any authentic map reveals the tollowing 

pertinent facts& Lure France, the proven location ot the 1st Battalion in 

combat 17 September 19ii4 is 335 miles from the Mediterranean, representing 

an advance of that distance in 33 days; Vy les Lure, the location of the 

regimental aid station on that day, is four miles south or Lure; Faucogney, 

the aid station's site at the time accused suITendered there 20 September 

1944, is 11! miles north of Lure; and Rupt-eur-Moselle, the scene of ac­

cused's alleged offense in the action there on 27 September is 7! miles 

northeast of Faucogney. Epinal is about 35 miles north ot Lure. 


Under such circumstances, there can be no reasonable doubt 

of accused's knowledge on 17 September 1944 that the regiment was in com­

bat as testified. During combat, that there will be certain unmistakable 

battle activity in and around regimental :tnstallations is so self-evident 

as to be axiomatic within the military knowledge of line officers, or which 

the court was composed. 


"Some matters of judicial knO'l'l'ledge are so 
selr-evident as . to be ever present in the mind, 
so that they naturally enter into a decision or 
a:rr;r point to which they have application• 
(31 c.J.s.ic.·, sec.13c,p.522) • 

' .
There had been the continued rapid movement or the campaign. There is also 
to be considered the fact that accused 1'fas then at an aid station 1fithin 
four miles of the front lines, where he could hardly have tailed to see 
and hear friendly and enemy cannon and to observe the tenseness, the excite­
ment of men, and the rush of traffic. They are. the inerttable accompaniments 
of battle which at a regimental installation could not have been unobserved 
or misunderstood. Accused received notice of his assignment to a battalion 
section, which, as he must have known from experience, meant duties as a · 
company aid man or 1itter bearer in close proximity to the front lines (T/O 
and E7-ll:, w.n., 26 Feb.1944, sec.!£, clm5). Hazardous duty re1ate<f),3 7 
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combat,; of which he had knOW"ledge and experience, was therefore imminent, 
and it may, be in.ferre:i tha~ he left with specilic intent to avoid it 
(CY E'ro 1339, ConklinI, and authorities therein cited)• 

c. Sp~cific ati. on, Charge IIc Accused. was :t"ound two and· a halt 
. 	 miles from his company, after being present with 1 t as an aid man for two 

days. The compaey was then engaged with the ene:m.r. He said he could not 
take it and re.fUsed to retum. The evidence sustaill8 the finding or gllilt7 
(CM ETO 54291 Cameron and Raw'.1.s). 

,, -6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 25 7ears o.f age and was 
inducted 27 June 1942 at Utica, New York, to serve for the duraticn of the 
war plus six months. He had no prior service. 

7. The court was legall7 constituted and had jurisdiction or the 
person am offenses. No errors injuriously 8.f'.fecti.ng the substantial 
rights or accrused were committed during the trial. 'lhe Board of Review is 
of the opinion that the record of trial is legally su.fticient to support 
the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

. . a. 'lhe penalty for desertion in time or war 8n:i -for misbehavior 
be.tore the enem;r is death or such other punishment as a court-martial may 
direct (AW 58,75)9 The designation of the Loire Disciplinary Training 
Center is proper (Ltr. Hq. European· Theater of Operations, AG 252 Op. TPY, 
19 Dec. 1944, par.3). · 

·J;.~·-, .,,. 
'"'-; _ Judge Advocate 

~ ·7~ Judge Advocate 

<?'11@/{J/t;.f)Judgo Advoc~t• 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW' NO. l 

CM E'ID 6682 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 
) 

v. 	 ) 
) 

Private LF.O E. FRAZIER ) 
(37119727), 370th Replace­ ) 
ment Company, Detachment 
99, 99th Replacement ~· 
Battalion ) 

2 6 MAY 19t1~ 

UNITED KINGDOM BASE, COMMUNICATION$ 
IDNE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF OEPRATIONS 

Trial by GCM, convened at APO 	 519, 
U.S. Army, 29,30 December 1944. 
Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
total forfeitures and confinement at 
hard labor for life. thrl.ted States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOU>ING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 

RITER, BURROW and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

. . 
2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification:' 

CHARGE:. Violation of the 92nd Article of War• 
. 

Specification: In that Private LEO E. FRAZIER, 37oth 
Replacement Comps.iv, Detachment 99, Gro.und Force 
Replacement System, did, at Tidworth Barracks, 
Tidworth, Wiltshire, England, on or about 18 
October 1944, with malice afDrethought, wilfully, 
deliberately, feloniously, unlawfully, and with 
premeditation kill Private Leonard Rainey, Pro­
visional Replacement Company "U"; Detachment 54, 
Ground Force Replacement System, a human being, 
by shooting him witti a pistol. 

He pleaded not guilty a.rxl, three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty ot 
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the Charge and Specification. Evidence was introduced of one 
previous conviction by special court-martial for absence without 
leave for six dey-s in violation of Article of War 61. Three­
fourths of the members of the court pr~sent at the time the vote 
was taken concurring, he was sentenced tobe dishonorably dis­
charged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 
become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as 
the reviewing authority ma.y direct, for the term of his natural 
life. The reviewing authority approved the .sentence, designated 
the United States l"'enitentiar;r, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the 
place of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for 
action pursuant to Article of War 5o!. 

3. The evidence showed that accused and deceased were in 
a barracks room, under the influence of liquor, andthere enga:;ed 
in a quarrel resulting in slight batteries of each upon the other. 
In the course of the altercation, the deceased threatened accused 
and lifted up a bayonet against him but a bystander persuaded him 
to· surrender itl. Accused left the room upon solicitation by 
others and, at a time estimated. at about five minutes thereafter, 
fired the fatal shot through an open window. Deceased had 
continued his threats against accused after bis departure. 

These are facts from which the court could rea.sonabl;r 
infer that the accused acted with ma.lice, and the record is therefore 
legall;r sufficient to support the findings. It is not the function 
of the Board of Review sitting in the European Theater of Operations 
to weigh evidence in any case. The record of trial is examined 
only ~o determine whether the findings are supported in all essential• 
by substantial evidence. The findings are treated. as presumptivel;r· 
correct and they are legally sufficient if the ultimate facts drawn 
by the court could legally have been inferred from the evidence intro­
duced (CMETO 1631, ~;CY 192609 Hul.Jle 2 B.R. 9, Dig.Op.JAG 
1912-1940, sec.408 (2),p.259). It was the fu;ction and duty: of the 
court and the reviewing authority to weigh the ~rldence, and 
determine whether passion under adequate pro~cation not cooled 
by the passing of time, or drunkenness,. reduced the crime frail 
murder to manslaughter. Its finding of either the greater or the 
lesser offense, on the facts herein, would be legal and appropriate 
(Stevenson v. United States, 162, U.S. 313, 16 S.Ct. 839, 40 L.Ed. 
980 (1896); CUETO 292, Mickles). While the Soard of Review in a 
proper case will not be hesitant in holding there is no substantial 
evidence of ma.lice (CM ETO 82, McKenzie; CM ETO 10338, !:!!2,) 1 the 
deliberateness of this crime after th~ quarrel had been broken off 
precludes disturbing the findings upon appellate review (llCll, 1928, 
par.148!,, p.164, and par.126,!, p.136; CM ETO 2007~ Harris; CM ETO 
3042, Q&; CM ETO 3180, Porter; CY ETO 5765, llack)• 

4. The charge sheet shows that accused is 23 years and 
seven months of age {corrected by accused at trial to 24 years and 
seven months {R63)), and was inducted 27 October 1941 to serve for 
one year. His service period is governed by the Selective Service 
Extenaion Act of 1941. No prior service is shown. 
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5. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdcitioa 
of the person am offense. No errors injuriousJ.T at!•ctin& the 
substantial rights of accused were comnitted during the trial. The 
Board of Review is o! the opinion that the record o! trial is' 
legall.7 sufficient to support the findings o! guilt7 and the 
sentence. 

I ' 

6. The penalt," for murder is death or life imprisonment 
as the court-martial may direct {AW 92). Confine111Snt in a peni­
tentiary is authorized upon convict.ion of murder by Article o! 
War 42 and sections 275 and 330, Federal Criminal. Code (18 USCA 
454,567). The design.ati.Gn of the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, PennsylTania, as 'the,.place of confinement, is proper 

(Cir.229, WD, 8 -~~,par•.l!!.(4), 31!.). 

---"~"-~ ....._..______Jqe Advocate......--......J& 
__.._~..........·+,L-·..,.~""""'"'"'"".........._____Jqe
· ..A.dvocate 

Ju;lce Advocate 

rmNFIDEHTL~l 
·-)­
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:Branch O!fice of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater of Operations 

Ai;io 887 

BOARD OF REVIE?i NO. l 13 FEB 194S 
Cll ETO 6684 

UNITED STATES . 8JD !N7'AUTRY DIVISION 

v. Trial by GCM:, convened at Luxembourg, 
Luxembourg, 25 November 1944. Sen­

lieutenant Colonel JOHN O. ) tence: To be dismissed the service. 
MURTAUGH (0-15844), 32nd 
Cavalry Reconnaissance ~ 
Squadron, Mechanized ) 

l 
HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEi'i NO. l 


RITER, SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of 
the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European 
Theater of Operations. · 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Ch&l'ge and specifica­
tions: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 85th Article of War. 

Specification l: In that lieutenant Colonel John 
o. Murtaugh, 32nd Cavalry Reconnaissance 

Squadron, was, in the vicinity of Mondor!, 

Luxembourg, on or about 24 October 1944, found 

drunk while on duty as Con:m.andingO.rticer, 32nd Cav­

alry Reconnaissance Squadron. 


Specification 2: In that * * * was in the vicinity 
of Mondorf,·Lux.embourg, on or about 25 October 
1944, found drunk while on duty as Con:manding 
Officer, 32nd Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron. 
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He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and both 
specifications thereunder. No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. He was sentenced to be dismissed the service. The re­
viewing authority, the Commanding General, 83d Infantry Division, approved 
the sentence and forwarded the record of trial for actiori under Article 
of War 48. The conf:irmj.ng authority, the Commanding General, European 
Theater of Operations, confirmed the sentence, although characterizing 
it as deplorably inadequate punishment for the grave military offenses 
of which accused was found guilty and stating that the meager punishment 
a.warded in the case reflected no credit upon the court's conception of 
its own responsibility, and withheld the order directing execution of 
the sentence pursuant to Article of War 5<>k· · 

3. The prosecution 1s evidence, which was not contro.verted, was 

substantially as follows: 


On 21+ and 25 October 1944 accused was present with and on duty 
as Commanding Officer.of the 32nd Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron, 
Mechanized (R6-7,17,26,33,43-44)t bivouacked just north of the city of 
Luxembourg, Luxembourg (R?,17,26). (All witnesses at the trial were 
officers of said squadron) • . 

Specification 1 (24 October 19W. Pursuant to a division 
order requiring the squadron 'to move to another sector in order to re­
lieve elements of the 330th Infantry, accused on 23 October had caused 
a reconnaissance to be made of the new sector and of a route around the 
city of Luxembourg ·to Mondor!, Luxembourg, and a march order was pre­
pared (Rl?,26-27). Accused's reason for directing that Luxembourg Cit7 
be b;r-passed was thus explained by the Squadron S-3: 

wae have a large number of vehicles in a caval?7 
reconnaissance squadron and for measures of 
control and security measures, it was a sound 
tactical idea to move the squadron around the 
outskirts of the city, rather than through 
the city of Luxembourg, itself, to ~educe the 
possibility of traffic accidents and to reduce 
the number of guides necessary to conduct the 

. squadron on its march" (Rl7). · 

About 0730 hours on 24 October accused informed the Squadron 
S-2 and S-.3 that he had decided to change the route to a better and 
shorter one through Luxembourg City, that guides would be posted. and 
that the squadron would be marched over the newly determined route. 
In the opinion of the S-2, accused was drunk and unable to perform his 
duty as Comm.anding Officer at this time, and the S-.3 believed tb&t the 
degree of accused 1 s intoxication was sufficient to prevent him o·perating 
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at his full efficiency (RlS,27). His face was flushed and his 
speech was thick and so incoherent that neither the S-21 S-J 
nor executive officer o! the squadron was able to urderstand 
the new route which he attempted to e.Jtplain to them. - "two or 
t~ee things were discussed along nth the matter o! the route" 
(17,181 26,27). In the S-J's opinion, if accused were thinking. 
&B he normally did, he would not have changed. the plans at the 
last moment (Rl8). 

After the squadron arrived.at J!ondorf, the executin officer, 
in accordance with orders previously issued b;y accused, arranged and. 
reconnoitered three guard posts arG>und the squadron command post at 
the Palace Hotel, J!ondort. In the afternoon, as that officer 11'&8 post­
ing the:itlitial guards on these posts, accused. instructed h1lll to dismiss 
all the guards except the one posted at the gate'1r&7 of tlie hotel1 Be 
testi.f'ied that, in his opinion, accused was drunk at the time, as mani­
fested b;y this most unusual order, which violated his previous order 
(R7), the fact that he walked unstea~ and his incoherent speech (RS). 

At this time the command post of Troop C of the squadron was 
in Gandren, about one or one and one-half' kilometers .from. the en~,, 
from whom it was sepa.ra.ted by the Moselle River. The troop's misssion, 
which was its first, was to relieve elements of' the JJOth In!antry- and 
occupy observation posts at certain predesignated points (RJJ-.34140).
About 18.30 .hours a.ccuaed, who was driving a quarter-ton jeep, arrived. 
at the outside of the troop mess hall and asked the troop commander 
"what we had"• The latter ottered him. coffee, but accU8ed 1aid that 
was not what .he meant. The troop eorrmander then told him the7 .•would 
be glad to have him .tor supper", but accused aaked him. "i! that was 
all I had to offer him". In the troop coilllll8llder 1s opinion, accused wa.a 
drunk. · The basis of his opinion, he testified, was as follows: 

"Initially, from the condition ot his eyes, 
his manner of speech was incoherent, his speech 
was thick, his face was very flushed and he had 
difficulty in getting out of the one-quarter 
ton. * * * It seemed to me that he lacked co­
ordination between his mind and limbs in getting 
out" (R34). 

Witneu could smell alcohol on accuae41s breath. Arter rema1n1ng a 
few minutes, accused stated he was going to the com.and post o! Troop 
! of' the squadron, and ldtne111 gave him. directions. Accused left ~. 
but returned about ten minutes later and stated he had lost his wa:y 
(R.34). Wit!ness next saw .him. sitting on the hood of the jeep talk1ng 
to about 25 or 35 men of the 1roop who were about to march to their. 
colJllllSJld Pait preparatory- to executing th• troop'• miesion (R.34,35, . 
421 43). Be was· ni.oking, his helmet was of! and .his vehicle wu in G.5 8 4 
the midst of' them. 
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"He was telling II1:f men that he wanted them to 
.go"'tiown there and get their teeth into the thing 
and that very S1.)on he would have them sending 
patrols into Get'many and giving them a dose of 
their own medicine". 

He talked disconnectedly on many subjects (R35). Witness wi.lked. · 
among the men, talked "with them and, although it was dusk, con­
cluded fro.in their facial expressions and actions that they were 
"disgusted", not with what accused said but with the manner in 
which he s&id it (R.35,41,42). Because of this episode the men did 
not move out when planned. (R34). Accuseci., in vQ.tness' opinion, 
was drunk and was unable to fulfill his duties as squadron command­
er (R35). 

:Between 19.30 and 2100 hours, the S-2 testified, he saw 
accused at the squadron command post at Mondor!. · In witness' 
opinion, accused was drunk and appeared to be much more under the 
innuence oi' intoxicants than in the morning. His speech was thick 
and labored, his face was flushed, he appeared to be unsteady and, 
in witness' opinion, he was not capable of performing his duties. 
The S-2 testified: 

"When he came to the command post he walked 
irmn.ediately towards me -- I was on duty in the 
CP at the time - and he appeared vary dis­
turbed and stated, his V«>rds as I recall them 
were, 'What the hell is going on around here'? 
I.said, I am sorry, sir, I don't understand what 
you mean. His reply again was, 'I want to know 
what's going on around here•. I.said, I d:>n 1t 
unders\and. He said, 'This guard, there's no 
security around the CP'. I said it was Ilf3' be­
lief that the guard was functioning properly 
and that I had contacted the guard only a few 
minutes before •. He stated that he had driven 
up to the rear of the CP and· it was dark and he 
could. not find the guard and had pounded_on the 
door, but that no one had appeared and he in­

/ 	structed Jne. to get the squadron executive offi ­
cer to report the him" (R2S). 

The executive officer repo~ted as directed and, after accused com­
plained about the absence of guards around the command post, imme­
diately sent for the balance of the guards to occupy the posts from 
which accused.had earlier ordered tnem relieved. In the executive 
officer's opinion, accused was di-unk. He smelled liquor on accused's 
breath, the latter's statements were irrational and rambling, his 
face was !lushed, his eyes were bloodshot, he walked unsteadily 6 5 8 4 
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and he had difficulty in maintaining his balance !'hlle standing . 
(R8). His drunkenness, in witness belief', was such that he could 
not properly perform his duties (R9). 

About 2300 hours accused.visited the command post of 
Company F at Altwies. The commander of that company testified 
that accused was drunk (R43-41+) and that · · 

"The Colonel could not perform his duties as 
come.anding officer. He came into my bedroom ­
I was sleeping in pi.rt .of the .CP - and the 
Colonel sat dol'ID. on the bed and sort of leaned 
over on his right elbow and his speech was thick 
and it took him a considerable length of time to 
either get a thought expressed or to speak at 
all" (R44). 

Specification 2 (25 October 1944): The squadron S-3 
testified that in his opinion accused was still drunk when he saw 
l:iim at the squadron command post about 1030 hours 25 ·october. His 
corrlition was about.the about the same as before, except that his 
speech was' even thicker (RlS-19). The S-2 saw him about 1700 
hours, when'"he appeared to ha.ve been drinking"(R29). The S-3 
was at the command.post of Troop A of the squadron at Burmerange, 
Luxembourg; when accused arrived about 1745 hours. ·In the S-3 1 s 
opinion, accused was drunk (Rl.9). He had difficulty getting out 
of'the 11bantam11 , his gait was slightly unsteady and he talked 
incoherently (R20). 

About 20C0hours, when the com.~·.anding officer of Troop C 
saw him at the troop command post at Gandren, accused was drunk. 
He "could tell by his· expression, his manner of walking and the 
way in which he spoke" (R.36). Present at the cormnand post with 
witness were thre·e lieutenants (P.41), one of whom, in command of the 
second platoon of Troop c, had been sent to stand b7 in order to 
render assistance to other members of the troop who were un::ler enemy 
fire. The commander of the second platoon and 'Witness were formu­
lating a plan for sending men to assist the others~ When accused 
first entered the post, he asked witness what the situation was and 
witness explained to him the situation "in both the towns and on the 
hill" (R.36,37), referring to a situation map on a table, which was 
illuminated by two searchlights (R.42). On the table was a telephone 
b;:r means of which direct communication was maintained with the 
observation post and the situation map was thus kept eurrent. Although 
no changes came over this w.i.re, accused persisted in asking witness 
seven or ·eight times what the situation was (R.43). The onl.1 change in 
the situation during the hour accused was at this co!DIDalld post was the 
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faliing of Schneisser fire near the p6st and accused had as full. an 
opportunity as witness to deduce this fact from the "high pitch of the 
weapons going of!11 (R.36-.37,4.3). 

Trucks which 
1

had transported men from Mondor! to Gandren 

en route to forward positions, were left in Gandren. Accused first 

expressed the desire that these trucks be moved to Beyren and then 

that they be moved back to Troop B at Mondor!. 11itness endea~ored 

to explain the tactical reason for leaving the vehicles in Gandren, 

i.e. the danger of fire from a German patrol operating near the 
comma.nd post (R.37,41). Accused, however, insisted that he desired 
the move (R37) "for security reasons" because "he was afraid a shell 
would hit them and wipe them all out" (R.4.l). He stated, in the 
presence of witness and his first sergeant, that 11 the men were ex­
pendable, but the vehicles weren't and he.was responsible for an 
enormous amount of property". The officers reminded accused of the 
predicament of troops under fire and pointed out that the discussion 
concerning the vehicles was impeding the progress of their plans. 
When accused persisted in his suggestion as to moving the vehicles, 
witness, who did not wish to assume responsibility for such disposi­
tion of them, "finally asked the Colonel if that was a direct order"• 
After 'Witness explained his position in the matter, accused said · 
"'Go ahead, it's yop:r show, run it a.n.y way you want it'" (R37,.39) •. 

During the course-of his visit, accused asked for coffee 
on several occasions notwithstanding the fact that small-arms fire 
made it impossible to go to the mess hall at the other end of the 
town. As a result of this fire outside the comman::l. post, he became 
11very excited" and expressed a desire to leave. He insisted that he 
wanted a weapon and that somebody had his (R.38), notwithstanding the 
fact that he was then holding his o'Wll .45 caliber pistol in his hand 
(R.38,41-42). Witness testified unequivocally that accused was drunk, 
that he could smell alcohol on accused's breath and that he believed 
his condition was worse than on the preceding day. He was physically 
and mentally incapable of performing his duty·as squadron commander 
(R.38,43). 

. 
About 2100 hours .accused returned to the squadron co:rmnand 

post at Mondor!, where were present the executive officer, S-2, S-3 
and two other officers. His face was flushed, his eyes "watery", 
his gait unsteady, his speech thick, "blurred" and incoherent and his 
thoughts "rambling" (Rl.0,16,20,29). His reci'tal of events was 
"irrational•, 11unusualy11 and in conflict with reports and messages 
received at.the command post from troops (Rl.O). He reported that the 
commanding officer and exeeutiTe officer of Troop C were working 
under 'veey dim lights, that h& .instructed them to have more· light 
for him to see, that they were scared and whispering, that he told 
them. to speak up and 11as an example to show them they had no reason 
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to be sea.red", went out to the street and urinated (Rl5). He seemed 
more excited than nonna.l (R29) and vmiske;r 'could be smelled on his 
breath. In the opinion of the executive officer, S-2 and S-J, he 
was drunk and incapable of properly corm:i.a.nding his squadron (Rl0,20, 
29)._ 

At the close of its case the prosecution offered in evidence 
a map of the locality involved, on a scale of 1:25,000, which was ad­
mitted without objection by the def~nse· (R46; Pros.Ex.l). 

4. a. After his rights were fully explained to him (R46), 
accused stated that he wished to remain silent (R1+7). : .. 

b. The only evidence introduced by the defense was a stipu­
lation between accused, defense and prosecution that if Lieutenant 
Colonel IJ.oyd R. Fredendall were·present in court and sworn as a wit­
ness, he would testify as follows: · 

"I cannot definitely recall what d~s I had. 
.contact with Lieutenant Colonel Murtaugh, but 
during the period when his squadron took over 
pa.rt of my battalion sector, during our relief, 
at no time when I saw him did he appear to be 
unfit to CarT'1 on his duties due to drunkenneesn 
(~7). . .. .· ~ 

5. a. Following the arraignment, the defense called to the court 1s 
attention the fact that the dates of the offenses charged in the speci-. 
fications were originally 25 and 26 October, respectively, but were 
changed "the last .minute" (the prosecution stated the changes were 
first made the day before the trial) to 24 and 25 October, respective]Jr, 
and argued surprise. The president. advised the defense that accused 
might request a continuance of the case if he thought he had not been 
given iroper time to prepare. Thereafter the defense stated •nie de!ense, 
at this time,· after consulting with the accused, desires to continue the 
trial and to plead Not Guilt;y to all Charges and Speci!ications• {R6)• 
Mo substantial rights of accused were injured b;y the changes in. the dates 
in the specifications. Even if such changes had not been made, there 
would have been no variance between the times of the or.tenses as alleged 
and the proof that they occurred on 24 and 25 October, as the dates 
alleged were each preceded by the words "dn or about• {ClLE'lQ 1036, 
Harris). In arq- event a ,variance of a single day would not be fatal 
{CY 173620 (1926), Dig. Op. JAG, sec.451(39), p.J25). MoreoTer accused 
waived any objection b;y electing to rroceed with the trial a.nd pleading 
to the general issue (MCf!, 1928, par.64~ p.51). 

b. On the direct examination of the squadron executive 
officer, witness was asked to describe the degree of accused's 
drunkenness nrlth respect to accused's ability to perform. his duties 
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as commanding officer". The defense objected on the ground that the 
witness was not an expert. and that the question was leading. The law 
manber overruled the objection and witness answered to the effect that 
accused was so drunk that he could not properly perform bis duties as 
commanding officer of the squadron (R9). Similar questions were asked 
ea.ch of the other four witnesses and similar replies were made thereto 
(Rl8,20,2S,29,35,38,44). The Manual for Couz:ts-Martial, 1928, specific­
ally provides that. 

"On an issue of drunkenness, admissible testi ­
.mony is not confined to a description of the 
conduct and demeanor of the accused, and the 
testimony of a witness that the accused was 
drunk or was sober is not inadmissible on the 
~ound that it is an expression of opinion" 
(par.145, p.160). . 

The ¥anual provides similarly that "on matters within the common 
observation and experience of men, a witness may express an opinion; 
e.g., * * * as to whether or not a certaih person was drunk at a 
certain time" (par.ll2E,, p.lll). The testimony called for by the 
questions and contained in the answer.a thereto relat~d primarily to 
the degree of accused's drunkenness. Certainly this was a legitimate 
field of inquiry, as the prosecution had the burden of proving that 
accused's intoxication was "sufficient sensibly to impair the ration­
al and full exercise of the.mental and physical .faculties" at the 
times in question (MCLI, 1928, par.145, p.160). If accused were in­
capable of properly performing his duties as.s~uadron commander, such 
.fact certainly was probative of impairment of "the rational and full 
exercise of his mental and physical .faculties". The reasons which 
render admissible opinion testimony of nonexpert witnesses as to the 
factum of drunkenness apply with equal force to their testimony as to the 
degree of drunkennesi. In each case the ri tness "gives a composite 
statement or shorthand rendering of collective .facts", vbich facts 
he cannot adequately reproduce, describe and detail to the jury or 
court-martial. {see 16 CJ, sec.1532, pp.747-749, and authorities 
cited in CM ETO 3200, Price). It does not appear improper .for the 
prosecution to direct ~tnesses' attention specifically to the 
question of accused~s ability to perform his duties as Commanding 
Officer as one means o.f delimiting their testimony as to the degree 
ot his drunkenness. 

/ 

c. On the direct examination of the Troop Cor.imander.o.f 

Troop C the following colloquy. occurred: 


"Q. 	 Did you observe the enlisted men during the 
time that accused was talking with them? 

A. Yes, sir. 

6684
Q. Did you notice their facial expressions and 
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their actions? 


A.. Yes, sir. 


Q. 	 From those things were you able to arrive 
at what their reactions we~e? 

A. 	 Yes. 

Q. 	 What were they?
A. 	 They were disgusted" (R35). 

?io objection was made to the drawing of the conclusion b;y this wit­
ness that the men were disgusted. Nor was objection made to further ' 
testimoey given by this withess upon exan1nation b;y the court that 
thedisgust was not with what accused said but with the way he said 
it (Rl+l). In the opinion of the Board of·Review, such testimoey was 
not hearsay. and)'ld'nd.ssible in evidence !or such value as the col.lrt . 
might choose to attach to it. Thei.un:lerlying principles are as follows: 

"ln determining Tdlat is a statement of fact, 
.as distinguished from an opinion or a con­
clusion, the' courts sometimes disregard dis­
tinctions which are more metaphysical than 
substantial, and hold admissible a statement 
which, although it may- fall under the head 
of opinions or conclusions, represents such 
a simple and rudimentar;r inference as to be 
practica~ a statement of fact. The imnedi­
ate conclusions of a witness, drawn from what 
he saw and heard, are not rejected as opinion 
evidence. It is not al.ways practical to put 
before the jury all the facts in separate form, 
especi~ as regards a collateral matter; and 
a witness is still testifying to facts and not. 
to opinions or conclusions 'When , instead of 
stating separately certain facts within his 
knowledge, fie gives a composite s~ateme~t or 
shorthand rendering of collective facts• (16 
CJ, sec~l532, p.749). 

"Whenever the opinion of the witness upon such 
.a question, or on one coming under the s$.Dle 
rule, is the direct result of observation 
through his senses, the evidence is admitted.
* * * And although opinions, as derived, ma.y­
sometimes be erroneous, yet they are not gener­
a~ so, and when carefully weighed are s u.f.ti­
ciently reliable for practical use in the , , 
ordinary- affairs of life. The witness does 
not unnecessarily substitute his judgment !or 
that of the tribunal.n (25 AIB, 137!, State ·v. , 
Williams, 67 N.C. 12). (Quoted-with approval 6584in CM ETO 3200, Price, pp.15-16). 
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6. a. Extended discussion is not required to demonstrate 

that the evidence herein clearly establishes that accused, while 

on duty as Commanding Officer, .'.32nd Cavalry Reconnaissance Squad­

ron, in the vicinity of Mondor!, Luxembourg, on 24 a.~d 25 October 

1944 was found in a state of intoxication which manifestly amount­

ed to drunkenness vdthin the meaning of Article of War 85 (MCM, 

1928, par.l.45, p.160, supra, par 5b). To such effect was the 

unanimous testimony of each of the five officers of his squadron, 

all of vdi.om were eye witnesses. The multiple manifestations of 

his condition, as shown in their consistent and clear version of 

accused's con:iuct, rendered unreasonable any findings other than 

guilty as charged. The Board of Revie-,, is of the opirlion that the 

evidence amply supports the findings of guilty (CM ETO 970, 1!2, 

Cartney; CM-ETO 1065, Stratton; CM ETO 1267, Bailes; CM ETO .'.3.'.301, 

Stohlman; C'...£ ETO .'.3.'.302, ~; CM ETO .'.3.'.304, DeMott; CM ETO .'.3577, 

Teufel; CM ETO .'.3714, ~·inalen; CUETO .'.3725, ~; CY ETO .'.3966, ~; 

CM ETO 4181+, Heil; CM ETO 4.'.3.'.39, Kizinsld.; CM ETO 4619, ~; CM 

ETO 4808, Jackson; CM E'ro 5010, Glover; CM ETO 5453, Day; CUETO 

5767, Palmer). · 


b. A letter dated 17 November 1944, signed by Major 

Allen W. Byrnes, ~edicaJ. Corps, Division Psychiatrist, and included 

in the record of trial., states that accused was examined on l.'.3 and 

15 UovE1D.ber 1944. Major Byrne9 concluded as follows: 


"a. 	 This officer understood right from wrong, 
and with regard to the offense charged~ he 
could adhere to the right; furthermore, he 
was at the time so far free from mental de­
fect, disease, or derangement as to be able, 
concerning the particular act charged, to 
both distinguish right fro.:n wrong, and to 
adhere to the right. 

b. 	 He· is sane and mentally responsible for the 
act conunitted. 

c. 	 The accused is sufficiently sane to intelli ­
gently conduct or cooperate in his defense". 

The 	report attached to the letter contains the following: 

"Hallucinations and delusions were denied, as 
.. were ideas of reference. The nature of his 
statements cannot be characterized as indicative 
of a persecutory trend. Orientation was norma.l 
in all spheres. There are no positive find­
ings iresent, indicative of organic neurological 
disease". 

6684 
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In view of the foregoing, the following concluding para­
graph of the report is insignificant (C!: CM Ero 5747, Harrison, 
and authorities therein cited): ' 

"The diagnosis of alcoholism, chronic, is made 
on the basis of the e~ation completed, and 
information obtained from those who have lmown 
the officer for a period of years, or served 
with him". 

7. Attached to the record of trial is a letter dated 
13 December 1944 addressed to the Commaneing General, European 
Theater of Operations (Attention: Theater Judge Advocate) and 
signed by accused. The letter represents that accused, due to 
circumstances beyond his control, was a!forded insui'ficient oppor­
tunity for proper pr~paration of his defense· on the. following 
grounds: 

a. The regularly appointed defense co\.insel (who contacted 
accused five days before trial) had no civilian law 
experience and practiced only before Division Courts. 

Whatever legitimate object:iortiaccused might have had to the 
qualifications of defense counsel were_ waived by his statement at the 
trial that he desired to be defended by ".Reguhrly appointed defense 
counsel" (R3). There is no indication in the record that accused was 
not adequately defended at the trial. Cross-examination of prosecution 
witnesses was :i:;ertinent and vigorous and counsel demonstrated alertness 
throughout the trial. 

b. Accused applied for the services of two more 
experienced officers, but approximately one day 
before trial was informed that they were declared 
unavailable. Defense cotmsel and accused had 
little or no time to prepare the case because of 
awaiting advice of requested officers. Defense 
counsel was busy with other duties during this 
time. ' 

See comments under "a" supra. Accused had ample opportunity 
during the five days preceding trial to prepare his defense and the 
fact that he chose not to avail himself of the opportunity car.not help
him.· . 

c. The Investigating Officer completed the investigation 
without contacting certain witnesses named by accused. 

Such objection is without merit in view of the established 
rule that the investigation required by the 70th Article of War is an 
administrative proceeding intended primaTily for the benefit o~ the 

f")'-':-l~,1-;-i i. ·6584 
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appointing and referrine authority. Irregularities therein neither 

affect the jurisdiction of th;; court nor do they ordinarily prejudice 

the rights of accused at the trial (CU 229477, Floyd, 17 :S.R. 149; 

C'.! ETO lo6, ~; C.J ETO 4570, Hawkins). (See paragraph 8 infra with 

respect to the inunateriality of tte statements of the two witnesses 

received after the trial. One of the reqt:ested witnesses was evi­

. dently the squadron executive officEr, v;hom defense counsel cross­
examined at length). 

d. If reply had been obtained from two witnesses 
req_uested by accused, it is indicated, the follow­
ing could have been established: 

(1) The tactical <im: ad.rninistrative employ­
ment of the squadron vras fot;.nd correct by the 
new comm.anding officer (accused's successor). 

Such fact could have no bearing upon accused's offenses 

of drunkenness on duty at the times CJ.nd places alleged. · 


(2) The ni. tnesses, upon 'Whose te::;tfa1ony (en­
tirely opinion) the case was based, were me.in­

'bers 	of a group who had n:uch cause to resent 
accused 1 s co.::J;·and position, anci. who might 
misinterpret accused's actions, as he was in 
action before, but this was their first ex­
perience. 

Hith respect to the above imputations, it is highly signifi ­
cant that accused offered no evidence whatever upon the issue of his 
drunkenness. The record shows that the witnesses' testirr:ony was not 
confined to opinions but gave abundait factual details as to accused's 
gait, speech, mental reactions and :Jhysical appearance, which v.·ere 
consistent only with drunker.ness. I'.0thing in the letter indicates that 
accused was denied sufficient op;iortunity to prepare his defense or that 
there were any facts which he could have presented material thereto. · 

e. (The matter of the change of dates in the specifications 

has teen discussed, par.5a, supra). 


8. 	 Also attached to the record of trial are the following: 

a. 	 Affidavit of the squadron executive officer, 
verified 19 November 1944, to the effect that 
the mental attitude of the personnel of accused's 
squadron fron JuJJr to Septanber 19.'.J.i. was one of 
confusion, and listing factors. contributing to 
this attitude; and 

b. 	 ,;:..ffidavi t of accused's successor as Coi!ma.nding 
Officer of ttc squadron, verified 17 November 
1944, that, in his opinion, the combat effi ­
ciency of the squadron on or about 28 October 6584 
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1944 and when affiant took com·;,a.nd was satis­
factory, bu_t that such rating could ho.ve been 
higher bad certain personnel and administrative 
matters ..been given proper supervision and 
attention. 

That the above affiants were the officers re~uested by accused as 
witnesses is indicated in tis letter of 13 December 1944. The 
utter immateriality of their affidavits to the issue of accused's 
guilt_ &s charged confirms the conclusion that accused's substantial 
rights were not injured by the failure to contact them prior to 
trial. Moreover, defense counsel elicited from the executive officer 
on cross-examination that, in his opinion, confusion existed in the 
squadron ct the time accused assumed command (Rl4). 

9. The. charge sheet shows that accused is 42 years of age and 

the following as to his service: 


"Commissioned 2nd Lt, A.S. RA, 12 June 1924; 
.trfd to Inf. lS Dec 25; trfd to Cav 23 Apr 27; 
1st Lt 20 Dec 29; Capt 1 Aug 35; F.A. 8 Feb 36 
to 14.Feb 38; Maj 12 Jun 41; Maj AUS 31 Jan 21; 
accepted 6 Feb 41; Lt Col AUS 1 Feb 42; termi­
nated Lt Col AUS 25 May 43; 'Lt Col AUS 16 Oct 44"• 

10. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction o! the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the· substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Boa.rd of 
Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

11. A sentence of dismissal from the service is mandatory upon 
conviction of a violation of Article of War .85 • 

... 

( /'.~~/t~r;_._.,,..,_~_,_~_.-_~_~_._·--·-~___ 
'~ 

_______ff_fr Judge Advocate 

.fduuh;L (, ~_);Judge Advocate 

6584 
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cmmorn11~L 

lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office ot The3Ju~e Adt°cate General With the 

European Theater of Operations. . 1 f tlS \94-;,. 'ro: · Commanding 

General, European Theater or Operations·, A.PO 887 I u.s. Army.' 


1. In the case of Lieutenant Colonel JOHN O. MURTAUGH (0-15$44..), 
32nd Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron, Mechanized, attention is inviteci 
to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the 'findings of guilty ard the sentence, 
which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of 
War 50i, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompe.Ilied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CY ETO 6684. For con­
vmience of reference please place that number ~ brackets at the end 

. o! the order:: (Cl! ETO 6684). 
"I"··. 

~- .· , . 
·...-,..:----~------____...~· 

~~:·,~-~~:· : ~ .. ~. . 

I 
'',. 

·~~ ·:; ---··· c~--~. c~-~eil, "7..-,-: 
B...,r:t.gadier General, United States ~, 

tssistant Judge Advocate General. 

( Sentence ordered executed. GCK> 4·7J ETO, 18 Feb1945~) 
. ' 

~ONnornT_l~L 
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Branch Ot!ice of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Tb.eater of Opera1;iona 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEA'f NO. 2 10 MAR 1945 
.CM ETO 6685 

UNITED STATES ) NORMANDY BASE SF.CTION, COMMUNICATIONS 

J ·zoNE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPERATIONS 


v. 
Trial by GCM, convened near St. Marie 

Private CURTISS E. BURTON Du l!ont, (France), 27 October 1944. 
(34741034), Compaey C, . Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
1310th Engineer General total forfeitures and confinement at 
Service Regiment hard labor for life. United States . 

·Penitentiar;r, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania.I 
HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 


VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


. 1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 

ll&8 been examined by ·the Board of Review, and the Boai"cl of Review 

nbldts this, its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General 


..	in charge of the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 

2. .Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifi ­

cations: 
 . 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. • ' 
. 

' 
Specification: In that 

. 
Private Curtiss E. Burton,. 

Com.pall1' C, 1310th Engineer General Service 
Regiment, did, at St Nicpolu de Pierre 'P:>nt, 
Manche, France, on or a.bout 29 August 1944, 
forcibly and feloniousJ.7, against her will, 
have carna.l. knowledge of one Mlle. .clemence 
Basneville. .' 

CHARGE II: (Disapproved b7 reviewing authorit;r) 
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Specification: (Disapproved by reviewing authority), . 
CHARGE III: Violation of the 93rd Article of War•• 

·Specification: In that * * * did, at St. Kicholas 
de Pierre Pont, Manche, Fra.nQe,·on or about 29 
August 1944, in the nighttime, feloniously and 
burglariously break and enter the dwelling 
house of M. Francois Noel, with intent to com­
mit a felony, viz: rape therein. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members of the court pre­
sent at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilt7 ' 
or the Specification, Charge III, except the words "rape therein" 
substituting therefor the words, "assault with intent to do 
bodily harm", of the excepted words, not guilty, of the substitu­
ted.words, guilty-, and guilty of the remaining charges and specifi ­
cations. Evidence was introduced ot one previous conviction by­
special court-martial for unlawful.17·· carrying a concealed weapon 
and drunk and disorderly conduct in violation of Article of War 96•. 
All of the members present at the time the vote was ~aken concurring, 
he was sentenced to be hang84 __ by the -~~clcuntil .Jiead.... The reviewing 
authorit7, the Commanding General, Normandy Base Section, Conmunications 
Zone, European Theater of Operations, disapproved the findings as to 
Charge II and its Specification, approved the sentence, and forwarded 
the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 48. The 
confirming authority, the Commanding General, European Theater of· 
Operations, approved only so much of the· findings of guilty of the 
Specification of Charge III and Charge III as involved a finding 
that accused did at the time and place alleged wrongfully break and 
enter the dwelling house of M. Francois Noel, in violation of Article _ 
of War 96, confirmed the sentence, but owing to special circumstances 
in this case commuted the sentence to dishonorable discharge, total 
forfeitures, and confinement at hard labor for life, designated the 
United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as. the place ot 
confinement and vd thheld the. order. directing execution of the sentence 
pursuant to ¥ticl~ o~ War 50!. ' 

3. The evidence for the prosecution mAy be· summarized as 

follows: / 


At about 1900 hour~ on 28 August 1944, accused and Private 
Arthur L. Ellis, a meJUber of his compazl1' left their bivouac area, se­
cured some calvados a portion of which they con5'l!lled during the course 
of the evening, and :returned to the area some time between 0100 and 
0200 hours on 29 August (R?). Ellis testified that, although he knew 
the location of the village of St. Nicholas de Pierre Pont, (France), 
he and accused had not been there during the time they were -away from 

r,.'°''·"":Z,..[•t"T"r t I1It; . t •. · . _- ~ ' • 6585• 

http:unlawful.17


(155) 


their company area (RS). The geographical location of St. Nicholas 
de Pierre Pont with relation to accused's-bivouac '8.rea is not dis­
closed by the record. Shortly after the two men returned to their 
camp, accused again left the area in a jeep (Rl.0,11). He was wear­
ing his helmet liner at the time of }?is departure (RS,12). 

Early in the morning of 29 August, a ·soldier knocked at 
the back door of the house of M. Francois Noel in the village of 
St. Nicholas de Pierre Pont, who told the soldier to leave but, 
although the record is not clear on the point due in part to the 
difficulties attendant upon testifying through an interpreter, it 
appears that despite M. Noel's admonition 'the soldier nonetheless entered 
the house by breaking through a window. He was armed with a club some 
two and one hal! feet long with which he struck M. Noel on the head. 
The soldier blew out a lamp but ma.de no search throughout the house 
and departed some five minutes after he entered. M. Noel was not able 
to identify the soldier involved. At a.bout 0200 hours, a soldier 
a.gain entered the house. This time he went into a room of the house 
where Y. Noel's daughter, 1tarie, had bidden herself (Rl3-15)t but 
finding no one, came out of the room and left the house (Rl6J. 
Another daughter, Barnadette, 12 years of age, testified that two 
lights were burning in the house at this time 'by the light of which • 
she was able to see the soldier in question. This soldier, who had 
been at the Noel home on four or five previous occasions, was identi ­
fied by Bernadette both at a pre-trial identification parade and in 
court as the accused (Rl6,17). . 

At about 0230 hours on 29 August 1944, a soldier broke 
into the house of M. Ernest Basneville, Who lived in the village 
of St. Nicholas de Pierre Pont some 200 meters from the Noel house. 
The soldier was already in the house when Y. Basneville awoke but, 
when he 11 came it * * wiU:i a candle11 , the soldier departed. M. 
Basneville then went to the door to see if the soldier had departed 
permanently, whereupon the soldier, who had been hiding behind the 
door, struck him with a stick or club some two and one-half feet 
in length. M. Basneville then 11went into the house and held the 
door" (RlS,19). The soldier pushed the door open whereupon M. 
Basneville went into the bedchamber, again "held the door", and 
told his family and his 68 year old aunt, :Mlle. Clemence Basruiville, 
to leave the house (RlS,26). His wife and children ma.de their 
escape through a window and went to the home of a neighbor but his 
aunt Wio was either the la.st or next to last to leave, stayed in 
the ~arden near the house (RlS,22,26). She was clad only in her 
nightgown at the time (Rl9,26). She was foun~ in the.garden by 
the soldier who then "took her by the head, hit her w:i.th the stick 
and then dragged her in back of the house" (Rl9). :u:. Basneville 
attempted to go to her aid but as he "received a hit from the 
piece of wood on my shoulder", he went t¢ seek assistance of the 
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the name Eward Curtis Burton and c.he number 131314336 ~s identified 
by M. Basneville as.the helmet which he found on .the night in ques­
tion (R20). This helmet was als~ identified by Ellis as a helmet 
belonging to accused and worn by him at the time they le.f't camp 
together the night of 28 August (R32). , 

Accused was examined by Captain Robert s. Ginsberg, Medical 
Corps, on the morning of 29 August 1944. He was found to have two 
minor lacerations about two inches in length on his scalp and also 
a number of linear scratches extending along the left side of his 
lower jaw which were 11 just superficial scratches like fingernailstt 
(R28,JO). Captain Ginsberg also examined Ml.le. Basneville, appar­
ently oh the same morning, and his examination revealed that 

11 she had a number of bruises on her body. She 
.had a hemorrhage on her left eye apparently 
caused by a blow and some scratches on the 
lateral portion of her face, forehead, also 
some scratches, marks and bruises on her left 
thigh. In addition, she had some clotted 
blood around the orifice of her vagina and a 
small laceration of the posterior portion of 
the vagina * * * Laceration existed on the inside 
of the labia majora, which are the outer lips 
of the vag~a. They were between the labia 
minora anti the labia majora" (R28,29,Jl). 

5. It was shown by stipulation that accused ms.de and signed 
a pre-trial statement, and the prosecution offered such statement 
in evidence pursuant to such stipulation (RJ2). The.defense objected 
to its introduction apparently on the ground that it was a confession 
and that, although the statement embodying the confession contained . 
a preliminary recital that accused was advised that he had the right 
to remain silent and that anything he migh.t say could be used against 
him, his intelligence was not sufficiently high to enable him fully 
to understand the significance of signing the statement with· the 
result that, under the circumstances, the confession was not volun­
tarily made. In support of his assertion that accused was of low 
intelligence, the defense counsel introduced into evidence a report 
of examination into the mental status of the accused dated 4 Sept­
ember 1944 and signed by Major Brandt F. Steele, Medical Corps, 
which recites that accused's intellectual power was "well below 
par, and determination of his mental age by Kent Test and vocabu­
l&rT gives a mental age of approximately 8 years (moron level)~. 
The report also recited that accused was sane and responsible for hie 
acts within the limits of his low intelligence. However, despite 
the objections of the defense oounsel, the accused 1s pre-trial state­
ment was admitted into evidence. In vin of the·low intelligence 
of the accused and the fact that no w:i.tnesses were called to testi ­
fy with respect to the manner 1n which the statement was secured, 

.this matter being left to stipulation, some question may exist 

whether the statement was properly admitted. However, as will 
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neighbors (Rl8). Mlle. Basneville testified that the soldier then 
forced her to walk to a field some 200 "111eters from the house and 
"It is there that he raped me" (R27). She did not attempt to push 
him away (R27). Her testimoey, as translated, is somewhat vague 
concerning the specific acts of the soldier at this time. At one 
time she replied in the negative to the question "Did he enter you 
with his penis"• However, she later testified that the soldier 
had se:xual intercourse wi thher and also replied in the affirmative 
when asked whether the soldier had 11 come inside" her. She "hollered" 
at least once during this time. Then the cur~ cw and "delivered 
me" (R27). . 

In the meantime, M. Basneville had gone some 200 meters 
rlistant to a neighbor, M. Charles Scelles, where he enlisted his 

I •aid and that of the cure, and together the three returned to ll. 
Ba.sneville 1s house (RlS,22,~). When they could not find .Mlle. 
Basneville .there,. they began to search for her "along the small 
road" (R22). After proceeding up the road some 200 meters the7 
came upon the soldier and Mlle. Basneville and, as M. Basneville 
testified, "my aunt was in her nightgown and I could see very well 
that the soldier was on top of her and she, my aunt, was hollering" 
(R20). M. Scelles testified that as they approached the scene he 
saw the soldier, whose pants were down and whose "back" was exposed, 
atop Mlle. Basneville 11 in the act of raping her" (R22,2.3). The 
soldier arose whereupon the cur~ struck him on the head with a 
club. The soldier then seized the cure by the throat at which ll. 
Scelles gave the soldier "a few hits on the head" with a pitchfork

Ihandle. The soldier then engaged M. Scelles but, with the cure's 
aid, he was beaten off. Altogether the soldier was struck "pe~ 
haps a.dozen times" on the head and shoulders and ultimately he fell 
to the ground. He was left there and Ml.le. Basneville then was 
taken to the house (R221 23). At or about this time M. Scelles 
heard her say, "I think that he killed me11 (R25). She was "dizzy-• 
and·"was not very much herself" since "she had been knocked about-
before" (RlS,25). · ' 

M. Scelles testified that the incidents concernip,g which 
he had testified took place shortly before dawn and that it was not 
light enough at the time to enable him later to recognize or identi ­
fy the soldier in question,(R24). M. Basneville also testified 
that, due to the darkness, he had not been able to see the soldier 
well enough to permit subsequent recognition (Rl9). Nor was Ml.le. 
B&aneville able to identify the soldier in question (R.27). 

After the soldier had been beaten to the ground and 
· immediately prior to the time Mlle. Basneville was escorted back 
to the house, ll. Basneville found at the scene of the attack a 
helmet liner which he retained and later turned over to the military 
authorities (RlS,19). A helmet liner marked with a starand·bearing 
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hereinafter more fUlly be developed, the Board of Review is of . 
the opinion that-the record contains compelling evidence of 
accused's guilt aside from and without reference to accused's 
statement. In this view of the case, even if the statement 
was erroneously admitted and cannot be considered, the sub­
stantial rights of the accused were not injuriously affected 
by its ad.mission and the record is nonetheless legally suffi­
cient "to support the findings and sentence. Under this analysis, 
it becomes unnecessary to pass upon the question above mentioned. 
Rather, it will be assumed for present purposes that the statement 
was a confession and was involuntary, and the matters contained 
the rein will be excluded in passing upon the lega;J.. sufficiency 
of the record of trial. The matters set forth in such statement 
will therefore not be recited here. It should be pointed out that 
this treatment of the case does not necessarily constitute an 
expression of the Board as' to the admissibility of the statement. 

5. After having been advised of his rights as a witness, 
accused elected to remain silent, and no evidence was introduced 
in his behalf. 

6. Accused was found guilty of· the offense of ~ape in 
violation of Article of War 92 and of the offense of wrongfully 
breaking and entering a dwelling house in violation of Article of· 
War 96. 

Rape is the unlawful carnal knowledge of a woman by 
force and without her consent. In order to sustain a conviction. 
for this offense it must be shown (a) that the accused had carnal 
knowledge of a certain female, as alleged, and (b) that the act 
was done by force and without her consent (MCM, 1928, par.148!?,, P• 
165). The evidence i.B clear that a colored soldier had carnal 
knowledge of the prosecutrix on "14e night alleged. Penetration 
was sufficiently shown (CM 236464, Bull, JAG, Vol.II, No.8, sec.450, 
p.310). However, neither the victim nor the two witnesses who 
most strongly corroborated her story were able to identify accused 
as the soldier in question. Nonetheless, accused was shown to have 
been in the general neighborhood shortly before the offense occurred, 
on the morning following the events described he was found to have 
scratches on his face and lacerations on his head consistent with 
those which normally would have resulted from the blows dealt the 
unidentified soldier on the previous evening, and his helmet liner 
was found at the scene of the "incident. Under these circumstances, 
there can be little doubt that accused was the perpetrator of the 
act alleged and his identity as the actor in the crime is satisfac­
torily established. 

With respect to the questions whether the act was done by 
force and without the con.sent of the victim it will be noted that 
the victim did not expressly testify that she resisted accused to 

6585 




(l.59) 

the best of her ability, that her resistance was overcome by force 
or fear, or tha.t.,she did not consent to the intercourse. However, 
the following circumstances were shown. The victim, who was 68 
years of age, was aroused in the early hours of the morning a.nd 
told by her nephew, who was then holding the door of the bedchamber 
in an attempt to prevent the entrance of an intruder, to nee from 
the house. Clad only in her nig):ltgown, she 'took rei'uge in the 
gar~en. She was there seized by her assailant and struck on the 
head with a club. When her. nephew attempted to come to her aid 
he was forcibly beaten off. One of the witnesses testified that 
the victim was "hollering" at the time he appeared. at the scene 
of the attack and found the soldier atop her. During her testi­
mony, she stated that accused "raped" her and the·use of this 
word, althQugh of course not conclusive upon the court, neverthe­
less may be taken as one indication of lack of consent. She also 
referred to her rescue as an act of deliverance. She was "dizzy" 
and "not very much herself" after the incident. A medical exam­
inatl.on subsequent to the attack revealed that she had numerous 
bruises on her body, a hermorrhage on her left eye, scratches on 
her face and horehead, scratches and bruises on her left thigh, a 
small laceration of the posterior portion of the vagina and lacer­
ations between the labia minora and the labia majora~ In view of 
all these circumstances, force and lack of consent were amply shown 
(Cf: CM 227809, Bull.JAG, Vol.I, No.7, sec.450(9), p.363). The 
record thus contains.. compelling evidence to prove al1 elements of 
the offense alleged. 

There is also compelling evidence of record to establish 
the commission of the offense alleged in the Specification, Charge 
III, as approved by the confirming authority. 

A mere shcqdng that an accused is of low intelligence 
does not relieve him from legal responsibility for his offense 
unless such mental deficiencies are so pronounced to render him 
unable to distinguish right from wrong and to adhere to the right 
(Mo.t, 1928, par.78,i, p.63; CM ETO 739, Maprell; Cf: CM 221640, 
Loper, 1942, 13 B.R.195). There was here no showing that accused 
was not legally responsible for the offenses committed. 

7. The charge' sheet shows that accused is 2l years of age 
and was inducted, without prior service, on 16 February 1943. 

8. The court wa'S legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the 
substantial rig):lts of accused were committed during the trial. The 
aoard of Review is of the opinion taa.t the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

-7-, 
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9. The punishment for the offense of rape is death or 
life imprisonment (AW 92). The designation of the United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of 
confinement is proper (AV/ 42; Cir.229, WD, 8,June, 1944, sec.II, 
pars.1Jl(4), JJ2.). 

·c&1-1vva~~1.(.~~_______________Judge Advocate 

~ Judge Advocate 

~~~ JU<ige Advocate 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Oµ;irations.10 MAR 1945 TO: Command­
ing General, European Theater of Operations, Afl9 8~, U.S. Arrtr:f. 

l. In the case of Private CURTISS E. BURTON (.347410.34), 

Company c, 1310th Engineer General Service Regiment, attention 

is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that 

the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the find­

. ings of guilty and the sentence, which ·holding is hereby approv­
ed. Under the provisions of Article of War 5~, you now have 
authority to order execution of the sentence. 

· 2. When copies of the published order are fonra.rded to 

this office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding 

and this indorsement. The file number of the record in this 

office is CM ETO 6685. For convenience of reference, please 

place that number in brackets at the end of the order: (CM ETO 

66Sr;). 


lfo/J,,~. 
J ..£.C. McNEIL, . 

Brigadier General, United States IJil.V 
Assistant Judge Advocate General.: ' ­

( Sentence as commuted ordere4 executed. GC:MO 791 ET01 19 Mar 1945) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the . 
European Theater of bperations 

APO 887 

BOARD OF m;vnr.-r NO. 1 
1-0 M~R 1945 

CU E'TO 6694 

UNITED STATES) 5TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. - Trial· by GCM, ·convened at Metz, 

l~ France~ 30 November 1944, Sentence: 
First Lieutenant HOi'TARD S. ) Dismissal, total forfeitures and 
WARNCX:a: ( 0-1306499), confinement at hard labor for ten 
11th Infantry . years. Eastern Branch, United 

States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW' NO. 1 

RITER, SmR!Wl" and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above has 
been examined by the_ Board of Revie'l"T and· the Board submits this, its 
holding, to· the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge or the Branch 
Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater ot Opera­
tions. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specit'ications: 

CHARGE I: _Violation of the 75th Article of War. 

Specification l: In that" 1st Lieutenant· Howard S~ 
Warnock, ~.llth Infantry, did,· in the vicinity 
of Arry.-, France, on or about 4 November 1944, 
while before the enemy, by his disobedience 
endan~er the safety of Company c~·11th Infan­
try Regiment, which it.was his duty to defend, 
in thB.t he did refuse to obey an order given 
him by Captain Forrest P. Raley, Company C, 
llth Infantry, to send a patrol·to rega.in·con­
·tact with an outpost of his, 'the said Lieutenant 
Warnock's platoon. · 

- l ­
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Specification 2: In that * * * did, in the vicinity 
of A:rry, France, on or about 4 Nove~ber 1944, 
while before the enemy, by his neglect endanger 
the safety of Cornpa....·1y C, 11th Infantry Regiment, 
which it Y!aS his duty to defend, in th.6.t he 
failed and neglected to send a patrol to regain 
contact vrith an outpost of his, the said , • 
Lieutenant '.7<.rnocl: 1s platoon after wire communi­
cation v;ith said outpost had been broken. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 64th Article of ITar. 

Specification: In that * * * having received a law­
ful command from Captain Forrest P. Raley, his 
superior officer, to send a patrol to regain 
contact with an outpost of his,· the said 
Lieutenant Warnock's platoon, did, in the 
vicinity of Arr;, France, on or about 
4 November 1944, wilfull~r 0.j,sobey the same. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of.the ~embers of the court present 
at the time the vote ~as taken concurring, was found guilty of the charges 
and their respective specifications. Ifo evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced. Two-thirds of the members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dismissed the 
service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to 
be confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may 
direct, for ten years. The reviewing authority, the Conunanding General, 
5th Infantry Division, approved the sentence and fonvarded the record of 
trial for action under Article of ~7ar 1.iE. The confirming authority, the 
Commanding General, European Theater of Operations, confirmed the sen­
tence, designated the Ea.stern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of cpnfinement, and withheld the order 
directing execution of t~e sentence pursuant to .Article of Har 50-1-· 

3. Prosecutio~'s evidence proved the following facts: 

On 1 November 1944 Company C, 11th Infantry, with other units 
of the 5th Infantry Division relieved the 95th Infantry Division from 
combat duty and assumed a defensive position about 3500 yards northeast 
of Arry, France (R6,31). The town of Vezon, occupied by the enemy, was 
on the right flanl: of the company (RB,25). The Bois de Gaumont, on the 
left of ·the company and the woods on the compan:''s front were held by 
detachments of the 38th SS '(Geriila.n) Regiment (R8). There were no forts 
facing the company, but the Verdun fortifications were active and it was 
believed that fire from the~ fell on the division's position (RlO). 

Its first platoon was on the right flank of Company C, and on 
· the left of the first platoon were its other platoons (B.25). The 
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position of the first platoon was in the shape of a horseshoe. The 
first squad of the platoon was on the extreme right of the company with 
a heaV"J machine gun section on its left between it and the second squad 
(RJO). The company was the forr;ard company. of the battalion and occu­
pied the crest and forward slope of a hill. The nearest friendly troops 
were.1,000 yards to its rear (R25). · 

The battalion maintained four· outposts, two of which were 
im.nned and operated by the first platoon of Company C. The company 
numbered the outposts from right to left (R7,8). They were under the 
direct control of the platoon coMrnander (R7,12,13,34). Outpost #1 was 
located 250 or JOO yards in front of the first squad and the heavy 
ma.chine gun section (RJ0-31). It ·,"ias on the edge of a wooded area with 
open ground sloping from it for several hundred yards before other growth 
and trees were encountered. T!le distance between the first platoon's 
command post and the company command post was about 400 yards (Rl2). 
The outposts were the only protective force between t'i:iecompa.ny' s main 
positio~ and the enemy (RlO,ll). 

"The outpost was out in front of the lines there 
to delay the enemy. They were more or less 
our eyes and ears. They bad no orders to 
withdraw at any time. * * * they would never 
withdraw unless they were ordered to" (R43). 

An intercomnrunicating sound power telephonic network existed 
between the battalion command poat, the compan.v comirand post, the platoon 
co!lll'lla.Ild :posts, the four outposts, the light and heavy machine gun sec­
tions and the mortar section (R7,3l). The system perl:litted each installa­
tion not. only to colllll!U!licate with battalion headquarters but also to com­
municate among themselves. Any conversation between two installations 
could be heard by listeners at all installations (R.14,26). In the event 
tele~honic communications failed, rurmers were used as messa~e carriers 
(RlJ). Between the firat platoon command post and outpost #1 there was 
a trail which.was the only effective means of passage between the same. 
Barbed wire entanglements had been laid through the woods in the pro:x:l.mity 
of the outpost and these prevented the use of routes of travel to and from 
the outpost other than the trail (Rl.7,43). 

Captain Forrest P. Raley was the commanding officer of Company C 
on 1 November 1944 and he continued in such command until 27 November 1944. 
Accused was commander of the first platoon of Com;iany C on 1-5 November 
1944 and had been in command of the same since 12 August 1944 (R5). First 
Lieutenant Gordon V. Gorski on 4-5 November.was executive officer of the 
company (B.44,45). Technical Sergeant Malloy M. Swindle was the second 
in co!lll'la.nd·of the first platoon and on the night of 4-5 November operated 
the telephone apparatus at the platoon command post. He was charged 
with the duty of comr.runicating with each platoon outpost at intervals of 
JO minutes (R30) and at equivalent intervals he was required to notify 
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the company commander by telephone of their status and condition (R14), 
Staff Sergeant Roy N. Hughes was at that time platoon guide (RJ8,50). 

Early in the morning of 2 November 1944 after the relief of the 
95th Division had been effected and outpost #1 had been manned by per­
sonnel from the first platoon, the enen:cr attacked the outpost with an 
estimated force of 50 men. The outpost was then located in the exact 
position it occupied on the night of 4-5 November. As a result of this 
attack all of the outpost personnel were captured by the enemy (Rll,12, 
39). Accused reported this attack and loss promptl~r to Captain Rale~r. 
On the morning after the raid the company conunander and accused made an 
inspection of the outposts. In the course of the inspection discussion 
was had as to the removal of outpost #1 to a location where it would be 
better concealed, The two officers also considered the idea of placing 
''booby trapsn in the numerous forest trails which led to the outpost and 
which were used by the enen:c' in attacking .it. 

"If it took relocation Lof the outposy to im­
prove the camouf'lage then it vrould have to be 
moved, if it couldn't be done othel'\Vise, yes, 
sir" (RlJ) • . 

On 1 November the first platoon when it moved into the defen­
sive position numbered 32 men. It lost four men as a result of the 
capture of the outpost .and two men were wounded. On the night of 4-5 
November its total membership was therefore 26 men. These included six 
men from the third platoon and four Men from the second platoon, who had 
been assigned to strengthen the first platoon. At the time the company 
reached the defensive position on 1 November, each of its thTee platoons 
was of about equal strength. The headquarters detachment consisted of 
twenty men (Rl3). 

The platoon's defensive position was at a "dug in area". It 
did not consist of foxholes but a series of connecting trenches for each 
squad (Rl4) • 

ttThe procedure was to have about half the men 
alert and half resting at all times. During 
the day· it was only required in each squad area 
that a couple of men be alert and in the posi­
tions and the rest vrould rest--during daylight" 
(R14). 

During the forepart of the night of 4-5 November the accused; 
acting by and through Technical Sergeaf.t Swindle, made the half-hourly 
telephone calls to the outposts to ascer.tain their situation and condi­
tion (R31). Accused likewise made the same periodic reports to the 
company commander (Rl5). Four men from the first platoon were sta­
tioned at outpost #1 (R31). Shortly after midnight on 4-5 November 
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19.44 the discharge of shots was heard in the vicinity of outpost #1 (R9, 

15). 


11 It was sporadic firing from their machine gun, 
the German machine gun. By that I mean a 
short burst, very long intervil between bursts 
and not lastin~ over an hour to the best of rny 
knowledge (Rl5). 

Swindle immediately attempted to colllMWlicate with.the outpost by tele­

phone, but failed to secure an answer to his call. He then called 

outpost #2 and received information that it experienced no enemy activity. 

He then resumed his effort to comnrunicate with outpost #1. Finally a 

faint "OP one" came over the wire, and that was the only reply received 


'by Swindle. Thereafter silence greeted his efforts to establish com­
munication rlth the outpost. He ·called the company command post and 
informed Captain Raley that he could not establish contact with outpost 
#1. He thereupon handed the telephone apparatus to accused (R31,J2), 
who reported to Captain Raley that 11the wire was out between his CP and 
the #1 outpost". The company commander repeated the ir.formation to 
the battalion comr1ander with the statement "that we are sending a patrol 

· to rnake contact wit,h the outpost because the wire col1ll'!l.Utlcation was out 11 

(R9,16). The battalion commander ordered Captain Raley on three or 
four occasions that night to send out patrols in order to establish 
contact \'rith outpost #1 (Rl8). As a l,'.esult of his conversation with . 
the battalion commander, Captain Reley spoke to accused over the tele­
phone and informed him that 

"A patrol must be sent to the outpost to make 
contact 11 (R9) • 

Accused replied that the patrol would be started (R9). 

Consequential upon the loss of the personnel at,outpost #1 on 
the night of 1-2 November, a regimental order was issued prior to 4 Novem­
ber to the effect that whenever communication was lost with an outpost, a 
patrol should be immediately dispatched to reestablish communication with 
it. It was the duty of accused to send a patrol to outpost #1 ~hen wire 
communication with it ceased, without any order from the company commander. 
It was also good military practice for acc119ed to send a patrol under such 

.-Oircu.~stances even in the absence of either a re~irnental order or a special 
order from the company com&.nder to that effect (Rl8,27). 

Sometime after the accused was ordered to send a patrol, the 

battalion cornrnander by telephone asked Captain Raley if a patrol had been 

organized and dispatched to outpost #1, and the latter made inquiry of 

accused whether a patrol had departed. Accused assured the company 

commander that such was the case. The company corJ:lB.!lder informed the 

battalion commander accordingl~r (R,39). About thirty minutes after 
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~ telephonic communication wit~ outpost #1 ceased (R36) and pursuant to 
'the order of the company commander, Sergeants Swindle and Hughes were 
selected by accused as 'a patrol and he sent them to establish cormnunica­
tion with outpost #1. -The patrol proceeded along the lone trail lead­
ing to the outpost.' Tihen it reached a point 75 or 100 yards from the 

· outpost it vras fired upon. The shots ·seemed to come from the direction 
of the front and flanks of the outpost and_s~t~ed the whole area over 
vrhich the patrol passed. In particular, sho s 'veredirect:ea~e 
trail or pathway, The shots ca.me from enemy machine guns. The 
patrol could not proceed on its mission snawas forced to nithdravr to 
the platoon co~d post (R32,38,.42). 

An hour after questioning accused the second time, or at about 
0230 hours, Captain Raley telephoned accused and asked him if he had 
heard from his patrol. The accused replied that he bad sent Sergeants 
Swindle and Hughes to ma}-..e contact with the outpost; that when they 
attempted to proceed over the trail or pathway from the platoon command 
post to the outpost they were !!pinned" to the ground by Gerll'.an machine 
gun fire and were compelled to return. Thereupon the company commander 
ordered•hiin to send out another patrol to which accused replied, "I am 
sorry, Captain, but I can't". Captain Raley repeated his order, "You 
must send one inII!tediately",and accused responded: 

"I will have to -refuse~ I can't afford to , 
lose two more good men. 

* - * * 
If the OP is all right, we vTill find it out at 
dawn.- ·rr the OP has-been knocked out or cap­
tured or taken prisoners, it is just risking 
two more men's lives-to serur them down there 
under the fire that they have been receiving 
down there" (Rl0,.3.3). 

Accused further indicated to Captain Raley ... 
"that Lsinr;;i/ the two men couldn't make it that 
he was asking to wait until things died down" 
(R20). . 

The company comrrander clearly understood from hie conversation 'r.itb ac­
cused that because of the experience of the Swindle-Hughes patrol, he 
(accused) was asking to delay sending another patrol for a short time 
until enemy .fire ~lessened so that a pati·ol vrould have a better oppor­
tunity to complete'its mission (R20). Captain Raley repeated hie, 
order: 

''You will have to send somebody out there. 
~here is even yourself if you don't have 
anyone else" (RlO). . 
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However, accused was not·ordered to perform the mission himself. The 
following colloquy then occurred between the two men: 

Accused: 111 am so!TY, but I will have to 
refuse". 

Raley "Do you mean to s~ that you are 
refusing?" 

Accused:' 11Yes 11 {RlO). 

Captain Raley asked accused the second time if' he were refusing the order 
and again accused replied in the affirmative. Thereupon the former re­
ported the situation to the battalion com::1ander, '!'Tho directed that accused 
report to the battalion command·post innnediately {RlO). 

The company commander transmitted the order of the battalion 
commander to accused, who responded in effect: 

"Jesus Christ, is that what they arc goiD.g 
to do now?" (R21). 

Accused reported to the battalion col!lT!lander. Upon orders Gf Captain 
Raley, Lieutenant Gorsld. assumed command of the first platoon at about 
0400 hours on 5 November {R25,.44). The new platoon commander organized 
a.patrol consisting of Sergeant Gordon and Private Lia.thew A. Carey and 
at about ~hours (estimated time) sent it forward to contact outpost
#1 {R45,4, • The patrol met with no enemy resistance (R26,47). 
It discovered that the telephone wire to the outpost had been torn up 
at a point beginning 25 yards from it (R48), that one of the members of 
the outpost had been killed and that the other three members had dis- . 
appeared (R47). The patrol completed its mission, returned to the 
platoon command post and reported to Lieutenant Gorski within thirty 
minutes (R45). Four hours elapsed between the time Captain Raley gave 
the first order to dispatch the patrol and the time the Gordon-Carey 
patrol departed (R26,27). 

· At approximately 0500 hours on the morning of 5 November (esti­
mated time), Captain Rsley received report of the loss of the outpost for 
the second time. During the day the location of the. outpost 'vas moved 
about fif'ty yards nearer the ma.in battle position of the company (R25). 

4. The defense presented the following evidence: 

a. The following named witnesses for the prosecution, with 
consent of the court and prosecution, testified upon cross-eY..a.mination 
as follows: 

Captain Forrest P.·Raley, the commander of Company C, was of 
the opinion that the company's safety, security, and mission were not 
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impeded or endangered in the event a patrol was not dispatched immed­

iately (R22,28) 


''because I had contact with my min battle 
positions, and they hadn't been touched or 
penetrated or shot at" (R22). 

With respect to accused's c:-:.a.racter or reputation, Captain 

Raley testified: 


"The accused was an excellent platoon leader 
while under my co1Tll'1and which was· all during 
our combat. He de~onstrated good judgment, 
knowledge of men, a.nd proved himself to be 
disciplined" (P..24,). 

The witness was willing to have accuseC! again under his command as a 

junior officer because he felt he was cor.ipetent to perform his duties 

(R25). 


First Lieutenant Gordon V. Gorski, as executive o~ficer of 
the company, considered accused as a valuable "asset to the company" (B.46). 
With respect to his reliability the ·dtness testified that accused vras 

11Reliabl~ enough for me that if he said some­
thing i would take his word for it. * * * I 
would want him as an officer if I had a com­
pany" (B.46). . 

Private First Class ?!iathevr J.... Carey, Company C, 11th Infantry, 

had been a messenger for the first platoon since accused v:as assigned to 

the comparzy" and had the opportunity to observe accused's conduct and 

activities as a platoon leader in combat. His conduct was excellent. 


"He wouldn't have his men do anything he 
wouldn't do, * * * He required that theiz; 
all respect him, * * * They Lhis order.§/ 
were all followed out" (R49). 

b,· The defense ~resented the followinc ~n.tnesses who testified 

in substance as follows: 


Staff Sergeant Roy •:r:* Hughes, Company C, 11th Infantry, the 

guide of the first platoon, was on the ni~ht of 4-5 November 1944 in a, 

fox.~ole about ten feet from accused (R50). At about 0230 orQ'.300 hours 

on 5 November, •·Fitness and Serceant Si'Tindle were ordered by accused to 

go on a patrol to contact outpost fi!l (P.51), The patrol' proceeded on 

its mission and when it reached about 75 yards from the outpost it re­

ceived heav:• automatic fire i'rot.l the er.eny. Hughes and S\'Tindle followed 
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the trail ·to the outpost because therE' '"ere barbed wire entanglements 
between the platoon cof'lI'.land post anC the outpost, and they contained but 
one opening tbroucl1 Tihich the· trail passed. The fire came from the 
direction of the outpost and was directed at the patrol (R52,5J). 
Because of the fire it 1ms impossible for the patrol to continue to the 
outpost. Hughes and Swindle vrere "pinned" to the ground and were com­
pelled to crawl part of the v:ay in returning to the platoon command post . 
. (R52). 

The ene~r fire had commenced prior to the time the patrol de­
parted, continued during the period it was on its attempted mission and 
'for about 30 minutes aft.er its return. ·Fire hac' ceased by t:1e time 
Carey left on the patrol at daybrealc (R53). 

Witness left the United States·VTith the first platoon and had 
been in Company C about thirty months. He testified as to accused's 
attitude toward the enlisted men of his platoon, as fo11ows: 

"It seemed to me that Lieutenant rar:nock was all 
the time wa~ting to take care of his men and do 
the best by them he could. Vlanted to see that 
every ~~n was treated alike" .(R52). ­

First Lieutenant Thomas P. Sheridan; Company D, 11th Infantry, 
was on the night of 4-5 November cornmanding a platoon of Company D which 
was attached to Company C in support of Hill #361. He had his platoon 
command post to the right of Cor.:pa~· C (R54). At about 0200 hours on 
5 November the mtness was awakened by small-arms fire. He went to 
the heav:r machine gun section which had sound pov;er telephonic cormec­
tions with the platoons of Company C and also with that co!::pany'i: command 
post. He ordered fire from the 81 mil.limeter mortar in the direction 
from which the fire seemed to be corning. It was enemy machine gun and 
rifle fire and '1'7as apparently directed from behind outpost #1 and to 
the right flank.· When he called over the telephone line to order 
mortar fire he heard a conversation between Captain Raley and accused. 
Captain Raley asked accused if he ba.d contact with outpost /tl and he 
replied in the· negative. Accused whistled through the telephone in 
order to establish conmrunication rlth the outpost. He was unsuccess­
ful (R55). Thirty or fo~ty-five minutes later Captain Raley, by tele­
phone, directed the accused to send a patrol to contact the outpost. 
There wa~ then spasmodic enemy .machine gun'and rifle fire. Accused 
asked if he could wait awhile until the firing cleared up but the com­
pany cor.una.nder directed accused to send a patrol and then informed 
witness that ac.cui;;ec'. rras dispatci1inz the patrol. Vlitness issued orders 
to his machine eunners not to fire at any figui·es passing before them 
because it might be the patrol. Twenty mihutes later there was small-· 
arms fire from the flank. Listening on the telephone, the '1'7itness 
heard accused inform Captain Raley that the patrol had been compelled 
to rdurn because of this small.:.arms fire. In the meantime accused 
was at~empting to establish telephonic comr.runication with the outpost (R56). 
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About an hour- later while the intercI1ange of !'ire between 
witness' rnachin"e guns and tke enemy small arms continued, witness heard 
the companY com.11.ander over the telephone direct accused to dispatch 
another natrol. Accused asked his com"ia.nder whether he 'could have more 
time bef~re he sen~ another patrol to the outpost (Captain Raley r.as at 
this time also speaking to the battalion col'lr1ancer). In response to 
accused's request for more time, Captain Raley informed 

11Lieutenant Warnock that another patrol v10uld 
have to be sent out right awa.y 11 (R56). 

There'then followed the following interchange between the company com­
mander and the accused: 

Warnock: "I am sorry, Captain, I can't send 
one down now". 

Raley 11Sure enought do you mean that? 11 

Warnock: 111iihile the firing is still going on 
we can't send another patrol out" 
(R56). 

Over the telephone witness heard Captain Raley order accused to report 
to the company comnand post iJ'!lr'!ediately. ~itness showed accused a 
route via a· trench to :r:eturn to the company comna.nd post. This was 
between 0300 and 0330 hours (R57). 

In the conversation with accused Captain Raley displayed some 
impatience. He insisted that a patrol be dispatched immediately "and 
he kept repeating this; that a patrol be sent out to contact the outpost 
immediately" (R57). · Accused repeated several times 

"that he would send a patrol out as soon as 
the fir!ng ceased. That he didn't ti1ink a 
patrol could reach the outpost v:ith the small 
arms fire going on11 {R58). 

About an hour after accused had reported to the company command post 
two Germans were captured by witness' men at the far end of the platoon's 
trench "between us and the outpost" (R57). 

First Lieutenant !Jorris W. Stanley, qompany c, 11th Infantry, 
was on the night of 4~5 November 19.44 leader of the· ~econd platoon of 
Company C. The positions of the platoons of the company on said night 
were as follows: second·on the' left, third in the center and the first 
on the right {R58,59). The second platoon yras connected v!ith the inter­
comnrunicating telephonic netv1ork. He ov8r~eard a telephonic conversa­
tion between Captain Raley and accused on the above-r.:entioned night. 
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Accused informed the company coMmander that Sergeants Swindle and 
Hughes had returned from a patrol. Asked if they reached the outpost, 
accused replied, 11No, they got stopped by enemy .fire" (R59). 

11And Captain Raley then said,_ 'You wiJ.l. have to 
send another patrol out and make contact with 
that outpost.' Lieutenant ·,1arnock said it \7as 
silly to send--these aren't his exact words. 
I can't remem'l?er the eXa.ct words. * * * He 
gave his reasons that if the outpost was there 
with all the men safe they wouldn't accomplish 
anything by sending a patrol out. And if they 
weren't they still couldn't accomplish anything. 
They could find out just as well at dawn. He 

· said the patrol of Germans that came in three. 
· or four nights previously pad picked out a 
certain time before daylight and he thought it 
was around 4:30 or 5:00 o'clock. And he stated 
that he would wait until then and send a patrol 
out then;- that they could get dorm to the out­
post. And the Captain said that a patrol 
would have to go right dovm then, He said, 
'You have to get a patrol out there.' .I don't 
remember if. he said 'right then'. There was a 
pause at different times in the conversations. 
They were firing. Ten or fi.fteen minutes 
pauses. ·* * * And the Captain did say that he 
would have to send a patrol out, and Lieutenant 
~a.rnock said, 'I can't do it. 1 And finally 
the Captain said, 'Is that it?' And Lieutenant 
~arnock said, 'lam afraid it is, Captain"' (R59,
60). ' 

Captain Forrest P. Raley was -recalled as a witness for the 
defense. The examination of the witness was based on certain facts dis­
closed by papers and documents accompanying the· record of trial. In 
order that the issuei;i raised during the course of the examination of the 
witness may be understood, it is necess~· to summarize these facts as 
they appear de hors the trial record. 

(1) The charge sheet is dated 8 November 1944. Captain Raley 
signed the same as accuser and verified the same on 14 November 1944, 
before Elbert L, dooper, Captain, 11th Infantry, Adjutant. The original 
charge preferred by Captain Raley a..~d which appeared above his signature 
~rai:: as follows : 

"CHARGE I: Violation of the 75th Article of Viar. 
Speci.fication: In that First Lieutenant Howard 

S. Warnock, 11th Infantry, did, in the 
vicinity of Arry, France, on or about the 
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night of 4-5 November 1944, misbehave him­
self before the enemy,- by refusing to obey 
an order from Captain Forrest P. Raley, 
11th Infantry, then his company coTllJllander, 
to send a patrol to contact an outpost in 
position between his platoon and the enemy". 

(2) On 15 November 1944 the cll.B.rge wa9 referred by the command­
ing officer, 11th Infant!"'J, to Major John t'!. Acuff, 11th Infantry, for 
investigation under the 7oth Article of i7ar. On 24 Noveober 1944 the 
investigating officer.returned his report of investigation to the com­
manding officer, 11th Infantry, with recommendation that accuaed be tried 
by general court-martial. The only statement of eX'~ected te$timony of 
witnesses which accompanied the re~ort was a 1.'.Titten signed statement of 
Captain Raley which had been for'.'.'a.l'.ded by Captain Raley at the time he 
forwarded the charges to the comnanding.officer, llt~ Infantry (8 Novem­
ber). Captain Raley's statement was as follows: 

"'On the night of 4-5 November 1944, 1st Lt 
17arnoc}-:: '\':'8.S the platoon leader of the 1st Pla­
toon, Company 11 0 11 11th Infantry. His platoon 
had two outposts and had wire communication to 
them. Shortly after midnight the wire communi­
cation went out and I instructed 1st Lt ilarnock 
to send.a patrol to regain contact with his 
right•outpost. In the meantime I notified the 
Battalion Commander that the wire was out and 
that a patrol was being sent. Af'tera lapse 
of about a half hour time I checked with 1st 
Lt Warnock to see if he had ma.de contact. 
He ea.id that he hadn't but was sending the 
platoon sergeant· and platoon guide. During 
this time a burst of machine gun fire was heard 
from our guns, About an hour later I asked 
let Lt i7arnock again if he had made contact. 
He. said that the two men he had sent got up the 
trail a little way, had met enemy fire and had 
returned back to their platoon OP. I instructed 
him that contact must be made and he said that he 
was afraid he would have to refuse. I repeated 
rrrJ orders and he again rei'used, saying that he 
couldn't lose two eood men by sending them out. 
I asked him if he understood the situation and 
if he insisted on refusing. He refused. I 
then notified the Battalion Col:\r.lander and he 
told me to send let Lt :; arnock back to the 
Battalion CP iMrnediately. 1st Lt Vlarnock was 
sent back. lst Lt Gorski assumed coMMa.nd of 
the first platoon, sent a patrol out and round 
that the outpost had been captured by the enerey 111 , 
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(3) On 27 November 1944 the Staff Judge Advocate, 5th Infan.tr,y. 
Division, forwarded his written report and recommenda.tion·tothe Com.:..­
manding General~ 5th Infantry Division. In para.graph 5 thereof', after 
summarizing Captain Raley's expected testimony, the Staf'f' Judge Advocate 
continued in part: . ' / · 

"A preposterous state of affairs is shown and 
one which could not be allowed to continue. 
It is imperative that the accused be brought to · 
trial. ·The original' specification under/Article 
of War 75 bas been rewritten, and another. one .. 
added. Also a charge under Article- of' War 64 
has been added. - It is not customary to ma.ke 
one act-the subject.of' several charges 8.Dd ­
specifications._ :aut-here a prima. f'acie-case 
or a very serioua'natilre'ha.s"been inade out,-and 
it iS not known just what the evidence -may show 
in.detail. "The same.act-~ constitute-misbe­
havior before the· enellly as welr as violation ·c;r· . 
another Article of' War (CM 130018 (1919), ·Digest. 
of' Opinions 3.A.G~ par-"28 (5))~ A-conviction 
under-both articles·or war would not place the 
aceused-twice·in jeopardy f'or the same offense. 
The offense should, however~- be considered as 
a· single of'f'ense in f'ixi~ the appropriate pun;. 
ishment (CM 2'.30222, (1943) Bull JAG; Mareh 1943, 
'page· 96; CM 25277:3, Bull JAG, August 1944, page · 
:344-5) It. . ­
.. .. . . - .. . ...• . . - . 

·(4)-The charge sheet in its corrected f'orm showed that the 
original · charge wa·s b;r use of'· red ink lined out and initialed "UHRn:. 
The charges and specifications as appear in paragraph 2 thereof' were 
substituted and· they bear thB initials in red· ink of' "U'HR"~ "The a.f'f'i­
davit was altered by cancelling in red ink the phrase· "of the Charge 
and the Charge" which original.ly-f'ollowed the clause "that he-bas per­
sonal knowledge of the matters set"forth in specification" ·and in lieu 
thereof' the phrase "l and 2 of Charge I and Charge I and the· specifica­
tion ot Charge II, and Charge II" was substituted. These alterations 
were initialed in red ink by "UBR". 

(5) Included in the accompahying papers is the following 
document a ,, 

"HEA.DQU.um.:BS 5TH INF.A.NTRY DIVISION 
MEM)RANDUM CARRIER SHEET. · · · -- · - · 

27 Nov -1944- --- · 
SubJect: .CC>Urt;;.martial charges ih the case cf lst 

_ · Lieutenant·Howard .S • Warnock~ 01 306 499, 
11th Infantry. · 

Jj, to C of S. · . " 
· -- · - - For. approval of' recommeildations .in par ·5; 6 5 9 .£ 

attached memo:·· E. s. H. - - ·· · ·. 
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C of S to CG~ 

_,,,,_G_e~n_e~r~al_,.....~approval 

Dongban£7 
. linii/ POF 

P. 	 O. F. 

CG to JA. 
General Llonghan£7 · 

/;igneQ;7 S LeRoy Irwin 
S • LEROY IRWIN, 

r.2..j or General, U. S. ;.rnry, 
CorJ.rianding" 

(6) The amended charges were referred for trial for the Com­
manding General, 5th Infantry Division, by indorsementon 28 Hovember 
1944 and '7ere' served on accused on the same date. (At the trial the 
defense ai'firmatively indicated ~t had had time to prepare its defense 
and was ready to proceed to trial (Rl-2)). 

Upon· direct eY'8Xlination after Captain Raley had stated he was 
the accuser, the following colloquy occurred: 

11 Q. 	 I nant to show you the charges and specifi ­
cations under which the accused is presently 
being tried and ask you ii' those are the 
charges and specifications of which you ac­
cused the defendant? 

A. 	 These are not the charges I signed. When 
I signed the charge sheet it had this speci­
fication, the one that has been crossed out 
with red ink. 

Q, 	 Of vrhat did you accuse Lieutenant Warnock? 
A. 	 Of refusing to obey an order. 

Q. 	Did you at any time accuse Lieutenant Warnock 
of enclang8ring the safety of the company by 
his disobedience or neglect? 

A. 	 No, I did not accuse .him of that" (R61). 

Upon cross-eYa~ination, Captain F.:aley stated: . 
11The purpose 'or the outpost was to give warning 
to the main battle position in case of attack 
and to fight as long as they could and then to 
withdraw to the r..ain battle position" (R62). 
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He further asserted that the company would have been better defended had 
the outpost been maintained (R61). 

Upon re-direct examination of Captain Raley, defense counsel 
asked him: 

"Q. 	 In accusing Lieutenant 1'!a.rnock did you ac­
cuse him that his disobedience or neglect 
to send a patrol out to estab~ish contact 
endangered the com~any and do you accuse 
him of that?" (R62). 

Upon objection by the prosecution, the President and Law r~ember 
observed: 

•iI 	 am at a loss to understand your intent at 
this time. I do not understand whether it is 
your intent now to in effect make a plea in bar 
of trial on the score that the charges a.re not 
properly drawn or whether it is your intent to 
bring it out in evidence that the charges a.re 
not justified by the facts. I am not clear 
about your intent at all. I'd like to have 
that made clear to the court before you go 
aheadn (R62). · 

Argument ensued between the trial judge advocate and defense counsel as 
to the propriety and legality of the question propounded the witness dur­
ing the course of which defense counsel asserted: 

"I wish to bring before the court the fact that 
he was not accused initially as is set forth at 
the present time" (R6J). 

Thereupon the Law Member asked for the charge sheet.and inspected same 
(R6J). Further a.r~ent ensued during the course of which defense counsel 
asserted: 

"I am not challenging the validity of the speci­
fications. · It is charged in there * * * that 
he endangered the safety of the company * * * 
which to rrry mind goes to the gist of the 
offenses--as charged there" (R64). 

The 	Law Member responded: 

•11 1 believe I have it straight in my own mind 
based largely upon the statement of the counsel 
for defense~ It is apparently not his intention 
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to challenge the validity of the charges but to 
question the evidence supporting certain words, 
na.l!lely the word 'endanger' being in the speci­
fications, is that correct? 11 (R64), 

. 	 . 

to which defense c.ounselresponded, "That is correct" (R64). Upon receiv­
ing permission of the court to proceed, defense counsel then propounded 
this question: · 

11 Q. 	 Being company colllI'lander at this time and 
knowing the facts--the enemy action which 
apparently was developing and being charged 
with the mission of holding that line you 
were on and developing it, what was your 
opinion as to whether or not the safety of 
your company was endangered by the accused's 
alleged disobedience or neglect to send out 
a patrol to regain contact with that outpost?" 
(R64). 

Again the trial judge advocate objected because 

'~le do not have to be bound by the decision of· 
the company corrr:ia.nder as to what his opinion or 
what.his thoughts or what his feelings are on 
the subject" (R65). 

The 	Lavi Member over!'11ed the objection with the comment: · 

"There is probably considerable substance in your 
argument. Nevertheless it is desired to give 
the defense all latitude in conducting its case. 
And this company commander was on the ground and 
he is an experienced officer, and his opinion 
may haye value to the court" (R65). 

Captain Raley's ·answer was: 

"The safety of the company was not endangered by 
the enemy by his actions, ~e safety of.the 
co in so r s disci line oes·, his ac­
tions did endanger the company" Underscoring 
supplied) (R65). 

On re-cross examination of Captain Raley, the following interchange 
occurred between him and the tri~ judge advocate: 
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"Q. 	 And why was it necessary for the patrol to 
maintain cor,itact with that outpost? Do you 
want this court to believe that you would 
send men.out. there just to be shot at without 
any purpose? 

A. 	 The purpose of my desiring to send a patrol 
is because my orders were that a patrol would 
be sent. Having comnmnication ~ith all 
other elements of t11e company I lmew the 
situation well enough to know that the com­
pany was not endangered by the firing going 
on, on the right front. 

Q. 	 Was the outpost that you had out there doing 
any good as a defensive means for protecting 
your organization?

A. 	 Yes, it '!'l'as to g~ve warning of enemy approach­
ing" (R65~66). 

c. After an explanation of his rights, accused elected to re­
main silent (R66-67). · 

5. Notwithstanding the i'act that defense counsel particularly dis­
avowed his intention to question the legality of the charges and specifi ­
cations upon which accused was arraigned and tried, the Board of Review 
believes it.desirable to cor.nent u~on the pre-trial pr~ctice in this 
case. There is no question as to the legal~ty of the action of the 
Sta.ff Judge Advocate in eliminatine the original charge and substituting 
in lieu thereof the charges and specifications of vrhich accused was found 
guilty. Neither was there any necessity for a further investigation of 

·the 	substituted charges and specifications. Captain Raley 1 s statement 
(prepared by him at the time he forwarded the charges to his regimental 
commander) was before the Staff Jt1dge Advocate. It briefly and cogently 
stated the facts of this unfortunate episode in which accused and the· 
company commander were the principal actors. It is exceedingly doubtful 
if a further investigati.on would have revealed any additional facts 
material or relevant to the controversy except as may have been corrobora­
tive of Captain Ra.ley 1 s assertions. Under such circumstances, a supple­
mental investigation would.have been an idle gesture. The legality of 
the practice followed by the Staff Judge Ad~ocate in this instance is 
supported by CM 172002, Ni~kerson; CM 206697, Brown; CH 2-:8477, Floyd, 
17 B.R. 149; C1! ETO 106, Orbon; Clif ETO 4570, Hawkins; er.: ETC 5155, 
Carroll and D1Elia. 

The foregoing holdings support the conclusion that violations 
of the provisions of the 7Qth Article of r.ar do not affect the jurisdic­
tion of the court, and except under extraordinary or unusual circumstances 
do not constitute error prejudicial to the substantial rights of accused. 
This conception of the 70th Article of '\'far views the requirements thereof 
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as administrative in nature ar-d of immediate concern to the authority 
1lolding genetal. court-martial jurisdiction.. Liany of the provisions 
are intended for his benefit in order to enable him to act fairly and 
intelligently upon the charges. Other requirer.:ents of the . .Article are 
for the benefit of the accused and are intended to protect him against 
·unwarranted or malicious prosecution of unfounded charges. It is the 
duty and function of the authority referrine the charges for trial to 
insist that there be reasonable compliance in good faith 11ith this 
Article of ~1a:r in ~reparing and investigating tN.e charges. Usually 
the requirements of the 70th Article of 7ar do not concern the court 
after reference of the charges to it for trial. The action of the 
appointing and referring· authority is binding upon the court in respect 
to such matters (CM ETO 4570, Hawkins, supra; CH ETO 5155, Carroll and 
D 1 ~1ia, supra). 

Although compliance with the requirements of the 70th Article 
of ~7ar under the foregoing interpretation of the Article is a matter oi' 
primary responsibility of the officer empowered to appoint general 
courts-martial, the Board of Review believes that it may with propriety 
eA"'Press dts apprehension and concern over the practice by staff judge 
advocates of inserting new charges on a charge sheet without affording 
opportunity to the accuser of either confirming or disaffirming his 
signature and oath to the original charge sheet. While the practice 
was legally permissible under the circumstances of the instant case, 
Captain Raley' s reaction \7hen his attention was attracted to the altera­
tions of and additions to the charge sheet is fairly indicative of the 
attitude of most men when written matter has been placed over their • 
signatures without.their knowledge and consent. In the Army, where an 
officer's signature is given the greatest of credence and faith, it is 
particularly desirable that an accuser be fully informed as to substan­
tial changes in the charge which he has supported by his signature and 
oath~ and be afforded the opportunity of withdrawing his name as accuser 
or of confirming the alterations and changes made in the charges. 

The following ~omment of the Board of Review in ~he Floird case, 
supra, is quoted with approval: 

"It may be noted that the appellate jurisdic.:. 
tion granted to the Board of Revie1v by Article 
of War 50~ relates entirely to the 'record of 
trial 1 and on its face is not concerned· i7ith 
extraneous matters of procedure. However, the 
conclusions of the Board are not based on this 
ground 11 (17 B.R. J,/+9,156). 

6. The 75t~1 Article of Wa:r in pertinent part reads as follows: 

11.A.ny officer or sold:j.er who, before the enemy, 
mhbehaves himself, runs away, or shame.fully 
abandons or delivers up or by a:ry miscond.uct, 
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disobedience; or neglect endancers tl1e safety 
·of any fort, post, ca.mp, guard, or other com­
rra.nd '.":hich it is his duty to defend * * * 
shall suffer deat:1 or such other puni..shment 
as a court-martial may direct". 

The legislative history of the Article is set forth in cg ETO 1226, r.:mr. 
By reference to said holding, it will be seen that the Article in its 
present form is the result of various legislative changes effected by 
Congress from time to time. Several of the plu-ases contained therein 
arc o:L ancient origin and have become words of legal art. The word 
"misbehaviorn in particular has attained a particularized meaning. 
Vlinthrop 1 ::i coPll'lents are relevant: 

11This offence may consist in:-­
1. Such acts by a cmnmanding officer, as-­
* -x- ·X- refusing, when directed by a competent 
superior * * * to execute a movement or per­
form a service adverse, or nith relation to, 
the enemy ~hen in his front or neighborhood.· 

* * * Misbehaviour before the enemy is often charged 
as 'Cowardice;' but cowardice is simply one· 
form of the offence, which, though not unfre­
quently the result of ·pusillanim.ity or fear, 
may also be induced by a treasonable, disloyal, 
or insubordinate spirit~ or may be the result 
of negligence or inefficiency. An officer or 
soldier '\':ho· culpably fails to do his whole duty 
before the enemy will be equally chargeable 
with the offence as if he had deliberately 
proved recreant. 

* * * The act or acts, in the doing, not doing, or 
allowing.of which consists the offence, must 
be conscious and voluntary on the part of the 
offenderu- (Winthrop's Military Law and Prece­
dents - Reprint, pp.622-623). 

·· S12ecification l, Charge I 

A comparison of the allegations of Specification 1 with the 
Article lll(l.kes it manifest that the pleader intended that the allegations 
of the former should allege an offense under the following portion of 
the latter: 

"Any officer * * * who, before the eneny * * * 
by any * * * diqobedience * * * endangers the 
safety of any * * * command which it is his 
duty to defend". 
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Does such intention of the draftsman confine the prosecution to proof 

of an offense under said clause of the Article ii' the Specification con­

tains allegations of fact which constitute offenses under some other 

clause or provision of the statute? The principle governing such 

situation is announced thus: 


11We l!Dlst look to the indictment itself, and 
if it properly charges an offense under the 
laws of the·United States that iS sufficient 
to sustain it, although the representative of 
the United States r:ay have sup~osed tbat the 
offense charged ~as covered by a different 
statute" (Williams v. United States, 168 U.S. 
382, 42. L.Ed., 509,512). 

"* * ii· the statute on ''1hich an indictment is 
found is deter:'llinable, as amatter of law, 
from the facts charged, and they !!lay bring 
the offense charged 1·1ithin an existing statute, 
although the sa..~e is not mentioned, and the 
indictment is brought under another statute 11 

(Vedin v. United States, 257 Fed. 550,551). 

As ftU'ther upholding this principle see United States v, Nixon, 235 U.S. 
231, 59 L.Ed., 207,209;0 Wechsler v. United States, 158 Fed. 579,583; 
Farley v. United States, 269 Fed\ 721,722. 

As a corollary to the above doctrine it is firmly established 
that: 

"If the pleader omits an essential element, the 
case fails because the pleader cannot shorten 
the law. If he includes all the essential 
elements and more, again the pleader cannot en­
large the law, and the case will be sustained 
and the law vindicated by ignoring the unessen­
tial allegations" (r.~yer v. United States, 258 
Fed. 212,215). 

(See also Fall v. United States, 20) Fed. 547,551; 31 C.J., sec,J06, p.748). 

The rule above set forth was adopted and applied by the Board of 
Review in CM ETO 1109, Armstrong; CM :sTO 1249, Marchetti; OU ETO 2005, 
Williams and Willd.ns. 

The Board of Review in its appellate function has heretofore 

exercised the poYrer to construe and interpret specifications (CM ETO 

llo:), Armstrong, supra; CH.ETC 1~49, Marchetti, supra; CI:! ETO 2608, 

Hughes; c::! ETO 3740, Sanders et al; CM ETO 3803, Gaddis et al). 
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The Specification in the instant case alleged certain specific 
facts with reference to accused's conduct: 

11In that * * * Warnock * * * did * * * while 
before the enenzy- * * * refuse to obey an order 
given him by Captain Forrest P: Raley * * * to 
send a patrol to regain contact with an outpost 
of -t-' * *Warnock's platoon". 

It will be noted that such arrangement of the factual allegations elimi­
nates the following clause of the Specification: 

"* * * by his disobedience endanger the safety 
of Company C * **which it was his duty to 
defend". 

If this latter clause is entirely rejected as surplusage, as may be done 
,{CM !:TO 1249, Marchetti, supra; CI.! ETO 1109, Armstrm:m, supra), allega­
tions of fact remain in the Specification that clearly and positively 
aver that accused refused to obey Captain Raley 1 s order "to execute a 
movement or perform a service adverse, or with relation to, the-enemy 
when in his front or neighborhood 11 • The order required accused "to 
send a patrol to regain contact with an outpost" of his platoon. Tele­
phone connection with the outpost had ceased; firing was heard in its 
direction, 'and the enemy was lmown to be in its proximity. The order 
was therefore obviously one to perform a service with relation to the 
enemy which was kn.mm to be in the platoon's neighborhobd. Accused, 
as platoon comnander, was under duty to obey t~e sane regardless of its 
wisdom or necessity and his refusal to obey it constituted a species of 
misbehavior denounced by the 75th Article of i'lar vrithout proof of the 
consequences of his disobedience. It was his duty to obey and "not to 
reason why11 • The evidence establishe~ beyond all doubt that accused's 

. misconduct occurred before the enemy (Ci·,: ETO 1109, Armstrong, supra.; 
Ct! ETO 1249, Marchetti, supra; er,! ETO 3301, Stohlmann; CM ETO 4783, 
~).. The record of trial is therefore legally sufficient to support 
the findings of guilty of Specification 1, Charge I. 

The Board of Review his elected to consider the question of 
accused's guilt of Specification 1 on the foregoing basis rather than 
on the premise that his disobedience did "endanger the safety of Company 
C * * * which it was his duty to defend". In the state of the evidence 
as revealed by the record ot trial, reasonable minds may well differ on 
the question whether there exists therein substantial evidence that the 
company was in danger or, if endangerment did exist, there was any 
causal connection between the same and accus~d 1 s disobedience. Under 
the theory of the present holding, such highly debatable questions are 
eliminated inasmuch as the order which accused disobeyed had a direct 
tactics.+ relationship with the enemy which was active in the neighbor­
hood of accused's platoon. Under such circumstances the refusal to 
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obey the same constituted mis~ehavior irrespective of the consequences 
resultant upon such cUso1Jedience. Therefore all evidence per7.aining 
to the imperilment of the com;:iany, including Ca:;Jtain Raley's assertion 
that the comr)any had,,not been imperiled by accused 1 s disobedience, should 
have been e:1:cluded as irrelevant. Had accused been arraigned and tried 
upon the Specification 'l'Thich Captain Raley originally verified (and which 
was eliminated rrithout his knowledge), the questions here considered 
would not have arisen. 

Snecification 2, Charge I 

The evidence is clear and decisive that Lieutenant narnock 
willf'ully and knowingly disobeyed Captain Raley' s order. The patrol 
was not dispatched by him for the reason he made a deliberate affirma­
tive choice not to comply with the order. The eleoent of willfulness 
characterized his entire conduct. The findings of guilty of Specifica­
tion l therefore absorbed the elements of failure and neglect (CM 223336 
(1942), I Bull.JAG, pp.159-163) vrhich form the gravamen of Specification 
2. The.record is legally insufficient to support the findings of guilty 
of Specification 2, Charge I. 

7. The evidence is u_~contradicted, clear, and decisive that ac­
cused willfully, knowingly, and deliberately disobeyed the lawful order 
of Captain Raley, his superior officer · · 

"t£ send a patrol to regain contact ~ith 
Loutpost #J}". 

Such conduct is clearly an offense under the 64th Article of War (CH ~O 
2469, Tibi; CM ETD 3078, Bonds et al; Ci.1 ETO 3147, Gayl§.§. et al). 

Congress by Articles of ITar 64 and 75 denounced accused's 
conduct as constituting two separate and distinct offenses. The charge 
under the 75th Article oi; ".'lar required proof of an element not required 
in the proof of the charge under the 64th Article of War; hence accused 
was guilty of comnit ting t\70 offens es and may be convicted of both (CM 
h'TO 4570, Hawkins, su~ra; c;~ ::.:70 5155, Carroll and D'Elia, supra). 
The Board of Review is of the o;;inion that the record of trial is 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty of Charge II and 
its Specification. 

8. The c!w.rge s!leet shows that accused is 26 years three months 

of age. Re e~tered on active duty 1 JanuaI"j 1943. He had no prior 

commissioned service.· 


9. The court i.-:as legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. Except as herein noted, no errors injuriously 
affecting the substantial rights of accuse0 ~ere cormnitted during the 
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' 
trial. The Board.of Review· is of the opinion that the record of trial 
is legally insufficient to support th; findings of guilty of Specifica­
tion 2, Charge I, "El,hd legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty of Specification 1, Charge I, Charge I, Charge II and its Speci­
fication, and the sentence. 

10. Dismissal, total forfeitures, and confinement at baTd labor 
are authorized :Punishments upon conviction of an officer of an offense 
under "!::be 64th or 75th Article of r:-ar. TI1e designation of the Eastern 
Branch, ·united States.Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as 
the place of confinement is proper (Cir.210, 'JD, 14 Sep 1943, sec.VI, 
as amended). · 

. . 
Judge Advocate 

j 

'}rc.f,..;-1~"': C1 ..,.ff.-~.-i.,.-.,,•,.4~ Judge Advocate 

6694 
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let Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Jud~e Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 1U MAR 1945 . TO: Commanding 
General, European Theater of Operations, APO 887, U. S. Army. 

1. In the case of First Lieutenil.nt HOWARD S • WAR.NOOK ( 0-1306499), 
111th Infantry-, attention is i~vited to the foregoing holding by the Board 

of Review that the record of trial is legally insufficient to support 
the findings of guilty of Specification 2, Charge I, and legally suf'fi..: 
cient to support the findings of guilty of Specification 1, Charge I, 
Charge I, Charge II and its Specification, and the sentence, which 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 
5cr}, you now have authority to order execution of the f('mtence. 

2. The conduct of accused in refusing obedience to the company 
commander's order to dispatch a patrol for the purpose of establishing 
contact with the platoon outpost is, as a matter of military discipline, 
indefensible. However, in the light of subsequent events, reasonably­
minded persons may well conclude that accused's judgment under the cir- . 
cumstances was sounder than that of his superiors. There exists a 
definite inference that his disobedience in all probability"saved·the 
lives of some of his soldiers without impairing or affecting the tactical 
position of his company. On this basis, the sentence is difficult to 
defend. I cannot believe that accused or his family will accept the 
punishment imposed without a strenuous effort either to relieve him of 
it entirely or to mitigate it, and I further believe it likely that the 
sentence 1'Till be the subject of immediate attack, both in the civil 
courts and in Congress, upon the arrival of the accused in the United 
States. ·- ·· 

The record is replete 1'1ith proof that accused was a diligent, 
competent platoon comma.n~er whose ability was recognized alike by his 
fellow officers and the enlisted personnel. The company commander 
asserted that accused 

"was an excellent pUtoon J:~der while mder '1Izy' 

commar.d which.was all during our combat. He 
demonstrated•-good judgment, lmol'l'ledge of men, 
and proved himself to be disciplined" (R24). 

Captain Raley furt~er declared that be.would.be glad to have accused 
again under his conum.nd as a junior officer, and that he preferred 
charges against him as a matter of company discipline and not because 
he considered him a coward or because accused's refusal to obey the 
order actually endangered his company. All evidence indicates that ' 
accused is a brave, intelligent, .and experienced officer whose services 
are of value to the Artey. · 
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Accused's conduct exhibits none of the weaknesses as that of 
Second Lieutenant John C. Rooney ( 0-1016120), 3.3rd Armored Hegiment (CM 
ETO 8CY78), whose sentence of dismissal (based also on an offense under 
the 75th Article of War) was suspended (GCMO 60, 25 February 1945, European 
Theater of· Operations). I refer also to the case of Captain Richard E •. 
Stover ( 0-440621), Company B, 702nd Tank Battalion (CH ETO 5476), whose 
sentence of dismissal, total forfeitures, and confinement at bard labor· 
for ten years was suspended. (GCMO 142, 16 December 1944, European Theater 
of Operations). A comparison of the conduct of Lieutenant '\'iarnock and 
Captain Stover reveals a close verisimilitude. Both officers deliber­
ately violated orders of superior authority, with k..l'lowledge of the import 
of their acts and of the penalty therefor because they conscientiously 
believed such violation would result in the saving of lives of American 
soldiers without in any respect frustrating or impairing the military 
activity of their commands. In neither case did the officer consider 
his own convenience or safety and there is no element of·cowardice in 
the conduct of either of them. Rather the disobedience of each officer 
indicates he possessed more than the usual amount of moral courage in 
assuming the risk of his conduct. The Rooney and Stover cases dernon­
.	strate that a precedent exists for the e:xercise of clemency in such 
cases. 

For the reasons above set forth, I suggest that further con­
sideration be given to tqe desirability of suspending the execution of 
accused's sentence. 

J. '\'Then copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file mu::iber of the ·record in this office is CM ETO 6694. For oon­
venience of reference please place that number in brackets at the end'of 

the orders (Cid ETO 6694). ~~tee( 

E. C. McNEIL, 
Brigadier 	General, United states Army, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

( Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 75, ETC, 18 March 1945.) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European '!beater of Operations 
APO 887 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SI.EEPER 1 Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and found legally sufficient 
to support the sentence. 

2. Housebreaking is unlawfully entering another's building 
with intent to commit a criminal offense therein. The intent alleged 
in the SPecification, Charge II, and established by the evidence with 
reference thereto, was to commit the criminal offense of misapplication 
of Government property, denounced by .Article of War 94. Penitentiary 
confinement is authorized f;or the offense of housebreaking (AW 42; 
District of Columbia Code, sec.22-1801(6155)). The designation of 
the unii;ed States penhentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, is proper 
(AW 42; Cir.229, wn, 8 June 1944, see.II, pars.1~{4), .3!?)• 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 2 

CM ETO 6706 

UNITED STA.TES 	 ) 
) 

v. 	 ) 
) 

private EDWARD SESI.mt sr. ) 
(34797132), 596th port com­ ) 
pany, Transportation Corps. 	 ) 

) 
) 
) 

17 FEB 1945 

UNITED KINGDOM BASE, COMMIJNICATIONS 
ZONE, EOROPEAN THEATER OF OPERATIONS 

Trial by GCM, convened at 7th Port 
Headquarters (England), 29 December 
1944· Sentences Dishonorable dis­
charge, total forfeitures and 	con­
finement at hard labor f.or five 
years. United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

. - . 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
_ with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

9 MAR 1945BOARD OF REVIEW ID. 2 

CM E'ID 6745 

UNITED STATES ) 79TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

. v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at Pfaffenhofen, _ 
) Bas-Rhin, France, 30 December 1944. 

Private First Class ROBERT ) • Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, total 
E. ATCHISON (35227315), forfeitures and confinement at hard 
Headquarters Company; Third ~ labor for life. Eastern Branch, United 
Battalion, 313th Infantry States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 

» 
 New York. · 


HOIDING by BOARD OF REvm1 NO. 2 

VAN. BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has ·been examined by the Board of Review• 

2. Accused trJ-ed upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 75th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class Robert E. 
Atchison, Headquarters Company, Third Battalion, 
313th Infantry, did at St Martin La Garenne, Seine­
et-Oise, France, on or about 28 Atigust 1944 while 
before the enemy, by his misconduct endanger the 
safety of his command, which it was his duty to 
defend, in that while on outpost duty, he did 
shamefully abandon his post.' 
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He pleaded .rx>t guilty and, two -thirds of the members of the court 
present when the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the 
Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. Three-fourths of .the members of the court pr~sent 
when the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to oe dishon­
orably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due and to be confined at hard labor, at such 
place as the reviewing authority may direct, for the term of his 
natural life. The reviewing authority ap~rovea the sentence, 
designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement and forwarded 
the record of trial for action pursuant to the provisions of Article 
of War 50i. 

J. The evidence for the prosecution shows that on 28 August 
1944 accused was attached to Headquarters Company, Third Battalion, 
313th Infantry Regiment, and that, together with two other soldiers 
of this organization, he was detailed as a member of an outpost 
security guard while his organization was stationed in the vicinity 
of St. Martin La Garenne, Seine-et-Oise, France (R6,7,9,19,12). 
He was taken tohis post, instructed in his duties and told not to 
leave it until he was properly relieved. One of the men was 
directed to stand guard while the other two were permitted to sleep 
or otherwise rest at the outpost. They were permitted to-leave 
the outpost only to eat or to go to the latrine. In case of an 
alert, the guard 11was to release one of the others who in turn alerted 
the battalion" (R7). Accused was informed of reports of enemy infil­
tration across the Seine River and by reason of this fact the guard 
was instructed to be especially alert and watchful (R7,8,9,lO). At 
this time the Battalion Headquarters was located on the outskirts of 
St. Martin about three or four miles north of the Seine and accused's 
guard was situated on_the right flank of the command post (R7,9). 
The enemy line was approximately three-quarters of a mile away, and 
the enemy was shelling the positions occupied and held by the 3rd 
Battalion. Artillery fire was coming over on both the left and 
right flanks and they were in a "bad spot" as the enemy was in the 
front and the Seine River was in the rear of the division's position 
(RlO,ll,12). On the evening of 28 August 1944, the sergeant of the 
guard checked the guard and inspected the outpost. Accused was 
missing and the post deserted. A search was made of the immediate 
vicinity and surrounding territory but accused and the other soldiers 
who had been stationed. with him at the deserted outpost could not be 
found. On the following morning a more extensive search was made 
by the sergeant of the guard and accused's first sergeant but neither 
were able to locate accused anywhere at or near his post or throughout 
the company area (RS,lO). He was next seen sometime during the month 
of October following, when he wa8 brought back to his company together 
with a number of stragglers and replacements (R9,11). 
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4. After an explanation of his rights as a witness, accused 
elected to remain silent. The De1ense offered no evidence (Rl3,14). 

5. The Specification upon which accused was arraigned and 

tried alleges that: 


111"hile before the ene~, by his misconduct 
' 	[i.tchisoil endanger LeY the safety of his 

command, 'Which it was his duty to defend, 
in that vti.ile on outpost duty, he did shame­
fully abandon his post". 

Article of War 75 provides in pertinent part: 

"Any * ~- * soldier who, before the enemy * -11- * 
shamefully abandons * * * or by any * * * 
disobedience * * * endangers the safety of 
any fort, post, camp, guard or other col!T.1and 
which it is his duty to defend * ~< * shall 
suffer death or such other punishment as a 
court-martial .may direct" (AW75). 

The evidence shows that accused 1 s duties were similar 

to or in the nature o.f those of a sentinel and that he was posted 

as an outpost guard; and the specification, as drawn, properly 

alleges an offense of misbehavior before the enemy in violation 

of Article of War 75 (MGM, 1928, appendix 4, p.245; AW 75). 


Winthrop's comments concerning this specific form of 

misbehavior before the enemy as follows: 


"The term '~' * * * has reference to 
sone point or position, whether fortified 

.or not which a detachment may be ordered 
to occupy or * * * to defend. The term 
t guard' is general but would appear to 
contemplate an advance guard, or other 
outer or special guard, rather than·the 
ordinary interior guard of a c~ or sta­
tion. The abandonment of [Sucbf .a post
* * * would be a marked instance of the 
offense of abandonin a 1 st or uard 1 

specified in the article" Winthrop' a 
Military Law and Precedents, Reprint, 1920, 
p.625) (Underscoring supplied). 

A brief recapitulation of the prosecution's evidence, which is 
not contradicted, shows that on 28 August 1944 accused, a combat 
infantryman, was on duty as a member of an outpost security guard, 
located in the vicinity of St. Hartin La Garenne, France. He 
had been instructed not to leave his post until relieved and to 
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be especially' alert and watchful because of the precarious position 
occupied by his organization and by reason of reports of enemy in­
filtrations across- the Siene River behind the battalion lines. Hi' 
instructions further incorporated a direction to report to battalion 
headquarters any enemy activity observed. The enemy was located 
about 1200 yards forward and was subjecting them to artillery fire 
at the time. On the evening of the 28th and the morning of the 29th 
of August, the sergeant of the guard made a check of the posts and 
on eacn occasion discovered accused missing and his post deserted. 
Accused returned to his company sometime in October, after an absence 
of approximately two months. The evidence clearly shows that accused 
abandoned the outpost, which it was his duty to defend, which conduct 
constituted an act of misbehavior before the enemy of a most grave 
and serious character (Winthrop's Military I.aw and Precedents, Reprint, 
1920, supra,· p.622; CM ETO 409J, ~; CM ETO 5ll4, Acers). He , 
culpably failed to guard his post in the face of the enemy and proved 
himself recreant in the performance of important duty and the court 
was i\llly justified in finding the accused guilty, as charged (CM 
ETO 4820, Skovan; CM ETO 5475, Wappes and authorities cited therein). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 19 years of age and 
that he was inducted at Toledo, Ohio, without prior service, on 25 
August 1943. , . 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the person and offense. No error,s injuriously affecting the sub-· 
stantial rights of the accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The offense of misbehavior before the enemy is punishable 
by death or such other punishment as a court-martial may direct 
(AW'75). The designat~on of the Eastern Branch, United States Discip­
linary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement 
is proper (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept.194J, sec.VI,. as amended). 

---:--;_ Q. C __, r 
...(.,,.k c1,..(0-'~-~.-...ii:;·,..;:""1~.... ........ ...........__Judge Advocate ............ - h---...,_~=---~­
_ _..A...._·~;:--Z=---1.~~-----...........i""'L""J,....___Judge Advocate 


4r.........(~-,....~"', re
41#M....· _·..... .....·IOGO..O-=.,...-----,Judge Advocate ....~ 
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Branch Off ice of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations
APO 887 

BOAHD OF REVIEW IW. 1 

CI1i ETO 6751 

U K I T E D S T A T E S 	 ) 4TH Aill~OF.ED DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Morfontair:.e, France, 8 January

Privates JOE BURNS (7040140), ) 1945. Sentence as to each 
Headquarters 8th Tank Bat- ) accused: Dishonorable dis­
talion o.nd CEA.RLES A. Y.LAKAY ) charge (suspended), total 
(32207061), Company B, 8th ) forfeitures and confir!err.ent . 
Tank Battalion ) at hard labor for six years. • 

) Loire Disciplinary Training 
) Center, Le Mans, France. 

----·---·--· 
OPINION by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 . 

RITEH, BURROW and STEVENS, Judge Advocates. 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers 
named above has been examined in the Branch Office of The 
Judge Advocate General with the European Theater of Opera­
tions and there found legally insUfficient to support the 
findings in part. The record of trial has now been examined 
by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its . 
opinion, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge 
of said Branch Office. 

2. Accused were arraigned separately and triee to­
gether, v:ith their consent, upon the following charges and 
specifications: : 

BURNS 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 
' Specification: In that Priv2te Joe Burns, 

Headquarters 8th Tank Battalion, did, 
at Serres, France, on or about 20 
November 1944, desert the service of 

CV :· . ENTiAl 6751 
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the United States by absenting himself 
without proper leave from his organiza­
tion with intent to avoid hazardous duty
and important service, to wit, action 
against the enemy, and did remain absent 
in desertion until he surrendered himself 
at Lo~troff, France, on or about 2 
December 1944. 

MA.KAY 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Charles A. 
Makay, Company "B", 8th Tank Battalion, 
did, at Serres, France, on or about 20 
November 1944, desert the service of 
the United States by absenting himself 
without proper leave from his organiza­
tion with intent to avoid pazardous
duty and important service, to wit, 
action against the enemy, and did remain 
absent in desertion until he surrendered 
him~elf at Lostroff, France, on or 
about 2 December 1944. 

Each accused pleaded guilty to the Specification· pref~rred
against him except the words "desert the service of the 
United States by absenting himself without proper leave 
from his organization with intent to avoid hazardous duty 
and important service, ~o wit, action against the enemy,"
and "in desertion," substituting therefor, respectively,
the words "absent himself without proper leave from his 
organization" and !1w1thout leave," of the excepted words 
not, guilty, of the substituted words guilty, and not 
guilty to the Charge, but guilty of a violation of the 
6lst Article of War. All of the members of the court 
present at the time the votes were taken concurring, each 
accused was fo'ilnd guilty of the Charge and Specification
preferred against him. No evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced against Burns. Evidence was introduced of 
one previous conviction against }lakay by summary court for 
absence without leave for one -and one-half 'hours in viola­
tion of Article of War 61. Three-fourths of the members of 

- 2 -
6751 




(197) 


the court present at the time the votes were taken concurring,
each accused was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged
the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 
become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such 
place as the reviewing authority ma~ direct, for a period
of six years. The reviewing authority, as to each accused, 
approved the sentence and ordered it executed but suspended
the execution of that portion thereof adjudging dishonorable 
discharge until the soldier's· release from confinement, and 
designated the Loire Disciplinary Training Center, Le Mans, 
France, as the place of confinement. The prcceedings were 
published by General Court-~artial Orders Number 5 (Burns),
and 6 (:Makay), Headquarters 4th Armored Division, APO 254, 
U. S. A~my, 20 January 1945. 

3. Evidence for the prosecution was as follows: 

First Sergeant John B. McNair, Company B, 8th 
Tank Battalion (R6), testified that on 20 November 1944 
the company, of which he was then acting first serg~ant, 
was located in the vicinity of Serres, France. On that 
day accused Makay was a loader or canoneer in the company,
and accused Burns was a "bog" (bow gunner), attached to 
the company for duty (R7). (The charge sheet, dated 13 . 
December 1944, shows that Burns·was a member of Headquarters
8th Tank Battalion). . 

On. the morning of 19 November witness and the 
platoon leaders were notified by the company commander 

"to the effect that we were definitely 
not in a restarea and that the company
could expect to be called upon at any 
moment as we were in a state of corps
reserve" (R7). 

The unit was to be ready to move on two hours' notice (R7).
Asked whether the platoon leader informed each man of the 
two-hour alert, witness stated "I can't testify to that. 
It was assumed that they would be told. I can't really
say" (R8). It was th~ general understanding, however, that 
the company was on the alert (R9). 

The alert was in effect on 20 November (R7). On 
the morning of that day, although witness did not give
either accused permission to leave the bivouac area, both 
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accused were reported absent by the car commander (R8).
It was necessary to substitute other men in their places
(R7). Accused~were absent without leave from 20 November 
to 2 December 1944, on which date they reported to the 
Battalion Service Company at Lostroff, France (R5-7; Pros. 
Exs .A,B,C). 

On 21 November, the company.was ordered on one 
hour!~ notice to move out and thereafter proceeded to 
Torcheville, Mittersheim and some six other places (R8). 
It was engaged in combat throughout the period of accuseds' 
absence (R6, 8). 

4. After the defense stated it had fully explained
their rights to accused, Makay elected to remain silent 
and Burns elected to take the stand on his own behalf (R9) • 

. He 	 testified that on 20 November 1944, "the same day I 
went.over the hill.,, members of his company had permission 
to go to the moving picture show in Serres (R9) but had 
no permission to go beyond that town (RlO). ·About 3 or 
4 pm he and Makay were taken by Technician ~ifth Grade 
Burns from the bivouac area to Haraucourt (R9.). The driver 
informed them he would return and meet them on the corner 
in an hour and a half. In Haraucourt they went to the 
shop of a blacksmith whom they knew, where they became · 
drunk on cognac and wine. They were five or ten minutes 
late for the meeting v!ith Burns, missed him and did not 
return to the company that night because it was too dark. 
The next day (21 November) they contacted the 126th Ord­
nance ahd were told their organization had moved. After 
searching for it on foot unsuccessfully, they surrendered 
at Dieuze, whence they were returned to the Service Company 
(R9-10). 

No other evidence was introduced by the defense. 

5. Both accused stand convicted of desertion on or 
about 20 November 1944 by absenting themselves without 
proper leave from their organization with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty and important service, to wit, action against
the enemy. Each pleaded guilty to absence without leave, 
and this is corroborated by the testimony of the acting
first sergeant and by relevant morning report entries, as 
well as by Burns' testimony. The only question for deter­
mination is whether the record contains substantial evi­
dence of the other essential elements of the offense charged
against each accused.· 
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The evidence shows that o~ the morning of the day
before accused absented themselves without authority, the 
first sergeant and platoon leaders of accuseds' C"Ompany,
located near Serres, France, were notified by the company
commander that the company was·not in a rest area but was 
in corps reserve and could expect to be. called forward at 
any moment. It was the general understanding that the 
company was on the alert. The day after accused absented 
themselves without authority the company moved out and 
was engaged in combat throughout their absence. There is 
not the slightest evidence in the record as to the activity
of the company, tactical or otherwise, or of either accused 
on 19 Nov ember or prior thereto, ·or that either of accused 
knew of the alert. There is no evidence, for example, that 
either of them knew that they had no authority to go to 
moving pictures in Serres. In order to support the findings
of guilty of the offense charged, the record must contain 
either direct evidence of the notification to each accused 
of imminent hazardous duty or important service, or evidence 
of circumstances from which knowledge thereof may be inferred. 
The evidence that they went to Haraucourt with another 
member of their company without authority and of their 
continued unauthorized absence for 13 days is not alone 
probative of such notifi~~tion or cf an intent to avoid 
action against the ene~~. Nor is such intent to be in­
ferred from their knowledge that they were absent without 
authority (CM: ETO 5234, Stubinski; CM ETO 5593, Jarvis; 
CM ETO 6093, Clayton .Brown; CM ETO 8300, Paxson). ·There 
is no other evidence bearing upon the requisite intent 
than that adverted to above. It does not follow that 
because a soldier absents himself without leave at the 
front he is ipso facto guilty of de~ertion of the type
herein alleged. The uncontroverted testimony of accused 
Burns was tothe effect that commencing on the day after 
their departure they attempted to locate their organization, 
but that its movement prevented their success. Their ab­
sence was terminated by surrender. Such explanation is in­
consistent with the alleged intent and supports the conclu­
sion that accused v1ere merely abseht without leave. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record is legally
insufficient to support the finding of the intent alleged 
in the Specification against each accused, but that the 
evidence clearly establishes accuseds' absence without 
leave for the period and at the place alleged. 

6. The record shows (R2) that the trial took place
only three days after the charges were served on each 

\.,\ 
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accused • No objection to trial at such time or motion for 
continuance was ~ade. The record of trial does not indi­
cate that the substantial rights of either accused were 
prejudiced in any degree. Due process of law was duly
observed (CM ETO 5958, Perry and Allen, and authorities 
therein cited). 

7. The charge sheets show the following: Burns is 

23 years of age and enlisted 30 May 1940 at Fort Knox, 

Kentucky. His service period is governed by the Service 

Extension Act of 1941. Makay is also 23 years of age and 

was inducted 5 February 1942 at Fort Dix, New Jersey, to 

serve for the duration of the war plus slx months. No 

prior .service is shown for either accused. 


8. The court was legally constituted and had juris­

diction of the persons and offenses. Except as indicated 

herein, no errors injuriously affecting the substantial 

rights of either accused were committed during the trial. 

For the reasons stated, the Board of Review is of the 

opinion that the record of trial is legally sUfficient to 

support only so much of the findings of guilty as involves 

findings that each.accused did, for the period and at the 

place alleged, absent himself without leave from his or­

ganization in violation of Article of War 61, and legally

sufficient to support the sentences. 


9. The desi'gnation of the Loire Disciplinary Training
Center, Le Mans, France, as the place of confinement is 

.. proper (Ltr. Hq. European Theater of· Operations, AG 252, 
Op. TPM, 19 Dec. 1944, par.3) • 

.'? I 
//./I /

I ./ ,.. 
 1­
1. • ' ~ .. ,Ii··. I 1J~ Judge Advocate _____,.7--#-_­
)z(, .1~ Judge Advocate 

~_...--~,~----~~~-~~~-

Judge .Advocate 

Cu .. 1 lw:..r~, ,;~i 

- 6 -
6751 



· • ~ 1 If\~ • 

(201) 

1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge ]j.Q~QC~t~5 General ....

with theEuropean Theater of Operations. 9 MAl tlj4 

TO: Commanding General, European Thea'ter of Operations, 

APO 887, U. S. Army. 


1. Herewith transmitted for your action under Article • 
~ 

of War 50t, as amended by Act 20 August 1937 ('O Stat. 724; 
10 u.s.c. 1522) and as further amended-by Act.l August 
1942 (56 Stat •. 732; 10 u.s.c. 1522), is the record of 
trial in the case of Privates JOE BURRS (7040140)i Head­

. quarters 8th Tank Battalion and CHARLES A. MAKAY \32207061),
Company B, 8th Tank Battalion. · 

2. I concur in the ·opinion of the Board of Review 

and, for the reasons stated therein, recommend that the 

findings of guilty of the Charge and Specification as to 

each accused, except so much thereof as involves·findings

of guilty of absence without leave in violation of Article 

of War 61, be vacated, and tl:Bt all rights, privileges and 

property of which they have been deprived by virtue of that 

portion of the findings, viz: co~viction of desertion in 

time of war, so vacated, be restored. 


3. Inclosed is a form of action designed to carry into 

effect the recommendation hereinbefore made. Also inclosed 

is a draft GCMO for use in promulgating the proposed action. 

Please return the record of 'tf"~with required copies of 


GCJUO. 6751 

3 	Incls: 
Incl. 1 
Incl. 2 ­
In9l •. 3 ­

·/,f!/#b'kj · 
1 t: C. McNEIL, 

Brigadier General, United States Army,
Assistant Judge Advocate General 

Record of Trial 
Form of Action 
Draft GCMO ­

( As to both accused, findings vacated in part,· in accordance llith 
recommendation or The Assistant Judge Advocate General GCHO 2cn (Makay), 

ET0,29 Ma;y 1945, and GCMO 208 (Burns), ETp, 7 June 1945). 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 • 

BOARD OF REVIl.W NO. 2 . 14MAR1945 

C'.J ETO 6766 

STATES) 4TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at Walferdang, . 
) Luxembourg, 11 January 1945. Sentence: 

Private First Class VD:CBNT ) Dishonorable discharge, total forfei­
Al·JI: INO (39119242), Company E, ) tures and confinement at hard labor for 
8th Infantry Regiment ) life. Eastern Branch, United States Dis­

) ciplinary Barracks, GreeDhaven, New York. 

HOIDING by BOAH.D OF REV.IE\tl .NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SIEEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifica­
tions; 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class Vincent· 
Annino, Company "K", 8th Infantry, did, without 
proper leave, absent himself from his organiza­
tion near'Zweifall, Germany, from about 19 
November 1944 to about 24 November 1944. 

. . . 
CHARGE IIt Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * did,naar Zweifall, 
Germany, on.or about 24 November 1944, 
desert the service of the United States by 
absenting himself without proper leave from 
his organization, with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, to wit: an engagement with 
the enemy, and did remain absent in desertion 
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until he surrendered himself near 
~embourg City, Luxembourg, on or 
a~out 9 Decenber 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of tte court 
present when the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the 

• 	 specifications of Charges I and II except the word 11Zweifall11 , sub­
stituting therefore in each specificatioh respectively the word "Scheven­
hutte", of the excepted words not guilty, of the substituted words 
guilty, and guilty of Charees I and II. No evidence of previous 
convictions was introduced. Three-fourths of the members of the court 
present when the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dis­
honorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due 
or to become due and to be confined at hard labor-, at such place as 
the review;ing authority may direct, for the term of his natural life. 
The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the Eastern 
Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as 
the place of confinement and forwarded the record of trial for action 
pursuant to the provisions of Article of War 5ok·. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that on 19 November 
1944, accused was a rifleman of the 3rd platoon, K Company, 8th 
Infantry Regiment, which was located· in the Hurtgen·Forrest near 
Schevenhutte, Germany (R5,6). On 19-20 i~ovember the company was 
engaged in attacking the enemy; it moved across woody and hilly 
terrain which was mined and otherwise made difficult of passage by 
the use of barbed wire and other improvised obstacles. This particu­
lar operation lasted two days, after which the company was withdrawn 
and directed in another attack agabt the enemy from a different·loca­
tion (R7,9). Between 19 November and 10 December 1944, accused's 
company was subjec~~£u~ small arms, mortar and artillery fire •. The 
organization was in/visual contact with the enemy and,· during the 
period indicated, suffered a total of 113 casualties lR7) • ... 

The evidence further shows that on 19 November 1944, 
during the initial assault, accused was missing from his platoon. 
The first Seri;.·eant of K Company ma.de a check at the aid station and 
elsewhere to determine whether accused had been injured and evacu­
ated as either a battle or non-battle casualty. He learned that 
accused had not been treated for injuries or evacuated (R7,8 ). 
Accused was not seen by members of his organization until the evening 
of 23 November 1944 when he appeared at the battalion command post 
located at Schevenhutte, Gennany (RS). At this time he was ordered 
to report to his company. The following day a check was made' and 
accused was not present with his organization. He had no authori­
zation or permission to be absent at any time between 19 November 
and 9 December 1944 (R?,8,9,lO). On the latter date accused volun­
tarily surrendered himself to the military police at Luxembourg City, 
about 50 miles to the rear of his company in the front lines (R5,6). 
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He was sent to report to his first sergeant at which time he stated 
that he had been "hiding out" (R9). Accused appeared in "good health" 
and showed no evidence of injury or illness (R6,9). The first sergeant, 
upon direction of the company commander, ordered accused to report to 
his platoon, located on an outpost east of Mompach, Luxembourg (RlO), 
which he did and remained there until 16 December 1944, when he was 
placed in confinement to await trial (Rlo). 

The prosecution further offered and there was received in 
evidence, \;~thout objection b7 the defense, an extract copy of the 
morning report of K Company, 8th Infantry, showing accused absent without 
authority from his organization on the dates alleged (R9,l0; Pros.~x.A). 

' ' 

4. After an explanation of his rights as a witness, accused 
elected to remain silent (Rl0,11). The defense introuuced in evidence, 
report of psychiatric examination by Major Meyer H •. :i.iaskin, '.Jedical 
Corps, Division Psychiatrist, which contains the following remarks: 

11 This EJ is of borderline intelligence and 
barely literate. However, he is not men­
tally defective or insane 11 (RIO; Def.Ex.I). 

5. a. Concerning Charge I, the evidence conclusively shows 
that accused absented himself without authority from his organization 
on 19 November and that he remained in unauthorized absen<:e until 
he voluntarily returned to 1nilitar:· control on 23 November 1944. At 
the time of his initial absence, accused's organization was stationed 
near Schevenhutte and not Zweifall, Germany, as alleged. The court 
made this substitution which was proper, accused was therefore 
properly found guilty of absence without leave in violation of Article 
of War 61, as charged. 

b. Concerning Charge II, the evidence shows that following 
accused 1 s return to military control on 23 November 1944 he was 
ordered to report to bis company which, at that time, was engaged in 
actual visual combat with the enemy. He did not comply with' this 
co!Illiland, but, inste.ad, again absented himself without authority and 
remained in unauthorized absence until 9 December 1944 when he 
surrendered to the military police at Luxembourg, Luxembourg, about 
50 miles to the rear of his company. During his absence, the 
company engaged in hard fight~ng with the enemy, received heavy small 
arms, mortar and artillery fire and suffered a considerable nUrnber of 
casualties. Upon return to his unit, accused admitted that he had 
been hiding out. The evidence of accused 1 s two absences w.i thout 
leave at this time shows that he had no illusions regarding.the mission 
and activities of his organization but to the contrary that he had 
fUll knowledge of the fact that his company was engaged in combat with · 
the enemy. Accused consciously and deliberately avoided the perils 
and hazarqs of combat. Under such circumstances the court was fully 
justified and warranted in finding accused guilty of desertion, as 
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such offense is denounced and defined by .....rticles of ifar 581 28 

(CM ETO 2473, Cantwell; CM ETO 5114, ~; C;J ,i<.;TO 5555 Slgrlk; 

c:,r ETO 6177, Trapseau and authorities cited therein). 


c. The evidence shows that following a-:cused 1s return 

to military control on 9 December 1944 he was ordered by his 

company commander to be sent to his platoon which he did. The 

Manual for Courts-Martial provides that an unconditional restora­•tion to duty without trial by an authority competent tq order 
trial may be pleaded in bar of trial for the desertion to which such 
restoration relates (MCIJ, 1928, par.69.12,, p.54) (Underscoring supplied). 
Although the facts herein tend to show a restoration to duty the 
evidence does not conclusively establish that condition nor was 
accused ordered to rejoin his unit by any person with authority 
competent to order trial. He remained with his until only 3 days 
and was then placed in confinement awaiting trial. Army .ci.egulation 
615-300, par.16(b), provides that 11 The authority to remove an 
adininistrative charge of desertion * * * is specifically delegated · 
to all officers exercising general or special court-martial juris­
diction11. There is no showing herein that any administrative 
action was taken by any person competent to remove the charge and 
accordingly there is no condonation of the.offense (CM NATO 2139, 
Grabowski; Dig.Op. JAG, 1912, p.415 IX N; C!i ETO 4489 1 ~; CM :ii;TQ 
6524, Torgerson and.authorities cited therein). 

6. The charge sheet sho~s that accused is 20 years of age , 

and that he was inducted without prior service at San Jose, Calif ­

ornia, 6 January 1943. 


7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offenses. i~o errors injuriously affecting the 
substantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board of ;{eview is of the opinion that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

a.· The offense of desertion, in time of war, is punishable by 
death or such other punishment as a court-mart~al may direct (AW 5~). 
The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, hew York, as the place of confinement is 
proper (A':{ 42; Cir.2101 ii'D, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, as amended). 
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Branch Off'ice of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CM ETO 6767 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Private ARTHUR REIMIUER 
(33609959), Company G, 8th 
Infantry 

l4 MAR 1945 

) 4TH INFANT.BY DIVISION 
) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at Wal.terdang, 
) Luxembourg, ll Janua.r,y 1945. Sentence: 
) Dishonorable discharge, total !orfei­
) tures and oontinement &t hard labor 
) for life. Eastern Branch, United 
) States Disciplinar7 Barracks, Green­
) haven, New York. -

.. 
HOLDING BY BOARD OF REv.m'l NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, JW.ge Advocat,es 

1. The record ot trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and 
specifications i 

CHABGE Ii Violation of the 75th Article ot War. 

Specii'icatl.on: In. that Private Arthur Beiailler, 
Co~y !'G•, 8th Intantrr, being present 
with his .CClllp&Il1' 11hile it. was engaged with 
the Ellflll1'~ did, near Colbet, Luxembourg, 
on or abeut 19 December 19/J+, shamehll7 
abancbn the said compan;r ani seek aatet7 · 
in th• rear. 

CHABGE II: Violation ot the 65th Article ot War. 

Specification: In that * * * having reoeind a 
lawful order trom. First Sergeant ~ A. 
llann, Compa.r11' "G", 8th Infantry, a nonco~ 
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. 
missioned officer who was then in 
the execution of his office, to re­
port to his organization, Compa.IlY' 

"' 	 "G", 8th Infa?i:. ry, for duty, did, 
near Colbet, Luxembourg, on or 
about 2.3 December 1944, wilfully" 
disobey tb3 same. 

He p;Leaded not guilty and, all of tbs meni>ers or tb3 court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found 
ot the Specification, Charge I, guilt,., except tb3 word. "Colbet" 
aubetltut.ing therefor the word ''Waldwillig", of the excepted 
1">rd not guilty, of tre substituted vord guilty,· and guilty 
ot Charge I and ot Charge II and its Specification. No evi­
dence of previous convictions was introduced. All or the man­
bers ot the coUl't present at the time the vote wa.a taken con­
curring, he was sentenced to be dimonorably discharged the 
service, to forfeit all pay aid allowances due or to become 
due, and to be confined at ha.rd labor, at such place as tie 
reviewing authority mq direct, .for the term of his natural 
lite. The reviewing a\t.horl. ty approved the sentence, designated 
the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barradcs, Green­
haven, New York, as the place of con:f'immmt, ani .forwarded 
tie record ot trial for act.ion pursua.nt to Article of War 50!. 

3. The evidence for the proeecution may be swwnarized · 
as .follows: 

On or about. 17 December 1944, Compacy G, 2nd Batta­
lion, 8th Infa.ntr,r, ot lilicb company accused was a member, p:-o­
ceeded as part ot a task force to the 'Vicinity of' Waldwillig, 
Luxembourg, to take up a defensive position 11 f'or the German 
counterattack" (R5, 7110,12). '!hereafter tre ·compaJV was engqed 
in a holding action'"under enemy artille:ry fire until 1500 hour• 
on 18 December at which time it attacked (R5,6,7,10). Dwing 
the attack, the cotnpan;y was subjected to small arm, mortar and 
art1llery tire and light casualties were suffered. The attack 
continued until it became dark at which ti.me the compazl1' cbg in 
tor tie night (R5). At tie cessat.i oo ot tie attack tl'at evening, 
the .forward elements of the com~ were separated from. the 
en~ bT a distance of' approx:Lma.tel,Jr 150 yards (R6,7). On the 
following morning, 19 December 1944, the compan;y co11J11.ander "made 
a check with all the platoons" and accused was .found to be ab­
sent (R5). For appro.µ.mately a week subsequsnt to 19 December 
the situation remained more or less static with the com.pa.iv dng · 
in in a defensive posi. tion saie 150 yards from the en~. During 
this period the unit was stb jected to sniper and mortar fire as 
well as occasional artillery tire (R6,7). 

- 2 ­
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On 20 December 1944, accused reported to Captain 
.iobn C. Von Kaenel, Commanding Officer of Service Compaey, 8th 
Infantr,y, am "custodian ot the men of tm regiioont in oontine­
mentn, at the Service Company orderly room. Captain Von Kaenel 
teatit:isd tiat at this time accused's battalion was at least 
nsi.x,seven or eight miles furtmr towards the ene!lijT than I was". 
Upon reporting, accused stated that be want. ed to EJ:J to the stock­

. ad.e because "he just couldn 1t take it any more". He appeared to 
be in average physical. condition 8.rxi did not complain of nor ap­
pear to be mf'fering from any illness, injuries or w::nm:ls. He 
was depressed mentally but otherwise appeared to be "mentally 
soucd and sober". Captain Von Kaenel notified regimental head­
quarters ot accused's presence and requested instructions as to 
what disposition should be 1111.de of him (Rll-13). 

On or about 23 Dece.niler 1944 accused was bro~ht 
from Service Company to the COllllQ.nd post of the 2n:i Battalion, 
8th Infantry, tmn located at Betsdorf' (probably in Luxembourg). 
There he talked with the Battalion S-l, Captain Robert c. Fellers 
·(RS,10). During this conversation accused stated that he had 
been away from his company for "several days" and that he "wasn't 
able to go back to his com:t:arv". He appeared to be in good phy­
sical cordition ard did not complain of nor appear to be suffer­
ing from any illness, injuries or w:>Wlds (Rl0,11). Captain 
Fellers accordingly tumed him over to First Sergeant Ray A. Mann, 
Company G, 8th Infant.ry, then at tl'B battalion comnand post with 
instruct.1. ons that he be taken back to his compaey (R9, ll). 

· Sergeant Mann questiomd him as to wrere he had been 
and accused replied that he spent the "first night" at the batta­
lion aid station &n:l that thereafter he wa.s at Service Compan,y. 
He was told by Mann to wait a.t the battalion message center pend­
ing the arriv,J. of transports.ti.on at which time they would return 
to the compan7. W11?.niJransportation arrived approximately one · 
hour and a half later;rtold accused several times to pre:ES-re far 
departure and that he was to take him to the compaey. Accused ·re­
fused to accompaey him. Mann thus recapitulated the orders which 
he gave a~cused and accused's reply trereto: 

"The order tmt I gave him was, .tirst o.t 
all I said for him to get his things 
ready am he was going with me. The 
second ti.me I asked him re said he 
wouldn't go and the third time I asked 
him I said, 'I will give you one more 
chance - if you don 1t go with me you 
are going to see Cai:tain Fellers' anim 
said, 1I am not going 1 11 { R9) • 

- 3 ­
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In explanation or his retusal to return, accused told Ser­

gean~ lCann 


n'I have been around he re a long time 

and I just can't take it any more. 

I! I go up there this ti~ I will 

just do the s am thing over again".

* * * e.nd I said 1the..company is 

jwst holding' ani he said 1 sooner 

or later the company will shove 

otr and I will just have to go back 

again because I just can't stand it'. 

He said his nerves were shot and he 

couldn't stand it" (R9). 


He did not return to the company but re.1111.ined at 

the battalion command post. Mann testified that accused "knew 

I was 1st Sergeant" and appeared to be sober and to be suffering 

from. no physical disabil:i.ties at the time be rerused to obey 

the order to retuni (R9110). 


4. For tre derense, Lieutenant Wayne A. Forcade, platoon 

leader, first platoon, Compuiy L 1 8th Infa.xt. ey1 testified that 

accused had been a meuber of his platoon from 28 JulJr 1944 to 

approximately 20 !Jovember 1944 and that c:llring this period ac­

. cused "al.ways exercised his·duties in a ver.r efficient manner ­
I would sq in a grade or superior 1 tor his efforts as a combat 
soldier" (Rl4). · 

A report of a psy-chiatric: examination or accused, 

dated 27 Decellber 1944 and si.gµed by- M:ajor lleyer H. Maskin, lledi­

cal Cozps, Division Psychiatrist, ns introduced into evidence 

and reads as follows: 


"This soldier has been in combat since 10 
July 1944 and had been prev.tously wounded 
and evacuated for ~about two weeks. He 
stated that since returning from·the hos­
pital he has been anxi'Ous and apprehensive 
and unable to tolerate combat. 

However he is not insane and court-martial 
procedure is not precluded" (RU., Det.Ex.l). 

Accused, after having been adv.i. sed of his rights as 

a rltmas, elected to remain silent • 
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5. a. The evidence addu::ed in support ot Charge I 
and its Specitication shows that on 17 December 1944 the com­
pany of which accused was a member moved to the vicinity of 
Waldwillig,. Luxembourg, where it engaged in a holding action 
under enemy artillery fire until 18 Decenber on that after­
noon, it participated in an attack 'Which continued until the 
hours of da.rkness. At the cessation of the attack, during 
which small anns 1 mortar and artillery fire was Ellcountered 
and casualties were suffered, the forward elements of the 
compaey were w:ithin 150 yards of the forward elements of 
the ErH•DY• ~ The situation thereupon became comparatively 
static and renained so for about a week but the s am relative 
position was maintained a-id the company contiued to be sub­
jected to snii:er1 mortar· and artillery fire. Although the 
exact time when accused absented hi.Imel! from his campaey is 
not shown in the record other than by hearsey, he was shown 
to be missing on 19 December. In addition, it was shown that 
on 20 December 1944 he repcrted to the officer who had custody 
of regimsltal prisoners, approximately seven miles to the 
rear of his battalion, and requested that he be placed in tm 
stockade because "he just couldn1t take it any more". When ­
he was retumed to his battalion on 2.3 December he informed 
the Battalion S-l that he had been away from his company tor 
"several dqs 0 • He also. told his first sergeant that he bad 
been at the battalion a:id station and at the Service Compall1' 
area during the period of his absence from his unit •. When 
ordered b;r the first sergeant to return to the company, ac­
cused stated in effect that even though tte oompany was then 
in a defensive position it was useless for him to return be­

. cause "sooner .or later tha compaey will shove off and I will 
just have to gp back a'ain because I just can't staIXl it" 
(Underscoring supplied • From tte facts shown, together w:ith 
accused's ad.missions, the court was warranted in finding that 
accused, being present with his company while it was engaged 
with the EneJ!V1 sbametully aba.nc:bned it and sought satety in 
the rear, as alleged. Such conduct constitutes misbel:artor 
betcre the ens~ in T.iolation. of Article of War 75 (CY ETO 
4004, !!!..li).• 

The evidence indicates that acciused had been in 
coni)at ..for appratimatel1' five months prior to the date ot the 

' offenses here alleged, that bl previously had been w:>unded 
am ~turned to duty and ti.t, since retuming to dut;r, he 
felt himself unable to codiinue in combat. Hc:wever, thare 
al3 o was evidence that shortly atter his departure from his 
unit he did not appear. to be suffering from physical or mental 
disabilities. A psychiatrist pronounced him "not insane" on 
'Zl Deceni:>er. Whether or not, at the tine of his alleged dere­
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llction, accused was suff.ering un:ier a genuine or extreme 

illness or .other disability which would constitute a defense 

(Winthrop's Military Law am Precedents, Reprint, 1920, p.624), 

was essentially a question of fact for the court. Under the 


· evidence here of record, the oourt did not abuse its dis cre­
tion by resolving this question adversely to tha a.ccu.sed (CM 
ETO 5346, Hannigan; CM ETO 4095, ~). 

The court was therefore wa.rranteG. in L.nding accused 

guilt1 of Charge I and its Specification. 


b. The evidence fully supp?rts the court 1s find­

~ that accused was guilty of Charge. II and its Specification. 


c. It will be noted that the spe c.i..ti cations of both 
Ch&rge I.and Charge IIallege that the offense therein described 
were comnit.ted at or near Colbet, Luxembourg. The proof showed 
that the offense un:ier Charge I took place at or near Waldwillig, 
Luxmbourg, and the court so found by exception ard substitution. 
Also., tbs proof ahems that the offense alleged under Charge II 
was committed at 11Betsdorf11 • Reference to tre map :shows that the 
tarns of Colbette, Waldbillig and Betzdorf are all located in 
Luxeni>our-g within ten miles of each other and these are probably 
the towns referred to in th:! record. . The specifications therefore 
are suf.fic:iBllt.ly accurate to apJrise the accused ot the o.ffmses 
liith which he was charged. 

6. The cmrge sheet ehowe that accused is 2.3 years ot 
age and was inducted at Luzerne, Pennsylvania, on 17 August 194.3. 
No prior service is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and bad jurisdic­
tion of the pers:>n and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting 
the substantial rights o! accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board o! Review is of tm opinion that too record is legall1 
sufficient to support the fin:lings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. llisbehavior before the me.my- is punishable br death 
or such other punishment as a court-martial ne;y' direct (AW 75). 
The designation of the Ea.stem Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greellha.ven, New York, as the place of confinement is 
p:roi:er (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept;.1943, sec.VI, as amended). 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater of Operation~ 

.APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CM ETO 6809 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Private THOMAS E. REED 
(326?'.9810), Medical 
Detachment, 2Sth Infantry 

14MAR1CJ45 

l 8TH INFA.J.'ITRY DIVISION 

Trial by GCM, convened at ilPO 8, 
U. S. Army, 16 December 1944. 
Sentence: Dishonorable. discharge,

·l total forfeitures, and confinemant 
at hard labor for life. Eastern 
Branch, United States Disciplinary~ . Barracks, Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDmG by BO.ARD OF REVIDv NO. 2 
·VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was.tried upon the following charges and specifica- . 
tions: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private (then .Private First 
Class) Thomas E. Reed, !.1edical Detachment, 28th 
Infantry, did, at or near Le Haye. de Puits, 
France, on or about July 11, 1944 desert the 
service of the United States by absenting him­
self without proper leave from his organization, 
with intent to avoid hazardous duty and to shirk 
important service, to wit: avoid duty as an aid 
man during active combat with the enemy by his 
organization, and did remain absent in desertion 
until he was apprehended by the military author­
ity at or near Creances, France on or about 
August 13, 1944. 

.. 
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CHARGE II: Violation or the 64th Article or War. 

Specification: In that * * * having received a law­
rui command from Captain Samuel Horowitz, 28th 
Infantry, his superior officer, to report to 
the Commanding Officer, Company F, 28th Infantry, 
as a company aid man, did, at or near Le Haye de. 
Puits, France, on or about July 11, 1944, will ­
i'ully disobey the same.· 

He pleaded not guilty and, all the members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty or the Specifica­
tion or Charge I except the words "was apprehended by the military 
authority", substituting therefor "returned to military control", of 
the excepted words, not guilty, of the substituted words, guilty, 
guilty of Charge I and of Charge II and its Specification. No evidence 
of previous convictions was introduced •. All or the members of the 
cou~t present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sen­
tenced to be shot to death by musketry. The reviewing authority, the 
Commanding General, 8th Infantry Division, approved the sentence and 
directed that11 pursuant to Article of Viar 5~-, the order directing execu­
tion of the sentence is withheld". The confirming authority, the Com­
manding General, Euro.Pean Theater of Operations, confirmed the sentence 
but, owing to unusual circumstances in this case, commuted the sentence 
to dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures, and confinement at hard 
labor for life, designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaveri, New York, as the place of confinement, and with­
held the order directing the execution of the sentence pursuant to 
Article of War 5C:r. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution showed that on 11 July 1944 
accused was a litter bearer, Medical Detachment, 28th Infantry. On 
that day the battalion to which his section was attached was engaged 
in an attack against the enemy near La Haye du Puita, France (R6,ll). 
During the attack, the battalion aid station was located some four or 
five hundred yards behind the front lines in an area in the vicinity 
of which artillery fire was falling and from which the sound of small­
arms fire could be heard (R6,9,14). Although no small-arms fire was 
being received in the area of the aid station, accused had been "up 
in the area where the shooting was going on" with the litter teams 
(R7,15). Early in the a~ernoon of 11 Jul~ a request was received 
from Company F of the 48th Infantry engaged in the attack, for a re­
placement for their company aid man and accused was ordered to report 
to them in that capacity (R6,13). Upon being so informed, accused told 
his section leader that he had never before performed and did not feel 
himself capable ot performing the duties of an aid man and that he "did 
not want to go up" (Rl3). He then went to Captain Horowitz and expressed 
to him his unwillingness to serve a~ an aid l'lan. He seel'led "very much 
upset about going on that job", and during the course of his conversa­
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tion with Captain Horowitz remarked, "it is murder up there". 
Captain Horowitz 11 e:iqJlained to him that he must go as ordered 
and the seriousness of refusing to go as ordered". Although 
accused did not definitely indicate that,he would or would not 
comply with the order, at the.close of the conversation Captain 
Horowitz felt that he had "convinced him" of the necessity for 
compliance (R8). Captain Horowitz then informed accused's sec­
tion leader that accused had "agreed to report and for me to 
get him ready, so then I got him ready to go up as aid man" 
(Rl4). He was thereafter seen leaving the aid station in the 
general direction of Company F (Rl0,14). Hmvever, he did not 
report to that company for duty and was not thereafter seen 
by the first sergeant of Company F, the battalion surgeon, or 
his section leader until shortly before trial (RS,12,14). It 
was stipulated that accused was returned to military control 
at Creances, France, on or about 13 August 1944 (Rl8). 

4. Accused, after having been advised of his rights as a 
witness, elected to remain silent and no evidence was introduced 
on his behalf. 

5. a. The action of the reviewing authority in directing 
that "pursuant to Article of War 5'*, the order directing the 
execution of the sentence is withh~ld" did not follow the pre­
scribed formula with respect to sentences which must be ~onfirmed 
by the Commanding General, European Theater of Operations.. The 
reviewing authority's action should simply have directed that the 
record of trial be forvmrded for action under the prov181ons or 
Article of liar 48. It is obvious, however, that the action did 
in fact comply with the substance of the statutory requirements 
(AW 5o}) and that the sentence was confirmed by,the Commanding 
General, European Thea.ter of' Operations. The failure to use tb.e 
prescribed formula was therefore a harmless discrepancy which in 
no respect affected or impaired the substantial rights or the ac­
cused (CM ETO 5155, Carroll and D'Elia). · 

b. Under Charge I. and its Specification accused was 
charged with deserting.the service of the United States 1'Y' absent­
ing himself without leave with intent (;I.) to avoid hazardous duty 
and (2) to shirk important service, to wit, the avoidance of duty 
as an aid man during aetive .combat with the enemy- ey his organi­
zation. The plea.Qing of both specific intents was not improper 
and permitted the prosecution to prove either or 'both ot the in­
tents alleged (CM ETO 2432, ~;CUETO 5555, Slovik). The test1­
mo!l1'o! the battalion surgeon, accused's section leader, and the 
first :sergeant of Comp8.Ily' F clearly shoY1s that accused absented 
himselt trom his organization and, under the circumstances shown, 
it is clear that such absence was without leave. It was shown that 
the battalion to which accused's se~tion was attached was, at the 
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time, actively engaged in ~ombat and that the company to which he 
>7as ordered t·o report for duty as aid man was one of the forward 
companies in the attack. It was further shown that the company 
was ttin need of medical men" and that accused was to report there 
for duty as a replacement. These circumstances having been shown, 
it is evident that the duty which accused was ordered to perform 
constituted both hazardous duty and important service. Prior to 
the time he absented himself' he had ma.de trips to the forward 
area with the litter tea.ms. When informed that he was to be de­
tailed" as company aid man he was "very much upset about going on 
that job" and his unwillingness so to be detailed was appareptly 
based at least in part upon his stated conviction that "~t is 
murder up there". After absenting hirr.self from the organization 
·he remained absent for approximately one month. FJ::om these facts, 
. the court was clearly warranted in finding that his absence was 
motivated by the intent both to avoid hazardous duty and to shirk 
il!lPortant service. Thus, the commission by the accused of the 
offense charged was clearly shown. 

c. The evidence adduced in support of Charge II and its 
Specification shows that accused received a lawf'ul. command from 
his superior officer to report to Company F for duty as a company 
aid man. The slight variance between _the order as alieged and as 
proved is not substantial (Cf CM 233780, Bentley, 20 B.P..127 at 
135). Although accused did not verbally refuse to obey the order 
given, the willful disobeqience contemplated by Article of War 64· 
may consist not only in 11 an open and express refusal to do what 
is ordered" but also·in 11 a simple not doing it, or in a doing of 
the opposite" (Winthrop's Military Lan and Precedents, Reprint, 
1920, p.573). It is clear that accused did not report as ordered 
but instead absented himself without leave. Thus, the evidence 
substantially supports the court's finding of guilty of Charge II 
and its Specification• .. 

6. The charge sheet. shows that accused is 35 years of age 
and was inducted, without prior service, on 9 December 1942. 

7.~ The court was legally constituted and bad jurisdiction 
of the person and offenses. No errors injuriously atrecting the 
substantial rights o~ accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence as 
confirmed and/commuted. , 

8. The penalty for both desertion in time of war and will ­
ful disobedience of the lawf'ul. command 0£ a~frtlperior officer is 
death or such other punishment as the court-martial may direct 

... ; 

6809 




. . (217) 


(AW 58;64) •. The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New .York, as'the place of con­
finement is authorized (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, l4 Sept. 194.3, sec.VI, 
as amended). · 

\ 
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lat Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 17 M'AR 1QAI\ TO·: Commanding 
General, European Theater of Operations, .APO ggr, .U. S. Arr!ry. · 

l. In the case or Private THOMAS E. RnD · (.32679810) ,Medical 
Detachment, 28th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence as 
confirmed and commuted, which holding is hereby approved. Under 
the provisions of Article of War 501i~, you now have authority to 
order execution of the sentence. 

2. When. copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accoopanied by the.foregoing holding and 
this indorsement. The file number of the record in this office 
is CM ETO 6809. For convenience or reference, please place~that 
number in brackets at the end of the brder: (CM ETO 6809). 

/('a;~~
' E. C. McNEIL, · · 

Brigadier General, United States Arr!ry, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

: ( ·entence as COllliil~ted ordered executed. GcMO SJ, ETO, 22 Mar 1945.) 
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B~anch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
,, with the 
European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 

BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. l 26 FEB' 1945 
Ct! 	ETO 6810 ·, 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 3RD INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at M.olsheim, 
France, 3 December 1944. Sentence: 

Private CALVIN L. SHAMBAUGH ~ To be shot to death with musketry. 
(35750636), Company H, 
30th Infantry ~ 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIE11 NO. l 

RITER, SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


f 
l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 

. has been examined by the Board of Review, and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of 
the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European 
Theater of Operati~ns. · 

2. Accused was ti-:1.ed upon the following Charge and Specifica­

tion: 


CHARGE: Violation· of the 5Sth Article of War. 

Specification:, In that Private CALVIN L.SHAMBAUGH, · 
11H11Company , 30th Infantry, did, at or near 

" 	 LeFerriere, Italy, on or about 27 January 1944, 
desert the se.rviceof the United States by 
absenting himself without proper leave from 
his organization, with intent to avoid hazard­
ous dut;r, to wit: Combat with the enemy, and · 
did remain absent in desertion until he was 

· apprehended at or near Anzio, Italy, on or. 
about 12 September 1944. · 

' 
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He pleaded not guilty and, all the members of the court present at 
the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the 
Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. All the members of the court present at the time the 
vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be shot to death 
with musketry. The reviewing authority, the Commanding Gen~ral, 3rd 
·Infantry Division, approved the sentence and forwarded the record of 
trial for action under Article of War 48. The confirming authority, 
the Commanding General, European Theater of Operations, confirmed 
the sentence and withheld the order directing the execution thereof 
pursuant to Article of War 5~. 

3. Prosecution's evidence was substantially as follows: 

On 27 January 1944, accused, a member of· the second squad 
of his platoon, was present.Yd.th his unit, Company H, 30th Infantry, 
at the Anzio Beachhead, near Le Ferriera, Italy (RS,9,11). The 
company was in reserve, but enemy shells, aimed at nearby American 
tanks, were falling in the company area and there was enemy small­
arms fire overhead (R7,8,9,ll). 

Staff Sergeant Luther B. Estes, squad leader of the third 
squad of accused's platoon, testified that the platoon "had orders 
to move out on the road in preparation to moving to another sector
* * * to set up our mortars" and "to go into actien" (R7). The . 
platoon was instructed. to form at a point on the road about 100 
yards from its then position preparatory to its movement (Rll). Estes 
did not tell accused the co.:npany was preparing to return to the lines, 
nor was he aware ·except through hearsay that accused knew this (RS). 
Although no announcement of the reason for leaving was made to the · 
company (R9), "Everyone in' tht company knew it". The last time witness 
saw accused in the area was "just before dark" (R9). After,dark, 
about 30 minutes after receiving the movement order, the platoon 
moved out to the road. Shells and small-arms fire were still being 
received at this time. Following"'El. check of personnel, the squad leader 
reported the absence of accused to the platoon sergeant (R9,ll). 
The latter thereupon.ordered a search of the immediate vicinit7 as 
well as of the area just vacated. The search disclosed accused's 

• 	 absence (R?,11), and Estes did not see him again until the time of 
trial (R?). Estes and another squad leader.of accused's platoon 
testified that they did not give accused (not a member.of the squad 
of either) pennission to be absent and that if anyone had done so 
they would have known about it (RS,11). Evidently no one gave accused 
such permission (Rll). After the discovery of his absence, the 
:elatoon left the area and thereafter 11set up in another location" 
rn1,9). 

I 
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It was stipulated by accused, def~nse counsel and 
prosecution that First Lieutenant Louis A. Tritico, 30th Infantry, if 
present in court and sworn as a witness, would testify that <0n or 
about 15 November 1944, as investigating officer, he took a statement 
from accused. Prior to taking the statement he advised accused of 
his rights under Article of War 24 and accused indicated he under­
stood them. Without promises or threats, accused voluntarily made 
a statement under oath to the officer and signed the same after the 
latter read it to him (Rl2; Pros.Ex.A). The stipulation (Pros.Ex.A), 
dated 29 November 1944, bears the signatures of accused, defense 

· counsel and the trial .judge advocate• Defense counsel asked accused 
· at the trial if he would so stipulate and then stated "The accused 
agrees" (Rl2). The proaecutiOA-Ulereupon read the stipulation. 
The statement was then admitted in evidence, the defense stating there 
was no objection, and read b1 the prosecution (RlJ;Pros.Ex.B). It 
reads in i:;ertinent pa.rt as followa: 

"On or about January 27, 1944 I decided I couldnt 
take any' more so I tqok off. I got on an L.S.T 
leaving Anzio and went to Naples. In Naples I 
ate in the Replacement Depot. Several times I 
thought of turning myself in but I was running 
around with fellows, I just never did. There 
were M.P.s in Naples but I did not want to get 
sent back up to the lines so I did not turn 
myself in. When I heard the outfit had moved out 
of Anzio, I went up there. Stayed around there 
until I was picked up by the U.Ps on the 12th of 
September 1944. I just cant take it, I do not 
want to go back up to the outfit. 

I cannot read.or write •••• This statment was 
read to me by Lt. Tritico before I swore to it 
and signed it 11 • 

4. After a full explanation of his rights to testify, make 

an unsworn statement or remain silent, accused elected to remain 

silent (RlJ-14). No evidence was introduced by the defense. 


5. Accused is charged with absenting himself without proper 

leave from his organization with intent to avoid the hazardous duty 

of combat with the enemy. In order to sustain the charge the record 

must contain substantial comretent evidence of each of the following 

four elements: 


(a) that accused absented himself without leave, 
as alleged; 

(b) that his unit was.under orders or anticipated 6810orders involving hazardous duty; --.. 
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that notice of such 'orders and of imninent 
hazardous duty was actually brought home to 
him; and 

(d) 	 that at the time he absented himself he 

entertained the specific intent to avoid 

hazardoua duty (CM: ETO 5555, Slovik, and 

authorities therein cited; CM ETO 5565t 

Fendorak; Cll ETO 5958, ~and ~J. 


{a) Accused's unauthorized absence at the time and· 

place alleged is establi1hed by the testimony of the two witness­

es, •quad 'leaders of' his platoon, and his own confession, which · 

shows the termination of the absence at the time and place and. 

in the manner alleged. · · · 


{b) Estes testified that acc:uaed'• platoon "had orders 

to move out• in rreparation to another sect.or where they would 

set up mortars and "go into action•. The other witnees testified 

that the platoon members were told the7 were going to moTe into 

another position. This was substantial nidence th&t the unit ns · 

under order• involTing the hazardous dut7 or combat with the eneJD1' · 

(Cl.! ETO 5555, SlovikJ Cu ETO 5565, Fendorak). . 


(c) Immediate:l.1' prior to his absence, accused's Compall7 

was located at the J.nsio Beachhead. · It. was in a reserve position_ 

but enem;r fSb ells, directed at .f'ri end:q tanks, were .taJ 11ng in the 

area and &n81111' s:mail-a.rm fire waa overhead. •. The comp&ll1' was in 

such proxim1t7 to the eneiq that its nry Ji"esence in the area wu 

hazardou.s and the situation n.s such t.b&t it might evolve at an,-. 

moment into active combat with the enemy•. It is thua immaterial 

that the record lacks evidence tha~ accuaed.-wa1 ,apecitical.17 


· 	notified o:t the orders requiring movement of hie unit to anothe.r · 
position where it 11'&1 t.o •go into action• •.. The situation here ie · 
the antithesis of that in cu E'l'O 5958, l.!!m and p] en• wherein 
the Board ot Review held. that the record ot trial was leg~ 
insuf'ticient to support findings of' guilt7 ot "'desertion, part}7 
on t.he ground that the evidence 11'&1 insufficient to show notitioa­
tioa t.o accuaed'o:t orders and o:t imminent hazardoue dut7.- In that 
case, accused's unit was in a rest area.and in a rest period 
awaiting the arrival ot other units ot the division.: No member 
ot the unit knew when or preciseJ.7 where it ...U to mon. lien were 
permitted to leave the area to Yisit triends in neighboring unit•. 
There wa.s.no e'rl.denee ot &n7 contact with. the enemy, rresent or 
imminent. The inatant case, on the other hand; is in the, category ' 
ot the numeroua llb.attle line• ouH, which the Boa.rd in the .f!ra .. 
and AU.m case apeci!ical.ly distingUiehed__in the !ollo~.,languagez. 

I ·--· 	 . 
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"In·those cases the units of the accused in­
volved were actually engaged in canbat or 
in highly important tactical missions either 
at or shortly after the conunenc~nt of his 
unauthorized absence" (p.9) •. 

Accused's confession, however,·indicates that he was aware of 

imminent combat duty: · 


"l couldnt take any more so I took oft. * * *. 
There were 11.P.s in Naple.s but I did not want 
to get sent back up to the lines so I did not · 
turn myself in. When I heard the outfit had · 
moved out of Anzio, I went up there. * * *. · 
I just cant take it, I do not want to go 
back up to the outfit". 

"'" 
Notification to accused was adequately established. (cases cited in 

O.! ETO 5958, ~and Allen, CM ETO 4138, ~;'CM ETO 4689, Lorek 

and Heiman; CM E'IO 5079, Bowers; Cl(:&'() S~J, Killen, CM ETO 6<179,w, 

:Marchetti). ~<; 


(d) Accused was seen by Estes 11 just before dark". The 
platoon, which was under or close to enem;y fire, moved out to the 
road after dark and it was then discovered that accused was absent. 
The unit moved out without him and was installed in another location. 
Its. further activities do not appear in the record, but it was 
obviously pressing forward to.wards the enerq. The portion of his 
confession quoted above confirms the inference· that accused so timed 
his absence as to be reasonably sure of missing combat duty with 
his unit. His failure to surrender to military police was prompted. 
by tear of being sent to the front lines. This is indicated by the 
fact that over seven months after the inception ofhis absence, when 
he heard his unit had moved and believed there was no further dan­
ger of meeting and rejoining it, he returned to Anzio and was appre­
hended. At the trial he offered no explanation of his absence. His 
intent, at the time of leaving his unit, to. avoid the hazardous duty 
of combat nth the enen:iy was convincingly established (cases cited 
in subpar.(c) supra; ~ ETO 5555, Slovik; eH ETO 5565, Fendorak) • 

. . ··.:· .· • ' . 1 

6.· a. First Lieutenant R. H. Lewis, as personnel officer, 30th 
, Ini'ant17, eertifled. an extract copy of' a morning report oi' aooua1d 1s 

company containing entries showing his absence for the period alleged. 
Lieut~ant .Lena aiso signed a letter, dated 1!3 November 1944, to his 
regimental commander reciting such absence together with other infor­
mation shom~:on accused 1 s locator. card. Both the extract copy and 
the letter ar6 :Part of the accompanying papers and neither is a part 
of the record ot trial. First Lieutenant Ruel H. ~s, JOth Infantry, 
evident~ the same officer, was appointed and sat as a member or 
the court (R3) • When the prosecution requested the members to_.state 

6810-5- -.... 
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a:ny facts believed to be a ground of challenge by either side 
against any member, be remained silent. The defense did not' 
chaJ..;J.enge him (R4). There is no indica~ion that he was not 
competent er eligible to serve on the court-martial. He was 
not the accuser, did not investigate the case and was not calJ.ed 
as a witness at the trial. Hiit only connection with the case 
was the fact that he had iii the c:.iurse of his duties seen 
prima facie evidence of accused's absence without leave. The 
acts of signing the extra.ct copy and letter, however, were 
purely administrative and, in the absence of indication of in­
jury to any of accused's substantial rights, any irregularity 
involved in Lieutenant Lewis' sitting as a member of the court 
may be regarded as harm.less (C:1i ETJ 2471, 1~cDer;nott; CM ETO 4967, ·; · 
Junior G. Jones). ,l: 

. 

b. The record does not expressly state that accused assent­


ed to the stipulation as to the testimony of Lieutenant Tritico 

(Pros.Ex.A) concerning the talcing of accused's statement (Pros. 

Ex.B), which, it will be assumed by the Board of Review, amounts 

to a confession. It does, however, show that defense counsel 

expressly asked accused if he would stipulate that if the 

officer were present and sworn he would testify as shown in the 

stipulation and that immediately thereafter defense counsel 

stated "The acci.lsed agrees". After its admission in evidence 

the stipulation was read in open court. It is signed 'by 

accused as well as by the defense counsel and the trial judge 

advocate. 


"A stipulation need not be accepted by the 
court, and should not be accepted where a:ny 
doubt exists as to the accused's understand­
ing of v.hat is involved" (MCM, 1928, par. · 
126£, p.1.36). . 

It is not essential that .the record show accused' a nrbal a.esent 

to the stipulation (en! ETO .364, Howe), and the ae1ertions ot 

defense ccunsel in accused's preS'Em'Ce, coupled with the.facts 

that the subject matter of the stipulation and statement were 

uncontroverted nnd that accused signed both, warranted tho COllrt 

in concluding that there was no doubt "as to the e.cc-qeed. 11 undel"" 

standing of what is involved" in the stipulation (MOM, 1928, . 

par.l26l2,, p.1,36, C11 ETO 4564, Woods, Jr.) • 


. \\.r 

Defense counsel specifica.117 stated thero wa.e no 

objection to the admission in evidence of the'stat~nt so inade 

by accused. There is no indication that it w~a otherwiso ~tn 
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-6-

~ 

http:e.cc-qeed.11
http:extra.ct


(225) 

voluntarily made. The corpus delicti of the offense, absence 

without leave (C!.! 143744, 145555 (1921), Dig.Op.JAG, 1912-1940, 

sec.416(7a), p.267),was established (par.5(a), supra). Under 

date of 15 lfovember 1944 the statement was signed by accused 

and verified before Lieutenant Tritico (Pros.Ex.B). It was 

read in open court after its admission in evidence. 


11A stipulation which practically amounts to a 
confession vrhere the accused had pleaded not 
guilty and such plea still stands * * * 
should not ordinarily be accepted by the court. 
In a capital case and in other important cases 
a stipulation should be closbl.y scrutinized 
before acceptance. 

* {< * the court may be rore liberal in accept­
ine stipulations as to testimony" (Ibid., pp. 
1.36-137). 

The stipulation above referred to concerned testimony as ts> th,e 
taking of accused's· confession, which was a separate document, sign­
ed and verified by him. Such stipulation is to be distinguished 
from one vihich in itself "practically amounts to a· confession" • 
.But, al though it was far from a stipulation of ultimate guilt, 
·it·merited close scrutiny by the court before acceptance in this 
highly serious case. Likewise, the Board of Review upon appel.la.te 
review should carefully scrutinize stipulations. Upon doing so 
in this case, it finds no indication of any irregularity which 
could.injuriously affect any of accused 1 s·substantial rights. It 
affirl'.\IB.tively appears, on the contrary, that those rights were 
fully protected. 

c. A psychiatric report, dated 17 November 1944, and signed 

by J. Robert Campbell, Major, Medical Corps, Division Psychiatrist, 

is pa.rt of the accompanying ;,::ia.pere and reads in part as follows: 


,:f.. 

,·"'"2•. INFOfil':ATION FURNISHED BY THE SOI.DIER: 


* * * Claims head injury in 1942 with thirteen weeks 
hospitalization. •Infected scalp and amnesia 
for a week. 

,3. MENTAL EXAMINATION: 

Soldier examined 17 November 1944 at Company 
•D• 3rd Uedical Battalion. • 

Literacy may be better than claimed. He is 
able to write his name and words such as •cat' 
(made up of letters used in his name) spelling 6810
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the shor~ words without assistance. 

Mental Age, by Kent Test, is 10 years. Arith­
metical calculations better than M.A. and ecuca-· 
tion expectations justify (e.g. l.00 -_.37=.• 63). 
Geographical, chronological and current knowledge 
as well as narrative ability are also better than 
formal t'est and education expectations. His 
nine months AWOL al.so suggests shrewdness beyond 
expectations for a mental defective. Hence, 
despite relative illiteracy, I find intelligence 
to be within normal limits. 

There is no evidence of mental disease or defect 
and specifically no evidence ~r organic damage 
of brain or intellectual functions of nature 
attributable to old civil:tan head injury. 

Combat reactions confined to physiological fear 
responses. 

-4. CONCLUSIONS: 

- a. At the present time, is this soldier able 
to urderstand the nat.ure of the courts-martial 
proceedings and to assist his defense counsel 
in the preparation and trial of his case? ~ 

* * * 
c. At the time of the alleged offence, was 
this soldier suffering from a mental defect, 
disease or derangement? Hg," 

There is no indication that accused was not sane or responsible for 
his acts both at the time of his offense and at the time of trial · 
(CM ETO 5555, Slovik; CM ETJ 5565, Fendorak; C"...! $TO 5765, Mack, 
and authorities therein cited). 

d. The record of trial reveals that accused was fully 
accorded due process of law as proyided by the Articles of War 
and faile to disclose any action or ruling by the court which pre­
judiced his subst~tial rights (CM ETO 5555, Slovik; CM ETO 5565, Fendora1s). 

7. The charge sheet shows that accused is 21 years of age 
and was inducted U. March 1943 to serve for the duration of the 
war plus six months. He had no prior service. 

-8­
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8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the 

· substantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board .. of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial 

· is legally sufficient to su;.::port the findings of guilty and 

the sentence. ­. 

"9. The .penalty for desertion committed in time of war is 
death or such other punishment as the court-martial may direct 
(AW 5S). 

<.U ~~ 

_ _.../_~~--'-'~--~--~--------Judge Advocate 

,/ 

7 ___ r:/-_, _______'Jh_~(_<_.-_ -~-~_- Judge Advocate 

(l/ ..../ .U... }
-~---..-....-~:;.;...:,{__,L... _ ......,,,.,./1..-,,.__Judge Advocate ·...._Wt_.44_-t.£t._..··'-lA--=_

7
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lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The J~e Advocate G~eral with 
the European Theater of Operations. 2 6 FEB 1945 TO: Command­
ing General, European Theater of Operations, APO 887, U.S. Arm;y. 

l. In the case of Private CALVIN L. SHAMBAUGH (35750636), 
Company H, 30th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is leg~ 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, ' 
which holding is hereby approved. · Under the provisions of Article 
of War 5~, you now have authority to order execution o.t the sen­
tence. : ' 

2. Of the legal sufficiency of the record of trial to 
support the sentence of death in this case there can be no 
doubt. The accused is 21 years of age. He had practic~ no 
education and is virtually illiterate. He was inducted·in llarch 
194.3 and joined the 3rd Infantry Division on 26 September 1943. 
He was hospitalized in line of duty- on 2S October 1943, returned 
to his.former organization·on ll Januaeyl944, and the absence for 
which he was charged commenced on 'Zl January. His present company 
coi:iimander has no knowledge of )lis character or efficiency but he 
has had no previous convictions or bad time. Although accused 1s . 
absence endured over 1even month&, the evidence in this case fails 
to show a deliberate design to secure incarceration in order to ' 
avoid the perils and hazards of combat, !as in C'.J ETO 5555, Slotlk 
and CM ETO 5565, Fendorak), and points to cowardice on accused's . 
part rather than criminality. .• 

· 3 • . When copies of the published order are fonra.rded ·to 
this office, they should be accompanied by- the foregoing holding,· 
this indorsement, and the record of trial which is d~livered to 

, you herewith. The file number of the ·record in this office is 
' : CM ETO MlO. For convenience of reference, please place that number 
~cket•,~: l~ end of the order: (Cl! ETO 6810), 

·11.· ·~~- ,"'
;({/#?~ 
. E. C. McNEIL 
~Brigadier General, United States Army, 
(._~~~~s~~~_Judge Advocate General. 

--~----~--------~~~----
{Sente. nc e confirmed but after reconsideration commuted to dishonorable 
discharge, total .forfeitures and confinel!lent .for l.U'e. acKO 65 ETO 
4 Karch 1945). . . ' ' 

.. 
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!lranch ~fice of The Judge .Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of operations 
A.PO 887 . · .~ 

BOARD OF lE'VIE':"f l:O. 1 

CM ETO 682.3 

UNITED STATES) 
) 

v. 	 ) 
) 

Private First Class I/ALTER ) 
JOID..SON, JR, (.35651419), ) 
Company A, 10th Infantry ) 

) 
) 

8 FEB 1~45 

5TH llJFA!;TRY DIVISION 

Tr:i.al by GCI.i, convened at Fels, · 
Luxe::ibourg, 6 January 1945. 
Sentence; Dishonorable discharge, 
total forfeitures and confinement 
at hard labor for three years. 
Federal Reformatory, Chillicothe, 
Ohio. 

HOLDrnG by BOARD OF REVID1 KO. 1 · 

RITER, SHEPJ.!AH and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and found legally sufficient 
to sup~ort the sentence •. 

2. Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized upon conviction 
of involuntary manslaU&hter by Article of ':".'ar 42 and section 275, 
Federal Criminal Code \18 IBCA 454), Prisoners, however, 25 years of 
age and younger and with sentences of not more than ten years, .will be 
confined in a Federal correctional institution or reformatory. The 
designation of the Federal Reformatory, Chillicothe, Ohio, as the 
place of confinement is, therefore, proper (Cir.229, VlD, 8 Jun 1944, 
.sec.II, pars.1~(1) and .3,!!, as amended by Cir.25, VID, 22 Jan 1945). 

~ 1. .•I At::/! .
1,,,,,.. ,,.._/ f, . Jud A' t __o~"-·._._.....(!,,._.,_._,._.-__<L_"7.;....___ ge uvoca e 

)h~l ~~udge Advocate 

~Z:.~;Judge .Adv~cate 

6823 
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Branch Vf'fice of 'lhe Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European 1ben.ter ot Operations 

AFO SS'{ 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 19 MAR-1945 
CM ETO 6$40 

UNITED STATES) 95TH n:FANTRY DIVISIQ.;-1 

v. Trial by GC".J:, convened at ~ 95, 
U.S. Army, 21 January 1945. Sentence: 

Private ClLUUES R. STOLTE ) Dishonorable discharge, total forfeit~ 
(32568132), Company B, ) and confinement at hard labor for life. 
377th Infantry ) Eastern Branch, United States Discip- , · 

) llnary- Barracks,, Gre~nhav..n, New York. 

l 

HOLDrnG by BOARD OF REVIEW 00. 2. 

VAN BEI~SCHOTEN, HILL and EVINS,, Judge Ad.vocatea 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the· Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifica-· 
tion: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of \'far. 

Specification: In that Private Charles R Stolte, 
Cornyiany B, 377th Infantry, did, at Uckange, 
France, on or about 9 November 1944, desert 
the service of the United States by absenting 
himself' without proper leave from his organi­
zation with intent to avoid hazardous du't7, 
to wit: combat against an anned enemy,. and 
did remain absent in desertion \llltll he 
surrendered himself at Reims, France, on or 
about 2 December 1944. 

-1­
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He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the I:lembers of' the 
court present when the vote was ta.ken concurring, was found guilty 
ot the Charge and Specification, No evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced. Three-fourths or. the members or the court present 
when the vote was taken concurring, he wa.s sentenced to be dishonorably 
discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 
becone due and to be confined at ha.rd labor at such place as the 
review.1.ng authority may direct, !or the term o! his natural lite, . The 
reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the Eastern 
Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as 
the place of' continer.1ent and forwarded the record or trial for a.ction 
pursuant to the provisions o! Article o! War 5~. 

3, The evidence tor the prosecution shows that on 9 l~ovember 
1944, accused was a member of the tirst squa.d, second platoonf Company 
B, 377th Infantry, which was bivouacked near Ucka.nge, France \R6,7,9),
On the early mo"l'ning or this date, accused's company was ordered to 
cross the Moselle River with an assigned mission or occupying an:i 
holdin5 a hilly B.Xld woody area about one mile east ot the river 
(R7,9), The crossing was ::iade in assault boats, as scheduled, before 
dawn, and the high ground and woods taken, as ordered. During 
the crossing the company was subjected to small anns tire and before 
they were able to 11cll.g in", the enemy sent over a heavy artillery 
barrage resulting in one manb~r of the company being ld.lled and 
tour others wounded (R7). Before proceeding to take the objective, 
accused's company was regrouped and reorcanized, at which time it 
was discovered that' the assault boat, in which accused and the 
members ot his squad were loaded had not reached the east shore. 
Due to a swift current this barge drifted some distance downstream 
and the squad leader therein ordered the boat returned to the west 
side or the river from which it was launched (R7,9), 

The squad returned to the headquarters of the First Battalion~ 
'Which had remained behind, joined up with this organization a.nd crossed 
the river with it four days later. Accused was :;:iresent when they arrived 
at the Battalion Co~J.a.nd, but was not present vl'.l.th the First Battalion 
on the west bank the following day or at the tir.'.e it crossed the river 
on 13 November 1944 (a7,9,12). Under heavy artillery and mortar fire, 
and some small arms tire, accused's company together with certain · 
elements or A and D Companies and the First Battalion, continued .to 
attack the Genna.n held positions during vmich losses were suffered, 
Accused was ~eturned to his organization after voluntarily SUITendering 
himself to the n:dlitarJ police at PJieiins, Fra.;-,ce on 2 December 1944 
(Rlo,12). · 

. An extract copy of the morning rei:ort or Co;r, any B, 377th 
Intantry1 received. in evidence without objection by the defense, showed 

-2- 6840 
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accused's absence from and return to milit~ dut7 on the dates 
alleged (RlO; Pros.Ex.A). The Prosecution al.so submitted, and 
the court recei~d in evidence without objection by the defense, 
a voluntary statement made b;r accused during the investigation, 
which is, in part, as follows: 

110n 9 Hovember 1944, I * * *left my organiza­
tion in the vicinity of Ukrange, France. [!J 
went into Belgium and s~wed there awhile with 
some civilians * * * Ll_/ went dom into the 
vicinity of Rheims, France. Here I * * * 
gave * * * up to the M:.P. Headquarters and. th91 
put me in_tll.e replacement pool and * * * returned. 

, liii/ to lJI13f organization. • 

While in ·tJkraiige we were subjected to heavy enenv 
fire and I was nry scared, iI;f' neM"es went to 
pieces and I left. I know now that I did the 
wrong thing and would like to go back to lrfJ' 
compaey- and I would try lrfJ' best to be a man 
and stay there no matter what happened. I have 
always been a good soldier and always carried 
out all rrr:r orders. I canno·t express in words 
how ashamed I am that I let myself get out 
of hand and co!':'.mit such a wrong offence. * * * 
In the cours~ of the events at Ukrange Pvt. 
Fiorentino Lwho left Yd.th accuse~ said that 
he had gone Alt>L before on a river crossing and 
had only· gotten a summary court and was sentenced 
to 10 or 15 daye and then returned to·hi• organi­
zation" (RJ.2; Pros.Ex.B) • 

..
4. After an explanation of his rights ae a witness accused 

elected to remain silent. 'Iha defense introduced only one witness, 
namely, Captain Joseph C. Tedesco, ~edical Corps, acting Division 
Neuropsychiatrist, Who testified that he examined accused on 10 
January 1945 .and foum him to ·be "mental]1' much below par" or average. 
He determined that accused had a mental age ot 15 ;rears and stated 
that although accused "looks 45" he is "act~ only 3111 

• He 
completed the 4th grade in school. Witness considered accused "a 
mental defective" but .·"capable o! distinguishing right trom wrong• 
and ot being able' to assist in the preparation ot his defense. In 
the opinion of the witness, accused 1s nental condition was such that 
he could easily' be innuenced by othere cm,14). ' .; 

5. a. Competent uneontradieted evidenc.e established that on 
9 November 1944 accused was a member ot a combat organization which 
was ordered to cross the Moselle River in the tace of heav;r enem;r 
tire, and to participate in an attack upon the heights bqond, which . 
were held by the enem;y. When his platoon embarked in assault boats, 
the boat conta.i nfog accused 1 s squad was forced by the swift current 
downstream some distance and did not make the crossing. He the16'8 4 O 

Pi!!·Jff!it:Tl \l 
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after absented himself from his squad and deliberately remained away 
• 	fare more than three weeks9 -His cornpall1' was under .enemy !ire at the 

time he absented himself and it suffered a considerable number o! 
casual.ties. lhe evidence indicates tha.t accused had full knowledge 
ot the hazards and ...rerlls or this operation and his own statement 

• 	 (Proa.Ex.B) corroborates this conclusion. All the elements of the 
offense of .desertion with intent to avoid hazardous duty are -:::roven 
beyond a reasonable doubt (QC El'O 2.473, Ca,ntweU; CM ETO 3380~ 
Silberschmidt; CK.BTO 4570, Ha.wkins and author~ties therein cited) • 

.. ·• b. 'l'he questi~n or the mental responsibility or accused 
was essentially· an issue or tact tor the de'termination of the court. 
The defense ottered evidence in this connection, contained in the 
test1moey of a medical officer, an expert· psychiatrist, who stated, 
that in his opinion, accused was below the average in intelligence 
and a mental defective but that he was capable of' di·stinguishing 
right i'rom 'WI'ong. Opposed to this testimoey there is contained in 
the record of trial substantial evidence, including his own admission, 
.that~ acted deliberately and with !ul.l. consciousness that he was 
guilty of cowardly conduct. Under such circumstances the findings 
ot the· court will be accepted and not disturbed by the Board of Review 
{aJLETO 45701 Hawkins, supra; CJ ETO 5747, Harrison and authorities 
dted therein)., · - · 

. · 6.- The charge sheet shows that accused is 31 years of age and 
that he was inducted 23 October 1942. Bo prior service is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
· the person and offense. Ho errors injuriously- affecting the sub­

stantial rights of' accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of' Review is of the opinion that the record of' trial is 
legally sur!icient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

s. The of'!ense o! desertion, in time or war, is punishable 
by- death or su.ch other~punishment as a court-martial may- direct ' 
(iu'V 58)•. The designation or the Eastern Branch, United States · 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, Hew York, as the place of confine­
ment, is proper (.A.1' 42; Cir.210, i'ID, 14 Sept. 1943, Sec.VI, as . . 
amended).· .· 

· 	 -..... Judge AdTOeate 

, ~ Judge Advocate, 

Vfi~-- Judge Advocate 

·{/ 	 ~ .·.. .· 
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Branch O!fice of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 3 

CM. ETO 6842 


UNITED STATES ) 95TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. 

Private EUGENE W. CUFTON 
( 38.320203), Compaiv K, 
378th lhfantry · 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

) 

Trial b)" GCY, conTened at AFO 95, U.S. 
Army, 17 January 1945. Sentence: 
dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures 
and confinement at hard labor for life. 
Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York • 

.. 

HOIDING b7 BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 3 
SLEEPER, SHERYAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 

l. lhe record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tr~eci. upon the followihg Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Eugene W. Clifton, 
Compa.ey "K", 378th Infantq, did, at or near 
Lisdort, Gertn8.J\Y, on or about 5 December 

.1944, desert the service of. the United States 
by absenting himself without proper leave from 


. his orga.nH:ation with intent to avoid hazardous 

duty, to wit: Engage in combat with the enet!J1' 


·in his capacity as rif1eman an:i did remain 
absent in desertion until he surrendered 
himself at'Coume,.France on or about 23 Dec~-
ber 1944. · · .. 

He pleaded not guilty. and, three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was.found of 
the Specification of the Charge, guilty, except the word "organffS-4·2 
tion" substituting therefor the words "place of duty", of_ the. ex- .. 

-1­
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cepted. word, not guilty, of the substituted words, guilty, of the 
Charge, guilty. .Evidence was introduced 6f one previous conTiction 
by special court-martial for absence without leave for about 18 
days in violation of Article ~f war 61. Three-fourths of the mem­
bers of the court present at the time the vote was taken concurring, 
he was sentenced to. be dishonorably discharged the service, to for­
fei t all' pi.y and allowances due or to become! due and to be confined 
at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, 
for the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved 
the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United States Discip­
linary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, 
and . forwarded the record of. trial for action pursuant to the provisions 
of Article of War 50i. · · 

j. '!he evidence for the prosecution showed that accused was 

a rifleman, Corupany K, 378th Infantry (R6,20). On 3 December 1944, 

that company 11fcught its way" into Lisdort, Germany, located near 


. the west bank of the Saar River. Upon reaching Lisdort, it estab­
lished' headquarters and remained there until the morning of 5 

.Decanber 	at which time it crossed the Saar and moved into Ensdort,
Germany, some 1000 yards east of the river. (R9,10,19,24). 1 Although 
the crossing proved not particular4 hazardous, severe opposition was 
encountered in Ensdort and fatal casualties were there suffered (R7, 
io). lhe company remained "on the- other side of the river" actively 
engaged with the eneicy" in severe fighting under extremely adverse 
combat conditions until the night of 22 December when it withdrew 
across the Saar. lmmediate4 thereafter, early in the morning of 23 
December, it moved back to a rest area in ~oume, France, some nine 
or·ten miles behind the lines (R8,9,ll). Accused, was mt seen 
by his first sergeant at. any t~ during the above period (RS,11). 

An unsworn sJ;.atement voluntarily made by the accused to an 

investiga,ting officer was i!ltroduced in evidence without object and 

reads in :i:art as follows: · . 


11 I was with the kitchen truck on the 5th of Dec­
ember 1944 when mY company crossed the Saar 
River. I Temained behind to take treatment 
for piles. I told the Supply Sergeant that I 
was taking treatment and he s~id he would let 
the company know. I had the permission of the 
Captain in the Medics. I do not know who the 
Captain was. ·Went AWOL fro:n the kitcheti about 
five (5) days later" (R24,25; Pros.Ex.BJ. ' 
lt is fairly inferable from the record that on 3,4 and 5 

December the regimental aid station was located at AJ.t-Forweiler 
(P.2l). Although the location of this town is not disclosed by 
the evidence,. reference to the map shows it to be west of the 
Saar some four or five miles southwest of Lisdorf. The records 
of the aid station showed that accused was there treated for di4J:xS42 

. 
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on 3 and 4 Decenber after which he was marked "returned to duty" 

(R20,21). There •as no indication in the aid station records 

that he received treatment on 5 December (R21). However, Capt,9.in 

George w. Heintzelman, the regimental surgeon, testified that he 

remembered treating accused for diarrhea, which he characterized 

as mode~ately' severe but not incapacitating, on or about that 

date. He further testified that it was quite possible that he 

might have told the accused at that time that he need not rejoin 

his company for "a day or two". Howenr, he was certain that the 

maximum period during which he specified that accused might 11 sta1 

away" did not exceed two days (R22). ­

The mess sergeant of accused 1s company testified that 
nI believe it was on the 8th or 9th,· the dates I get mixed up", 
accused reported to him at the kitchen, then in storage at 
Coume, and stated that he had been to the "medics", bad been 
treated for piles, and was to take a few days rest (RlJ,14). 
Some days later the kitchen was moved to Holzmuhle, appro.ximatel7 
lOCX> yards west or Lisdori'. Accused remained wit.h the mess 
sergeant during the time the kitchen was in Coume and aided him 1n 

-making the IJIOYe t.o Holzmuhle (Rl.4,16,18). On or about 10 December 
1944, First .L.ieutenant Charles C. Walsh, Service Company, 378th 
Infantry, who was maintaining an ammunition dump, gas point and 
ration point at Holzmuhle, learned of accused's presence at the 

ld.tchen. He then "cont.acted" accused, told him to report to his 

supply sergeant at L1sdorf,· cross the river there and return 

t.o bis canpany. At or about th• same time he instructed accused's 

supply sergeant to "pick up" the accused and have him join his 

company carrying i:art7(Rl9J. Two days later, he saw accused at 

the crossing point near Lisdor! with his supply' sergeant, who 

"accompanied him to the river**" and they crossed the river 

to the eastern bank" (Rl91 20). However, accused did not rejoin 

his company but returned to the kitchen area, secured. his equip­

ment, and disappeared (M,ll,15 116). Although the date upon 


· 	which this disappearance took place is not clear from the testimoey 
ot Lieutenant Walsh and the mess.sergeant, who were unsure of the 
date in question and whose testimoey on the point is conflicting 
(Rl5,16,18,19,20), the accused's statement to the investigating offi ­
cer recites that he was with the kitchen truck on 5 December when his 
company crossed the Saar and that he "Went AWOL from the kitchen 
about five (5) d~s later" (R24,25; Pros.Ex:.B).' It thusappears 
that he left the kitchen area on or about 10 December 1944. 

· On 2.3 December, after the COmpaJl7 had moved back to 

Coume, accused "came into the orderly' room and said that he was 

ba.ck" (RS). 'iihen itsked by his first sergeant where he had been, 

he replied that he had been sick and that he h&d been unable to 

rejoin the compan;y (:R9,10). He appeared "perfectly' normal" to 

the sergeant. At the close ot this conversation, accused was 

placed under guard (RS,9). 
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4. For the defense, Staff Sergeant Rudolph T. Simek, C.mp8!J1' 
K, 378th Infant1"1, testified that he wa.e platoon guide in accused's 
platoon on 5 December and that early in th~ nx>rning of that ~ 
accused came to him, complained of diarrhea, ard requested per­
mission to go on sick call. He referred accused t.o the platoon 
leader (later killed in action) 1 who granted such permission. 
Accused was not therea!terseen.by witness until approx:1.mately 22 
December after "•e moved back to a rest area and the accused came 
to our room". At that time he made inquiry of accused concerning 
his heal.th and accused replied that his "nerves were shot". He 
asked accused my he had not returned to the company to which 
accused replied. that he had been taking "some kind of treatments". 
He thereupon told accused to report to the orderly room. On . 
cross-examination, upon being asked whether his unit was engaged 
in combat from 5 to 23 December, this witness stated "Just one 
platoon, sir. We encountered a few German patrols and drove them 
o!tt'. Upon being asked whether the "whole company" was engaged 
in combat during this period he replied in the affirmative (R261 27). 

After being advised of his rights as a witness, accused 
elected to remain silent. 

5. a. ibe evidenc:eadduced showed that accused's organization 
was engaged in almost continuous combat from 3 December 1944 to 
22 December 1944. On 3 December it !ought its way into Lisdort, 
GerDl8.n7, located near the west bank of the Saar River. On 5 Decem­
ber it crossed tl:e Saar. Thereafter it was engaged with the enE1D7 
on the east side of the river until the night of 22 Dect:mber when 
it withdrew to a rest area at Coume, France. Early in the mrning 
on 5 December, accused, who on 3 and 4 December had been treated. 
for diarrhea at the regimental aid station, again secured permission 
to go on Bick call. While the company crossed the S&a:r, he reported 
to the aid station and there received. treatment for his ailment, 
which was moderately se°Tere but not incapacitating. Although he was 
marked "returned to duty-11 after receiving treatment on 3 and 4 Decem­
ber, the regimental surgeon testified that he may have told him that 
he need not rejoin his company for "a day or two". However, the 
surgeon was postive th.at 11' he did so inform the . accused. he did not 
grant him permission to "stay away" for more than two days. Thus, 
at the latest, accUBed was under a duty to return to his.assigned 
dut7 as rineman at the expiration of the two day period. He did 
not do so but remained west of the Saar with the ld.tchen personnel 
and, on or about 10 December, when discovered at the ld.tchen and 
ordered to rejctin his com~ east of the Saar, diBappeared. from 
the ld.tchen area and did not return until 23 December after his 
company had withdrawn to the rest area at CGume. 

In i:assing upon the question whether this conduct 
constitutes "AW 5!-28 desertion", the case of CM E'IO 4702, Petrurul, 
is of interest. In that case, accused was wounded while advancing 
with his companJ. during an attack whereupon he left the line of 
advance and reported to the battalion aid station. The medical 6842 
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officer in· charge of the aid station treated his wounds, which he 
pronounced. non-disabling, and directed him to return to his com~ 
for duq. Accused instead went to a battalion headquarters where 
he remained for three days after which he' reported to his unit. In 
the interim the company engaged 1n severe fighting. In passing 
upon the record of trial the Board of Review said: 

nThe evidence presents a· perfect pattern ot 
.the offense of absence without leave with 
intent to avoid hazardous dut7. The accused 
suf!ered superficial minor wounds which were 
pronounced nondisabling. He legiti.m.ately 
appeared at the aid station for treatment. 
With fUll knowledge that his unit was engaged 
in an attack o.n the enencyr, he availed himself of 
the opportunity thus afforded him to avoid 
further hazards of battle. For three d~s he 
remained in comparative safety while his fellow 
soldiers faced the greatest of battle dangers. 
When the attack was over he conveniently 
returned to his command. The charge against 
him was fUlly sustained". 

The instant case iresents the same general patternias 
that presented b;J' the above case, with two exceptions. There 
accused was directed to return to his compall.1' immediately upon 
receiving treatment and instead went to battalion headquarters. 
Here the accused probably was told after receiving treatment 
that he need not rejoin bis unit for "a day or two" and, although 
he did not return to that portion of his company which was engaged 
in combat across the river, he did return to a rear echelon 
detachment of his own compaey. These differences in the factual 
situation do not affect the application of the principle invo1Ved. 
Although accused may have been told he need not rejoin his compBnY" 
for a day or two, he was uroer a duty to return at the expiration 
of this ~riod and, since he was a rifleman, this duty involved 
returning to his platoon, not to the kitchen. Instead, he took 
advantage of ~he opportunity afforded him by bis legit.mate presence 
at the aid station and the limited grant Of authority given him 
by the regimental surgeoq to avoid further hazards of battle. As 
in the case to which reference was above made, he remained in 
comparative safet7 for a period of approximately two weeks while 
other rifieman in bis company were facing battle dangers and 
returned to his unit only after it withdrew to a rest area. By 
!ailing to return to his proper place of duty at least b7 the 
evening of 7 December he absented himself' without leave from that 
place of duty and, under the circumstances here shown, the court 
was fully warranted in finding that such absence wa.s ootivated 
b7 the.intent to avoid hazardous duty. The Board of Review according+Y 
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concludes that the conduct of which accused was found guilty 
constitutes desertion in 'Violation of Article of War 58 
(see CM ETO 4702., Petruso, supra; a.a: ETO 4165, Fecica; Cll ETO 
5341, ~; C'M: ETO 6468, Panca.kt; CM ETO 6997, Jennings; et 
al; and C! CM ETO 6198, ~ CY l!.'TO 4093, ~; CM ETO 1404., 
Stack). 

b. Even though it has been concluded that accused's conduct 
on the 7th constituted a violation of Article of War 58, there 
re.mains for consideration the question whether there was in this 
case a fatal variance between the specification and the proof. 
Accused was charged with having deserted the service of tre United 
States by absenting himself without leave from his organization 
on or about 5 December 1~4 with intent to avoi~ hazardous dut71 
"to wit, engage in combat with the enem;y in his capacit7 as a 
rifleman". 'lhe proof showed that he initially absented him.self 
from his place of duty rather than his organization4ui.d the court 
so foun:i by exception and substitution) and that such initial 
absence took place on 7 December rather than 5 December. However, 
the words of the Specification "absenting_hi.msel.f'* * * from his 
organization with intent to avoid* * * Lengag~ * * * in combat 
with the en~ in his capacity as riAfl!!MP 11 were designed to reach 
and are broad enough to cover the specific kind of.conduct here 
shown, i.e. failure to return to his place of duty: after receiving 
treatment at the aid station. The words o! the Specification 
"on or about 5 December 1944" were sufficientl.7 broad to permi~ 
proof of the occurrence of this offense on 7 December 1944 (Cf: 
CM ETO 5953, ~). It thus appears that the specification 
sufficiently' alleges the offense for which accused was tried and 
of which he was found guilty and that there was no real or sub­
stantial variance between specification and proof. 

6. 'lhe charge sheet shows that accused is 25'years of age 
and was i.n:lucted at Tulsa, Oklahoma, on 22 October 1942. No 
prior service is shown. 

7. The court was legally' constituted am had jurisdiction 
of the person and offens • N• errors injuriously affecting 
the substantial rights of accused were committed during the 
trial. The Board of .Review is of the opinion that the record of 
trial is legally. sufficient to support the findings of guilty 
and the sentence. 

8. '!be pehalt;y for de19ertion in time of war is death or 
such other puniehment as a cwrt-martial m~ direct (AW 58). The 
des:ignation of the Ea.stern Branch, United States Disciplinary- Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement is authorized 
(AW 42, Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept.1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

-4:r 

http:Panca.kt


__ 

(241) 

Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 

European Theater of Operatipns 


APO 887 


I 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 1 8 FEB 1945. .. 

CM ETO 6851 

UNITED S T ATE. S ) UNITED KINGDOM BASE, COMMONICATION3 
) ZmE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF O::eERATIONS 

v. ) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at London, 

Private JACK A. COMPTON 
(18018042), 375th company, 

) 
) 

England, 16 January 1945· Sentences 
Dishonorable discharge, total for­

lOlst Battalion, 12th Re­ ) teitures and confinement at hard 
placement Depot ) labor for five years. Federal Re­

) formatory. Chillicothe, Ohio. 

HOIDim by BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 1 
RITER, SHERMAN and STEVIDS, Judge Advocates 

l. '!!le record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of RevieY and found legally sufficient 
to support the" sentence. 

2. Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized for the offense 
of larceny of- property of a value- of $50.00 or more by Article of War 
42 and section 2fY/, Federal Criminal Code ( 18 USCA. 466). However, 
prisoners 25 years of age and younger and with sentences of not more 
than ten years will be confined in a Federal correctional institution 
or reformatory.. The place of- confinement herein designated is there­
fore proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.la(!), 3a, as 
amended by cir.25, WD, 22 Jan~ 1945)• - ­

• 
"'~ 

• ;'. • I-' 
___.,e_r:_._--"_.~_·;..";..L_-:·-~/-"~.;..-_.:.,___ J'Udge Advocate 

I 

---~-~---~-C._._~_·"_r-_.--_~ ,_t._· J'Udge Advocate 

~c.l-J:C. · dt;..__,_,tl.J:), J'Udge Advocate 

. v . 68.51 
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Branch Office of The Judge .Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
A.PO 887 

BOARD CP' REVIE:I HO. 1 

CI.~ ETO 6857 

UNITED ST ATE s ) 
) 

v. ) 
) 

Private ROBERT B. DOUGAN ) 
(20724C26), Company C, ) 
117th Infantry ) 

) 
) 

2 4 FEB 1945 

30l'H rnFANTRY DIVISION 

Trial by GCM, convened at Kerkrade, 
Holland, 16 December 1944. Sentence: 
Dishonorable discharge, total for­
feitures and coP.i'inement at hard 
labor for life. Eastern Bre.nch, 
United States Disciplinary Barre.clcs, 
Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDD;G by BO.AfJ) OF RL'VIEYf HO. 1 

RITER, SHERi!AN and STLVEl:S, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in t'ie case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Boa.rd of Review. 

2. 'Accused >'.'as tried upon Vie following charges and specifications: 

Cii.ARGE I: Violation of the 6lst Article of ';'Tar. 

Specification: In that Private ILobert B. Dougan, 
Coc1pany "C", 117th Infantry, did, m. thout proper 
leave absent himsel!.' froM his organization at 
LaVerderie, France, fron about 27 July 1S44.. 
to about 31 July 1944. 

CHAP.GE II: Violation of the 58th Article of 'llar. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at Les Brouillets. 
Fro.ncf', on or about 20 August 191;.l,, desert the 
ser•71.ce of the United States and c~id remain 
absent in desertion until he i'Ias apprehended 
at Br11ssells, Belgium, on or about 8 November 
1944. 

- 1 - 6857 


http:ser�71.ce


(244) 

He :pleaded not guilt:r an(; tr:o-thirds of the members of the court present 
at the tirn.e the vote was taken concurring, '•1as found guilt;;· of both charges 
and specifications. Evidence was introduced of two previous convictions 
by special court-nartial and two by sumnary court for absence without 
leave for 28, two, two, and 27 days, respectively, in violation of Article 
of :Var 61. Three-fourths of the members of the court present at the 
til!!e t1-1e vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced. to be dishonorably 
discharged the service, to forfoit all pay and allowances due or to become 
due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing 
authority may direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewing 
authority approved the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary P~racks, Greenhaven, lrew York, as the place of 
confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to 
Article of War 5ot. 

3, Prosecution 1 e evidence summarizes as follows: 

On 27 July lsi44 accused was a member of Company C, 117th Infan­
try. He absented himself fron his company on that date without authority 
and remained absent until 31July1944 (R7; Pros.~.2). 

On 20 August 1S44 accused's corapany was located in Le~ Brouillets; 
France. The to'l'IIl was built around a crossroads. The company area was 
a triangular section of the term of about 500 square yards. Only one 
building of the town remained standing. It 1':as not easy for a man to 
become lost in the vicin:f. t,;v. The compan~r was then under orders to pro­
ceed at 0900 hours on a long motor' march. In the early morning, accused's 
absence without leave was reported to Captain L1orris A. Stoffer, the com­
pany commander. He made a personal search of the area and accused was 
not found. Accuse~ ~as· not with the company until it reached a point in 
G€rman:r preparatory to the attack on Yariadorf on 14 or 15 November 1944 
(R7-9). . 

Accused vras arrested by militar:r police on 8 November 1944 at 
a hotel in Brussells, Beleium. The military policena.n who arrested him 
testified: 

''When I went after him at the hotel, he was in 
bed asleep. I had a Canadian M. P: with me and 
we went to his room and went through his pockets 
and found his American dog tags. * * * he was 
very drunk. ii· '1.- * I asked him whether he was 
B.J?. American or Canac.ian and he said he was an 
Am"rican but in the Canadian Army. I asked 
him what he was doing with .American dog tags 
and he said I would find out later" (RlO). 

The policeman did not find an .American A:rrrry uniform in the room,~but ac­
cused did have a Canadian blue unlform in which he dressed·upon being 
taken into custody (F~lO). 
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In a voluntary e:>..-trti.-ju(icial statement made during thei:re­
trial investiga~ion, accused stated: 

"l admit being av1ay from my organization. at 
La Verderie, France fron 27 July 1944 to 
31 July 1944 without authority•. 

I further admit that I was away from my or­
ga.nizat.ion without authority at Les Brouillets, 
France on 20 Aueust 1944 and remained so until 
I was apprehe~d at Brussells, Belgium on· or 
about 14 Eov. 1944. 

During the above pP-riods of time I was trying 
to find my organization after becoming lost 
from it" (R7; Pros.Ex.l). 

4. After his rights were e::plained to him, accused elected to 
make an unsworn statement. He asserted that he had been in the military 
service since September 1940 - first in the National Guard anC: then in 
the 137th Infantry of the 35th Division, 'and that he saw servic.e in the 
South Pacific from 2 February 1942 to 5 May 1942. When he returned to 
the continental Urµted States, he was assigned to the .3731-d Port Battalion 
as drillmaster and calisthenics instructor. Subsequently he was a member 
of a cadre at Camp Hathaway, Ylashington, until 4 October of a year not , 
stated. He joined the 30th Division on 7 July 1944 immediately before 
it crossed the Vire Canal in :Korrnand:r, France (Rll). He was in Brussels 
as a result of an inquiry he made of an unnamed soldier ~ho stated his 
organization was "around Erussells sornep-lace". He also made inquiry 
of two military policemen "on the other side of Paris" but they dien 1 t 
lalow the location of the 30th Division. He did not '.k!l.ow the location 
of the Division, but nevertheless endeavored to find it (1112). '11ith. 
respect to his possession of a Canadian uniform, accused stated: 

i . 
111 met up with a Canadian soldier and we met up 
with two girls. I don't lalo~ what gave him 
the idea to steal nry uniform but he took mine 
and left his instead and it was all I had left 
to wear" (Rll). 

He rejoined his regiment on 13 November 1944 and that night he was placed 
on the 11first11 outpost. i~ was in the "jump off 11 'rlth his battalion on 
16 November from Al.sdorf to Nia.riadorf as a 11l78.lkie-talkie" operator and 
ammunition bearer for a mortar section (Rll,12). In conclusion he 
declared: 

"All I ask the court - I 1mow I made a mistake 
and I want the chance to go back and prove 
myself a good soldier" (Rl2). 
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5. a. Charge I and Specification: Accused's guilt of absence 
without leave from 27 July 191+4 to 31 July 191+4 was not only proved but 
was also admitted by him. 

b. Charge II and Specification: Accused was absent from his • 
· 	 company without authority on 20 A~""USt 1941. to 8 November 1944 - a total 

of 80 days. During his absence his organization had participated in the 
liberation of France and pursued the enemy into Germany. He was appre­
hended in a drunken condition in Brussels, Belgium, on 8 November by the 
milita.ry police, e.t "t"•hich time he had assumed 'the uniform of the Canadian 
Army •.. 'His statement that during his absence he made efforts to find 
his organization is entitled to little credence. The court was fully 
justified in finding· him guilty of desertion (rit::rli, 1928, par.lJOg, 
p.143; er,~ ETO 6435, Noe and authorities thE:re:_n cHed). . 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 29'years n1.ne months of 
age. He enlisted 12 June 1940 at TopeJr.a, Kansas. Prior service is . 
shown from 6 January 1938 to 8 July 1938 and from 12 July 1939 to 9 Novem­

· ber 1939. His service period is governed by the Service Extension Act 

Of 19LJ.. 


7. The court was legally constituted and had jursidiction of the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were commtted during the trial. ~e Board of Review . 
Is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death er such other 
punish.!Jlent as a court-martial may direct (AW 58). The designation of the 
Eastern Branch, United States Disciplin,:.u-:," Barrac1rs, Greenhaven, New York, 
as the place of confinement ia authorized (A\1 .42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sep 194.3, 
sec.VI, as amended). 

Ll /,/ j;,·~
'1/ 11,. ~ 

_	 .,._...,.l/._· f'k-l'!f-"----'-'1~-· 'k..,..___. ... __Judge Advocate 
1
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Branch Office of Tiie Judge Advocate General. 

with the 


European '!heater of Operations 

APO 887 


BOA.RD OF REVIE"tl NO. 2 

c;i ETO 6881 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Captain HOWARD .U:. HF.GE 
(o-10.35120), and First 
Lieutenant EDGAR R. PARroNS 
Co-1037214), both of the 
27th Chemical Smoke Gener­
at:o r Battalion 

26 MAR 1945 . 

) NORMAfU)Y BASE SECTION, COMMUNICATIONS 
) ZON1:::, .EURCPEAN THEATER OF OPERATIONS 
) 
) Trial by GCY, convened at Cherbourg, 

l Manche, France, 28 November and 6 
Decanber 1944. Sentence as to each 
accused: To be dismissed the eervice. 

) 

~ 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIl.1'1 NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and EVINS, Judge Advocates 

l. Tbe record of trial in the case of the officere named above 
has been examined. by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
ita holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General. with the European Theater 
of Operations. 

2. The accused were tried upon the.following charges and specifi ­
cations: 

CHARGE Iz Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification l: (Finding of not guilty) 

Specification 2: (Finding of not guilty) 

Specification .3= In that Captain Howard M. Hege, 
Chemical. Warfare Service and 1st Lieutenant 
:Edgar R. Parsons, Chemical. Warfare Service, 
both of 27th Chemical Smoke Generator ~ 
Battalion, acting jointly and in pursuance 
of a common intent, did, at or near Pouppe­ 6881 
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ville, France, on or a.bout 6 November 1944, 
wrongfully apply to their own use a truck, 
one-fourth ton, USA No. 20509983, property 
of the United States, furnished !or the 
Military Service, and of a value of n:ore 
than Fifty Dollars ($50.00). 

Specitication 4: (Finding of not guilty) 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 95th Article of Viar. 

Specification: In that * * * acting jointly and in 
pursuance of a conmon intent, did, at or 
near Pouppeville, France, on or about 6 November 
1944, openly and publicly, peddle whiskey 
to Enlisted men of the 490th Port Battalion, 
Transportation Corps, for one thousand francs 
per bottle, said whiskey having been furnished 
them for seventy-six and one-half (7~) !rancs 
per bottle. 

Each accused pleaded not guilty to all charges and specifications and, 
three-fourths of the members of the court present when the vote was 
taken concurring, both accused were found not guilty of ~pecificationa 
11 21 and 4 of Charge .I, guilty of SP'eifieation 3 thereof and guilty
of the SP'eifieation of Charge II and Charges I 8.Dd II. No evi­
dence of previous convictions- was introduced as to either accused. 
Three-fourths of the members of the court present when the vote was 
taken concurring, each accused was sentenced to be dismissed the 
service. The reviewing authority, the Commanding General, Normandy 
Base Section, Communications Zone, European Theater of Operations, 
approved the sentence and forwarded the record of trial for action 
under Article of War 48. The confirming authority, the Commanding 
General, European Theater of Operations, confirmed the sentence as to 
each accused, and withheld the order directing execution thereof 
pursuant to the provision• of Article of War 5oi. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that on 6 November 
1944, Captain Howard M. Hege and First Lieutenant Edgar R. Parsons 
were assigned to the 27th Chemical Smoke Generator Battalion, 
stationed near Valognes, France (R34,52). At about 1800 hours on 
this date both accused were observed seated in a ~ ton reconnaissance. 
ear near the bivouac area of the 490th Port Battaliont located on the 
beach at Pouppeville, Manche, France (RlO,l3,l9-21,50J. Both were 
engaged in peddling and selling quart bottles of whiskey from a jeep 
to enlisted men who had gathered around in a crowd, the number thereof 
be~ variously estimated from 10 or 12 to 25 to 50 men {Rll,14-16,lS, 
66). The price charged by accused for the whiskey was "a thousand 
francs" a bottle (Rl.8). Three soldiers testified that they purchased 
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whiskq at this price (ai9-22). One, of these, Sergeant Thomas 
ILiller, testified that nI disremember11 to which officer he paid 
the money, whereas Privates Quinion Yarborough and Kenneth Burks 
each stated that they purchased scotch whiskq and respectively 
paid •the Captain" and "the Lieutenant" (R19,22,24; Pros.E.xs. C 
and D). Warrant Officers Matthew Brandon and Nathaniel Wicks 
appeared at the scene of the sale, saw a number of soldiers milling 
around the jeep in which the accused. officers were seated, and 
observed Lieuteoant Parsonl exch~e with one of the soldiers a 
botUe of whiskey !or some money (R66). A number of the soldiers 
were seen drinking in the area but they discontinued a.nd dispersed 
upon the appearance of the warrant of£icers (R66). Accused were 
placed under arrest and ordered out o! the jeep by Mr. Brandon. 
They refused to obey immediately but later complied with the command 
after Warrant Officer Brandon drew his pistol. He escorted accused 
to battalion headquarters, followed by Wicka who drove the jeep, 
which contained two open wooden boxes and seven bottles o! Black 
and White Scotch Whiskey. The cases, bearing markings "EF111and 
11USF 11 meaning respectively "Expeditionary Forces Institute11 -and 
11United States Forces",, were turned over to the milltarr police
(R36,44,67-6S). The bottles bad no revenue stamps affixed. A 
box similar to the one herein described was identified in court and 
the seven bottles of whiskey in question were reveived in evidence as 
prosecution's exhibit G (RJ6,44,45,48; Pros.Ex.G). During the . 
course of investigation of the case, ·accused Hege stated tl'Bt about the 
first week of October 1944 he drew the liquor !rom &·ration station 
at Bayeaux, France, for "an imaginary battalion" CB49). On 9 October 
1944, both accused Hege and Parsons were seen, b7 three American of!icers, 
at a 11NAFI11 tent, near Bayea.ux, where liquor rations were being drawn. 
The price charged for whiskey at this time waa 85 francs less a lo% 
discount or a net price of 76' !ranee per bottle (I1.40,49,63). It was 
shown that the command, of which accused were members, had issued a 
circular or directive prohibit:µig the purchase or sale of certain 
spirit• and liquors (Pros.Ex.A). Sometime after the sale of the 
liquor, accused Hege delivered 8000 francs to Colonel Eugene Y. Caffe,, 
the Commanding Officer of Utah District, to be used to reimburse the 
soldiers as part of the "exorbitant" price pa.id by them !or the 
bottles of scotch whiskey- in question (R?O, 71). 

The evidence for the prosecution'further shows that on 
6 November 1944, accused,Parsons signed a driver's trip ticket, 
at the request of Captain Hege for the official UBe of army vehicle 
number 20509983. This vehicl~, a jeep, was dispatched for the . 
purpose of making a trip to battalion headquarters and both accused 
stated to the investigating officer that they had driven to a nearby 
finance office, "to take back a payroll" (R50). The dispatch ticket 
was received in evidence as prosecution's exhibit H (R50). The 
jeep, from which the liquor was being sold by accused, and which was 
located near the beach and not in the vicinity of the finance office, 
was marked with the identical .ntllllber (R36). It was stipulated b7 
and between counsel for the prosecution and the defense that tiu;:, ~a· 1 
vehicle possessed a value in excess of $50.00 and was the pr9p~~t-J 
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of the United States {R36,37) •. 

4. After an explanation of their rights as witnesses, each 

accused elected to make an unsworn statement (R79,80,83). Aceu8ed 

Hege's statement~is limited to a lengthy recitation of his civilian 

and military careers and is summarized as follows: He was graduated 

with a B.s. degree in chemistry from Gettysburg College in 19.33 and 

taught school in Pennsylvania for S years thereafter. He was inducted 

into the Army in June of 1941 and dischargeq in Seµ-,ember of the 
same year, being placed in the enlisted reserve corps at the time. 
He wu recalled into the Army, 14 January 1942, and was graduated from 
the Chemical Warfare Ofticer Candidate School during August 1942. 
He thereafter served in various capacities with numerous Smoke Generator 
and Chemical Companies at camps and training centers in Alabama, 

. Arizona, California, Florida a.nd Maryland. He assisted in conducting 
numerous experiments in smoke and gas warfare and was commended b;y 
a great number or ranking army of.ricers for the expertness of his 
experiments and the qualit;y of work performed by himsel.t' and units 
under his command. He served as Operations Officer and as Executive 
0fficerof the 78th Chemical Smoke Generator Battalion, until the 
l69th Smoke Generator Compall1" was actiYated1 at Yilich time he was 
made the camnanding officer thereof. Concerning his compan71 Captain 
liege stated: 

111 knew eve17 man in the can~, his ever-r · 
trait and problem. I was loved and respected 
b;y all. I had a ve17 efficient canpall1"1 ever,r 
man in the comp8.D1' including the cooks, were 
qualified as a smoke generator operator. All
* * *were qualified as truck driver•. In 
our thousands of miles of driving we never 
had. a major accident. * * * Ever,rone was 
proud of that comp!Jl1'. One man went AWL 

. during my 20 months command. I gave him a 
S'tllillB.8.r,y Court. * * *_During this period I 
had. command" of [8.boujJ 200 men. * ** I . 
owe to the officers and men of that com~, 
this tine record [Or praise am. comm.endatio.Q,7. 
Without their cooperation I could have done 
nothing. I would not have been a comp&IO" 
commander ver-r long without that cooperation• 
(R82). . 

AccUBed Parsons' unsworn statement confines itself to a 

recitation of the events of his military career. He neither ~de 

a denial of the offenses charged or offered any evidence in justifi ­

cation thereof. He pleaded for a chance to redeem himself, as 

follows: 


"!Ir llii'e is * * * at home and I have a three 
months old son that I haven't seen yet and 
certainl;y I will do nothing.intentionallJ° to 
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disgrace them. I have never been in any t~o~e 
before, either civilian or military, and i. I..f 
feel that f:I:J will be a better officer because 
of this incident and want very much an opportunity 
to redeem /ir:rselfl and be of further service in • 
winning the war" (R84). 

It was stipulated by and between connsel for the prosecu­
tion and the defense that, if available as a witness, Major Robert H. 
Kennedy, the battalion commander, would testify that throughout 
their commissioned service, the efficiency rating of accused Hege 
and Parsons has been at least "Excellent"; that both officers are 
highly trained in a field that is tremendously specialized; that 
smoke generator units and technical officer persol;lilel in this 
service a.re relatively few in number and that the need for 
experienced officers in connection with smoke generator companies 
has an augmented importance at the present time by reason of 
the expanded military operations in Germany proper (R84). 

5. The offenses of whbh each accused were found guilty 
include misapplication of government property and conduct unbecoming 
an officer and a gentleman, in violation of Articles of War 96 and 
95, respectively. '!he evidence shows that, acting upon the request 
of Captain Hege, Lieutenant Parsons authorized the use of a govern­
ment vehicle for the purpose of making an official trip to the arm;y 
finance office at battalion headquarters. A~er going there, accused 
departed from their route, loaded cases of liquor into the jeep and 
drove tb a nearby beach, where they had no official business to 
transact, and engaged in the improper and illicit sale of such . 
whiskey to enlisted men. The use of the army vehicle by both accused 
under such circumstances constitutes an act of "devoting to an 
unauthorized purpose" and a misapplication of government property to 
their 11 9wn use and benefit" as def:ined and denounced by Article of 
War 94.\:U:CM, 19281 par.150i, p.184). The evidence clearly shows 
that accused's conduct was service discrediting in nature and 
cert;a.1nl7 prejudicial to good order and military discipline (CM ETO 
3153, Van Breem,en1 CY ETO 33051 Nighelli; CM ETO 3686, Mgr~§P). . 

Concerning the Specification of Charge II, the evidence 
shows that each accused did "openly and publicly; peddle whiskey 
to enlisted men", as alleged. To "peddle" means to sell in small 
quantities. Both officers participated jointJ.y in the venture. They 
acquired the whiskey as a ration for "an imaginary battalion" and 
although no witness testified directly as to the amount the officers 
paid for the liquor, the net price quoted at the time at the ration 
station was 76' francs. '!he accused sold the liquor for 1000 francs 
per bottle. 'Ibis amount was paid by enlisted men to each accused. 
Later 8000 francs were turned over to the commanding officer of 
accused 1s base to be :teturned to the enlisted men as part of tpe 
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exorbitant prive charged by the officers in the sale. 

In this connection the court was asked to take judicial 
notice of Circular number 45, Normandy Base Section, Communications 
Zone, European Theater of Operations, dated 18 October 1944, 
Subject: "Discipline", paragraph 2 thereof providing: 

tt'Ihe sale. dft or barter of stroni spirits 
and liquors, such as calvados, cognac and 
hard cider, is gohibited. The purchase of 
these intoxicants by members of the military 
service is prohibited" (Underscoring supplied). 

Although not specifically enumerated in the cir.cular, 
the sale of scotch whiskey is certainly a strong spirit and liquor 
within the scope and meaning of this administrative directive. 
CM 241385, Fields is authority for the propoStion that accused, 
as officers on duty with the military district herein indicated, 
were chargable with knowledge of the circulars and directives 
of such command; 

. . 
Article of War 95 establishee a standard of discipline


and behavior required of officers of the American Arrq and 

provides that: 


ttAny officer * * * who is convicted of 
conduct unbecoming an officer and gentleman 
shall be dismissed from the service" (AW 95). 

The conduct of accused in engaging in such activities 
constitutes acts of a disgraceful and dishonorable nature, which 
seriously compromises their character and standing as officers 
and gentlemen. Captain Hege was a ranking officer of his battalion 
and Lieutenant Parsons was the adjutant thereof. The fact that 
such officers -.ould engage in the prohibited sale of liquor 
to enlisted men of their command, wholly apart fran the question of .f.­
the exorbitant price charged, shows that they fail to possess, or 
at least to exercise, that quality of moral probity required of an 
officer of the American ArrIIY• 

In discussing offenses arising under Article of War 95, 

Winthrop states that: 


«It is no longer essential to ex.pose an officer 
.to dismissal that his conduct as charged •hould 
be infagous either in the legal or.the collo­
quial sense; nor is it absolutely necessary 
*'**that it scand.&11ze the military service
* * *. It is _only required tha. t it should be 
'unbecoming'" (Winthrop's Milltar;y Law and 
Precedents, Reprint, 1920, p.711). 6881 
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Accuseds 1 conduc~ certainly was unbecoming an officer and 
gentleman. In their unSlforn statements,_. each accused made reference 
to the members of their family and both stated that they would, not 
1intentionally'do... anything to bring disgrace upon them. Such 
statements evidence the fact that accused failed to realize the 
impropriety of their conduct. Tb.is unawareness constitutes one of 
the strongest indictments against the accused and exhibits them 
as unworthy of remaining as members of the "honorable profession of 
arms" !Winthrop's Military Law and Precedents, lieprint, 1920, 
supra, p.713). Under the circumstances, the Board of Review is of 
the opinion that the court was fully justified in finding the 
accused guilty of conduct "unbecoming an .fficer and gentleman" 
within the meaning of the 95th Article of War, as charged (CM ;:;fu,3303, 
Croucher; CM ETO 3335, ~; CM ETO 7553, Besdjne et al; see also: 
Bull. JAG, Jan 1943, sec.453(29); Bull JAG, June 1944, sec.453(5a)). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused Hege is 33 years and 
3 months of age and that he Wa.s comi-nissioned a-second lieutenant, 
Chero:i:cal Warfare Service, Edgewood Arsenal, Maryland, 8 August 1942. 
He was promoted to first Lieutenant 5 February 1943 and promoted 
to captain 24 August 1943; accused Parsons is 24 years and 11 months 
of age. He was ap;eointed second lieutenant, Chemical Warfare Service, 
Edgewood Arsenal, Maryland, 12 November 1942 and promoted to first 
lieutenant, 21 July 1943. · · 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the persons and offeruies. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of the accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of tDa.J., as to 
each accused, is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilt7 
and the sentence. 

8. Dismissal is mandatory upon conviction of a Yiolation of 
the 95th Article of War. 

' 
r ., 

~~~~!:!:?::~~~~··~h;.::·~~·!;"-~~udge Advoc&te 

/ 

---... 
// h 1 ·' : " ·'/,",/• J·--'ge Advocate /'r' '- .PF~ . •• LU 
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1st Ind. 

War DeJ:&rtment, Branch Otrice of The J'Qd~~ Advocate Gener&l. with 

the European Theater of Operations. 27 MAR 1:;45 TO: Command­

ing General, .European Theater of Operations, APO 887, tt.s. Arrrry.


"" . · l. In the case of Captain HOWARD 1.r.. 1®E Co-1035120) am 

First Lieutenant EDGAR R. PARSONS (O-lOJ72l4), both of the. 27th 

Chemical Smoke Generator Battalion, attention is invited to the 

foregoing holding by- the Board of Review that the record of trial 

is legally sufficient as to each accused to support the findings 

of guilty and the sentence;; which holding is hereb7 approved. Under 

the provisions of Article of War 5oi, you now have authorit7 to 

order execution of the sentences. 


2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to thi• 

office, they- dlould be accompanied by th• toregoiJ:lg holding and 

this imorsement. 'l'he file number of the record in tb11 office ie 

CK ETO 6881. For convenience of reference please place that 

number in bracket. at the end of the order: (CM ETO 68Sl). 


~~U~-Af;.
I {. c. llcNEIL, 

Brigadier General, United States Arrq, 
. Assistant Juige Ad"t'Oc&te General. 

,.. 

( As to accW1ed Hege eente~e ordered executed, OC:VO lll,ETO, 8 .lpril 1945.) 
(As to accused Parsons sentence ordered executed. OCllO ll'.31 ETO, 8 Apr 1945.) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 


BO.ARD OF REVIEW NO. 3 

CM ETO 6934 

UNITED STATES 

..,. 

Private ROBEll.T O. CARLSON 
(17031592), Company K, 
317th Infantry 

31 M·AR 1945 

) 80TH INFAN'I'P.Y DIVISION 
) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at APO 80, 

U. s. Army, 21 January 1945. Sen­~ tence: Dishonorable discharge,
) total forfeitures and confinement 
) at hard labor for life. (No ulace 
) of confinement designated in action) 

HOLDING by BOAP.D OF REVIE.7 NO. 3 
SLEEPIB., SHERMAN and D~, Judge Advocates . 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifica­
tion: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Robert O. Carlson, 
Company "K", 317th Infantry, did, in the 
vicinity of Eschweiler, Luxembourg, on or 
about 21 December 19.t.4 desert the service'of 
the United States, by quitting and absenting 
himself without proper leave from his organi­
zation and place of duty, with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, to wit: participation in 
operations against an enemy of the United States, 
and did remalli: absent in desertion until he 
surrendered himself at or near Feulen, Luxem­
bourg, on or about 29 December 19.t.4. 

6934 
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Be pleaded aot guilt,' and, all the member• or the oourt present at 
the time the Tote was taken concurring, was round guilt~ or the 
Charge and Specification. ETidence or tour preTioU!!l conTictioris 
was introduced, two by summary court for absence without leave tor 
two days in violation of Article of War 61 and tor disobedience ot 
a standing order in violation or Article of War 96, and two by 
special court-martial, one for wrongfUJ.J.7 taking property without 
the permission of the owner in violation or Article at War 96 and. 
one for disobedience or a law.ful order, disrespect to a superior 
officer and absence from properl.7 appointed place ot duty in viola­
tion or .Articles ot War 96, 63 and 61. All the membere at the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concUITing, he Wal!! sentenced 
te be d.iehonerab~ di•charged the service, to forfeit all pq ed 
allowances due or to become due and to be confined at bard labor tor 
th• term ot his natural lite. The renewing autborit7 approved the 
sentence without designating the place ot confinement arrl forwarded 
the record ot trial for action pursuant to Article ot War 5~. 

.. 3.... -The evidence tor the prosecution mq be eummsrized as tol ­
lowe'i'\ · 

The morning report ot Comp8Jl1' K, :ri?th btantr,., ot which. 

co:q>a.ny accused was a member, showed that he absented himself with­

out leave trom 21 to.':9 December 1944 as &lleged (R7; Pros.Ex.A,B) • 
. 

The sole witness called' by the prosecution was accu8ed' s 
tirat sergeant who testified that he joined the compa117 on l Decem­
ber 191+4 and that 

"Since I joined we were back in a rest 
area in St. ATOld - from there we went 
south to Saar Union - trom there we 
come up to Eschweiller, Luxembourg ­
from there to Walterdange, Luxembourg ­
then up to Feulen - then attacked Kehmen, 
Luxembourg - back to Feulen - then north 

- again to variows small towne jwst aorth 
ot FeUlen - and all this time.we were 
getting ready to ~ight the GermaJ18"(R6). 

On the evening ~ 20 December the comp~, then located at 
Beidweiler, Luxembourg, moved to a new position some two miles "to 
the right aide at the tolt'll". Accused "took off" duri.Jlg this move but 
n.s found "in the kitchen of a house" on the following morning at 
which time he was ordered to and did retura to the COlllpaJ:JY'. During 
that day-, 21 December, the compaey JDOved to Eschweiler aJld that even­
ing prepared-to move to Walterdange. At this time, the first sergeant 
received a report f'rom accuud's platoon leader as the result ot which 
he aearched the area for accused without success. Shortl7 thereafter, 
the comp&cy" lett for Walterdange without h.iJI. Accused was not there- 6 9 3 4 
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after aeen by the first sergeant until 29 December, "after we came 

back from attac1d.11g Kehmen - we came back for reorganization", on 

which date he reported to the company orderl7 room. Th• record 

does.not clearly ehow the location at the company on this date (R6,

7). ' 


4. The accused, af'ter his rights as a witness were .fully ex­

plained to him, elected to remin sileat u.d 11.0 nidence was intro­

duced on his behalf. 


5. The instant record at trial is unsatis.f'acto17 in that it 

.tails to show with complete~ss and precision the .tacts and circum­

•tances leading up to and surrounding the commission o.f' the offense 
charged. Among other thinge the prosecution did not in all instances 
show the precise dates upon which accused's company ef'.fected the var­
ious movements concerning which the first sergeant testif'ied a.Di the 
eTidence of record bearing upon the tactical and geographical relatiot 
ot the company to the enenw on the dq accused absented himself' i• e:r.­
tremel7 meager. The members of the court before whom this case wd 
tried were undoubtedly generally familiar with these tacts and_f'or 
that reason it may have been thought unnecessary to bring them to 
their attention. Yet it should be remembered that those who reTiew 
the record are not necessarily possessed of' similar knowledge but 
must, in the main, gather their knowledge ot the case from the record 
i tsel.f. Failure to develop fully all relevant facts is especially 
subject to valid criticism where, as here, it appears that such tacts 
nre readily and easily. susceptible of proof. While it is the opinion 
ot the Board ot ReTiew that the record of' trial is legally sufficient 
despite these deticiencies, this is true oJ'.ll)r because the background 
ot accused's actione in the instant ease - TonRui:rletedt's winter ot­
f'e11.dve which started on 16 December 1944 alX1 succeeded initially in 
cutting a wide salient through northern Luxembourg alld eutern Belgium 
- was. ot sufficient importance,moment and notoriety that the Board ot 
Review mq take .Judicial notice thereof (CY ETO 7413, ~; CM ETO 
7148, Giombetti and authorities therein cited). 

When the testimony in this case is supplemented by ref'er­

ence to the map and read in the light ot events which the Board judi­

cially knows, the record ot trial may fairly be said to show the fol­
lowing: · · 

Some time after l December the comp8.J3Y ot which accused was 

a member was in a rest area in St. Avold, France, whence it moved 

southwest appro:ximatel.y 20 miles to Saar-Union. Thereafter, and 

prior to 20 December, it moved about 60 or '70 miles northwest to 

the vicinity ot Beidweiler, Luxembourg. On 20 December, during a 

change ot position near Beidweiler, accused was foUlld to be miss­

ing but was located on the morning of the 21st and ordered to 

return to his company which he did. However, later that same day, 


·he again absented him8elf' without leave. On 2l December von Rtmdsted~'s 
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otfensive was in its fifth Qsy and accl.1!3ed 1 s compariy was only about 
ten miles ~om the southern flank of "the bulge" •. According to the 
first sergeant the company had been "getting ready to fight the 
Germans" during the northward movement and during accused's absence, 
his unit did in fa6t proceed fart.her north to attack Kebmen, some 
ten miles southeast of Bastogne. Accused did not return mtil 29 
December after his company withdrew for reorganization. In view ot 
the gravity of the situation existing at the time, the obvious and 
widely known necessity tor prompt counter measures to stem the ad­
vance, ~he previous movement in the direction ot the southern flank 
ot the salient.a.Irl the proximity of the company to the enem;r, the 
court was justified in inferring that at the time accused absented 
himself he had knowledge ot facts which would reasonably lead him 
to believe he would shortly be engaged in hazardous duty. Under 
the· circumstances here shown, the court was also warranted in con­
cluding that he absented himself' to avoid such duty. The record is 
accordingly legally suf'ficient to support the findings of gulley 
(CM ETO 7 413, ~, supra) • 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 24 years a.Irl eight 
months of age and enlisted 4 November 1941. No prior service is 
shown. 

' 7. The court was legally constituted and had juriiidiction of 
the person·. and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of the accused were committed during the trial.The , 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record ot trial is 
legally suf'.ficient to support the findings ot guilt7 and the sen­
tence. 

8. The Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenha.ven, New York, may properly be designated as the place of 


· confinement. 


.. 

___...,f...,SI_,C.,..K._I,..N._....H..,OSPI,..TAL....,.) Judge Advocate...... _____ 

/ 
/.//-· .? 

-----'•<--:._~.{__.___.•	1 ~.•-'•e-/" __., ___......... __ .... J'lrlge Advocate 
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·Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
· with the 

,European Theater of Operations 
AP0.887 

~OARD OF REVIEW' NO• 2 · :l 4 APR 194.5 

CM ET~ ~937 

UNITED STATES ) 80'IH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. 

Private ALFRED D. CRAFT 

)
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, conv'ened at APO 80,
u.s • .Army, 21 January 194.5. Sen­
tence: Dishonorable discharge, 

.(3991011$), Company K, ) total forfeitures and confinement 
.317th Infantry­

• 
) 
) 

at hard labor for life. (No 
place of confinement designated) 

HOI.Dnm by BOARD OF REVIEW' NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHO'IEN, HILL and JULIAN, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in ·the case of the soldier named above has· 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the folloll'ing Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War•... 

Specification: In ·fuat Private Alfred D. Craft, Can­
pany "K", 317th Infan try-, did, in the vicinity. 
o:t Feulen, Luxembourg, on or about 24 December 
1944 desert the service of the United States, by 
quitting and absenting himself without proper 
leave from his organization and place of dutQr, 
with intent to avoid hazardous duty, to wit: 
partic;:i.pation in operations against an enemy of 
the United States, and did-remain absent in 
desertion until he" surrendered himself at or near 
Feulen, I.uxembourg, on or about 2 January- 194.5. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all the 'members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the Charge and 
Specif'lcation. No evidence of previous convictions ~ introduced. . 
.All the members of the court present _at the time the vote was Uken 6 9 3 7 
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concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the sernce, 
to forfeit all pay and allowances rue or to become due, and to be con­
fined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, 
for ·the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved the 
sentence and, without designating the place •of confinement, fo1'farded the 
record or triA.l for action pursuant to .Article or War .5oi. 

3. The prosecution introduced one w.i.tness, the first sergeant of 
Company K. Accused was a private, Company K, 317th Inrantry-. Fran the 
testimony of the first sergeant the company, from l December to the date or 
trial, was "preparing to fight the Germans and we were in actual combat with 
them." On 24 December 1944 the company left Feulen, LUxembourg, in the 
moz:ning, and marched to a ome place near Kehme~, Luxembourg. Sometime during 
the day it went into attack in the latter town. In any event, in the after­
noon an attack was made on a hill west of Kebmen. Accused's platoon was dug 
in about 200 yards short or the hill (R6,7). The sergeant testified: 

"And toward evening we weren rt progressing veey 
good and I had to come up behind Private Craft 
in a foxhole - I told him to get up with his_ 
platoon - the platoon wasn't much farther up the 
front - about fifty yards - and at that time 
someone started shouting 'Tanks' and the platoon 
started withdrawing - come running back to a · 
ridge - at that time·r was running down trying 
to help stop them from running back • and that 
was the last I saw of Private . Craft" (R6) • . 

After the incident above described, the evidence shows nothing except that 
sometime later, the company went back to Feulen for reorganization (R6). 
The next time this witness saw accused was when the latter reported into 
the orderly roan at Feulen on 2 January 194.5. On 28 December accused was 
entered on his morning report as missing in action on 24 December. This 
entry was corrected on 3 Januaey 1945 to show accused absent without leave 
as ~f 24 December 1944.(R7; Pros.Exs. A,B). 

4. Accused, advised of his right8, elected to remain silent. He 

call.ed no lfi.tnesses • 


.5. From the evidence tlm.s presented \he court was justified in finding 
factually that accused's platoon lrhile in combat with the enern;y started 
withdrawing, on the run, back to a ridge; and that accused although present 
with his organization irmnediately prior to the withdrawal was not seen there­
after for nine days, at which time he rejoined his company at a town, about 
five miles back (as appears from official map) when it was reorganizing. 
From the evidence, the court had ·a r.i.ght to believe that the platoon in 
question withdrew as a unit and took up a defensive position on a ridge 
not far to the rear. And in the absence of proot to· the contrar;r, or 
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explanation by the accused, the court had every right to infer that during 
this withdra:wal and the establishment of a new position accused abandoned 
his organization, and that his intent in so doin~ was to avoid further 
hazardm1s duty. The prosecution made out a prima facie case. The rule 
of law applicable is that while the ultimate burden is on the prosecution 
of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, when there is sufficient evidence 
to raise a strong presumption of guilt, accused is required to go forward 
with the evidence- the "burden of explanation" - or risk a finding of 
guilty (Underhill 's Criminal Evid1mce, 4th &l., sec.514, p.1040; CM ETO 
1629, O'Donnell; CM ETO 527, Astrells). Accused offered no proof by way 
of rebuttal and failed to expltin his conduct. The conduct of accused as 
it stands on the record was that condemned by Article of War 28 1 desertion 
in violation of Article of War 58. (CM ETO 7153, ~; CM ETO 7230, Masnanti). 

6. The charge sheet sho\.rs that accused is 22 years of age. He was 
inducted into the service at Pocatello, Idaho, on 19 February 1943. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person am. offense. No errors injuriously affecting the subs.tantial rights 
of accused were com.mi.tted during the trial. The Board of Revi~ is of the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence. 

a. The offense of desertion in violation Of Article of War 58 is 
punishable dtring time of war by death·or such other punishment as a · 
court-martial may direct. Confinement in the Ea.stern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, is proper (AW 42; Cir.2101 
WD, 14 Sep 1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

_(._ON_I_.E_~_VE__,_)___Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 

Cll Ero 6946 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Private First Class 
NA'mAN O. PAYNE (.33170642) 1 
84th Chemical Smoke Genera­
tor Compa.n;r · 

) 95TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 
) Trial b;r GCll1 convened at .APO 95 1 
) u.s. Arm:r, 2.31 .30 .Deeemer.1944. 
) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
) total forfeitures and confinement 
) at ha.rd labor for lite. Eastern 
) Branch, United States Disciplinary 
) Barracks, Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDINl by BOARD OF REVJEW NO. l 

RITER, S~N and STEVEl'B 1 Judge AdYOe&tes 


l. The recar'd of trial in the case of the aoldier named 
above ha.a been examined b)" the Board of Review and tha Board submits 
this, its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge 
ot the Branch Office of The Ju:lge Advocate General with the European 
Theater ot Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges an:l speci­
fications: 

CHARGE I: Violation ot the 5Sth Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class Nathan 
o. Payne, 84.th Chemical Smoke Generator Co.lllp&ey'1 
did, on or about 8 Dec«nber, 1944, desert the 
service at the United States by quitting hia 
organization at or near Bedersdort, G.rmaey, 
with intmt to awid hazardous dllt;r, to wit: 
operating a smke gem rator in an area sub.) ct 
to enelcy' tire, and did remain absent in de­
sertion until he was apprehm ded at or near 
Bouzonville, France, on or about JJ Decellber 
1944. 

- l ­
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CHAr~E II: Violation of the 64th Article of War. 

Specitica.tion: In that * * * did, at or near 
Usdort, Ger.lll8.ey', on er about ?·December 1944, 
illt up a weapon, to wit: a .30 caliber car­
bine against Secom Ueutenant Charles s-. 
Isvy, Chemical War.tare Sel'Tice, 84th Chemi­
cal Smoke GenerataCo.mpley, his superior etti ­
cer, ltlo was then in the execution ot his 
oftice. 

CHAro-E III: Violation of the 96th Article ot War. 
(Findt~ or not guilt;r) 

Speci.f1cation: (Finding ot not guilt;y) 

He pleaded not guilt;r and, two-thirda ot the members of the court. 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was tound 
guilty o! Charges I and II and the specifications thereumer and 
not guilty of Charge III and its Specification. No evidence ot 
previous convictions was introduced. m· ot the members ot the 
court present at the tie the vote was taken conoirring, he was 
sezt. enced to be shot to death with musketry. The revieWing aut.h­
orit;y, the Conmanding General, 95th Infantry Division, approved 
the sentence and forwarded the record of trial under Article of 
War 48. The oontiming a\t.hor.l.t;r, the CommaDdiI3g Gemral, 
European Theater ot Operations, cont:i.Imed the sentence, but owing 
to S?cial circwmtances in this case, coJillllited it to dishonorable 
discharge from the service, forfeiture ot all JllT aIXi allowances 
due or to become due, and continemnt at h&rd labor tor the term 
ot his mtural life, designated the Eastern Branch, United States 
Discipl.i.m.ry Barracks, Greenhaven, New Iorlc, as the pl.ace ot con­
tinement, and withheld tm order directiilg the execution ot the 
sct.en:e pursuant to Article ot War 50i• 

). 'lhe evidence tor the prosecution was as follows: 

a. Charge II and Specification. en 7 December 1944 
accused was a smoke generator operator in the operations section 
ot the 84th Chemical Smoke Generator Compaey. His section was at 
Usdort, GerDl&ey', engaged in laying a snoke screen (R9,10,19,28) 
and in contact with Elle.1111' ferces (R9). On the evenil' € ot 7 Decem­
ber, accused atterded a section meeting (Rl.01111 20), at which 
Second Lieut.enmt Charles s. Lev;r, tre section leader, instructed 
the men as to their duties in-the operations section (Rll,20) and 
aslmd it &Il1'•ne had &nT cpestions. Accused aslm d, "Lieutenant, 
have you enr heard about ma?" Uelt.enant Lev;y answered "No"• 
"I was trained in artiller;yn,. said accused, 11 I wasn't trained in 
operating a generator and don't know an;ything about tl~m". The 
Ueutenant proceeded to explain all it was necessary tor accused 
to do was to carry a tive-gallon can of water and a live-gallon 
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can of gasoline to the generator ard to roll an oil drm up 
to the generator ar:d "stick it". He only had to do this once 
every 45 minute~ ani all the rest of the time he could remain 
"in the cellar". Accused repeated that he was not trained as 
a genera.tcr operator. tieutenant Lev said, "As long as you're 
down here you will maintain the generator and.lfbat's more you 
will follow orders". Accused was then standing ldth one .toot 
propped on a chair, holding his carbine, which he "pointed dOll'n 
towud11 the officer and said "Lieutenant, if I pull this trigger 
you'll know lilo 1s following who's order" (Rll,12,20). When ac­
cused first started talking he worked the bolt of his carbine 
loading the piece (Rl?),, and when he pointed it in the direction 
o! tm Lieutenant he was about 15 feet awq,, holding tb:l weapon 
waist high with his hand on the trigger ·and with .the safety oft 

(Rl2,lJ,15,16,17,20,21,22). No shots were .f'.i.red (RlJ). The 
lieutenant told accused to sit down and accused complied (Rl.8). 

b. Charge I and Specification. The mxt morning 
(8 December) accused waa ordered to return in a truck to the 
company area in Bedersdor.t, Germa.ey, about seven kilometers awq, 
and, accordingly, with the driver, Private First Class Ben T. 
Hunter, Jr., and Technician Fifth Grade Cirlee Willey, both ot · 
accused's Canpa.ny', h9 reported there (RJJ,21~25; sH CM ETO 6970, 
Willey and Hunter, WJ.itary Justice Division1. Upon his aITival 
he was ordered by the first sergeant to return to the J.ina on 
the rat.ions truck (RlJ,14,25,28,29). Accused did not return to· 
the operations section (R14,21). Searches o! the company area 
on 9 and ll Decellber .tailed to reveal his presence (R26,29). On 
13 December accused and Willey- were appreherded in Beuzonville, 
France (RS-9,Jl). Accused's status was shown in the compa.ey morn­
ing report for S December 1944,, received in evidence without objec­
tion, as 11!rom duty to desertion" (R29-30; Pros.Ex.A). On 7 and 
8 Decellber, eneJDY' artillery and mortar shells fell periodically 
in accused's sectiob area (R9,19,2l). · 

4. Upon motion o! defense, the court adjourned in order 
that the sanity of accused could be investigated (R'.33-.35). He was 
examined during the period 24-26 December by a boa.rd o! three medi­
cal officers (RJ7), one of whom was a neuropsychiatrist (RJS). The 
board. foun:i tha.t accused ;vas sa..r1e a.t the tims ot the examination 
and at the tine ot the co.lllld.ssican ot his alleged offenses, that 
he was capable of realizing right from wrong, had normal control 
ot his actions, and could cooperate intelligerrtJ.y- in his de.tense. 
His intelligence was .below that of a child of twelve (RJS-41; Pros. 
Ex.B). 

. . 
5. After his rights were expl&ined (R42-4J), accused testi ­

fied that on the night of 7 December at the ti.me of the incident 
alleged he was sitting on a sofa with his carbine. He did not face 
Lielt.enant Lev. He just turned his he&d around (R.44). The lieu­
tenant asked him if there was anything in his rifie ard 

- 3 ­

http:R'.33-.35
http:compa.ey
http:Canpa.ny
http:Germa.ey


(266) 


>'i "I was si. tting there with it between my 
legs and I said, 'I don't know, sir,' 
and I held it up and pulled the bolt 
back and said, 'There's nothing in it, 1 

an:i I set it down". ' 

At no time did he point the weapon toward the o!.t'icer or make any 
threatening remarks (R44,45). 

On 8 December 1944 he le.tt the oompany area in a truck 
with Hunter and iiilley, and knew he was supposed to go back to the 
line. His CX>mt:anions said they were going to the rear and accused 
asked them to go to the line. He said to them 'let's go back; I 
know you 1re go~ 1'l"Ong now11 am asked 11three or four tines" to be 
taken back (R49). However, he st&l18d with thsm (R.46) until 10 
December when Yiilley 11brought ne back" to the company1 but as te 
the hour, "I don't lmow whether it was during the night or da;yn. 
He left a~ain in the truck with Willey who said be was going to 
the line (1?47). They did not go to the line and "samwhere mar 
a t.wn11 he was taken by "Lt. Beckett" to the gmrdhouse. He was 
not scared to go back to the line (R48). ­

6. The court's fini.ings -of guilty are supported by sub­
stantial and convincing evidence that accused quitted his organiza­
tion on 8 December 1944 with int.mt to avoid has:ardous ducy as 
alleged under Charge I and Specification (CM ETO 4701, :Minnetto; 
CM ETO 364.J., !2Y'.!i CM ETQ 3473 1 Ayllon; CM ETO 33801 Silberschmidt 
and cases cited the rein) and that he litted up a weapon against 
his superior officer on 7 DecElllber 1944 as set forth in Charge II 
and Specification (CM ETO 1953, ~). 

7. 'lbe charge sheet shows tha. t accused is 24 years of age 
am was iIXlucted at Fort George G. Meade, lia.ryland, 25 February 
1942 to serve for the d.uratioh of the war plus six months. He had 
n0 prior service• 

8. The court was legally constitute'd and had jurisdiction 
ot the ~rson and otfenaes. No errors injuriously attecting the 
substantia.l. ri.gh ts of accused were co.rmd.tted during the trial. The 
Beard of Review is of the opinion that tlie reccrd of trial is legall;r 
sufficient to support tile findings ot guilty- am the sentence. 

9. The penalty for desertion conmitted in time of war is 
death or such otrer punisbmnt as the <X>'l.rt-marti.al nay direct (AW 58). 
The penalty for lifting up any weapon against his superior otficer in 
the execution •f his office by a person subject to military law is 
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also death at' such other punisbaent as tm _court-martial m.y 
direct (AW 64). The designation o! the Eastern Branch, United 
States Discipl.in&ry Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, is author­
ized (AW 42; Cir.2101 WD, 14 Sep.1943, sec.VI,•• am.ended) •. 

.....t_v_f_;£"'-·'--_-_A_~_:_,·_Judge AdTocate 

Judge AdTocate 
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1st Ind. 

War Departimnt, Branch O!tice of' The J\Xl.g-' Ad..-wc;~~e General 'With 
the European Theater o! Operations. . r"' MAI\ 1./-r~ TO: Comand.­
ing General, European Theater ot Operations, APO 887, u. s: Anq. 

1. In the case ot Private First Class· NATHAN o. PAYNE 

(33170642), $4th Chemical Smoke Generator Company, attention is in­

'Yited to the foregoing holding by the Board of' Review that the re­

cord o! trial is legally sufficient to support tb!I findings o! 

guilty and the sent. ence, which holding is hereby approved. UIXler 

the provisions of Article ot War 50!, you now have aut.horit7 to 

order execut.ion ot the sentence. 


. 2. When copies ot the p'Ubllshed order are !orwarded to 

thia o!!ice, tbe;r should be aceCllll~ied by the !oregoing holding 

and this indorseant. The tile nwiber ot the record in th11 o!!ice. 

ii Clit E'l'O 6946. For convmience ot re!erence, please place that 

n~!'l" in brackets at the end of' the order: (CM: Ero 6946). 


~/~hr
E. C. llcNEIL, 

Brigadiar General, United Sta.tee J.rm:r, 
Assistant Judge Advocate Gemral. 

( Sente~e as commuted ordered executed. GClLO 76, ETO, 18 Mar 1945.) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 8Er/ 

BOA.Ill OF REVIEiV NO. l 24 FEB 1945 
C'.1. ETO 6948 

UNITED S TA TES) 2ND ~RED.DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at Headquarters, 
) 2nd Armored Division, AFO 2521 U.S. Army,

Private NOAH K. DA:.:RON ) 19 December 1944. Sentence: Dishonorable 
(35226207), Company I, ) discharge; total forfeitures and confine­ •
67th Armored RegiiD.ent 	 ) ment at hard labor for life. Eastern B:canch, 

) United States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­
) haven, New York. 

HOIDING by BOAP.D OF REVJEW NO. l 

RITER, SHER.ilAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review, and the Board submits this, 
its holding to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater 
of Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHA'~GE: Violation of the 	5Sth Article of War. 

Specification:. In that Private Noah K. Damron, 
11 I 11Company 1 67th Armored Regiment did, at 

Bresles, France, on or about l September 
1944, desert the service of the United 
States and did remain absent in desertion 
i.intil he was apprehended at Liege, Bel­
gium on or about 22 November 1944. 

' He pleaded not guilty and, all members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, l'l'as found guilty of the Specifi ­

6948 
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cation, except tbe.. words 11was apprehended at Liege, Belgium", 

substituting therefor the words 11 surrer"dered himself to military 

control", of the excepted v.ords not guilty, of the substituted 

words guilty, and of the Charge guilty. Zvidence was introduc~d 


of one previous conviction by summary court for careless discharge 

of a 30 caliber service c~rbine in company bivouac area in vio­

lation of Article of ~iar 96. :.J.l the menbers of the court present 

at the ti.~e the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be 

dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allow­

ances due .or to become due, and w.be shot to death 1dth musketry. 

The reviewinc authority approved the sentence, but recommended that 

if th0 sentence be confirmed, it be commuted to dishonorable discharge, 

forfeiture of all pay and allowances due or to become due, and con­

finement at hard labor for 20 years, and forwarded the record of trial 

for action under Article of War 48. The confirming authority, the 

Com..~anding General, European Theater of Operations, confirmed only so 

much of the sentence as provided that accused be shot to death with 

musketry, but, owing to special circumstances in the case, commuted 

the sentence to dishonorable discharge from the service, forfeitures 

of all pay and allowances due or to become due, and confinement at 

hard labor for the term of accused's natural life, designated the 

Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 

~ew York as the place of confinement, and withheld the order direct­

ing the execution of.the sentence pursuant to Article of War 5~. 


3. Prosecution's evideJice summarizes as follows: 

On 27 August 1941+ accused, a member of Company I, 67th 

Armored Regiment, ~as assistant driver and gunner of a tank cf.Which 

Staff Sergeant Jack D. Thompson was commander (R.4,5). In an area 

about 40 miles north or north-east of Bresles, France (R7,11)1 on 

said date, the regiment was in contact with the enemy. It proceeded 

forward in double alignment. The lines were separated by a public 

highway. The tank on which accused served was about 75 yards from 

the highway~ A company of the 41st Infantry served with the 67th 

Armored Regiment. At a given point in the advance, the regiment 

was halted and alerted to attack the enemy (R5,6). 


'i'lhile halted Thompson saw a German soldier approach at 

a distance of about 250 yards on the right flank of his platoon. He 

made him prisoner and delivered him into the custody of a. detachment 

of "French underground". At that moment accused came to the point 

Thompson was "shaking the prisoner down" (R5,6). The tanks halted 

for about an hour. When Thompson received orders to advance, accused 

could not be found al though Thompson searched the immediate area 

for him and called for hint (R6). Accused had authority to move 

about in the area of the tank, but he was not authorized to leave 

his command. From 28 August to the middle of November 1944, Thompson 

did _not see accused (R7). 
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On 3 September 1944, Technician Fourth Grade Stanley 
A. Dudek, a tank driver of Compaey L, 67th Armored Regiment, was 
:parked at the side of a road at a point near the Seine River 
tRrance), endeavoring to secure gasoline so 'that he might overtake 
and rejoin hi~ company. Accused, who rode in a peep, stopped and 
mounted Dudek 1s tank. He rode with him about five miles, when 
the tank!s gasoline was exhausted. .Dudek informed accused that he 
would not be able. to "catch up with the company". A half-track , 
of the 4l.st Armored Infantry Reginent ·(which was assigned to the' 
2nd Armored ~ivision) approached, and Dudek suggested to accused 
that _he ride . the half-track in an attempt to reach his company. 
Accused 18.id "that's a pretty good idea" and departed in the 
direction of the column (RS). Dudek next saw accused when he was 
brought to the compaey in Germa.ny- (R9). ­

Sergeant Stanley L. Herrin, 67th Armored Regiment, saw 
accused in a restaurant at. Hasselt, Belgium on or about 25 October 
1944 and conversed with him in the presence of another soldier. 
Accused 

"asked me how the boys were in the outfit and · 
.who was lost and who wasn't, and who wasn't 
with us, and I told him, and he asked'where_ the 
Battalion was, and I told hi.in where I thought 
it was located. 

* * * -The only things lie said was that he was with 
the Military Police and that he was under their 
jurisdiction. 

* * * He said he expected-to go back I believe the 
following day after that. When. the trucks 
went back" (RlO). 

There were no.military police with him at that time (RlO). Herrin 
next saw accused with the company in Germ.any (RlO). 

It was stipulated that accused was in military custody 
in the vicinity of Liege, Belgium on 22 November 1944 (Rl2). He 
was actually returned to bis company by military police and placed 
in arrest on 26 November (Rll,1.2). · 

4. After explanation of his rights accused elected to remain 
silent. No evidence was.presented in his defense (Rl2). 

5. Accused was absent without authority from his company · 
from 27 August to 26 November, three months. There is evidence 
that during his absence he was twice advised as to the location 
of his unit (3 September and 25 ·October). The inference is rea­
sonable and just that had he wished to do so he could either 6 9 4 8 
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have returned to his company or surrender himself to military 

control. His absence was unexplained and was prolonged. These 

facts form a substantial basis from which the court was justified 

in concluding that accused absented himself from the military 

service with the intent of permanently abandoning it (Ci.:1 ETO 6435, 

Noe, and authorities therein cited). The record is le6ally suffi ­

cient to. support the findings of accused 1 s gui'.lt. 


6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 18 years one 

month of age. He was inducted 11 August 1943 at Columbus, Ohio, 

to serve for the duration of the' war. plus six months. He had no 

prior service. 


?. The ~ourt was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 

the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­

, ·sta.ntial rights of accused were committed during the tri.al. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence 
as confirmed and commuted. 

8. The penalty for desertion in time of war is 'death or such 
other punishment as a c9urt-martial may" direct (AW 58); The desig­
nation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, is authorized 
(AW 42; Cir.2101 VID, l4 Sept. 1943, sec. VI, as amended). 

/J. // /. 

__{_JrV·,_,~~.!._'-_.~j_l_~A_t:_'4·______ ... Judge Advocate 

I 

• 
f/· /'-/ _v- }

0:/LcHAJZ ,l · ~·,.(.Judge Advocate 
- . . '7 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 24 FEB 1~45 TO: Coill!.,and­
ing General, European Theater of Oper.ations, Aro 887, U.S. Arrey. 

1. In the case of Private NOAH K. D.A:.:RON (35226207), Company 
I, 67th Arraored Regiment, attention is invited to· the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence as 
confirmed and commuted, which holding is hereby approved. under 
the provisions of Article of War 50~, you now have authority to 
order execution of the sentence. 

2. \":lien copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and 
this indorsement. The file number of the record of trial in 
this office is c:~ ZTO 6948. For convenience of reference, please 
place that number in brackets at the end of the order: (C'~ ETO 
6948). 

~It~ 
E. C. 1fcNiUL, 

Brigadier 	Gener.:i.1, United Statei:s Arrrr:f1 
Assistant Jud~e Advocate GenAa:-al• 

( 	Sentence as commuted ordered executed. GCMO 61 1 ETO, 2 Mar 1945.) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


Fw-opean Theater of Operations · 

APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CM ETO 6951 

UNITED S T A T E S 

v. 

Private WILLllM J. ROOERS 
(131.54441), Company C, .317t.h 
Infantry 

24 Ara ·1945 

) 801'{ INFANTRY DIVISION 
r 
) Trial b;r GCJl, convened at .APO 801

...) 21 January 194.5. Sentence: Dis­
) honorable discharge (suspended), 
) total forfeitures and confinement at 
) hard labor for .30 ;years. Loire 
) Discipl.ina.ry_ Training Center, Le 
) llans1 France·. 

OPINION b;r BOARD OF REVIm NO. 2 

VAN EENSCHOTm, HILL and JUI.UN, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial 1.n the case or the soldier named above has 
been examined in the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 'With the 

· Furopean 	Theater of Operations and there found legall.y- insufficient to sup­
port the findings and sentence in part. The record of trial has now been· 
_examined b;r the Board of ReviSW' and the Board subnits this, its opinion, 
to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge ·or said Branch Office. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Speci:f'ioationi 

CHARGE: Violation of the .58th .Article of War. 

Specifications In that Private William J. Rogers, 
Company nett, .317th.Infantry, did, in the 
vicinity of .ltton, France, on or about 22 
October 1944 desert the service of the United 
States, by quitting and absenting him~el.f' 

' 	without proper leave from his organization 
. 	and place of duty, with intent to avoid 

hazardous, duty, to 11'1t: participatian in. 
operations against an en~. or the United. 
States, and did remain- absent in desertion 

; until he surrendered himself at or near 
Nieder!eul~ Imcaubourg, on or about 4 
January 194::>. · . 6951 

OONFIOtN'Tlll._­
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He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the Charge and 
Specification. Evidence was introduced of one previous conviction by 
special court--martial for two absences without leave for one and eight 
days, respectively, in violation of Article of War 61, and for breach of 
restriction in violation of Article of War 96. All of the members of the 
court present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced 
to be dishonorably dischiirged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the 
reviewing authority may direct, for 3 0 years• The reviewing authority ap­
proved the sentence and ordered.it executed but suspended the execution of 
that portion thereof adjudging dishonor~ble discharge until the soldier's 
release from confinement, and desie;nated the Loire Disciplinary Training 
Center, Le Mans, France, as the place of confinement. The proceedings 
were published in General Court-Martial-Orders Number 37, Headquarters 
80th Infantry Division,. APO 80, U.s. Arr!ry, dated 3 February 1945. 

3. 	 The evidence for the prosecution was substantially as .follows: 
. 	 . 

Private First Class Albert E. Sanderson, Regimental Headquarters 
Company, 317th Infantry, testified that the accused was a member of Company 
c, 317th Infantry; that on about 22 October 1944 that company was located 
in. the vicinity of Atton, France, and on about 4 January 1945 was near 
Niederfeulen, Iuxemb6urg; and that it was the signature of Frank J. Watson, 
Captain, Infantry, Personnel Officer, which appeared at the bottom of the 
page on the morning report dated 31 October 1944 for Company C (Pros.Ex.A) 
and on the morning report dated 5 January 1945, of that company (Pros.Ex:.B) 
(R6, 7) • The follollihg ocrurred during the direct· examination of this 
witnesst 

"Q. 	 Privat~ Sanderson, will you explain to the 
court what yoo.r regiment has been doing 
since abont 15 October 1944 down to about 
10 January 1945? 

.&.. 	 They had been in contact with the enemy1 
sir. 

Q. 	 Could you elaborate on that a little for 
the court's information? 

.l. 	 On 8 November it was the Seille River cross­
ing and there was a rest period starting 
approximatel.Y 7 December in st. Avold. It 
lead up to our latest fighting in Iuxembourg 
about 19 December" (R7) • 

' 
The•two morning reports refeITed to were admitted in evidence 

without objection by the defense (R6,7). The du.ly authenticated extract 
copy or these reporta, substituted. 1dth permission or the court, is quoted 
as follows 1 · • 

-2­
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" HEADQUARTERS 317th INFANTRY . 

APO Bo, u.s. Army 


EXTRACT COPY OF MORNlNG RRPQRT OF ­

COMPANY "C"1 .317th INFANTRY 

* * * * * •* * * * * 
EX. 'A' 31 October 1944 

131.54441 Rogers, William J 74.5 Pfc 
Fr dy to MIA 22 Oct 44 . 

* * * * * * * *** EX. 'B' .5 January 194.5 
131.544lil. Rogers, William J 745 Pfc 
Red to gr of Pvt 4 Jan 4.5 per Co.o.#1. 

COP..RECTION (31 Oct 44) /s/ Frank J Watson 
l.31544lil. Rogers, William J 74.5 Pfc /t/ FRA.~ ~WATSON 
Fr dy to MIA 220ct 44. · Capt., .317th Inf 

Personnel Officer 
SHOULD BE 

13154441 Rogers, William J. 745 Pfc 
Fr dy to AWOL 06oo 22 Oct 44. 

13154441 Rogers, William J. 74.5 PVt 
Fr AWOL o6oo 22 Oct 44 to ar in qrs 
4-Jan 4.5" 

* * * * * * * *** (Pros.Exs• .l,B). · 

Private First Class George Marcinik, Company c, 317th Infantry, 
testified, when asked what he knew about the duty status of the accused 
from about 22 October 1944, that the accused "was .AYfOL since 22 October 
1944"; that the last time he remembered seeing the accused in the company­
was "about two months at least"; that the accused came back to the company­
"after he had been AWOL" "a.bout the last of December"; that the last time 
he saw the accused befol."e Decembe:c..:wa.s "before we crossed the Moselle 
River, "which was on 8 November 1944; that ae, the vritness, had been 
present for duty with the company since 22 October 1944 and had not been 
out sny days since October '(RB). 

4. The accused, after his rights as a :m_tness were fully ~d 
to him, elected to remain silent, and no evidence was introduced in his 
behalf. . 

.. 
.5. a. Absence without leave• 

. _ The IX" eliminary- question to be decided is the validity' of 
the morning repo~ts which were received in evidence. Captain Frank J • • 
Watson, Personnel Officer, 317th Infantry-, was shown to have signed both 
original mornii:ig. reports (R6,7). · ,. 695J. 

~ ''·~ r1 n1TTtl.'.:­
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Prior to 12 December 191J4 there was no express authority 
· in the European Theater of oPerations for a personnel officer to sign 

an original morni.ng report, the only persons so authorized being the 
comanding o.f'ficer of the reporting unit, or 11 the officer acting in com­
mand" (AR 34.5-400, 1. May 1944, par.42) • There is no evidence in the record 
relating to the morning report dated 31 October 1944 (Pros.Ex.A) other than 
that it was signed by the personnel officer (R.6). That morning report is-1 
therefore, incompetent to prove the matters stated therein, and was not 
rendered competent by the failure of the defen~e to object to its admis­
sion in evidence. -. 

Under date of 12 December 191J4 the Conunanding General, 

European Theater of Operations, issued a directive providing: 


"Morning reports of units in the the~ter will be 
signed either by the commanding officer of the 
reporting unit, or in his absence, the officer 
acting in command * * * or by the unit personnel 
officer * * *" (Cir.1191 ETOUSl, 12 December 1944, 
sec.IV). · 

Under date of 3 January 194.5, the ~ Regulations on the subject of morning 
reports were rerlsed, with the following provisions 

. . 
"Morning reports w.!.ll be signed by" the commanding 
officer of the reporting unit, or by an officer 
designated by the commanding officer" (AR34.5-400, 
3 January 194.5, par.43,!)• 

In the present case, therefore, the morning report dated 

5 January 194.5 (pros.ex. B) was properly signed by the personnel officer. 

It is not competent, however, to prove events occurring prior to the time 


· the duty was placed upon the personnel officer to know the facts stated. 
Consequently, this report cannot be held to prove that the accused initiaJ.lT 
absented himself on 22 ~ctober 1944; but it is campetent to show that on 4 
January 194.5 the accused changed from a status of being absent without 
leave to arrest in quarters. 

Oa.tside the morning reports, the following evidence o.f' 
absence without leave is f'ound in the record: the testimony of Private. 
First Class Marcinik1 -who belonged to the same company as accused, that 
the accused ''was AWOL since 22 October 1944"; that he, the witness, had 
been present wi.:th the company for duty since 22 October 1944, bl t did not 
remember seeing the' accused in the company for "about two months at least"; 
and that he sa:w the accus.ed wheb the latter "came back to the company after 
he had been AWOL" about the last of December (R8,9). Althou~ the testi ­
mon~r of Marcinik that accused •s absence was without leave constituted 
hearsay

0 

knowledge or a mere conclusion,orboth, on the part of the witness,· 
it was competent erldence that accused was in fact absent fran his organiza­
tion for a pericxi of about two months beginning 22 October. This evidence 
together with the admissible portion of the morning report of 5 January 
194.5, in the opinion of the Board of.Review, sufficiently establishes a 
Prima ~ case of absence without leave for the period alleged and .f'oun:i. 

http:accus.ed
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b. Intent to avoid hazardous duty: 

The Specification alleges that on or about 22 October 1944 
the accused absented himself without proper •leave ''with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, to-wit: participation in operations against an enemy of 
the United States." 

To sustain a conviction under Article of War 28, the 
requisite intent must be proven to have been entertained by the accused at 
the time he quit his organization or place of chty (CM E'IO 5958, Perry and 
Allen, and authorities cited therein). 

There is no substantial evidence in this case that the 
accused had the intent to avoid hazardous duty at the time his absence 
began. The evidence shows and the court found that accused absented him­
self on 22 October 1944, but it fails to show what the situation of the 
accused's organization or place of duty was on or before that date, from 
which situation might be inferred an intent to avoid hazardous duty. The 
only P-vidence on this point purporting to cover 22 October 194.4 is the 
testimony of Private First Class Sanderson, ltl o, when asked Vihat his 
regiment had been doing since about 15 October 1944 down to about 10 
January 1945, responded: 11 They had been in contact with the enemy, sir"• 
When asked to elaborate on his answer, he referred to events ocrurring, on 
or about 8 November and 7 and 19 December (R7). 

In the opinion of the Boa.rd of Review, this evidence is 
not sufficiently substantial to support a finding that the accused had 
the intent to avoid hazardous duty at the time he absented himself. 

6. The charee sheet shows that the accused is 24 years old and 
that he was inducted on 23 November 1942 at Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ­
He had no prior service. 

. 7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person arrl offense. Except as herein noted, no errors injuriously affect­
ing the substantial rights or accused were conunitted during the trial. 
For the reasons stated, the Board of Reviewis of the opinion that the record 
of trial is legally sufficient to support only so much or the findings of 
guilty of the Charge and Specification as itlvolves findi.ngs that the ac­
cused did, at the ti.me and~place alleged, absent himself without leave 
from his organization until the termination of his absence at the ti.me. and 
place allP,ged, in v).olation of Article of War 61, and legally sufficient· 
to support thesentence. 
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8. '!i:Le designation of the Loire Disciplinary Training Cent.er, 
Le Mans, France, as the place of confinement is proper (Ltr. Hq. . 
European Theater of,Operations, AG 252, Op. TB!, 19 Dec. 1944, p;u-.3). 

(00 LEAVE) Judge Advocate 
--~~~---~.~~~~~~ 

I, 

6951 
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lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The,.Jud~~ Ad-rocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. /:1 7 ArR 1945 TO: Comm.anding 
General, European Theater of Operations, APO 8871 u.s. ~ 

l. Herewith transmitted for ·your action under Article of \Var 
5oi, as amended by Act 20 August 1937 (50 Stat•. 724; 10 u.s.c. 1522) 
and as .:f.'u.rther amended by Act 1 August 1942 (56 Stat. 732; 10 u.s.c. 
1522),, ~~ the record of trial in the case of Private WILLIAM J. ROGERS 
(1315Wll!J.), Compa.:ny c, 317th Infantry. 

2. I concur in the opinion of ~he Board of Review and, for 
the reasons stated therein, reconnnend that the findines of guilty of 
the Charge and Specifications, except so much thereof as involves 
findings of guilty of absence without leave in violation of Article 
of War 61, be vacated, and that all rights, privileges and property' 
of which he has been deprived by virtue of that portion of the findings, 
.vizc convicti9n of desertion in. time of war, so vacated, be restored. 

3. Inclosed is a form of action designed to carry into ef'f'ect. 
the recommendation hereinbefore made. Also inclosed is a arart GCMO 
for use in promulgating the proposed action. Please return the r~ord 
of trial with re~red copies of GCMO. · 

LM~tZtf'~' 
' - . E, C, McNSD. ' 

B~er General ,United states A.rrq1 
. Assistant Judge .Advocate General. 

{ Findings vacated in pan .in accordance rlth recolll!llenda.tion of 
Assistant Judge Advocate l.ieneral. GCMO 11..S, ETO, 13 ~ 1945.) 

.·.r... 
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Bruch ct.rice ot Th• Jmge Ad.neat• Ge:aeral 
with the · 

European Theater ot Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

Cll ETO 69SS 

UNITED S T J. T E S 

v. 

PriTate IRA II. SLONAmt 
(3351S56S), Comp~ G,
36th IBtBlltr,r 

26MAR1945 

'.3RD INF.AN'mY DIVISION. l 
Trial by GCM, convened at Molsheim, 

) France, 9 December 1944. Sentence: 
) Dishonorable discharge, total tor­

£eitures and eonf'inement at bard ~ labor for life. Eastern Branch, 
) United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLllING by BO.ARD OF REVIEW HO. 2 
VJ.N BENSCHarEN, HII.4 and EVINS, Judge Advocates 

1. The record ot trial in. the case of the soldier named above 
bas been examined by the Board ot Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the :following Charge and specifica­
tions a 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article o£ War. 

Specitication la In that Private IRA.11. SLONAKER, 
Co~ "G", 30th Infantry did, at ar near 
LeThol.y, France on or about 7 October 1944 
desert the service ot the United States b7 
absentiJJg himself without proper lea"fe from 
his organization, with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty", to witr Combat with tlw 
enemy', and did remain absent in desertion 
Wltil he surrendered himself at or near 
El.ayes, France on ar about 24 October 1944. 

\6955 
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Specification 21 In that * * * did, at or near 
Bru;reres, France; on or about 24 October 
1944 desert the service of the United States 
by ~bsenting himself without proper.leave 
trom his organization, w1th intent to avoid • 
hazardous duty, to wit: Combat with the 
enemy, and did remain absent in desertion 
until he surrendered himself at or near 
Bru;reres, France, on or about 29· October 
1944. 

Spec:1£'ication 3: (Nolle Prosequi entered b;y order 
or Convening Authorit7). 

Specitication 4: (Finding or gui,1ty disapproved 
b;r acliion of' donf'irming Authority). 

He pleaded not guilty and, all the members or the court present at the 
time the vote 

6
was taken concurring, was found guilty of the Charge and 

Specifications l, 2, and 4 thereunder. No evidence of previous con­
Tictions was introduced•. All the members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be shot to 
death with musketry. The reviewing authority, the Commanding General, 
3rd Infantry Division, approved the sentence and forwarded the record 
of trial for action pursuant to Article of' War 48. The confirming 
authority, the Commanding General, European Theater or Operations, dis­
approved the finding of guilty at Specification 4 ot the Charge, con­
firmed the sentence, but due to accused's prior meritorious service in 
prolonged combat and the unusual circumstances in the case, commuted 
the sentence to dishonorable discharge from the service, f'orf'eiture of' 
all pay and allowances due or to become due, and confinement at hard 
labor f'or the term ot his natural life, dedgnated the Eastern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the 
place ot confinement, and withheld the order directing the execution 
of' the sentence pursuant to Article ot War 5'*· 

3. T}le evidence for the prosecution shows that on 7 October 1944 
accused was a member of Company G, 30th Inf'a!ltry, which organization 
was stationed near LeTholy, France (Rl0,17). On this date accused 
asked tor a?d received, from his platoon leader, permission to go to 
•see the medics" (RlO). The medical channels through which an ill or 
injured member of' accused's organization would go, were from the corn.­
Pa.DY to the 2nd Battalion Aid Station where it would be determined 
whether the soldier should be returned to duty or evacuated (Rll). 
The regimental surgeon testified that, if evacuated, his name would 
be entered 011. the aid station record, but :1£' not evacuated and returned 
to duty, :no eJltry is made in the record. Accused 1 s name did not ap. 
pear on the records ot the medical aid station for the month or Octo­
ber 1944 (R12). On the 24th ·or October aocused reported tO T/S­

6955 
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Leonard Wallace, Jr., attached to the Service Company, 3oth Intantry, 
then located near Eloyes, France. At this time accused said that 
the"medics"had not sent him to the hospital and stated that he"couldn~t 
stand front line duty" and that he "didn't want to go back", preferring 
rather to be "court-martialed"(Rl5,16). Ho..tever, this same day, he 
was returned to his company (Rl6). There was received in evidence, 

. without objection by the defense, an extract copy of the morning re­
port of Company G, 30th Infantry Regiment, showing accused's absence 
without leave from his organization from 7 to 24 October 1944 (RS,9; 
Pros.Ex.A). 

On 7 October 1944, the day accused absented himself f'rom 

his organization, his compa.ny' was in contact with the enemy, located 

.300 yards away. Although there was a lull in activity his platoon 

was tactt,cally 11 in combat" with the enemy by patrol. Also there was 

"a f'ire tight" on the right and in the center the enemy was "digging 

into our positions"(Rl0,14). At the time accused rejoined his unit, 

on the evening o£ 24 October 1944, his company was preparing to "move 

out" into a "new area" (Rl7). He was placed with the headquarters 

group 1llltil the organization ·arrived at its destination. Before the 

company moved out, they had been issued ammun~tion and equipment pre­

parator;r to ll10Vllg into an attack against the -enemy. They were 

"loaded d01'?1 with two bandoleers .full or ammunition, rifles, and 

their grenades". The following morn~ accused was again missing•. 

A search was made for him but he coula. not be :found. He had no per­

mission or authority to be absent (Rl5-18). .Accused was not seen 

again until 29 October 1944 when he was returned to his organization 

(R25). 


Concerning both absences, it was stipulated between counsel 
tor the prosecution and the defense that if' available as a witness 
the investigating off'icer would testify that, after duly informing 
him o£ his rights under the 24th Article of War, accueed volmtarily' 
made a sworn statement in writing, which document was received in evi- . 
dence with the consent o£ the accused, and reads,in part, as follows: 

"On or about 7 Octob~i9M, I received 
permission * * * La~ went to the medics 
ot the 2nd Bn·. .A Sgt ther~ took my tem­
perature and gave me some pills. * * * I 
had a te!D}1erature of 101.8 degrees. The 
Sgt told me to report back to l!lY Col!!Pa!lY• 
I stayed in a barn close to the Medics 
and· did not go back to !l!Y' Compa.nY• * * * 
I did not know where my Comj>any was but 
on the 24th o£ October 1944, I saw a 
Service Company_1:£uck and got a ride 
back to * * * Tm.If£ompanz·* * * the CQm­
PaDY" started on a march on this dat!f. 
While in the woods we began gettirJ8 
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shelled. I lost l'l!.Y head and left 
the Col!!Pany• I went to Grati.dviller~, 
F):ance. ***~October 1944 
L"f' turned i:A/ to the mail clerk 
* * * at Br-.JYeres, France" (R24,25;
Pros.Ex.C)(Underscoring supplied). 

4. Arter an explanation of' his rights as a witness, accused elected 
to make. an unsworn statement, through counsel. Such statement appears 
as follows: 

"The accused * * * was inducted into 
the armed service on the 2nd of Sep­
tember 1943; ***he joined the 3d· 
Division while it was on the Anzio 
Beachhead in March, 1944; * * * he 
was assigned to Company "G" or the 
30th Inrantr,r. He remained on the 
Anzio Beachhead throughout the re­
mainder of' that campaign. He ma.de 
the push to Rome with Company "G" of 
the 30th lnf'antcy; * * * he also 
landed in southern France with his 
compan;r and taught throughout the 
campaign in .southern France until 
af'ter his Cdmpany had crossed the 
Moselle river. The accused has 
never lost a day from combat because 
of hospitalization. There are no 
previous convictions in this case 
whatsoever, nor bas this accused at 
any other time appeared before a 
military court tor any reason what­
soever" (R2'7). 

No witnesses testified on behalf' at accused and, after introduction of 
the above statement, the de!'ense rested. 

5. Competent imcontradicted evidence establishes the commission, 
b7 accused, of' the of'f'enses alleged in Specifications 1 and 2 hereof'. 
Although accused received permission to go to the aid station, he be­
came absent without leave from his organization when he failed to 
return f'rom there to his company when so directed. He was under. orders 
to rejoin his imit, this-he f'ailed to do and remained absent therefrom 
until 24 October 1944. When he rejoined his company on this latter 
date, his organization was.beginning to move out in attack against the 
enem;r. He was missing the following morning and continued in unauthor­
ized absence until 29 October 1944, when be was again returned to his 
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organization.· At the time of his first absence, his compan1 was en­
gaged in combat with the ene!!zy', located appro:ximatel1 300 yards f'or­
w8:4'd. .These facts, coupled with accused 1 s voluntary statements that 
he "couldn't stand front line duty" and tha;t he "didn't want to go 
back", preterring instead to be "court-martialed", supports the in­
ference that accused entertained a specific intent to avoid the hazards 
am perils ot combat with the enell!Y'. Coincident with accused 1 s second 
absence, his organization was moTing into an attack against the enemy 
at night. Enemy shellfire was coming over and, according to accused, 
this occurrence caused him to lose his head and to leave his comp~. 
Under such circumstances the court was fully justified and warranted 
in finding that, in each instance accused absented himself with the 
specific intent to avoid the hazardous duty or combat with the enemy, 
as alleged (CM ETO 3473, krllon; CM ETO /IJ86, ~; CM ETO 6177, 
Tre,nseau and author,1ties cited therein) • A soldier who quits his 
organization or place ot duty with intent to avoid such hazardous 
duty or to shirk important service is declared by law to be a deserter 
(AW 28-58). All elements or the offenses charged are thus fully es­
tablished (CM ETO 4138, ~; CM ETO 5293, Killen; CM ETO 5555, Slovik). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 19 years ot age and 
that he was inducted, without prior service, on 2 September 1943, to 
serve for the d'lU"ation of' the war plus six months. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting.the substantial 
rights ot accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence. 

s. The offense of desertion in time of war is punishable by 
death or such other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58). 
The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement is proper 
(AW- 42; Cir.210, TID, 14 Sept. 194.3, sec.VI, as amended). 

_...,.~.....,...&.m.1---..~- ... Judge Advocate.........._~~,...;;.._____ 

·1.I/// ~ ­~ ,. ,, 
__.....s<.._.f.._-_....._.-,..__..._c""'t;-./...-..,_·.-~-.~-·_.;__ Judge Advocate 

/
/ 
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lat Ind. 

War Department, Brangh Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 2 f P1 1q45 TO: Commanding 
General, European Theater of Operations, APO 887, U. s. Ar'I!l;f. 

1. In the case of Private IRA M. SLONAKER '(33515565), Company 
G, 30th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing holding b;r 
the Board of Review that the record or trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence as commuted, which 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 
50h you now have author!ty to order execution of the :ientence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM E'ro 
6955. Fpr convenience of' referencef please place that number in 
brackets at the end of the order: \CM ETO 6955). 

~/~
E. C • .McNEil.., 

Brigadier 	General, Vnited States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

( Sentemre as COlll!lluted orde:!'ed executed. 
GCMO, no., ETO, 7 April 1945.) 
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Branch Office ot The Judge Advocate General 
with the . · 

European Theater ot Operations 
Are 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 

CM E'lD. 6961 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 
) 

v. ~ 
Secord Lieutenant RALPH ) 
WIILIAll RISI.Er, JR. (0-131233.3)1 ) 

Co~ JI, 379th In!antr;r )
) 
) 

21 FEB 1945 

95TH INFAN'mI DIVISION 

Trial b,- Gell, convened at APO 95, 
u. s. Af'm'1', 21. December 1944• 
Sentence: Dismissal, total tor­
teitures am continemant at bard 
labor for 20 years. Eastern 
Branch, United States Discipl.inaey 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New Yorlc. 

HOIDIMJ by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

RI'lER, SHEmLAN and STEVEm, Jooge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case ot the olficer naaed 
above has been examined b1 the Boa.rd ot Rev.Lew, and the Board 
submits this, its holding, to the Assistant Judge Ad10cate Genera.l 
in chl.rge ot the Branch Office ot The Judge Advocate General with· 
the European Theater of Operations. 

2. The acc~ed was tried upon tbe following Charge and 
Specitication: 

CHARGE: Violation ot the 75th Article ot War. 

Specification: in that 2d Lt. Ralph w. R1el97, 
Jr., Compaey "lL", .379th Intant17, did, at 
or near Saarlautem, GenaaDT, on or about 
4 Deceuber, 1944, misbehave hi.llselt before 
the eneJll1", b,- .f'ai Ji\'"€ to place his 8lma 
Mortar Section into position, which had 
been ordered into position bT 2d. Lt. Leslie 
R. Fard, Acting Platoon Leader, Mortar 
Platoon, Comp&Il1' "Y", 379th In!antr,, to 
engage 1li. th the emrq, which torces, the 
S&id comnam was than opposing. 6961 
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He pleaded not guilty and, tw-0-thirds of the menbers of the 
court present at the time tie. vote was taken concurring, 
was found guilty of the Charge and Specification. No evid­
ence of previous convictions was introduced. Three-fourths 
of the members of the o:>urt present at the time the vote 
was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dismissed the 
service of the United States, to forfeit all pay and allow­
ances due or to beco~ due, and to be confined at ha.rd labor, 
at such place as the reviewing authorit1 may direct, for 20 
years~ The revie~ authority, the Command~ General, 95th 
Infantq Division, approved the sentence, des~nated the 
Ea.stern Branch, United States Disciplina.17 Barracks, Green­
haven, New York, as the place of conf:imment aIXi forwarded 
the record of trial for action umer Article of War 48. The 
contiming authority, the Co1I11Janding General, European 
Theater of Operations, conf'inood the sentence, designated 
the Ea.stem Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, and 
withheld the order directing execution of the sentence 
pursuant to Article of War 5~. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution is as follows: 

On 3 aIXl 4 Pecember 1944 at Saarla.utern, Germany, 
Second Lieutenant l'..eslie R. Ford was the acting platoon leader 
of the mrtar platoon o! Company M, 379th Infantry. Accused 
was under his conmand (R6) and leader of the platoon's third 
section (R37). On 3 December at about 2215 hours (R7), · 
Lieutenant Ford received orders requiring his platoon and tre 
sections under it to support the third battalion in an attaclc 
at 0700 the following morning on Fra.ulautern, a suburb of 
Saarlautem, Germany (R6,7,22). At about 2300 hours Lieuten­
ant Ford, accomi:anied by his section le&ders, ma.de a. recon­
na.issanc::e of the route that would be followed in connection 
with the attack and regarding the gun positions to be selected. 
Be!'ore they started out the section commanders were shown the 
approxi.ma.te situation on the map. This reconnaissance group, 
consisting of three officers, including accused, ani two en­
listed ~n, accompanied Lieutenant Ford to the area where each 
section conmander was sholll the ground to be occupied b.r his 
section and an observation post from which he could point out 
targets. Lieutenant Ford pointed. out. to accused "his gun posi­
tions rlght on the spot they were to be set up". Although it 
was night there was visibility (R7) and objects such as build­

. ings and "the brmge" could be sem 100 yards awq and a .man 
or soldier 20 or 30 yards distant. Lieutenant Ford testified 
tha. t as they moved through the streets shells landed several 
times in their vicinit7, whereupon accused 

- 2 - 6DG1 


http:approxi.ma.te
http:Disciplina.17


(259) 


"le!t the group and ducked into doorways 
.and getting along side or walls. I 
hadn't considered the shells close enough 
.tor him to be doing that arxl mmtioned 
the tact to him not to act like a damn 
tool"• 

No one else took cover. 

After they returned to the comp&Il1' . 

"we went over again exactly how we 
would move forward, wba. t to do with 
the .foot troops, where to detruck and 
how to handle tm ammunition and that 
was all we did that night 11 {RS). 

Thia intonnation was "passed down", the platoons were alerted 
for tta move the next moming and .ammunition and wire were 
straightened. up. 

At 01+00 hours on 4 December the motor element of' 
the platoon moved out on jeei:- and accused went with it. 
Lieutenant Ford went .forward with the trucks and arrived in 
the t01m (Saarlautern) at OW or 0420 hours. Because there 
were artillezy shells ·landing ~t the Entrance to the town, 
the nen ,"detrucked•, took the m.Ortars a.Di amr:umition otr tbs 
vehicles.and moved forward on .foot, a matter of "!our or 
.five blocks" to the gun locations of their respective sec­
tions. Accused was then .following Lieutenant Ford am when 
they cane to accused's area, Lieutenant Ford 

"told him to· go to ·his area and set up 
.his guns and that the area .for the sec­
ond section was 100 yards away". 

-
Accused asked 11womething about, 'all rl.ght, you want ne to set 
up OP and tmn -go .forward and pick out the gun po~itiona?' ". 
Lieutenant Ford replied "Yes"1 aid accused moved in with the 
section towards his area (R9,14). It was then about 0430 hours. 
'lbere was no change .1118.d• in the original orders and Lieutenant 
Ford said nothing to accused about waiting any- place .for .fur­
ther orders (Rl0,14). 

At about 0700.hours Lieutenant Ford retumed !'roa 
;be battalion comcard post and learned that accused's section 
'as not set up, so hs contacted the sergeant ot the section and 
old h1a where to put his guns, to bring his tele}ilone End wire, 
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an:i to move up and set up where Lieutenant Ford had his 

observation post. ld.eutmant Ford did not aee accused. 

at that time (RlO), but knew tha.t neither ot his t'!o 

guns were set up because while he waa talk1ng with the 

sergeant 


"the squad leader c&ma around the build­
.ing with th9 gun and pr:"Oceeded to the 
area I told them to set up their guns"
(Rll}. 

So:metim.e ai'ter dqlight at about 0745 or 0800 hours he re­
ceived a call trom his commanding officer {Rll-12) tor .tire 
to be delivered by- accused's section which waa not then ready 
and able to comp4. He tberetcre ordered the aecoal section 
to C(?ver the target, although it was not in its sector. To 
accomplish this ita guns bad to be moved which required about 
ten llinutes (RU). Lieutenant Ford could aee that the 
trouble arose because troop• to -hie front were pinned down 
b7 snail ams tire. He sent b1a platoon sergeant to !'1.nd 
accused, 'lilo arrived at·the connand post at e:xactl7 10.30 hours. 
He asked accused wbs re he had been and 1il7 be ba.d not set up 
his section. Accused replied he had been down in the latrine 
defecating. Lieutenant Ford told hill. he was no longer in coa­
1118nd ot the section. Accused said, "J"8s, I know", but did 
not eJtplam 1fh7 his guns were not set up or clai.11. to be un-' 
well (RJ.2). 

A map with scale l/25000, identified b7 Lieutenant 

Ford a• th9 •saarlautern map", was ottered aid received in 

eTidmce, without ob_;, ction, -with pendsaion ot the court. 

that ·it be withdrawn after the trial aod a eop,r substituted 

(R15; Pros.Ex.A). Upon request, Lieutenant Ford placed an 

arrow on the map to show "the position the third battalion 

was to cross the Sarr River", drew a line in the direction in 

which thq were to proceed and placed an arra1r at the end ot 

this line. He aleo drn a lim above which was placed an "E" 

to represent the direction .troa which Ell8Jll1' i'ir• cam (BJ.5).. 


Lieut. enant Ford disclosed th& t the attaclc was to 
11 jUllp o!.t" at 0700 on 4 December 1944, am tha.t the .first !'1.re 
mission was called arowxl 0800. He had dispatched accused to 
set up his section at 0430 ·am first learned the section was 

· not in position at about 0645 or o650. From 0420 until 0645 
he had no knowledge that the gmis were not in position. Che 
halt hour would have been ample ti• to set up accused's' sec­
tion and have it reaey to tire (B.1.6). The attack j111RpC9d o.tt 
over an open level field at ~out 0700 and alllost illlllediatelT 
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began to "bog down". It was right after that that the call 
c~ for fire (Rl.8), which accused's section was not ready 
to deliver (Rl.7,18). Lieutenant Ford !urtrer testified 
that accused joined his organization ~ July, that he did 
not go on platoon problems during a few days "at IncUantown 
Gap", and that he failed in a mortar test -rtlich he took 
with other officers and nonconmissioned officers in England 
(Rl9). 

Captain Harold H. Meisner, commanding officer ot 
Compa.r.w l!, 379th Inf'antry (R21), testit ied that on the 
night of 3 December between 2130 arxi 22.30 hours, he received 
an order from the battalion ca:imanding officer 'l':ho was making 
the attack at 0700 hours the following m.oming "on the otrer 
side af the river". He gave his order to the platoon leader 
approximately at 2200 hours to make a reconnaissance of posi­
tion area.a before the attack. This they did and returned 
about one o'clock in the morning an:i thereafter 

"'Ne le.rt Felsberg at 3:30 in the morning. 
The mortars and ma.chim guns le.ft bT . 
vehicles for Saarlautern. The mortar1 
were given the mission to eupport by 
fire the jump o!f on the morning of the 
4th. The guns were to be in position · 
when the foot elemant arrived. They 
were given three hours to get guns into 
action. I was with the mortar platoon 
with the battalion comna.nder at the 
jump off" (R22). 

Shortly after the attack commenced at about 0700, it was 
bogged down by heavy fire from J11achine guns and Cai:tain Meis­
ner,, using the "300 radio", called for mortar fl.re from the 
third section (Bll,,l..4,,18,,22,,25). Such fire :ilould have come 
from the third section because it had direct cbservation on 
the target from acroe s the river (R26). It would have nade 
the enerw "button up" and decreased his visibility,, but the 
.tire did not come because (according to the repl.Jr lfilich came 
back) the mortars were pot set up (R25).' Captain Meisner 
was in a position to observe the infantiyman pinned down be­
cause he ''was right with teem"• After a lapse of ten or 15 
.minutes mortar tire was received (R2.3). 

He talked with accused the next dq when accused re­
ported at the com~ conmani post and told the captain he 
was relieved of his section. Queationed as to the reason for 
his action,, accused said he was sick an:i dUl'ing his stoiy 
Captain .Meisner · 
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"counted up the· nunber of times he claims 
he "VOJli.ted and defecated and when h• 
finished I told him that he mu.st ha.ve 
vomit,..ed and defecated nine t:iJJles. He was 
surprised that I had counted these ccoas­
iona as amtiomd in his story. His 
story di dn1t jibe. I asked him it he 
was scared of mortar and art1.lle17 fire 
and be said, 'Yes•. I as~d him' it he 
was aare ot the tact that the infantry 
was depending on the mortar .fire and 
that be was to set up regard.less ot 
mortar and artillery tire and be said 
he thought it might let up a litUe bit 
later. I said, ''!bat's no excuse after 

. giving you three hours to get them in'. 
He gave no substantial reason. He more 
or less bea.t arowxl the bush or alibied. 
That was all he ha.d to ofter" (R24). 

It accused was sick he should have turned the sect.ion over 
to the section sergeant but. to the best ot Captain Meislli'r 1s 
knowledge be did not. tell him or a.DT oth:lr ot his superior. 
ot.tlcers that he was Bick am h&d to be relieTed. The CaP:,ain 
did not tell accused at any- tim on 3 or if: December that th:lre 
waa a change in orders or to await further orders (R24). 

Sta.tt Sergeant Henry F. Krause, squad leader ot the 
sixt.h aqULd, mortar platoon, Co.mpall1' ll, 379th In!ant17 (R26), 
testitie d tmt he was with the jeeps on the .llOl'Iling of 4 Decem­
ber 1944 when ha and abOut tour other enlisted an arrind at 
Saarlautem where the vehicles were unloaded. Accused took 
the men to the section. area mere they entered a building, 
part ot a tacto1'7 (R27,28) at 0400 or 0415 hours. There the 
section did not~ and accused said nothing except to suggest 
to Krause "that we go out and look tor a house 11here the rain 
1110ul.dn't come in•. Krause said, 

"The hell with looking tor a house where 

thll rain isn't coming in let's look tar 

an OP and get the guns set up" (R27). 


It was then 0445 or 0500. Accused went "in the little roo.m. 
am. sat in the comer" and no orders were given about setting 
up tm giins (R26-27). -Krame- took one or the aen with bill. · 
ani w.ent !orward in an attempt to locate an observation post. 
At around 0600 or 0615 when be caM back, accused was still 
there and did not aa7 an,t.hing or give him my- orders (R28). 
At 0710 Lt. llultop came ewer and in the presence ot accused 
said SOJl9 thing about amm.uniti on an:l asked me re conmunicationa 
were and it the sins were set up. Krause said, "No" and tol~ 
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"we had no OP or no mortar positions 
that the orders I g>t were that orders 
had been cm~ ed. 'lha.t we should etq 
in the ruilding until we received .tur­
tber ordera. Then Lt. llultop told us · 
we'd better shake our ass or soDthing . "­
to.that ettect and get going" (R29). 

Krause belleTed these words had reference to accused bees.use 
he wae the one who had to sq where the guns would be set up, 
but accused just kept walking back and forth arxl then •took 
oft with Sgt. Poderski"• When accused returned he gave no 
orders and the men 11were all grip~ and bitching". The law 
member ruled that these words were improper testimoey, stat­
ing 

"The witness can describe what the 
.lieutenant did, what the witness did 
has no bearing on the ~ilt or inno­
cence ot the accused" {R29). 

The gurus in accused 1s section were set up am rea~ to tire 
8019Where around oaoo. 

Examination 'b1' the court disclosed that the order 
to set up tbll gms nre given by Sergeant Krause on his own 
initiative and tba t he received no order to this effect -from. 
&DTOM (R3()) • 

Sta.ft Sergeant Gua Janetoa, section leader of the 
third section ot the Slam mortar platoon, Collpaey ll, on the 
moming of 4 December 1944, canw up with the toot troops to 
Saarlautern am between 0430 and 05.30 arrived at the place 
where the .mn were "inside the building, sitting there"• Ac­
cused waa present (R.32) and said "we were to sit and wait 
tor turtmr ordera". He was not doing anything about getting 
guns in position. At 0720 Sergeant Janetos received orders 
from Lielt.enaat. Ford (RJJ) in accordance with llbich he g>t 
the guna into action between 07.30 and 0800. Ucused was not 
tmn present and had giT«i no orders to set up the guns. It 
was late that afternoon when he again saw acc"WSed (R.34). Prior 
to 0720 when accused lett he said "he was going on to establlah 
an OP11 (R3J,35). ·· . 

Statt Sergeant Leopold s. Poderski, squad leader in 
the third section, :U: Compaey, .379tb Intant ry, waa Jresent. ldth 
the squad leaders and accused when they "were given the situa­
tion" by Lieutenant Ford prior to the attack on 4 December 1944. 
He arrived at the area in Saarlautern at about 0400 llhere .ac­
cused "told us to go in the buildings and wait ana we waited 
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there quite a while". They 11 ju.st waited. We didn't know 
what to cb. We just waited ~ further orders from him"• 
'l'he7 waited about two and one-halt hours during 'Which ti.ID!l 
accused did not cb anything but at about 0700 he took Poder­
ski and •c~xporal Sucbala" (R37-38) 

"out to the positions for the gm and 
.when we got_ to the spot \lihere rq gun 
was to be he told me to set m:r gun up 
there and then shells started falling 
and the lieutenant took for cover" 
(R.39). 

He went 50 or 75 yards to the next. building arrl 11sort of 
ran or trotted in a crouched position". The shells were 
landing 50 to 75 yards awa:r. He cane . back in about five 
minutes and told them to ~ back vdth the rest of the group 
(R.39), and that they were supposed to wait fer further orders. 
Back at the wilding he sa:id nothing .further about setting 
up the guns and waited in the cOl'ner or one of the two rooms 
in the building. Around 0800 he was by a window from llhich 
he showed Podersld his targets for the section area (R40-4J.). 
One of their guns could be set up and made ready' to f':ire in .. 
50 seconds "under fe,TOrite corxlitions" (R4.3) •. 

Coxporal I.roy Carr, of platoon headquarters, 
Company M:, 379th Infantry1 was serving as a guard in Saar­
lautem on the moming of 4 December 1944 and was pos~~ 
"downstairs" in the building -occupied b7 the company's com­
mand post between 0700 and 0800 hours. At about 0800 he saw 
accused s1tting in a sma.ll room "about s1 x by ten 11 , the walls 
of which were of' concrete (R4.3-44,46). '1h1a rooa_was next to 
the latrine which Carr visited quite often as he was suffering 
from the "GI1 1 11 • He saw accused there "Off and on all ~·. 
There were two stools in tl:B latrine b\t. he did not see accused 
usi~ them and did not remember whether or not accused said he 
was sick (R45-46). 

4. After his rights were explained, ac'Cused elected to 
be sworn am to testifr in his own behalf (R46-47). His testi ­
mony that followed lfal volum:inoue arxi detailed (R47-63), the 
pertillEllt parts of 'Which were in substance as follows: .. 

He came into the Arm:r in April 1940 ard was assigned 
to the 5th Intant.cy. At the i.Iduction center, his cl.assitica­
tion test showed he had one of tm ~est "IQ' s" ao he wa1 
sent to Reg1.aental Intelligence where he learnad.about wiring, 
supplies and S) forth. He was transferred to the 550th Air­
borne Infantry in 1941 (R48) and passed through the grades ot 
printe, corporal and sergeant. Part ot this senice waupent 
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in Panama \Ulti.l his• return to the United States on 13 
November 1942. He attended Officer Candidate School 
at Fort Benning, Georgia. and graduated 25 FebruaI7 1943. 
Thereafter he served with an airborne unit aIXi then at­
tended Arm:r Finance School .from March 1943 until March 
1944· He then wwt to an Infantry Replacement Training 
Center and was assi gmd to the 379th Infantry and took 
part in ''West Virginia Maneuvers", where he "did a 
ratl'er bad job of that and was transfetted to the 378th". 
He was later reassigmd to the 379th Infantry (R49) and 
at Camp Myles Standish "had the Third Section", l! Company, 
379th Infant ry, and when they arrived in England, he 
learned he was going to stay 'With this company. He had 
not colillllal'ded troops and had had only two days training 
a.t Fort Benning and when he found he was in cOJDDand ot 
a mortar section he 

"told 'Ill'l' coill?lalldiilg officer that was all 
the tra~ I had and he told me Ua t 
I'd better get out a field manual and 
start learning because I was in charge 
of a mortar section" (R50). 

He did get a manual and stt.u:V but when he took his first test 
the only knowledge he had was what he had read from the manual 
and wmt littJ.e he could renember from the instructions he 
received at Camp Benning in 1942'(R50). 

On the ni~t of 3-4 December he accompanied Lieuten­
ant Ford and others ot his compacy on the reconnaissance am 
a place .fer the third section was designated (R50,5l,56). 
They returned to the compa.ny area, loaded amm.mli.tion an:i went 
forward again toward the area.selected for his section (R5l, 
52). When they · 

"came into the area the first section 
.peeled off an:i then the second section 
and then Lt. Ford told ll2 to take zq 
men to the rear of the building. I 
said, •set up now?' arrl he said, 'Wait 
for further order&' n (R52) .. 

T 

At that time it was only necessary to stay there with the 
equipment and they "posted the guard" and moved into the build­
ing. He told his men that 

''we would have to wait for further orders 
and to keep a look out to the right be­
cause the re was nothing but emm:r on the 
right" (R52). . 
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It was cold and tre men 11were bitching aroundn. Accused 
looked for a place for an observation post 11a.nd the other 
guns". Meanwhile 11the men were all getting restless and 
I still had to d,cide" (R52). It was durlng such occupation, 
which accused described in detail tl'at his activities were 
interrupted by his sutferiilg a pain in his stomach which 
made it necessary that he go to the toilet (R5J). He 
found a latrine :in a small room and he recounted the cir ­
CUIStances attendant on the many times he had to defecate 
and 'VOilit. The next time he did get "upstairs11 to join 

' his men and passed the second section, Lieutenant Ford 
'!was screaming for 'lights', light amnnmition". As ac­
cused walked b7, Lieutenant Ford saJd "Where have you been?" 
Accused told him he had just come from tre latrine ani 
Lieut.enant Ford said, 11I don't care where you've ~een or 
what you do but you are not in 00J111111.nd or the .section, un­
derstand.?" (R54). It was then about 10.30 hours, 4 Deceni:>er 
1944. 

Accused indicated that he knew he was supposed to 
lend support fire ~ 0700, that he suffered the cramp that 
required his constant attendance in the latrine after 0715, 
that thia illness was not suffici.enU,. severe to prevent 
his assuming his commam, that he was afraid ot artil.le17 
fire and that he was afraid that morning (R5S,59). The roJ. ­
lOliing questions and answers are pertinent: 

"Q. You heard Coxporal Carr testify re­
garding tm latrine in this building. 
Was his description ot the construction 
o! the latrine si.:bwtantiall;r correct? 

A. I wa.snlt pajying too much attention. 

Q. Assunling this envelope is the large 
room (illustrating with a large envelope), 
tre latrine was built into the room some­
thing like this (indicating a small room. 
within the large room). The walls were ot 
stone or concrete? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. You heard him testify that you were on 
numerous occasions in this little ro aa when 
he went in the re. 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. And you were not using the stool ·when be 
came in? 
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A. No sir. 

Q. Couldn't. you both u.ee t.bell. at the 
same tim?. 

A. It was at that ti.me that I thought I 
was BJ)iDg tq Tomit and I was in a crouched 
position there 11 (R60). 

Corporal Theodore Suchala, first gunnar, K.Compa117, 
J79th Infantry I testified for the defense W bri.ef'l.7 described 
his activities with the third section on the moming ot 4 Dec­
ember 1944. His testimon,y tailed to disclosed an,y .mtters. 
either beneficial or detri.Jrmtal to ac<?Used (R6J-64). 

5. It was stipulated b7 aIXi between the prosecution, 
the accused and the defense that an overl.a.7 presented to the 
court was a fair and accurate representation ot· the map re­
ferred to in tba testimony at Lieutenant Ford and the mar ld.ngs 
he made on the •P and this overl.a,y could be s\b stituted tor 
the original. lll!'l.p a:ai attached to the record as Prosecution's 
Exhibit "A• (R65). . 

6. In announcihg the sentence illpoeed, the court erron­
eousfy used the words "to be cti.shonorabl.7 discharged the service" 
instead ot "to be dislli.ssed the ser'fi.ce11

1 which incorrect termino­
logy was immed.i&tel.;r called to the COUl:"t ta attention b;r the 
trial judge advocate. The court thereupon declared a recess, 
during whidl the law member and the defense counsel "contacted 
the Divi eion Staff Juige Advocate• (R67). The court, then re­
convened and again announced the sed:.ence including therein the 
appropriate words "to be diamissed the service" (R68). The 
procedure adopted was not improper under the cirCW11Stances &Id 
no su.bstantial right ot accused was thereby injuriouslT affected 
(Yell, 1928, par.5J.&, p.40). 

7. Tbe:re was substantial convincing nidence trom. which 
the court could properl.T 1'.l.nd that accused, while before the 
&neJll1'1 misbehaved by failing to place his 8lnm .11.0rtar section 
in position to engage with the enem;r at the time and pl.ace and 
in the Jll!l.llD8r alleged. His aal.1ngering conduct in seeking his 
own personal satet;r e~ered the satety ot bi.a rep.ment am 
aggran.ted the misbebaTior alleged in violation ot Article of 
War 75 (CM: ETO 57101 Uetter, and caaH therein cited). 

8. The charge sheet shows that accused is 2.3 ;years seven 
months . ot age and was commissioned a second lieutenan" 25 Fabl'U8l7 
194.3 at Fort Benning, Georgi.a. He had prior enlisted service with 
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the Regular Ar'IIq for a period ot two and a halt yea.rs. 

9. The court was legally constituted and 1lad juris­

diction or the person and otrense. No errors injuriously 

attecting the swstantial rights ot accused were camd.tted 

during the trial. The Board or ~rlew is or the opinion 

that t~ record or trial is legall.T sutficient to support 

the findings ot guilty md tbe sentence. 


10. The penalty tor .misbehavior be.fore the eneJl!1' is 

death or such other punishment as a court-martial may direct 

(AW 75). The designation or the Ea.stem Branch, United. Statee 

Discipl.inar;r Barraclcs, Greenhaven, New"York is authorized (AW 

42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept.1943, sec.VI, as amerxled). 


,;/ 
,,/. 

~ Judge Ad"YOcate.......---­

.....-"._,1,,.,,_-0_._._.__,../A....'l .... ·_t"_'_•.'-•_.---- Judge Advocate 

f / y"° 1-r:- )
_<-.-..c....lff--...·...rL-_V L.-.. ~_-______ _· . _-k_4--~•..,...h..,.,_ Judge Advocate 

>7 

__.._....____.....,"'-........... 
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lst .Ind. 

War Department, Branch Of'rice ot The Jugge AdTOCat,.tt General with 

· th• European Theater. ot Op!rations. 21 FEB 194:> TO: Com­
ma.Dding General, European '!heater o! Operations; APO 887,. u. s. 

Arrq. . 

l, In the case ot Second Lieutenant RALPH WILLI.A1l 
RISIEY, JR. (0-1312.3.3.3), Compaq ll, 379th Infant17,.atten­

. tion ia invited to the torego~ holding by the Board ot Re­
m• that the reccrd ot trial is legal]¥ autticient to sup­
port the tindings ot guilt:r and the seDt ence, which holding 
is herebT approved. Under the provisions ot Article ot War
sai-, 7011 .°"'! ban authority- to order execution of' the sentence. 

2. When copies ot the published order are !orwarded 
to this ottice, the;r mould be accompanied b7 the ·foregoing 
holdhlg aid this irxiorsement. The file number ot the record 
in this ottice is CK ETO. 6961. For convenience ot ref'erence, 
please place that nWlber in brackets at the end. ot the ordert 
(ClL ETO 6961) • . 

. . . '$@tk-1 

ef.C. McNEIL, . Brigadier Gensral, United states J.rrq,I. Assistant Juruze AdTOcate~m.ral•. 

( ~ntence ordered executed. GCMO 641 ETO, .l· liar l945.) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European ~heater 


APO 887 

·CM ETO 698.3 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Captain MAURICE A. CARLSON . 
( 0-502860), Fina."lce Department, 
Fina.nee Section, Hee.dgua.rters 

, Fourth Armored Division. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

XII CORPS-­

Trial by GCM, convened at Nancy, 
France,. 8 December 1944. 
Sentence: Dismissal and total 
forfeitures. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF P..WIEVI NO• .3 , 
SLEEP.ER, SHER.LIAN and DE'NEY, Judge Advocates 

· 1. The record of trial in the ca.se of the officer named a.hove 
has been e.xamined by the Board of Review end the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of.the 
Branch Office or· The Judge .Advocate General with the European Theater. 

2. Accused wa.s tried upon the following Charge and specificationss 

CHARGE: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification I: In that Captain 1.hurice A. Carlson, 
F.D., Finance Section, Headquarters Folirth Armored 
Division, did, at Toul, France, on or about 
9 November 1944, wrongfully obtain from Technician 
Third Grade John VT. Lee, cashier, 88th Finance . 
Disbursing SP-ction, a one hundred dolle.r ($100.00) 
bill, serial number B0,389100'7A, currency of the 
United States, with the intent to s~ll said bill 
in France at a profit in violation of that prohi­
bition against dealing with trnited States currency 
in liberated terrftory which is set forth in para­
graph l of letter Headqtiarters European Theater of 

· Operation:i, file AG l210p, Subject: "Prohibition 
Against Circulating, Importing or Exporting 

- l -

CONrloENTIAL 

http:SLEEP.ER


(.302) 

United States and British 'Currencies in 
Liberated and Occupied Areas", dated 24 
June 1944. 

Specification 2: (Disapproved by Confirming Authority) •. 

He plead~d not guilty to and was found guilty of the Cbs.rge and speci­

fications. ?;o evidence of previous convictions ?Tas introc.".uced. 'i'vwo 

thirds of the members of the court uresent at the time the vote was 

taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dislnissed the service, to 

forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due and to be confined 

at hard labor, at s~ch place as the reviewing authority may direct, for 

five years. The reviewing authority, the Commanding General, XII Corps, 

e.p,roved the sentence and forwarded the record of trial for action pur­

suant -to Article of 1'lar 48. The confirming authority, the Com.Tll8.llding 

General, European Theater of Operations, _approved only so much of the 

flndin~Ei of guilty of Specification 1 as involved a finding that accused 

did, at the time and place alleged, wrongfully obtain from Technician Third 

Grade Jop.n ~. Lee, Cashier, 88th Finance Disbursing Section, a one hundred 

dollar ($100.00) bill, serial number B03891007A, currency of the United 

St.ates; d:l.sapproved the finding of guilty of Specification 2, confirmed 

the sente~ce but remitted that portion thereof adjudging confinement at 

hard labor for five years, and withheld the execution of the sentence 

pursuant to Article of ~;a;r ·50-h · · 


3. The evicence for the P.rosecution may be summarized as follows:. 

The innnediate superior of the accused, Lieutenant Colonel 
·George L.' Eatman,- Finance Qf.ficer, 4th Armored Div~sion, testified tr.at 
the letter described in Specification 1 of the Charge, prohibiting certain 
transactions in currency of the United States, VlS.S received in his section, 
early in September of 1944 SJ1d that, while he coUld not be certain tmt 
accused saw the letter at that time,~t was his practice upon receiving 
comr.runications of this type tb circularize t.hP.m among +.he pi3rsonnel'of . 
his office, including accused, in order that such personnel might familiarize 
themselves therewith (Rl0-12) • He further stated that· "posters were ' 
posted in the finance office stating the gist of the letter" prior to· 
9 November 19L:4 (RIO)• . · 

. On ~he morning of 9 November, nccueed came to the 88th Finance 

Disbursing Section, then located at Toul, France, and inquired of 

Technician Third Grade John W. Lee, cashier, whether he had on hand any 

Al!lericri.n curT.ency (::.1.7,9). As a result of the inquiry thus made, accused 

acquired from Lee a one hundred dollar bill, serial number B93891007A, 

currency of the United States, giving him in return therefor the sum of 


· 4957 francs, .the approved rate of exchange. Lee stated that althoUGh it 
was not cust.omai:y to "sell" such currency to mili~ personnel, he did 
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so in this instance because of the fact that accusfd was a finance 
officer. Accus~d gave no fod ic~:tion e:t the time why he wished to ac­
quire the bill in C'!'llestion (R?-9) • 

I 

On 10 November 1944, accused and Lieutenant Colonel Charles 
B. Milliken, Finance Officer, Headquarters, T~ird United States Arny, 

reported to the Office of the Fiscal Director, Headquarters, Europee.n 

'rheater of Operations, and were in turn sent by that office to the 

Office of the Theater Provost ~la.rshal·where accused was questioned in 


•Colonel 	Milliken1s presence by a Lieutenant Yerg of the Criminal · 
Investigation Division (Rl3). At the time of this interrogatioh,.accused 
had in his possession and delivered over to the officers conductihg the 
inve!'.ltigation the one hundred dollar bill described above (Rl3). 1:athout 
advising accused of his rights under Article of rlex 24, Lieutenant Yerg 
elicited from him information whic~, in its entirety, amounted to a con­
fession. This information was then reduced to writing and, after being 
advised of his rights, eccused signed the written stRtement thus pre­
pared (Rl3,14). Upon being asked whether accused's statements were 
freely and voluntarily made, Colonel Milliken testif:le d, 

"I think accused was more or less scared 
into making the statements he made prior to 
being warned, but after he had been sworn 
in he made the statements voluntarily" 
(Rl9). 

He 	 was also asked, 

ttcolonel, do you think that if this accused 4 

had not made the statements that he made be­
fore he was informed of his rights that he 
would have ma.de the statements that he made 
after he was informed of his rights?" 

to 	which he replied, "No, sir, he would not. Not all the statements" ' 
(R20)•. On the evidence thus presented, acc-µsed 1s statement was e.d'nitted 
into evidence over the objection of the defense. That portion of the 
statement which is relevant here reads as follOY/SI 

•I 	am.assigned to the Unit heretofore mentioned 
and e.m the Deputy Finance Officer for the 4th. 
Armored Divis~on. I arrived on the Continent 
with rrry ·unit on the 14th. of July, 1944. At 
the time I left the United Kingdom, and for 
some time prior thereto, I was familiar with 
the various directives pertaining to dealing 

• 	 in currency, and knew that we were only per­
mitt.ed to bring a small amount· of foreign 
currency with us, other than Francs, and. not 
to exceed ten shillings •. 

'· 
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-:At about the time the Troops entered Paris, 
or shortly thereafter, I learned through 
I'\L'llOr and general conversations, that u.s. 
currency could be sold at a profit. * * * 
On 9 November, 19441 I· obtained a $100.00 
bill, serial #B03S91007A from an enlisetd •
cashier in the 8Sth. Finance Disbursing 
Section. - I now have this note in my poss­
~ssion and I identify it as· the one I so 
obtained. I intended to sell this note in 
Paris, if an opportunity' presented itself, 
at a profit" (R201 Pros.Ex.B). 

4. 7he accused, after ~s rights as a witness.were fully ex­

plained to hi~, elected to remain silent and no evidence was introduced 

in his behalf. 


5. Technician Third Grade Lee was recalled as a witness by the 

court t:!nd testified that in "selling" the one hundred dollar bill to 

accused, he acted in his capacity as cashier of the 88th Finance Dis­

bursing Section.and that prior to the transaction the bill was the 

property of the government, not his personal property (R25). When 

asked whether accused purchased the bill as a "finance el!IPloyee", he 

answered, "That is the reason I sold it to him" (R26). 


6. In passlDe upon the legal.sufficiency of the instant record 

of trial, consideration must first be given to the question whether 

the court properly considered accused's confession in making its 

findings. In this.connection, the testimony of Colonel hlilliken shows 

that accused was not ·advised o~ his rights under lirticle of Viar 24 

prior to being questioned and was "more or less scared into" giving 


· the inforMtion which he gave orally. This testimony, taken together 
with Colonel M:illiken1 s testimony as a whole, must be accepted as · 
showing that at least ?ome duress or coercion was employed in question­
ing the accused. This being true, accused's ora.l statements, regarded 
as a confession, were :inadmissible in evidence as not having been 

.voluntarily made (I.CM, 1928/llY~, p.116). . · 
I 

The :information given orally was then reduced to writing in 
th~ form of a statement and, ai'ter being ~vised that he was not required 
to sign such statement and that it could be used against him in the event 
of further proC'eedings, accused signed the statement thus prepared. If 
this ~tatement is ree::i.rded mer~ly as the formaJ. conswnmation of accused's 
preliminary oral stetemeRts, th€ warning given came ~oo late to 'have any 
tendency to s~ow that the statement was voluntarily made and, the use 
of duress having been shown, it follows that the statement rmist pe rejected. 
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If !"egarded as a separate and subsequent. confession following upon 
a prior oral confession (shown to have been improperly induced), 
the warning given Tias not broad enottgh to render the vrritten con­
fession voli.mtary for the reason that accused we.fl not informed that 
the prior oral confession could not be used ar,ninst him. In the 
absence of such advice, accused might well have thought that by 
signing the written confession he could not make his c:::i.se worse then 
it already was, and thi~ supposition is in fact borne out by affir ­
mative testimony +.o the effect that eccused would not have siened 
1-:1e ;rritt.en confi:ession had he not previously oralJy given the infor­
rne.tion recited therein. 'l'hus, the warning given ,.!as not sufficient 
to insuJ.ate· the written confession frol'l the improper influences which 
induced the prior oral confession and hence, even if the v:ritten 
confession is analyzed as El. second confession, it, like its pre­
decessor, was inadmissible as not having been voluntarily made (CM 
ETO 1201, Bltl!; CM ETO 1486, ff1:3,cDonald and I.IacCrirnmon; 2 hharton's 
Crirntnel Evidence (11th Ed, 1935) sec.601, p.998; 20 Am. Jur., sec. 
487, p.424). 7herefore, i.mder any of the analyses suggested nbove, 
accused's confession or confessions ":Rre improperly received in 
evidence. 

This being true, the follmrlng rule becomes operative in 
pa:::sing u~1on the record of trial: 

11':i.'he rule is that the reception in evidence in 
9.llY substantial quantity of illegal evidence 
must be held to vitiate a finding of guilty. 
on the charge to which such evidence relates 
unless the legal evidence of record is of 
such quantity and guality a.CJ practically to 
compel in the minds of conscientious and 
r-=asonable men the finding of guilty. If such 
evidence is eliminated from the record and that 
which remains is not of sufficient probative 
force as virtually to compel a finding of guilty, 
the finding should be disapproved" (see CM RrO 
1201, Ehill>· 

The Specification alleges that on or about 9 N0 vember 1944 
accused ~ronGf'ully obtained certain currency of the United States 
in violation of paragraph l of "letter Headque.rters European Theater 
of Operations, file AG l?..l Op, Subject: 'Prohibition .Against Circula­
ting, Importing or Exporting United States and British Cttrrencies 
in Liberated and Occupied Areas', dated 24. June 1944"• Although it 
appears that this letter was rescinded a.nd superserled by a similar 
letter dated 23 September 1944 (paragraph 2a of which reenacted 
paragraph 1 of thq earlier letter), this fact did not, under the cir ­
cumstances of this ca~e, render the Specification fatally defective 
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(42 CJS, sec.138, P:P•l0.33,1034; I1Jn.r~ v. United States (c.c.A. 2nd, 
1921), 277 i·', 727, cert. den., 257 u.s. 657t 66 L.Ed. 420; Johnson v. 
Biddle (c.C •.ii.. 8th, 1926), 12 F, (2nd) .366J. · 

la::.·agraph 1 of the letter dated 24 June 19.44, e.s rl!enacted 
by paragrauh 2~ of the letter of 23 September 19.44, provides in part as 
follorrs: 

11 r~xcept as author!zed, all personnel subject 
to the jurisdiction of this headquar~crs
* * * are prohibited from importing, holding, 
transferring, exportin~, or in ~my wa::r dealing 
.in United States or British paper currency in 
liberated or occupied territory within the 
European '.!:'heater of Operations". • 

It will be no-!.;ed that while the above paragre.ph prohibits certain trans­
actions and dealings in currency of the United States, gnthorized trans­
actions are expressly excepted from its scope. Hence, on first examina­
tion, it rdght be thought that in order to prove a violation of the 
provision it would be necesrary for the prosecution to show not only 
that a transaction of the prohibited ~ ?ras consummated by the accu~ed 
but tM.t its consummation was ,meuthorized in the particular instance 
charged. However, it should be remembered that, in generlll, it is in­
cuabent upon an accused to bring himcelf within the operation of a pro­
viso or exception to a statute. For e~;.ile, in a prosecution for sell­
ing cocaine without the necesse.ry written prescription from a registered 
physician, it was held that after evidence of a sale of cocaine was in­
troduced, the bur<len of proof was on the defendant to show that such 
sale we.s upon the prescription of a pli.ysician as required by the statute, 
People v • .Montgomery, 271 Ill. 580, 111 N.E. 578 (1 Whe.rton's Criminal 
Eviclence (11th Ed., ·193.3) sec.202, p.223, ftnote 15). 

"An indictment or other pleading founded on 
a general provision defining the elements 
of an offense * * * need not negative the 
matter of an exception made by proviso or 
other distinct clause whether in the same 
section o:r• elsewhere; and * * * it is in­
cumbent on one ~ho relies on such an ex­
ception to set it up nnd establish it". 

(McKelvey v. United States, 260 u.s. 353, 43's.ct. 1.32, 67 L.Ed~ .301); 
and see .r'o.raone v. United States (CCA 6th, 1919) 259 F. 507, and Nierritt 
v. United States (CCA 9th, 19~0, 264 F. 870), the latter case holding 
that in a prosecution for hoarding sugar, it devolved upon de.f·endant 
to introduce evidence bringing him within the exceptions of the statute 
negatived in the indictment'• Upon the be.sis of the authorities cited, 
it is concluded t~~t, under the wording of the paragraph above quoted, 
authority to enge.ge in the challenged transaction is an affirmative 

CL;,.· mun IAL 
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defense and that, if it. Vl-'3.S adeiiµately alleged and compellingly shown 
thRt accused in fact consummated a transaction prohibited by the quoted 
paragraph, the prosecution1 s case 'l'!as complete. 

' 
It was alleged that accused did wr6ng:fully "obtain" certain · 

currency of the United States.from an enlisted cashier of a finance dis­
bursing section. H1"ile it would have been better practice to allege 
a violation of the para.graph in the words of the paragraph itself, it is 
the conclusion of the Board of Review that to "obtain11 currency of the 
United States constitutes a "holding" or 11dealing- fu" such currepcy within 
the broad meaning of those terms as used in the paragr~ph here under 
discussion, and hence that the Specification sufficiently alleged a vio­
lation thereof. Further, competent evidence of rs.cord compellingly shows 
that nccused did in fs.ct "obtain" certain currency of the United States, 
as described in the Specii'ica.tion,: and that he had such currency in his . 
personal possession on the day following its acquisition. .A violation 
of the paragraph having been shown, it was for the accused, if he could, 
to bring himself within the exception noted by showing that he was 
authorized to make the transaction in question. Having failed to do eo, 
and there being compelling evidence to show that he engaged in the prohi~ 
bited activity, the findings of gllilty may properly be upheld. 

'. 
7. The court was legally constituted and bad jurisdiction of the 

person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
flights of accused were committed during "the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentenc~. 

s. The charge sheet shows that accused is 27 years of age, that 
he enlisted 28 September 1939, was appointed a warrant officer 15 ?18y 
1942 and a second lieutenant 5 November 1942. 

9. A sentAnce of disrr~ssal is authorized upon conviction of an 
offense in violation of Article of War 96. 

/3MfZ.~ Judge Arlvocata 

/;;~ ~~udge Advocate 
' 1 
.~/,//· /
C~, ,_,...A-('4: .1;,.... /') Judge Advocate 
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ls"t Inn. 

·Lrar De!>artment., Brench Office o:t. The Jud~e Advocate General with the 
European Theater. ., ~ 'l JUL 1~45 TO: Commanding · 
.General, United States Forces, European Theater, APO 887, U. s. Army• 

. l. In the case of Captain MAURICE A CJJl.ISOU ( 0-502860), 
Fina.nee Section, Headquarters, 4th Armored Division, attention is in­
vited to ihe foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record 
of trial" is legally sufficient to support the findings o:f guilty and 
the sentence, which holding is he!'eby approved. Under the provisions 
of l..rticle ot :'iar 5~, you now_have authority to ortler execution of 
the. sentence. · 

2• ¥!hen copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of .the record in this office is CM 
E.TO 6983. For convenience of reference, please place that number in 
brackets at the end of the order: (C1Jl ETC 6983) • . 

-·-·. 	 ~/(ttt /£c.,_.::/ 
E. C. McNEIL, 

,, 	 Brigadier Gene!'al, United States Army, 
Asaista.~t Judge Advocate Gen~ral. 
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Branch Office of T~e Judge bdvocate General 

vTith t!J.e 


European Theater of Operation~ 


.APO 827 

BOARD OF REVI:C7f 1'.0. 1 

~g ETO 6997 
3MAR1945 

UEITED S T ii. T E S ) 
)' 

XX COP.PS 

~· ) 
.) 

Trial by GC!.!, convened at Head­
quarters XX Corps, Thionville, 

Privates PE'!'ER F. JEEtil'.GS ) France, 25 J6.lluary 1945. Sentence 
(20148225) and ';'IILLLU:'. G. ) as to each accused: Dishonorable 
ABBOTT (11052894), both of ) discharge, total forfeitures and 
Battery D. 455t!1 Antiair­ ) confinement at hard· labor for 
craft Artillery, Automatic ) life. Eastern Branch, United 
Weapons Battalion ) States Disciplinary ~arracks, 

·) Greenhaven, l'.ei1 York 

HOLDING by BO.AF.ll OF REVIEW HO. 1 

RITER, SHERLTAN and STEVEFS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers named above 
has been examined b-y ttce Doard of I'.eview. 

2. Accused r;ere charged separately ru:d tried together on the 
following charges and specifications: 

JEN!rn7GS 

CHARGE: Violatio:r, o: tl1e 58th Article of :'Tar. 

Specification: In ti1at Private Peter F. Jennings,
I

Battery D. 455th Anti~ircra.ft .artillery 
Automatic )7eapons Battalion, did, at or near 

' 	 Gorze, France, on or about 10 October' 1944, 
desert the service of the :rnited .St1:1.tes by 
cbsenting himself without proper leave from 

. his organization with intent to avoid hazard­
ous duty, to-1iit: Operat~ons c....,ai11st t:1e · 

t'.",;!fl[)ENTIAL 6997 
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enemy and did remain absent in desertion 
until he was ap:,rehended a.t or near Pont­
A-!.lousson, France; on or about 26 December 
1944. 

. ABBOTT 

CmRGE: Violation of th\9 58th Article of :7ar. 

Specification: .In that Private WilliAia G. Abbott, 
Battery D. 455th Antiaircraft Artillery, · 
Automatic Weapons Battalion, did, at or near 
Gorze, France, on or about 10 October 1944, · 
desert the service of the United States by 
absenting himself without proper leave from 

. his Organization with intent to avoid hazard­
ous duty, to-wit: Operations against the 

·enemy and did remain absent in desertion un­
til he was apprehended at or near Pont-A­
Mousson, France, on or about 26 December 1944. 

Each accused pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of 
the court present at the time the votes vrere taken concnrring, was · 
found guilty of the C~arge and Specification preferred against him. 
Evidence was introduced of one previous conviction of accused Jennings 
by summary court for wrongfully appearing in a certain town and for 
failing to carry identification in viol-a.tion of standing orders evi- . 
dently in violation of the 96th Article of War; and evidence was intro­
duced of three previous confictions of accused Abbott: two by Sl.L'!linary 
court for absence without leave for th!-ee days in violation of the 6lst 
Article of nar, and for wrongfully appearing in a certain town and 
for.failing to carry identification in violation of standing orders. 
evidently in violation of the 96th .Article of Uar, and one by special 
court-martial for absence without leave for 93 days in violation of 
the 611.'t Article of War. ·Three-fourths :or the members of the court · 
present at the time the·votes were taken concurring, each accused was 
sentenced to be qishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all 
pay and allowances due or to become due, and to. be confined at hard 
labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for the 
term of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved the sen­
tences, designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
B~r.acks, Greerihaven, New York, as the place of confinement for each 
accused, and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to 
Article of War 50-fr. 

3. The pape_rs accompanying the record of trial and the charge 
sheets disclose that the original charges preferred against accused 
were laid under the 75th .Article. The date on eac~ chi;irge sheet ­
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7 Janwi.ry 1945 - is the same as the date of each original verification 
by Captain Henry F. Burroughs, Jr., the accuser. The charges were 
referred to First Lieutenant James D. Paden for investigation under 
the 70th Article of War on 9 January 1945. ·The investigating officer 
completed his investigation and made his report to the commanding of­
ficer, 455th Antiaircraft Artillery, ·Automatic ITeapons Battalion, on 
11 January 1945. Thereafter on 13 January 1945 the charges were for­
w~ded by the battalion commander to the Conr.umding General, XX Corps, 
with recommendations that the accused be tried for 11 the offense com­
mitted and charged against them under -the 75th Article.· of War". 

An indorsement from the battalion commander t'o the Commanding 
General, XX Corps, dated 16 January 1945, recited: 

"These cases were: re-investigated ;in com­
pliance with verbal instructions of the 
Judge Advocate Section, your headquarters. 
I recommend trial by General Cour:t-Martial 
under Article of War 5811 • 

Accompanying the indorsement was a certificate of the originiil• investi­
gating officer which states: 

"16 January 1945 
I certii"y that I have re-investigated this 
case of Pvt. William G. Abbott, 11052894 
and Pvt. Peter F. Jennings, 20148225, and· 
read the·new charge under Article of War 
58 to them. I informed them of their rights 
under Article of War 70, and asked .them if' , 
they cared to call in any witness for cros~­
examination. They did not want to cross­
examine any witness nor did they wish to 
make ~ statement. 

I recommend that these cases be 'tried by 
General Courts-Martial". 

Over the original charge on each charge sheet there has been 
stapled a piece of paper which bears the.charges as set forth in para­
graph 2 hereof. Eacho~ these stapled pieces of paper bears in red 
ink the initials "ABM", which are doubtless those of Major Andre B. 
Moore, the trial judge advocate of.the court before which the accused 
were arraigned and tried. There is no evidence that the accuser, · 
Captain Henry F. Burroughs, Jr., was afforded the opportunity of ·either 
withdrawing as accuser or reverifying the charges after they had been 
changed from the 75th Article of War.to the 58th Article of War. The 
inference, therefore, is reasonable that this alteration of matter 
above his signature ,was made witho~t his knowledge or' consent. 
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A!th9ugh not shown as one of. the documents accompanyinl 
the record of trial, the implication is indisputable that the 
shifting of ·the charges from Article of Har 75 to .Articles of War 
58-28, after the otiginal chargeswere signed and verified by the 

• accuser, was prompted by the letter of 5 October 1944 (signed by 
the Theater Judge Advocate) from Headquarter·s European Theater of 
Operations, which is set forth in extensci in CM ETO 4570, Hawkins. 
The pre-trial practice in the instant case followed that of the 
Havrkins case, supra, and that of CI;J ETO 5155, Carroll and D1Elia, 
except· that in the instant case there was a pro forma reinvesti ­

- gation of the charges after the alterations had been effected. 
However, there is no evidence that the accuser consented to the 
alterations or that he· verified the new charges. Upon the authority 
of the holdings in the cases above mentioned, the BQard of Review 
concludes that the pre-trial practice in the instant case did not 
injure or impair the substantial rights of either accused or affect 
the jurisdiction of the court before which accused were arraigned 

·and 	tried. However, the Board of Review quotes, as highly relevant 
to th~ situation here disclosed; the statement of the Assistant 
Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch Office of The Judge 
Advocate General with the European Theater of Operations contained 
in his indorsement approving the holding in the Hawkins case: 

11 \ihile -the practice"followed in this case 
has beeR upheld as legal, it is not ap­
proved as· correct. The provisions of 
.Article of :7ar 70 and the ?.!anual for 
Courts-t~artial, even though held directory 
and not ·jurisdictional, are intended to _ 
be followed. ~'11-ien charges ·are changed 
in a substantial way and particularly 
where severer penalties attach'on con-· 
viction, it is not necessa.ty to have a 
re-in~stigation if the cor.1plete facts 
are already disclosed, but the new charges 
should be reverified by the accuser or 
another. The adherence to established 
practices produces better trials, insures · 
justice ~nd eliminates serious legal 
questions, which may be reached later 
by habeas corpus with the outcome un­

/ certain". 

4. Prosecution's e~idence proved the following facts: 

On 10 October 1944, both accused were members of Battery D, 
455th Antiaircraft·Artillery, Automatic ~eapons Battalion. Captain 
Henry F. Burroughs, Jr., was battery commander. On said date the 
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battalion was stationed about 1000 yards from the town of Gorze, 
France. It was located in a field adjoining the 739th Field 
Artillery Battalion. The latter fired he~vily on.the group of 
Metz forts which were located about 4000 yards distant and were 
visible. The mission of the antiaircraft battalio.n was to·furnish 
interior security for the artillery battalion. The former was con­
stantly on duty and engaged enemy a.ircraft on several occasions 
(R6,7). The battery remained in this area for.about 30 days and 
then moved to a point south of Champiey, France, and east of the 
Moselle River (R9) - a distance of about five miles (RIO)~ 

When off duty the members of the antiaircraft battalion, 
upon obtaining permission of their.section chiefs, were authorized 
to leave their positions for short periods of time to visit other 
sections or to go for a walk. However, they were not authorized 
to leave the battery area to visit the tovm of Gorze (R7). 

Accused Abbott on 10 October was an amnrunition handler in 
his section. He received permission from his section chief, Sergeant 
Hassel O. 1'!illiams, to visit number four gun section located about 
200 yards from his own section. He was supposed to return to his 
station, but he did not return. ~illiams telephoned number four 
gun section and, upon det.ermining that he vras not present with it, 
reported his absence to the first sergeant of the battery (Rl0,11). 

Accused Jennings was a member of number three gun section 
and was· 11 mmber one nan on a director crew" (Rl2). Accused Abbott 
appeared at se.ction three on 10 October and, '17hile in his company, 
Jennings requested Sergeant Kenneth D. Sauer, his section chief, for 
permission to walk about the i~nediate vicinity. The permission was 
granted, but this did not include authority to visit the ~own of · 
Gorze. At about 1400 hours, at a tine Jennings wns a member of a 
shift on duty, the two accused left the site of section three. No 
time linit was fixed for Jennings' absence and the authority allowed 
him only to "take a ualk around the area". · Ylithout special permis­
sion none. of the men vras accustom.ed to go farther than another gun 
section (Rl3). Captain Burroughs was unable to locate either of 
accused in the area or in the adjoining towns (R8). Sauer did not 
see Jennings again until January 1945 (Rl2). 

It was stipulated 

"that the period of absence in this case 
.ended on the 26th of December at a point 
midway between Pont-A-Mousson and Toules, 
France" (Rl5). · 

5. In defe:nse, each accused elected to appear as a sworn wit­
ness: 
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Abbott testified that he and Jennings left the battery area 
and went into 11 the village" (Gorze) where they remained about three 
hours. They consumed liberal ~~antities of cognac, brandy, and beer 
and became 11 prett:• crunk" (Rl6,20). He admitted he had no authority 
to. leave the battery area on 10 October (P.20). They then went to 
Mars-111-Tours, where they imbibed more intoxicating liquor. They 
then wer..t to ',rerdun, where they remained for about two hours. They 
intended to return to their gun sections and obtained a ride at· about 
7 pm with a c'.river v1ho said he was going to ifa.rs-la-Tours (Rl.7). In­
stead they were carried to a town near Liege, Belgium. They were ar­
rested b~r military police for being "off limits11 and were taken before 
a summary court and "they court-r.iartialed us anC'. told us that v1e were 
free to leave" (Rl.8). The military police did not ask accused for 
passes, and accused neither informed 'them they were absent nithout 
leave nor did they ask for the location of their orga.~ization (al.8,20). 
After their dismissal by the surmnary court they went towards Aachen. 
They stopped with an 11 ack-ack11 outfit and the 2J7th Engineers. The 
only effort they made to return to their battery during their absence 
was when they inquired of a military policeman the route to Verdun 
(R22). They finally came back to Verdun and remained with the military 
police on the night of 24 December. The police did know of the loca­
tion of their outfit. On Christmas morning they "hitch-hiked" in the 

· direction of i.Ietz (Rl9). · En route they were apprehended by the military 
police (R22). 

Jennings testified that on 10 October he received permission 
to leave his gun section before Abbott arrived and had plEinned to visit 
number two section (R2J). His chief gave him permission .11 to take a 
walk". After Abbott arrived Jennings decided to go to tovm with him 
(:r.24). He acmitted that when he left the battery area he was a member 
of a gun crew then on duty and that the battery was in contact with 
the enemy (P26). The remair.der of his testimony was substantially of 
the same tenor and effect as that of Abbott (F.24-26). 

6. ~s against both accused, there was admitted in evidence proof 
of a conviction by sui:'~":lal'Y court on 20 October 1944 for wrongfully 
appearing in the town of Seraing, Belgium; and, in the case of Jennings, 
for failing to ce:rry identification. The conviction was ~ the 
offenses charged in the instant case· and before the trial of accused 
therefor. Obviously this was error (CI.I ETO 6468, Pancake). Hovrever, 
it did not prejudice accused becuuse in their ovm testimony in defense 
they testified to their arrest and trial on 20 October 1944 for the 
exact offenses covered by these convictions. · 

7. The evidence is uncontradicted'that each uccused, with know-, 
ledge that his battery was actively engaged with the enemy, left it 
without authority or permission and was absent for 77 days. There can 
be no doubt as to the correctness of the court's conclusion that each 

• 
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of them inten~ed to avoid the hazards and perils of combat. They did 
in fact successfully evade the performance of important combat duties 
during their absence. They showed an obvious lack of 'sense of duty 
and responsibility as soldiers. The charges were proved by substan­
tial evidence (C!;l ETO 4702, Petruso; Ct! EI'O 5643, Harris and "':iilhite; 
Ci~· ETO 6468, Pancake; c;.; ETD 6623, ~.:ilner) • 

· ' 8. The charge sheets show the following with respect to the 
servi~& o~ the respective accused: · 

' 
Jennings is 22 years nine months of age. He enlisted 12' 

July 1940 at Fort Williams, Maine. Abbott is 21 years four months 
of age. He enlisted 3 June 1942 at Boston, rt.assa~h•iqetts. Neither 
had prior service. ~ 

9. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the persons and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of,either accused were com.'!litted during the trial. The 
Board"of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient as to each accused to support the findings of guilty and 
the sentence. . · 

, 10. The penalty for desertion in time of war is-death or such 
other punishment as a court-mart.ial may direct (A'\7 5S). The designa­
tion of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, • 
Greenhaven, New.York; as the place of confinement of each accused is 
authoriz~d (AIT 42; Cir.rlO~ YID, 12 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, as a.mended) •. 

. [~ 

____·/.&... .._/L·· .......---·----- Judge Advocate 
........ ~_·_ __.....ko<(_,7_/J. · 
~ 

____.fJ....';1. J .... ,_·v:t_~_.,.,,_, .._c_~_·-"_:1~._..,,_.,_,,_·...._~.... 1 ,.,__ .. ..._.-·"-..-·-- Judge Advocate 

---~---.....· . ...-;.;:£~1/""""·-·..;..£_;;...;~~~.:...;~=~;;..,....,.J-1-~- Judge Advocate . . ? 
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Branch Office of ':'he Judge Advocate General 

;·litt1 t~1e 


European 'l'heater of Operations 

f.;;."""0 887 

BOAF'..D OF TIEVIL".':' ITO. 3 

CM ETO 7000 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

First Lieutenant SEIJ3Y H. 
SlO:llN'"..::R. (0-204474b), 75th 
Station Co1rr;-::lf~ment Sguadron, 
1st Transport Group (Prov) 

29MAR1945. . 

) IX AIR FORC:S SIBTI CE cor.r..rA.ND 
) 

) .Trial by GCI.: convened at Reims, 

) France, 5 December 1944. Sentence: 

) Dismissal; total forfeitures and 

) confinement at hard labor for five 

) years. Eastern Branch, United 

) States Disciplinary Barracks~ 

) Greenhaven, New York. 


' . 
HOLDING by BOARD OF fu.""VIE:IT NO. 3 

SLEEPER, SHI'.RMAN and DE'"~, Judge .Advocates 

1 ~ The record of trial in the case of the officer named above has 
been examined by the Board of Revie;v and the Board submits this, its 
holding, to the Assistant Judge .Advocate General in charge of the Branch 
Office of The Judge .Achrocate General with the EuropP.an Theater of Opera­

.tions. 

2~ Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 9Jrd Article o£ War. 
Specification 1: In that 1st Lt Selby H. Skinner, 

75th Station C~mplement Squadron, 1st Trans­
port Group (Prov), did, at St. Truiden,Belgium, 
on or about 30 September 1944, with intent to 
do him bodily harm, commit an assault upon 
Corporal Zol ton E'.ardy, 93rd l1edical Gas 'i'reat­
ment Battalion, by shooting him in the hand 

·with a carbine rifle. 

7000 

- 1 ­

em:~ <
1;r.1n!.AL 

http:1;r.1n!.AL
http:EuropP.an
http:cor.r..rA


(318) 
S;:iecii'ication 2: !n that*** did, at St. 
· 	 :. Truiden, Beleium, on or about 30 Sep­

tember 1944, with intent to c~o him 
bod:ily harm, comr.:it an assault upon 
ls t Sgt Harold C. Stac:r, Headquarters 
Detachment, 93rd Meclical Gas Treatment 
Battalion, by threatening him with a 
dangerous weapon, to-wit, a carl;>ine 
rifle. 

Specification J: (Disapproved by reviewing authority). 

Specification 4: (Disapproved by reviewing authority). 

CHARGE II: .Violation of the 95th Article of "Jar. 

Specification 1: In that * * * Tias, at St. 
'.i:'ruiden, Pelgium, on or about 30 Se~­
tember 1941,, in a public place, ~a-wit, 
in the Cafe De Bal, St. '.i:'ruiden, Belgium, 
and in a ;>ublic street in St. 'l'ruiden, 
Belgium, drunk and disorderly Ythile in 
uniform. 

CHARGE III: Violation of the SJrd .Article of :-Tar. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at St. 
l'ruiden, Belgium, on or about JO Sep­
tember 1944, through neglect, suffer a 
motor vehicle, to-wit, a f Ton, 4 x 4 
truck, property of the United States 
Government, of the value of more than 
Fifty (050.00) Dollars, to be damaged 
by allowipg the vehicle to be parked 
on or immediately adjacent to street 
railway tracks, ·17i th inadequate space 
for passage of the street railway cars. 

He pleaded not guilty to and 1vas found guilty of all charges and specifi ­
cations. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. He was 
sentenced to be dismissed the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as 
the reviewing authority may direct, for five years. .The reviewing auth­
ority, the Commanding General, IX Air Force Service Command, disapproved 
the findings of guilty of'Speciflpations J and 4 of Charge I, approved 
the sentence and forTia!'ded the record of trial for action pursuant to 
Article of ~ar 48. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, 
European Theater of Operations, confirmed the sentence, designated the 
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Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenbaven, New 
York, as the place of confinement and withheld the order directing 
execution thereof IYursu,a.nt to the provisions of Article of 7Iar 50-k-. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that on the evening 
of 30 September 1944, accused drove into the town of ~t. i'ruiden, 
Belgium, parked his jeep on.the street railway tracks and entered a.· 
bar 1'lhere he had a dJ::ink while other soldiers at the bar inspected 
his carbine "pulling and shutting the bolt and passing it around" 
(R6-7,ll-12). His condition was such that an acquaintance, First. 
Sergeant Harold C. Stacy, Headquarters Detachment, 93rd r.1edical Gas 
Treatment Battalion, suggested that he be permitted to carry accused's 
gun, promising to return it in the morning (R6). ·· 

Later the same evening, ·accused's jeep was 'struck by a tram 
car (R7,ll-~2). Accused, holding his carbine at port arms, circu­
lated unsteadily through the crovro. that gathered at the scene of the 
accident, swearing and threatening to "get 11 the motorman for running 
into his jeep (rr7-B,16). First, Sergeant Stacy, seeing him in the 
center of the street, a]proached with the intention of relieving him 
of the carbine. Accuse4 pointed the gun at the first sergeant, saying, 
"Keep a1"ray from me, ·I would hate to have to shoot you11 (R9,19). §tac;z 
turned and i':'ent_ away (Rlp}. ·He. sa·" accused "as he ent.ered the Ltram/ 
car with the gun in his hands, asking for the conductor". · Accused 
was staggering and a:::ipeared "pret-ty 11ell stewed up" (R8-9). · 

. · Five mim.ites l~ter, holding ,his carbine "ready to fir.e", ac­
cused entered the Cafe Du Bol near the scene of the accident 17here he 
found First Sergeant Stacy, Corporal Zolton Sardy of the 93rd Bedical 
Gas Treatment Battalion, and about 25 other men (Rl0,20). Corporal 
Sarcly invited accused to have a drink, at the same time walking toward· 
him, continuing to approach aft.er accused remarked, "Leave me alone, 
Junior 11 • -./hen Sarc.y was 'ai thin three or four feet of accused, "the 
fPlil went off and creased the boy and he lost one or two of his fingers" 
(Rl0,20-21). Other soldiers promptly closed in on and disarmed accused 
{Rl0,21). Stacy drove his jeep home for him (Rl2). He testified that 
he could not state the ap:)roxirnate value of the jeE!p but "would say 
about a thousand dollars". It was definitely of a value in excess of 
~,50.00 (Rll). 

4. The only evidence for the defense was the testimony of accused; 
who, after his rights were explained to him, elected to take the stand 
under oath. He testified in substance,.as follows: 

. Returning from a mission in his jeep, he imbibed two beers and 
a drink of gin at about 7:30 pm (R25,28,30). Enteri~ St. Truiden about 
an hour laj;er, he had trouble ID.th his lights (R26,27). He parked his 
unlighted jeep near a cafe, unaware of the tram line running by it. He 
did not see the tracks (rr26,27,29,30). He drank a beer in the cafe, azxl 
some of _the boys there played \'Ii th his loaded carbine (R26, 33) • He 
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thought First Sergeant Stacy was "kidding" when he asked accused to 
let him carry the gun (R3.3). When inf'o;rmed that his jeep bad been 
hit oy a tram, accused le.ft the cafe and found 15 or 20 soldiers 
and four or five civilians around the tram car. He sought the motor­
man to ascertain the damage to the other vehicle which was standard 
procedure in case of accident. , He did not threaten to shoot .the 
motor!!Wl. His remarks were misinterpreted (R26). He did not want · 
to hurt anybody and all' he told Stacy was ·to.. go away and leave him 
alone (R31). He was not drunk (R32). Failing to .find the conductor 
and believing his jeep would not run, he re-entered the cafe (R26-27). 
As Sardy approached and reached for his carbine, accused was hit by 
various enlisted men from fi~e different angles at once and the gun 
went off accidentally (R27,29). His jeep was the property of the 
United States (R33). , · 

5. Substantial evidence sUpports the .findings of guilty of 

assault with intent to do bodily harm with a dangerous weapon, as 

alleged in S~ecifications 1 and 2, Charge I. In the case 6f First 

Sergeant Stacy, accused pointed his loaded carbine at the first ser­

geant, threatening to shoot him unless he kept away. Thus an overt 

act coincided with an expressed intent and a present ability to do 


. great bodily harm. i7hen a menacing gesture with a dangerous weapon 

accompanies a demand ~hich accused has no legal right to make, the, 

assault is, complete (CM E'I'O 3255, Dove). · , - I i 


In the case of Sardy, substantial evidence shows that ac­

cused fired as Sardy approached, after pointing his carbine at Sardy 

and telling the latter to leave him alone. A.sane person is presumed 

to have intended the natural and probable consequences of his acts ­
and malice· is presumed from the use of a deadly weapon (~M, 1928, par.' 

112~, p.110). Vlhether he was too drunk to entertain the specific in­

tent to do bodily harm when he committed the assaults was here clearly 

a question for the court's determination (Bull.JAG, Vol.II, No.11, 

Nov. 1943, sec.451(10), p.427). 


The evidence adequately supports the courts finding of drunken­

ness and disorder in the· Cafe DuBol arxl in the adjacent public street. 

The offense, involving the unbridled terrorizing of enlisted.men and 

foreign civilians by an armed and drunken American officer, was justi-· 

fiably regarded as a violation of Article of ;var 95 (MCM, 1928, par.151, 

p.186). ' 


The showing that accused parked his unlighted jeep on the 

tram traoks supports the conclusion of culpable negligence upon.which 

the findings of guilty of Charge III arxl its Specification are based.· 

The evidence e~tablishes government ownership arxl, although neither 

Jnodel, l'!lake nor condition (other than usability) of the vehic;Le were· 

shown, and no competent testimony was adduced to establish itll value, 

judicial notice or·army"priee lists precludes the possibility that it 

was less than $50.00 (MCM, 1928, par.125, pp.134-135). . 
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6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 26 yea.rs two ~onths of 

13.ge, that he enlisted 18 i.larch 1937, was discharged as a private 22 
April 1939, re-enlisted 4 November 1939 and was appointed second lieu­
tenant, .'ir!!zy' of the United ~tates, 23 September 1943. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the ~erson and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board 
of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally suf­
ficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. Dismissal 
anc confinement are authorized on convictions under Article of War 93 
and 83. · 

8. The designation of Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place af confinement is author­
ized (AlJ 42; Cir.210, ~'ID, 14 3ept. 1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

Judge Advocate 

_..._(0,_"I-.C...K..__I....,N_H_O_,.S..,.P...-I...-T...AL-.)~----- Judge Advocate 
" / 

_....d_d?··. .......L_.£;....__'J'a_..'..... t_.... Judge .Advocate ......../._~ __ ..... ~-.-c..... /..._·f_'_ 

/ // 
V' 
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1st Ind. 

'~e.r Dc:_Jartment, B1·aneh Office, _o:C-'.':'he Judge Advocate r--eneral ~':'ith the 

ruropean ":"heater of Operations. 2 Q MAR lM~ '.:.'O: Co:mna.nding 

G.-:nera.l, :'uropean ml".eater of 0:v:)rat.ions, ii.. Cf 887, U. S. l;:rmy. 


1. In the case of First :ieutena.nt Sr:LBY E. "'[!!.!JSR (0-~044740), 

75tb 3tation Complement Squadron, 1st ·.'ransport Group, (:'?rov), atten­

tion is invited to the forecoing holding by t'-:ie 3oard of r.eview that 

the record of trial is legally sufficient to su;port the fin~ings of 

guilty cmd the sentence as confir:nec1 

, •:;hich holding is hereby a~:})roveC'.• 

Under the :;:irovisions of Article of 7iar 501-, you now ha.,ve authority to 

order execution of the sentence. 


~ 
•

2. ;·.'hen co:;Jies of the published order are forwarded to this 

offic::, the:T should be accol!TJanied by t;,e foregoing holding anc this 

indorsement. '.'.'he file number of the !'ecord in this office is CI;! I:TO 

7000. For convenience of reference Dlease Place that number in 

brackets at the end of the order: (err :cm 7000). 


~~~ 
Brigadier General, United States lrmy, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

( Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 961 ET01 4 April 194S). 
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Branch Office ot The Judge AciTocate General 
nth the 


European Theater ot Operation.a 

APO 887 


BOARD OF P.EVIEW NO. l 23 FEB 1945 
Cl4 E~ 7001 

UNITED STATES 	 ) OISE .SECTION, OOMMUNICA'l!ONS ZONE, 
) . EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPmATION3 

T. ~ Trial b7 GCM, collV'ened at Rew, 
Second Lieutmant CHESTER R. France, 22 December 1944. Sen­
GUI (0-1573246), 489th Quarter­ tence: To be dismie sed the ser­
master Depot Supply Compacy vice.l 


HOlDIID by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 

RITER, SHEmLAN and S'.raVENS, Judge Advocates 


l. The record ot trial in the case ot the ofiicer named 
abo"99 ha• been exami~d by the Board of Review and the Board sub­
mits this, its holding, to the AHistant Judge Advocate General 
in charge of tba Branch Office of The J'tXige Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operationa. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Spec:i.­
ficat.ion: 

a!ARGE: Violation ot the 96th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Secom Lieutenant Cheater 
R. GUT, 49Sth Quarterna ster Depot Supply Com­
p&IJY', be~ present at a tight between s oldiere 
of the 489th Quartermaster Depot Comi:a cy and 
the 6'4,th Quartermaster Base Depot Comi:e.l\Y, did, 
at Reims, France, on or about 6 Dec8Jli:>er 1944, 
!ail to UH hi• utmost endeaTOr to atop sama 
in that, being the only officer present at the 
time the fight occurred, he di. d not reduce them 
to dL • c:1. pl.1n8 or s top the fig ht. • 

-l ­
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He pleaded· not guilt.r to and was found gullty ot the Charge 
and Specitication. No •Yid.enc• ot prnioua conYictions was 
introduced. He wu sentenced to be dismiaaed from the ser­
Tice. The rninin& authorit.r, the Commn:iing General, Oise 
Section, Commmicationa Zone, European Theater ot Operations, 
approved the sentence and forwarded the record ot trial tor 
action under Article ot J:ar 48. The eontinni.ng authorit..r, 
the Coananding General, European Theater of Opers.tions, con­
tirlDl!!ld the went:.ence acd withheld the order directing execu­
tion thereof pursuant to Article ot War 50!. 

3. Undisputed erldance tor the proaecution allowed the 

.tollowing1 


On 6 Decllllber 1944 Jea.n Andre Jacobs, owned and. 
operated Henri 1s ca.te, located at. 22 Ru. Theira, Reima, 
France (R?,ll,JJ). At. the md o.t one o! the rooma, which 
wu six meters wide b;r eight .mters long (RS-9), was a bar 
tour •t•rs in length (Rl.2). One table, to the lett ot the 
bar (facing it), waa separated b.r a amall pLrtition .trolll the 
other tables &ai c:haira, which were arranged near the ~all op­
podte the bar. There were no tables between the tirst men­
tiomd table md the bar (R9), and the space in front ot the 
bar waa unobstructed (lll.2). 

About 81)) pia on that. date accwsed, a member o.t the 
489th Quartermaster Depot Suppl.,- CompulJ, filtered the b&rroca. 
w1 th ti ve enlisted man am sat at the table at t.bo left ot thl 
bar with two o.t the aold.iera. The three other aoldiera sat at 
another ta~ (R7,8,9,l2,20). About 9120 pa, Y&ater Sergeants 
Thoalaa P. Hea17 and Bob Sutton, both ot Headqm.rters am Head­
quarters ColJIP&D1', 64th Quarterma.ater Base Depot, entered the 
oat• and. stood at the bar talking to Jaoobe am his wife Yarie 
tor 20 to 30 minutea (RS,JJ). During thb ti• Heal.7 oomwaed 
about thrH drinka ot ch&mi:agna (Rl.6). He noticed that accused, 
the onl;r otticer preHnt, drank with the bro aoldl.ere at his 
table. Other "-'>ere ot the same party were going back am 
f'orth talki.Dg loud.17•· Acc\lSed talked to them &rd nnt "back 
am torth bet...en tables a couple ot timu" (Bl.4). At thie ti.Ille 
there were about l2 ptraom in the barroolll (RS,9), including 
two French girl.I llho were accompanied by- two aoldiere. There 
were also two other civiliana (R.8,9,lO). 

About 9150 pm (Rl.4) one ot the g:i:-Qlllp ot three aoldiera, 
ment:.ioned above, arose and tore down .trom·tm wall a French pos­
ter cc:nceming aid to p:-iscoera ot war. · Jacc:Oa told the eoldi•r 
his action "nen1t right•. Whereupon the tallut. of' the thr•~ 
arose, and another aoldier, "th• one that began th• !jg~", 
directed the o.ttending eoldl.er to pick up ttu poster and replace 
it. '!here was "a lot ot noise" and. loud tl>J.king. 'l'h• thrM 
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soldiers, who were "slightly drunk", attempted to start a 
quarrel with the two soldiers who acoompanied the girls, 
but they did not respond (RS,14). Thereupon Sutton, who 
wa.s at the bar, told the three ae;gressors to keep·quiet. 
He was answered with insults (RS). The agressors then 
fat"ced t.IE two soldiers out of tre cafe and the girls ac­
companied them. The group then "milled around" and for.med 
in a semi-circle before the bar (Rl.4) where Healy and Sut­
ton were standing (R9,14). Sutton told tlla tall soldier 
he should leave the ca.fe. The latter offered 11to fi.ght it 
out with his fist" (RS). Loud words were exchanged and the 
tall soldier, 'Who was staniing in front of' Sutton, "told 
him he was going to throw him out too" (Rl.4,16). The threat 
was repeated to Sutton by a. short da.Ik s:>idier standing near 
Healy (Rl.6). Accused sat at his table about l2 feet awa.1 
from the bar lllhen the com.otion started (R9,,2l). His view 
of the d1.sturba.nce was unobstructed by the partition on his 
z18ht (Rll). Later he stood "right in .tront" of Healy (Rl.4), 
who warned him that 11he had better control those men, that 
there was going to be a lot of'_troubl.e it he didn't. He told 
me I had better mind m:r own god-damn business". The tall 
sold1.er then "stepped in" and struck Sutton who stepped for­
ward arxi wa.s again struck by "the man on the other side"(ert ­
dently the short dark man) (Rl4,16). Healy "got kind of' 
messed up", started to attack t.IE tall soldier and was hit 
by someone from behind (lll.4,17,lS). The fight was accompanied 
by loud, insulting talk. A soldier, who sat at the em of' the 
room endeaTored to serxi for aid. but the tall s:>ldier prevented 
him .trom doing so (RlO). The fight cort. inued .tcr two or three 
minutes cilring which tine about three blows were struck and 
glasses were broken (Rll,12,16-17,lS). Thm the group "milled 
tog et:bar" -and after the i:roprietor opem d tie O:>uble doors at 
the front of' the care, everybody went out.side except one sold1.er 
lfho was drunk and could not be removed (RS,10-11,12,13,14116). 
Jacobs teet:ifi. ed that accused was able to see the fight, 'Which 
was "just in front of him between hi.Jmelf' and the O:>or" (Rll). 
According to Healy's testimony, accused was probably four feet 
awa7 .trom the tall solcii~r and Sutton during their altercation 
(Rl6). Prisoner James B. Sapp, of accused's oompaey, testified 
that he was pre sent at the scene o.t the figµ t (R20) 1 al'Xi did not 
think that accu.s ed participi.ted in it (R2l). Healy-' s testimony 
cont'i:r.aed Sapp 1s presence at the scene (Rl5). Jacobs test111ed 
he dl.d not see accused engaged in the fight (au). 

When the group went outside, accused followed. He was 
the last to leave the ca.te (Rll,12). Healy testi! ied that ac­

. cused was on his left when outside (Rl.4) where the tall soldier 

"started on" Sutton who was in the O:>orwa_y. Blows were struck,, 

and the men ''were al together on Sutton"• It was a gere r&l f'ight. 
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. 
"as far as they were concer~d" (Rl.7). Healy grasped the 
tall soldier, jerked him away and fought with him "back 
toward the building ani down the street a little bit" 
(Rl.4,17). He heard Sutton say he had been badly cut and 
hastened back to his aid. Accused and the soldiers in­
volved in tl"B fight were near Sutton, who "had a cut down 
tha right side of his f a.ce from his ear. A cut on the up­
per lip and blood was coming from his head". Healy fcrced 
his way through the men, grasped Sutton and told acc'IEed, 
who was standing directly in .front o.f' him, to "take a good 
look at what his men did". Healy did not recall mat ac­
cused said but; he started arguing ldth witness and mumbled 
something. Healy told him that he, accused, was responsible 
for the occl.t'rence. Accused's man urged him to "take ma on", 
ani accUJed pulled at his unbuttomd jacket (RJ.5,18). Hea.ly' 
bru;hed him aside and l"Blped Sutton through the crowd to a 
dispensary two blocks distant (RJ.5). The injured soldier 
was evacuated on 8 December (RJ.9). 

The f1.ght outside the cafe occurred about 9:55 pm 
and continued for about three minutes (Rl5,18,2l). It wa.s 
very daik except directly in front of the door, wl"Bre the 
light shone from within the cafe made it possible to see 
the .fight (RJ.5). Becatise of the darkness Healy could not 
see the number of mm involved ,in the street fighting and 
did not know what a~cused was doing during this episode 
(Rl7). Sai:p testi.fie d he thought about three or four people 
were inwlved in the fight out.side of tre cafe (R2l). At 
one point accused returned to the interior of the cafe and 
removed the drunken soldier (RlO). Military police reached 
the scene about 15 minutes after tlla fight moved outside (Rl2). 

4. Arter he was advised as to his rights, accused 
elected to remain silent. The defense introduced no· evidence 
(R2l-22). 

5. a. The Specification, under Article of War 96, 
alleges tta t accused, · 

"being present at a fight between sol­
diers or fhis company and another co.m­
pan:j/ did * * * fill to use his utmost 
erdeavor to stop same, :1:n tm.t, being 
the only officer present at the time 
tlla fight occurred, he did not reduce 
them to discipline or stop the fight."• 
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At common law it was not only the right but also 
the duty of a private irrlividual, without a warrant, to arrest 
any person oommitting or attempting to commit in his presence 
a felony or a misdemeanor ainollllting to a breach of peace an:i 
aloo to prevent the corrmission of such offense (1 v:harton' s 
Criminal Law, 12th Ed., sec.38.3, pp.512-51.3; 4 Am. Jur., Ar­
rest, sec • .35, p.21+, sec.JS, p.26; 1 Restatement of the Law o~ 
Torts, sec.119, pp.249-257). The conmon law right and duty 
of a peace officer to arrest under such circumstances, some~ 
what broader than that of a private person (4 Am.Jur., t:.:·1·est 
supra; l Restatement of tte Law of Torts, sec.121, pp.25 '-265), 
has been further enlarged by statute (4 .Am.Jur., Arrest, E.ec. 
26, p.20). Under the District of Columbia Code, it is a mis­
demeanor for any men:ber of the police force to reglect to make 
an arrest for an offense a~ainst, the laws of tre United States 
committed in his presence (Tit.4, sec.4-14.3 /.20:49!;/). 

Article of War 6S specifically recognizes the power of 
officers, among certain other persons aibject to military law, 

"to :i:art and quell all quarrels, frays, ,and 
disorders among perrons subject to mi,litary 
law and to order * * * persons su bje 6t to 
military law fOther than officeri} who take 
part in the same into arrest or confinement, 
as circumstances may require, until their · 
proper superior officer is acquainted there­
with". 

This Article and its predecessors are JIErely an application to 
the relations of the military service of the CO!Iill.On law prl.nciple 
trat it is the power and duty of any citizen to put a stop to a 
breach of the peace conmitted in his presence and to arrest a 
participant· in an a!fray (Dig.Op. JAG, 1912, XXIV A, fn., p.124, 
and authorities there cited; Tillotson, Articles of War Annotated, 
p.145). The obvious analogy between the position ot an officer 
of the Aney and a civilian peace officer with re~pect to the duty 
of maintaining good orde:r in their respective spheres is indicated 
by Winthrop in his examples of neglects to. the prejudice of good 
order and military di.scipline on the pa.rt of an officer: 

"Failure to maintain discipline in his com­
mand by the suppression of disorders" 
G1inthrop's Military Law and Precedents 
Reprint, p.726). · 

In the opinion of the Board of Review the failure of an officer 
to endeavor to the utmost by reasonable means to stop a fight 
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between soldiers, at which he is present, to quell the dis­

order and to separate and arrest the participants is a ne­

glect to the prejudice of good order and military discipline, 

if not al~o conduct of a nature to bring discredit upon the 

military service, in violation of Article of War 96. The 

Specification clearly states an offense. 


b. The evidence shows tra t accus 1 d was present at 
a public cafe, e~aged in a drinking bout vii th enlisted men 
of his company. A soldier precipitated a disturbance by 
tearing a poster off the wall, after which with two companions, 
he e.n deavored to start a fight with two other soldiers accom­
panied by French girls, whom they forced from the cafe. There­
after a group formed arourxi the bar where Master Sergeants 
Healy arxi Sutton stood and two soldiers, evidently of accused 1s 
company, threatened in loud tones to throw Sutton out of the 
cafe. Although accused was the only officer present and could 
clearly see arxi hear the whole affair, he nade no attempt to 
intervene, even after Healy warned him to oontrol his men in 
order to avert a "lot of trouble 11 • Accused 1 s attitude was 
shown in his reply that Healy had better mind his "own god.­
damn business". Healy's fears were proved justified by the 
fist blows which Sutton then received from the soldiers who 
had threatened him. "Hhen the fight, which concentrated upon 
Sutton, moved outdoors, accused followed the group and was the 
last to leave the cafe. Even after Healy, standing directly 
in front of accused, grasped Sutton who was bleeding from face 
and head injuries and asked that "he take a good look at mat 
his men did", accused took no steps to quell the disorder or to 
arrest the participants, but nerely argued arxi mumbled. When 
urged by his men .to fight with Healy, accused evidently started 
to remove his jacket. 

The fac~ that accused was present at the scene 
drinking with enlisted men aIXi was thua guilty of prejudicial 
disorder in violation of Article of War 96 (CM ETO 62.35, Leonard, 
a.rd atthorities therein cited), cannot excuse or extenuate his 
failure to use his utmost Endeavor to stop the fight. His guilt 
of the Specification was abundantly proved. 

6. a. The reccrd sh~s (R.2) that the tr.Lal took place only 
tour days after the charges were served on accused. He was asked 
if' he objected to trial at thia time arx!. replied in the re gative 
(R.3). The record of trial does not. indicate trat his sl.bstantial 
rights were preju::iiced in ant degree. Due process of' law was duly' 
obsened (CM ETQ 4004, ~; am cases cited in CM ETO 4564, ~' 
~.). 
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b. Upon examination of Healy by. the president ot 
the court, the witness testified that he read a report ot 
investigation of Sutton's line of duty status by the surgeon 
at the 99th Gem ral Hospital. '!be president as1ced the witness 
what the report said, wmreupon he testified: 

"I don 1t remember the technical language 

but it stated the ~ extwded from the 

lobe ot the ear into the fa.ct into the 

mucuous m.fDbrane and had severed several 

nerves and a gland. I don't remember 

the name of the gla.IIi" (Rl.9). 


This testimo?l1' was inadmissible in the· absence of evidence 
that the report could not be p:-oduced end should not han 
been elicited by the interrogator, particularly' in view ot 
his position as president ot the court. Any objection to 
the testimoey, however, might properly be regarded as wa.ived 
by tre failure of the defense to assert ths same (.MCM, 192S, 
par.ll6,!, p.120). Moreover, the witness had Jreviously des­
cribed Sutton's injur7 in his testimoey. It does not appear 
that accused's substantial rights were injurious!¥ atf11cted. 

7. The charge sheet shOl'l's that accused is .31 years six 
months of age 11'1 d had the following service: enlisted in 
National Guard 5 NovE11J.ber 1933; inducted into active Federal 
service 1 April 1941 id.th Headquarters Com.paJV, lst Battalion, 
18.3rd Field Artl lleey (National Guard); graduated from Officer 
Caniidate School 2.3 May 1942 as a second lieutenant. 

8. The court was legall.7 conatituted and had jurisdiction 
ot the person and ot.fense. No errors injuriouslJ' affecting the 
substantial ri,8hts of accused were committed during the trial. 
The Boa.rd of Renew. is of the opinion that the reo<rd of trial 
is legall.1 •u!'ficient to support the findings of guilty and the 
sentence. 

9•. A sert. ence of di•Jlissal 11 authorized upon a conrlction 

of Article of War 96. > ~/1/ ./ ·. 

t)/ "·{. I~ f1•• ; ~'' ( .,. f "' i .. Judge Advocate v ---pt ­

ht~,, . ~ , __t_n~-·~--~-·;.;_r_~_.."j._1c.t_,,_:,._..._._,·-'_,_ Judge AdToc ate 

Judge Advocate 
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lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Oftice ot 'lbe J~e Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 23 FEB l945 TO: Com­
manding General, European Theater of Operations, APO 887, u. s. 
Ar~. . 

l. In the case o! Second Lieutenant CHESTER R. GUI 
(0-1573246), 489th Quartermaster Depot Supply Comparv, atten­
tion is invited to the torego~ holding by the Board o! Re­
view that the record ot trial is legally sufficient to sup­
port the firxiings of guilty and the sentence, which holding 
is hereb7 approved. Under the provisions o! Article of War
50i, you now have authority to order execution of tll:I sen­
tence. 

2. When-copies of the published order are forwarded 
to thia office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing 
holding and this ind:>rsement. The fi.le number of the record 
in this office is CM ETO 7001. For conTenience of reference, 
please place that m.uliler in brackets at the •rxi ot the order: 
(CM ETO 7001). - . ·~, 

. - . !//:
,/tf,//f/.U~:r'
It k(° C • L!cNE:IL, -· 

Brigadier General, United States A.rttrr, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

--._..._._______________ ---· 
(Sentence ordered executed: cx:MO 57,""Ero, l ~ 1945.) 
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Dranch Office of 7~e Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD QF REVIEIT NO. 1 21 FEB 1945 
CM ETO 70.32 

UNITI'.D S7ATES) ,3RD 11\F.Af\:TRY DIVISIOH 
) 

v. ) Trial by GC.;.;, convened at h;olsheim, 
) :r'rance, 12 December 1944. ~entence: 

Private GLENN A. BARKER ) Dishonorable discharge: total for­
(.36764639), Company F, ) feitures and confinement e.t !:arC. 
30th Ir..fantry ) labor for life. Eastern Franch, 

) United S tatcs Disciplinar:c :SarrA.cks ~ 
) Greenhaven, New :fork. 

HOLDH:G by BOAHD OF 7~1-"'lIEil liO. 1 

RITER, SHERJ.M: and 2TLVE1C, Judge .Advocates 


1. '.Che record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been e:xamined by the Boarr1 of Reviev:. 

2. accused was trfrc1 upon the follovr:i1:6 Charge ant: specifications: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 5Gt~ .drticle of War. 

Specification 1: In that l-ri•.rate GLEM~ ii.. BARKER, 
11F11Company , .30th I:r.fantry, c1id, at or near. 

Eloyes, E'rancc, en or about 10 October 1944 
desert the servi.ce of tho united '.:tates lJy 

absenting ~:imseli' without proper lea,·e from 
his place of ciut:r, rit~1 ir:ter.t · to avoid 
hazardous cutyJI to V.'it: CO~bat Yith the 
enecy, ar.d did remain a.bsent in desertion 
until he was appi·ehended at or near l.Ja.rseille i 
}'ranee, on or about 9 November lS/~. 

Specification 2: In that * * .;..- did, at or r.ea:r 
Bdt, :France, or. or acout 19 November 1944 
desert the service pf the U~ited States by 
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absenting himself r;ithout proper leave from his 
organization, vii th intent to avoid haza:rdous 
duty, to .wit: co!'lbat v:ith the enemy, and did 
remain absent in desertion until he was appre­
hended at or near Eult, France, on or about 
20 Noveuber 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was tal~en concurriri.g, Tias found guilty of 
the Charge and specifications. 1;0 evicknce of previous convictions was 
introduced. '.L'hree-fourths of the men.hers of the court present at the 
time the vote '.1as taken concurrin~, he vras sentenced to be dishonorably 
discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to be­
cor.ie due, and to be cor.fined at hard labor, at such place as the review­
ing authority rriay direct, for the "remainder" of his natural life. The 
reviewii1g authority approved the sentence, designated the F.astern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, Neiv Yorl:, as the place 
of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant 
to Article of ·.;ar 50-~. · 

3. The evidence· for t:1e prosecution summarizes as follows~ 

Specification 1 

On 10 .October 1944 accused was Gn route from a hospital to 
his unit, Company F, 30th Infantry. He reached the Service Company _of 
the reginent, then stationed at or near the town of Eloyes, .France, and 
was to ride from th~re to Company F on a ration truck. He was informed 
as to this mode cf travel (R6,7). (The towns of Eloyes and Le Tholy, 
France, are in close proximity ·(Rl5)). Accused requested the clerk of 
Conpany F, then stationed Tiith the Service Company, to issue him a pair 
of shoes. The clerk referred him. to the supply sergeant who was vrith 
the Be.ttalion S-4 (R7). Accused, with permission of the clerk, then 
went to the kitchen for coffee. When the ration truck .arrived the 
clerk coul<l not find acci>.sed and did not see him again until the even­
ing of 19 Novembe; v;hen he encountered him in the orderly room of the 
company at Bult, France (R9). The supply sergeant testified that on 
10-11 October accused <lid not come to him and request issuance of shoes 
(Rl2,13). On 10-11 October Company F was engaged in active front-line 
operations against the enemy (Rll,l.3,16). Accused rras not present with 
his company from 10 October to 9 llovember and permission had not been 
granted him to be absent (Rl6). An extract copy of the morning report 
of the company dated 24 October 1944 was admitted in evidence dthout 
objection (R14,15; :Fros .Ex.A). It shows the following entry as to 
accused: 

"Fr hosp unk LD NBC to reasgd to AWOL sc 
10 Oct. 11 
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In a pre-trial voluntary stater.ient made to the investiGating 
officer, accused stated: 

11 0zi or about 10 October 1944, I was returni!lg 
from the hospital b~cl: to the Company. I 
had very poor shoes on and needed a nevr pair. 
I vrent back to the town of Bloyes, France, 
where I found the Company Clerk, and he told 
me that Sgt Rankin, the Supply Sgt of the Com­
pany, would have to get the shoes for me. I 
got to thinking of the artillery up there and 
decided not to go back. .I went to Remiremont, 
France, and from there to Marseille, France, 
where I stayed until I ?:as picked up by the 
MP' s on the 9th of November 1944" (R21; Pros. 
Ex.D). 

Specification 2 

On 19 November 1944, Company F was in a bivouac area at Bult, 
France, 15 kilometers from the front lines. At 1900 hours it commenced 
to move forward to make a crossing o.f the L:eurthe river. It was an 
active operation against the enemy which resulted in a definite "break 
through11 of his line. The attack ~1as scheduled to commence early on 
the morning of 20 November (R9,13,14,17 ,18). 

Accused appeared at the orderly room of the company on the 
afternoon of 19 November (P.8). He drew clothing and equipment from 
the company supply sergeant (Rl3). The executive officer of the com­
pany talked ~i.th accused (Rl7). In the evening of 19 November Company F 
loaded its vehicles and moved forward toward the I\leurthe river. Im­
mediately before loading operations commenced, accused was pr~sent with 
his company (Rl7). When the company reached the river about 0300 hours, 
20 November, a fev1 shells from the enemy fell on it. 'l'he first sergeant 
of the compnny checked v;ith the platoon sergeants and accused ':'las re­
ported as missing and he could not be found. He had no authority to 
leave the company (Rl7-19). ' 

An extract copy of the morning report of Company F of 28 lfovem­
be'r, admitted in evidence without objection (R20; Pros .Ex.B), shows the 
follmving vri th respect to accused: 

11Fr AWOL sc 19 Nov. to ar in Regt'l Stockade 
sc 21 Nov. 11 

The extra-judicial voluntary statement of accused (Pros.Ex.D) 
contains the following relevant statement: 
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111 was returned back to the Company, on the 
19th of November 1944. When the Company 
loaded on the trucks, I got on with the pla­
toon and went as fa:r as an intersection when 
the truck stopped. I got ·off. I told no 
one that I was getting off. I caught a ride 
with a TD and went with them. The next day, 
they turned me over to the Division MP's" 
(R21,22; Pros.Ex.D). 

4. After an explanation of his rights, accused elected to remain 

silent and presented no evidence in defense (R22,2J). 


5. All of the elements of the offenses alleged were proved beyond 
reasonable doubt. Accused deliberately absented himself without author­
ity from his company on both occasions when he learned that he was about 
to join in active combat. That he desired to avoid the hazards and 
perils of battle is the only reasonable conclusion which can be drawn from 
his conduct. Substantial competent evidence sustains the findings of the 
court as to both specifications (CM ETO 4054, Carey et al; CM ETC 5393, 
Leach; CM ETO 5565, Fendorak. 

' 
6. The charge sheet shows th8.t accused is 23 yea:rs of age. He 

was inducted 6 August- f943 to serve for the """duration of the war plus six 
months. He had no prior service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. · No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such 

other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58). The designa­

tion of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­

haven, New York, as the place of confinement{!.s authorized (AW 42; 


Cir.210, WD, 14 Sep 194), sec.VI,~!::,~~¥- ·... 
---1-'J(;__,~~ /_~1J.;_________ Judgd Advocate 

__h_~d_·~ C_ ____Judge Advocate _.__ .. _~ · 

~£..~Judge Advocate 
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BRANCH OFFICE OF THE JUDGE ADVOCATE GENERAL 

with the 

European Theater of Operations 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 2 

CM ETO 7047 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Private WALTER D. GAITHER 
(34552516), Battery "C", 
333rd Field Artillery 
Battalion 

APO 887 

' 21 FEB 1945 

) VIII C<RPS 
) 
) 

~ Trial by GCM, convened at Bastogne1 
) Belgium, 15, 16 December 1944. 
) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge 1 
) total i'orteitures arxl. continement 
) at hard labor i'or ten years, United 

States Penitentiary, Lewisburg,~ Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW N0.2 
VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SI..EEIBR, JOO.ge .ldTOcates 

le _The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review and found legally sufficient to sup­
port the sentence. 

2. Confinemmt in a penitentia17 is authorized for the o.f'tense 
of taking and using without the oonsent 'of the ~er, a motor nhicle, 
for the profit, use or ~:purpose of the taker (AW 42; District ot Columbia 
Code, sec.22-2204 (6:62)). However as accused is under 25 years of age 
arxl. the sentence ia fer not more than ten years the place of confinement 
should be cha~ed to the Federal Reformatory, Chillicothe, Dbio (Cir.291; 
WD, 10 Nov.1943, sec.v, par.3.!; as amen:ied by Cir.25, WD, 22 Jan.1945, 
sec.II). 

AGPO 2-~5119MIC50~A8CO 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

~uro.pean Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

CI:.i ETO 7078 

UNI'l.'ED S T A T E S 

v. 

Private ARTHUR L. JONES 
(34411490), Corr.pa.ny B, 
356th Engineer General 
Service Regiment 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

19 MA~ 1945. 

NOR1iANDY B....\SE SECTlCii:, COI:1.'Ul\ICA­
TI01'.S ZONE, EUH9PEM. THl!.1\T:t:I1 UF 
OPEHA'l'Ivl'<S 

Trial by GCK, convened ;;. t GranviJJ e, 
Manche, France, 12 Lecer.;bf?1· Jc,'44. 
Sentence: Dishor101-c bJ e (; isctL·I'f;E', 
total forfeitures ·8nC:t crr11'~1.e::·Nt 
at hard labor for life. United 
States Penitentj&ry, I~wisburg, 
Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

RITER, BURROW and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. 
fication: 

Accused was 
~ 

tried upon the following Charge and Speci­
4 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 
I 

Specifica.tion: In that Private .Arthur L. Jones, 
Company "B", 356th Engineer General Service 
Regiment, did, at Viessoix, Calvados, France, 
on or about 17 October 1944 forcibly and 
felonio?sly, agai~sther ·will, have carnal 
knowledge of Madame l1ladeleine Porquet, 
Vaudry, Calvados, France. 
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I 
He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of 
the court present at the time the vbte was taken concurring, 
was found guilty of the Charge and Specification. No evi­
dence of previous convictions was introduced. Three-fourths 
of the me.rr:bers of the court present at the time the vote 
was taken concurring,\ he was sentenced to be dishonorably 
discharged the service; to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due apd to be confined at hard labor, at 
such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for the 
term of his natural life •. The reviewing authority approved 
the sentence, designated the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and 
forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to Article 
of War 50t. 

3. Prosecution's evidence and also the testimony of 
the defendant proved that at the time and place alleged 
three separate and distinct acts of intercourse occurred 
between accused and !.'.:adame Porquet. The situation thus 
presented is governed by the following proposition: 

"It is generally held that, where the indictment 
charges but a single act and two or more are 
disclosed ~Y the evidence, the prosecution 
should be"compelled, on motion of defendant, 
to elect on which"one it will rely. 
* * * Where different acts of intercourse are 
introduced in evicence and no CTotion for 
election is made, the trial court should, 
of its own motion,.require the prosecution 
to elect which act it seeks to rely on, or 
the court should treat the first act as to 
which the state introd~ces evidence as the 
act it elects to rely on, and should instruct 
the jury to confine. itself to such evidence, 
and to consider the evidence of the other 
acts merely as corroboration. Too, where 
no motion is made to compel the prosecution 
to elect, defendant cannot complain on 
appeal because no actual election was made, 
it being presumed in such a case that the 
prosecution elected to stand by the offense 
first shown by the evic.ence and that the 
evidence of th~ other acts was introduced 
to corroborate and explain the evidence of 
the act charged" (52 C.J., sec.138, PP• 
1106,1107). 
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Therefore, the findings of accused's guilt will 
depend upon the evidence relevant to and surrounding the 
first act of intercourse. The only pertinent inquiry re­
quired by the record of trial is whether :Madam Porauet con­
sented to this particular act of intercourse or ~hether she 
submitted under fear of her own life or of bodily harm. On 
this issue the evidence of the prosecution and of the defense 
is in ccnflict. 

"There is e. difference between consent and 
submission; every consent involv~s submis­
sion, but it by ho means follows that a 
mere submission involves· consent * * * '' 
(52 CJ, sec.26, pp.1017). 

"Consent, however reluctant, negatives 
rape; but when the woman is insensible 
through fright or where she ceases re­
sistance under fear of death or other 
great harm (such fear being gaged by 
her own capacity), the consummated act 
is rape" (1 Wharton's Criminal Law(l2th
Ed.1932), sec.701, p.942). 

The question whether the.victim, without intimidation of any
kind, fully consented to the act of intercourse or ~hether 
it was committed by accused by force, violence, terrorization 
and against her will, was a question of fact within the 
exclusive province of the court. In the instant case there 
is substantial evidence that Madam Porquet was overcome by 
fear of death or bodily harm and that the submission of her 
body to the lust of accused was not a free, voluntary act. 
under such state of the evidence the finding of the court, 
notwithstanding accused's statements to the contrary, will 
not be disturbed by the Board of Review on appellate review 
(CM ETO 3740, Sanders,et al; CM ETO 3933, Ferguson, et al; 
CM ETC 4194, Scott; er:: :C.TO 5363, Skinner; C1it ETO b042, Dalton). 

4. The charge sheet shows the accused is 26 years 4 
months of age. He was inducted 29 August 1942 at F'ort 
Benning, Georgia to serve for the duration of the war plus 
six months. He had no prior service. 

5. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdic­
tion of the person and of the offense. No errors injuriously
affecting the substantial rights of accused were committed 
during the trial. (}he Board of Review is of the opinion

· • that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support 
the findings and the sentence. 
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6. The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment 
a.s the court-marti-al may direct (AW 92). Confinement in a 
penitentiary is authorized upon conviction of rape by Article 
of War 42 and sections 278 and 330, Federal Crimir1al Code · 
(18 USCA 457,567). The designation of the United States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania as .the place of _con­
fir:.ement .is proper. (Cir. 229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars. 
1£(4) ,3]2). 

/ /

Ji,r?'.,/ ~' /-:
1--~/--~.,~'--'~-·~-'-4-.~·--''_ ~--~Judge .Advocate·_,__ 

I 

A4Z~_Judge Advocate 

J:k. ;tL [~ ..+Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO BS? · 

BO.ARD OF REVIEl.'l NO. 1 

CM ETO 7086 

UNITED STATES) 

v. ~ 
) 

Private (formerly Private ) 
First Class) DULLIO DELL ) 
AMUR.A (31316192), Company ) 
I, 13th Infantry ~ 

21 FEB 1945 

8TH INFANTRY DIVISION 

Trial by GCM, convened at APO 8, 
u. s. Army, 18 January 1945. 
Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
total forfeitures and confinement 

·at hard labor for life. United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania. 

HOLDilfil by BOARD OF REVIm NO. 1 

RITER, SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case or the soldie::- named above 
has been examined by the Board or Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 
' 

Specification: In that Private Emillio Dell Amura, 
Company I, Thirteenth Infantry, then Private 
First Class, did, without proper leave, absent 
himself from his organization in the vicinity 
of Bergstein, Germany, from about 15 December 
1944, to about 23 December 1944. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 5Sth Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Emillio Dell Amura, 
Company I, Thirteenth Infantry, did, in the 

708~: 
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vicinity of Brandenberg, Germany, on or 
about 1730, 3 January 1945, desert the 
service of the United States by absent­
ing himself from his place of duty, with 
the intent to avoid hazardous duty to 
wit: combat duty against an armed enemy 
of the United States, and did remain 
absent in desertion until he surrendered 
himself .in the· rear at I Compa.'ly Iatchen, 

·Thirteenth Infantry, in the vicinity of 
Klienhau, Germany, on or about 2100 1 3 
January 1945. 

Ee pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty 
of both charges and specifications. No evidence of previous convic­
tions was introduced. Three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced 
to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and 
allowances due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor 
at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for the period 
of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, 
designated the United States Penitentia..-..y, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 
as the place of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for 
action pursuant to .J.rticle of War 5ot. 

J. Charge I and Sryecification. Accused's guilt of absence with­
out leave from his organization from 15 December 1944 to.23 December 
1944 was established beyond all reasonable doubt. 

4. Charge II and Specification. Prosecution's evidence sup­
porting this charge summarizes as follow~: 

On 3 January 1945, Conpany I, lJth Infantry, was located 
about 1800 yards from the enemy lines at coordinates 065342, map of 
Eideggen, Sheet no. 5.304 Germany, scale 1/25000 (F.16). Accused at 
about 1000 hours on said date was taken by his squad leader, Sergeant 
Theodore Keyes, ·to the regimental S-1 who informed him that he was to 
be tried by a special court-martial for a previous offense, but in 
the interim he was returned to the conpany for full duty. 
to the company accused said to Serbeant I~eyes: 

On the way 

"--the snecial, I wu.nt a ger.ei•al court. 
· All tl1ey will co with a specic:.l. is take 
m~· noney ariay from I!'.e, I would rather have 
a gen"ral" (Ii.9). 

AccuseC: and hfa squad leader rettirnec1 to t~•e cor:p(.ny (TI9) and v1ith 
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taree other enlisted :-ier ·1s~·e s-!;at:.o~:.ed. in the basement of a building 
situated about 450 to 500 yards from the area of acclisec 1 :.' s('_1·.ad. Jue 
to heavy artillery, machine gun e.nd nortar fi;re the squad leader, ac­
cused 8.nd other enlisted i.en rer.:ained in the building all day (P..9,11, 
13) o I 

The company commander, acting pursuent to directions of his 
battalion connender, during the afternoon of 3 Janua!'"IJ issued orders 
directing Company I to relieve the 8th Reconnaissance Group in the 
,front lines that evening, and at 1700 hours directed that the movement 
of the company would commence at 1900 hours (Rl7). Accused's squad 
leader received such order, promptly communicated the same to accused 
and other members of the group and directed them to pack their equip­
ment· (Ll0,13). At 1730 hours Sergeant Keyes, accused an? the other 
soldiers left the building to proceed to the squad area. It was· ex- · 
ceedingly dark. Accused was last seen by Keyes as he came out of the 
building. When the group arrived at the squad area accused ,;as missing. 
A limited search of the building and area failed to reveal accused. 
He had no authority to absent himself' (Rl.0,11,13,14,17). At 2100 hours 
on 3 January accused appeared at the company kitchen which was located 
in the field train area in the Hurtgen Forest (Pi.15) •. 

5.· After his rights were explained, accused in an unsworn state­
'ment asserted that he went to the kitchen in order to received from 
Staff Sergeant Charles Pierce an explanation of his special court­
martial papers (F23). He denied that he had stated to Keyes that "he 
wanted a general court" (P24). 

6. i'lhile the evidence is not as explicit as desirable with re­
spect to the location of tha company kitchen, it is sufficient to 
support the i.nf'erence that it was situate a considerable distance from 
the area of accused's squad. It was located in the "Hurtgen forest 
***in the field train" area. In any event accused's duty required 
him to be in his squad area at 1730 hours preparatory to move into the 
front lines with his company. He seized the opportunity afforded him 
by the movement of Sergeant Keyes' group from the building to the squad 
area to go, without perrnissiont to the company kitchen where he had no 
authority to be. His "place of duty" was the squad area; not the kit ­
chen. One and one half hours intervened betvreen the time he left his 
group until he appeared at the kitchen, during which time the com.pati;r 
moved to the line of batt:J.e. There can be no question that accused 
realized he would ~ace front line perils and hazards that night. He 
had been under enemy fire all day and therefore knew the enemy was in 
near proximity. From this body of. evidence the cotu.1 t was justified 
in drawing the inference that he deliberately absented himself' from 
his squad to avoid hazardous duty in the front lines. His guilt of 
the offense charged was fully proved (CM EI'O 2473, Cantwell; CM ETO 
4054, Carey et al; CU El'O 5293, Killen) 
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7. The charge sheet shows that acc~sec! is 19 years of ai.;e. 
He was inducted 13 February 1943 to serve for thE'l durution of the 
war plus six nonths. He ~ad no prior service. 

s·. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the person and offenses. !!o errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights _of accused were committed curing the trial. The 
Board of Review.is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the _findings of r,uilty and the sentence. 

9. The penalty for desertion in ti!"le of i:mr is death or such 
other punishment as a court-nartial r.ay direct (A~ 58). Confinement 
in a penitentiar:r is authorized by Article of ~·iar 42.. The desig­
nation of the trnited States Peniter.tiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 
as the place of confinement :.s proper (Cir.229, ':ID, 8 June 1944, 
sec.II, pars.1E(4) and 32}. 

Judge Advocate 

' ' 
____/;_·-'_a--t......._-_,.·_P_.,,_,_.____,...,_,_._·._-__/_.. _.____Judge Advocate 

,$.' .._,. ..· j, I 

____l."'"ttf...._t._··_,L_V....,_"-_·_'-~_I"""I(_·""'("""·c.....l"""l"'"'4-~.,.I.,""..__Judge Advoeate .
1/ 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


1'uropean Theater of Operations 

APO B87 


EClARD OF P..SVIE''i HO. 1 	 2'3 FEB 19~.. 5 

CLir 	 ETO 714B 

UNITED STATES ) JRD INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCU, convened at Yolsheim, 
) France, 19 December 1944. Sentence: 

Private .AMIEDIO V. GIOLIBETTI ) Dishonorable discharge, total for­
(31005452), Company L, ) fei tures and confinement at hard 
7th Infantry ) . labor for 50 years. Ea.stern Branch, 

) United States Disciplfnary Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. . . 

HOIDING by BQAPJ) OF Ri!.'VIE1d NO. l 

RITER, SHERMAN and ST3\0iS, Judge Advocates· 


1. The record of trial in. the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. -Accused was. tried upon the following Charge and.specifications: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification 1: In that Private Am:iedio V. Giombetti, 
11 L11Company .7th Infantry did, near Pozzuoli, 

Italy, on or about 7 August 1944, desert the 
service of the United States by absenting himself 
without proper leave from his organization, with 
intent to avoid hazardous duty, to wit: Combat 

• 	 with the enemy, and did remain ab·sent in deser­
tion until h.e surrendered himself to military 
authorities on or about 19 September 1944. 

I • 

Specification 2: In that * * * did, near Domfaing, 
France, on or about 6 October 1944, desert the 
service of the United States, by absenting 7148 
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himself without prope_r leave from his· organiza­
tion, with intent to avoid hazardous duty, to 

'wit: Combat with the en~, and did remain absent 
in desertion until he surrendered himself at 
Marseille, France, on or about 22 October 1944•. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all manbers of the court present at the time 
the vote was taken concurring,. was found guilt;?: of the Charge and speci­
ficatioas therewlder. No evidence of previous convictions was intro­
duced. All members of 'the court present at the time the vote was taken 
concurring, he was sentenced to be diShonorably discharged the service, 
to· forfeit all pay- and allow&nces due or to become due, and to be con­
fined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority ma.y direct, 
for the term of his natural lite. The reviewing authority approved the 
sentence but reduced the period of confinement to 50 years, designated the 
Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, 
as the place of confinement 1 and forwarded the record of trial for action 
pursuant to Article of War 50k· 

.3. a. Specification 1: On 6 August 1944 Company L, 7th Infantry, 
was stationed at Pozzuoli, Italy. Accused was a member of the .3rd Platoon 
of the company (RJ.2). Prior to that date the company received in~truc­
tions in amphibious warfare. Its vehicles had been waterproofed and 
waterproof gas masks had been issued to the personnel (RJ..3,15). Accused 
was issued a pass on that date. Under standard operationg procedure of 
the company the holder of a pass was required to return bo his company b;r 
reveille the next morning (Rl.5). Accused did not return on the morning 
of 7 August (Rl.3 ,15 ,16) and was shown on the company morning report as 
absent without leave on said date (RlO; Pros.Ex.l). In an extra judicial 
written statement voluntarily given in the pre-trial investigation, 
accused stated: · ·· 

"On 6 August 1944 at Pozzouli, Italy, ·after 
a month of Amphibious Training, I left my'Com­
pany because I wanted a rest from soldiering. 
When I left on 6 August 1944 I knew we had 
been training for combat and would return to 
combat.' I stayed away from my Company till 
~bout 15 ~e:pt. 1944 when I turned in to M.P. 1 s 
in Naples (R20; Pros.Ex.2). 

The company thereafter made an amphibious landing on the shores of 

southern France (Rl6). The court and the Board of Review may take 

judicial notice of the historic fact that the first increment of 

American troops landed on·the shores of southern France between 

Marseille and Nice on 15 August 1944 (MCM, 1928, par.125, p.1.34; 

Neely v. Henkel, 180 U.S. 109, 45 L.Ed. 115; Oetjen v. Central Leather 

Co., 246 U.S. 297, 62 L.F.d. 726; Ex Parte Zimmerman, CCA 9th, 1.32 Fed 

(2n:l) 442; The Austvard (DC, Maryland), 34 Fed.Supp.431). 
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The evidence in the case, supplemented by accused's state­
m~nt, was of such substantial nature as to permit the court to infer 
that accused, with full knowledge that his company would participate 
in the expedition to France at an early date, deliberately absented 
himself from his organization in order to avoid such hazardous duty. 
All elements of the offense charged were proved ( C:.! ETO '2473, Cantwell 
and authorities therein cited; Cl.{ ETO 4054, Carey et al).. . . 

b. Specification 2: Accused's voluntary pre-trial state­
ment (R20; Pros.Ex.2) also contained the following: 

110n 6 Oct. 1944 I had been returned to my Regi­
ment in Vagney, France, 'illien I returned I 
knew the company was in the lines but I left 
again that day because I couldn't stc.nd the 
artillery fire. On about 10 November I 
a.gain turned in at i'.arsailles, France and was 
brought to the 7th Inf. Stockade on e Decem­
ber 1944". 

. , 

On 6 October 1944, Company L, 7th Infantry, occupied a defense position 
near Vagney, France, and was under heavy artillery fire (R21). Vagney 
is near Domfa.ing, France (R22). Accused's absence from his company · 
without authority on 6 October was shown by the comp~y morning re­
port (Rl8; Pros.Ex.l). His pre-trial extra judicial statement (Pros. 
Ex.2) may therefore be c.onsidered in determining his guilt. The 
above-quoted excerpt therefrom1 vmen considered with evidence of Com­
pany L's tactical position on 6 August, obviously convicts accused 
of the'offense charged (See authorities quoted supra, par.3.a). 

4., The charge sheet shows that accused is 23 year 9 months 
of age. Ee was inducted at Worcester, :~assachusetts, 1 March 1941, 
to serve for OLe year. Eis service period' is ::overned by the ::iervice 
11'.xtension A~t of 1941. Ee had no prior service. 

5. The.court was legally.constituted an~ had jurisdiction of 
the persons and offenses; l~o errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of accused were conmrl.tted during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to su;.:iport the 'findings of guilty and the sentence. 

6•. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such 
other punishment as a court-martial may direct (A,.; 58). The desig­
nation' of the Eastern Branch, United States DisciplinC?.IJ<· Barracks, 
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Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, is authorized 
(Al'l 4;a; Cir.210, \'iD, 14 Sep. 1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

_·.--~--·~-··:.&:._·_h_t__Judge Advocate 

fh~ l. ~Judge Advocate 

~ {. ~ lJudge Advocate 
1 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the · 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 8m 

BOARD OF REVIEVT NO. 2 


CM ETO 7153 

UNITED STATES) 

) 

) 

) 


Private JAMES E. SEITZ ) 

(19048854), Company L, ) 

7th Infantry ) 


) 

) 

3RD INFANTRY DIVISION 

Trial by GCM, convened at N.olsheim, 
France, 19 December 1944. Sentence: 
Dishonorable.discharge, total for­
feittn-es and confinement at hard 
labor for life. Eastern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
GreenhaTen, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. ~ 


VAN BENSCHOTEU, HILL and JULIAN, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case o£ the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board o£ Review. 

2. Accused 11'8.S tried upon the following Charge and· specifica­
tions: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of \"Tar. 

Specification 1: In that Frivate James E. Seitz, 
Company "L" 7th Infantry did, near Dornfaing, 
France, on or about 20 October 1944, desert 
the service of the United States by absent­
ing himself without proper"leave from his 
organization, with intent to avoid hazardous 
duty, to wit: Combat with the enemy, aDi 
did.remain absent in desertion until he sur­
rendered himself to his ~ompany on or about 
27 October 1944. 
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Specif'ication 2: In that * * :* near Les Rouge 
Ea.ux, France, on or about JO October 1944, 
desert the service of the United States.by 
absenting himself without proper leave 
from his organization, with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, to wit: Combat with the 
ener.iy, and did remain absent in desertion 
m1til be came into military control on or 

·about 7 December 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty. The couxt amended Specification 2 so that 
the closing phrase reads "at a time and place unknown". (Rl?) .All 
the members of the court present when the vote was taken concur­
ring, he was found guilty of the Charge and both specif'ications. 
No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. Three-fourths 
of the members of the court present when the vote was taken con­
curring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 
to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become•due, and to be 
confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority 
may direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewing auth­
ority approved the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place 
of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action pur- . 
suant to the provisions of Article of ~·rar 5(}.l;.. ~ 

J. The evidence for the prosecution shows that on 20 October 
1944 accused was a member of Company L, 7th Infantry, which organi­
zation, on this date, moved from Eloyes to an area near Domfaing, 
France (R9,11,12). Accused was present with his company during 
this movement (RlO). His company moved into 'an assembly area and 
was ready to attack with t.he 45th Division,RlO). T/5 1'iartin Goldberg, 
the company clerk, who had the duty to keep a check and to make a 
report of all present and absent, wounded or killed, testified that 
the enetey' "threw shells in continuoualy" and that L Company suffered 
three or four casualties while in the assembly area prior to the 
attack (R9,10,ll). Before moving out the company was reformed by 
platoons and.when they moved out to atta~k the enemy, accused was 
absent. Goldberg made a search for him througnout the area. He 
"'.&.coked" and 11yelled" for accused but did not find him (RlC). He 
was next seen when he "returned to duty" on Z7 October 1941~ (Rl0,11). 
An extract copy of the morning report of Company L, 7th Infantry 
was received in evidence showing accused's absence without leave · 
from his organization on 20 October 1944 and his return to military 
control on 27 October 1944, as alleged (R8; Pros.Ex.A). . 

On JO October 1944, Company L was located near Les Rouge 

Eaui, France and was prAparing to again attack the enemy (P.11,12). 

The company moved out in attack towards W.aramosa, France and ran 

into heavy fire from "flack wagons, SP guns, mortars and machine 

guns" (Rll). Although the number of casualtie~ in this engagement 
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is not shoV111, the company commander was wounded and the company 

considerably disorganized by enemy action (Rll). Accused was 

present with hiJl company prior to the attack but missing when 

a personnel check was lllB.de subsequent to the battle (Rll). He 

was not wounded and his 8bsence was unauthorized (R8,ll). He 

was next seen by T/5 Goldberg on 19 December 1944 (Rl2). An 

extract copy of the morning repo~t was introduced.shoving his 

absence from military duty from 30 October· until 8 December 1944 

(R8 t Pros .Ex.A). · 


4. After an explanation of his rights as a witness, accused 
elected to make an unsworn statement, through counsel, which state­
ment reads as follows: · 

"He joined the 3rd Division on Februar;r 
11 16, 1944 and was assigned to Company 

of the 15th Infantry. At the time the 

.. 	 accused joined the 3rd Division it was 

in combat on the Anzio Beachhead. The 

acctised served in the capacity of a 

squad leader in that company through­
out the campaign on the Anzio B~achhead. 


He made the push to Rome from the Anzio 

Beachhead with the 15th Regiment. The 

accused was then transferred to the 7th 

Infantry cervice Company and served in 

the capacity of Supply Sergeant until 

the regular replacement arrived for that 


11 1TO vacancy. He was then assigned to 
Company, a rifle company in the 7th In­
fantry during the first week of Septem­
ber 1944, and fought with that company 
i~ the capacity of a rifleman throughout . 
the remainder of the campaign in ~outhern 
France. The accused has never been A'llOL. 
There are ·no previous-convictions whatso­
ever in this case; in fact, this accused 
has never before appeared before any type 
of military court whatsoever"(Rl6,17) • 

. 	No witness appeared on behalf of accused and, after introduction 
of the above statement, the defense rested (Rl7). 

5. Competent uncontradicted evidence establishes that accused 
absented himself withoutproper leave from his organization on 20 
October 1944 and remained in unauthorized absence until he volun­
tarily returned to his company on Z'l October 1944. And that on 30 
October he again absented himself without leave from his organi­
zation and that he remained absent until he return~rl to military 
control at a time and place unknown. At the time of his first 
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absence, his organization had moved to an assembly area and reformed 
preparatory to joining the 45th Infantry Division in an attack against 
the enemy, near Dornfaing, 'France. Their position was then being 
shelled "continuously" and the coI:Ipan_v suffered casualties. At the 
time accused absented himseli' on the second occasion,. his company 
was again preparing to move out in attac~ age.inst the en\?my. This 
time thP- movement was towards Maramosa, France, when the company • 
"ran into" heavy .fire from enemy "fleck wagons, SP guns, mortar and 
machine guns". As a resUlt of this engagement accused 1 s company 
commander was ~ounded and the company considerably disorganized. 
Prior to each of these .engagements accused was nresent with his 
company but absent there.from during and subsequent to the battles. 
His absence was unauthorizPd. Under such circumstances the court 
was fully justified in finding that on each occasion accused knew 
that an attack against the enemy was about to be :made and that he 
absented himself with .the spec1.fic intent, to avoid such haza]:"dous 
duty, within tlie meaning of Article of War 58 (CM ETO 4743,GotRchall; 
CM ETO 6093, Ingersoll; CM ETO 6rn, Transeau). . 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 31 years of age, 

and that he enlisted· on 28 September 1940 at Fort MacArthur, Cali ­
fornia. He had no prior se~ice. . · 


7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 

the person and offenses. Nd errors injuriously affecting the sub~ 

stantial rights of Mcused were committed during the trial. The · 


. Board 	of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

. 8. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such 

other punishment aa a court-martial may direct (AW 58). The desig­

nation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 

Greenhaven, Ne-.1 York, o.s the place of conf'inement, is authorized 

(AW 42; Cir.210, f.'D, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, ns amended). 


_.,....C...,.sr....cK IN OUART$S) . Judge Advocate 
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U N I T E D S T A T E S ) 
) 

8TH INFANTRY DIVISIC!T 

v. ) 
) 

Trial by GCU, convened at APO 8, 
U. S. Army, 31January1945. Sen­

Private CHESTER A. HENDI:RSHor ) tence: Dishonorable discharge, total 
(39209008), Company C, ) forfeitures and confinement at ha.rd 
13th Infantry · ) labor for life. Eastern Bre.nch, 

) 
) 

United States Disciplinary Barrack~, 
Greenhaven, Ne\'T York. 

HOLDlNG by BOARD OF REVIEJ NO. 1 

RITER, SHERMAN and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused l'las tried upon the folloVTing Charge e.nd Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of ~far. 

Specification: L~ that Private Chester·A. Hender­
shot, Company C, Thirteenth Infantry, did, 'in 
the vicinity of Brandenberg, Germany, on or 
about 24 December 1944, desert the service of 
the United States by absenting himself without 
proper leave from his organization, with the 
intent to avoid hazardous duty to wit: combat 
duty against an armed enemy of the United States~ 
and did remain absent in desertion until he 
surrendered himself to the ~!ilitary Police at 
Verviers, Belgium, on or about 3 January 1945. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was· taken concurring, 1-ras found guilty of . .. 
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the Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. T~re~-fourtrs of the members of the court precent at the 
time the vote v·as taken· concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably 
dischs.rged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to be­
come due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the review­
ing authority may direct, for the term of his natural life, The re­
viewing authority approved the sentence, desir,nated the Eastern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place 
of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant 
to Article of ~·;ar 50k. - . 

3, The evidence showed that on 24 December 1944 accused was a 
member of the 1st Squad, 3rd Platoon, Company C, 13th Infantry (R9). 
On the morning of said date the company was attached in support of the 
12lst Infantry and was located in a wooded area in the vicinity of 
Brandenberg, Germany (R5). During the night of 23-24 December Company C 
had been subjected to enemy artillery fire. Probably a dozen rounds 
fell during the night (RS) at a distance of 200 to 400 yards from the 
company area (R6,U). Ha.chine-gun fire could be heard in the distance. 
The enemy was located 700 or 800 yards from the platoon (Rll). At 0600 
hours 24 December, the company commander issued an order to the commander 
of accused's platoon that an attack on the enemy would coml'lence at 0830 
hours. The platoon commander repeated the order to his platoon ser­
geants and squad leaders about 0700 hours (R5-7). Accused had been on 
guard during the night,. but was selected by his squad leader to become 
a member of a detail whic~ would proceed a distance estimated by witnesses 
to be from 400 to 800 yards to•the rear to secure rations for the platoon's 
breakfast (RS-10) •• He left the platoon in a. detail of five men and pro­
ceeded to the ration point (Rl2,14,15,19). He did not return to the 
platoon from the mission (Rl0,14,19). A search of the platoon area 
failed to reveal him (Rl6). The company attacked at about 0830 hours 
and encountered the enemy about 600 or 700 yards from the line of depar­
ture (Rll,15). The accused voluntarily surrendered himself to the 
military police on 3 January 1945 at Verviers, Belgium (R.20), \vhich is 
35 to 40 miles distant from Brandenberg, Germany (R19). 

4, Accused, as a witness in his own behalf, stated that he had 
been placed on the raticn detail at 0530 hours 24 December; that he pro­
ceeded to the ration point with the detail but that when he reached it he 
"just kept on going. I didn't stop, sir". He went to Verviers, Belgium, 
with the intention of remaining a few days in order to rest (R23). He 
admitted he absented himself without leave (R24), but asserted that he 
did not consider the platoon a hazardous place (R24) and did not leave. 
it to avoid danger (R.23). Verviers, Belgium, was in the rear of the 
platoon position. The la.st enemy shell came into the platoon area 
about 1500 hours on 23 December and there was harassing fire from the 
enemy on the evening of said date (R24). Accused testified that when 
his squad leader placed him on the ration detail he did not inform him 
of either an alert or attack order (R.23). 
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) • The evidence is clear and positive t)'n't on the morning of 
24 December 1944, at the time accused left the platoon for the ration 
point, his,platoon was under orders to attacY.: the enemy ~hich was 
located about 700 or 800 yards fror:: the platoon area; that r.hen he arrived 
at the ration point he left the detail "'ithout authority and thereafter 
remained absent for 10 days' after ':rhich he surrendered to military . 
authorities at Verviers, Belgium, 35 or 40 niles distant from the platoon's 
position on 24 December. Two of the fundamental elements of the offense 
charged were therefore established without contradiction (Cfl ETO 2432, 
Durie; CM ET0-2481, Newton). With respect to accused's knowledge of the 
imminence of the attack; his squad leader testifiec that at the time he 
placed accused on the ration detail he informed him that he was alerted 
tb move and to prepare his bedding roll (Rll,12). Private First Class 
James E. Henderson, a menber of the ration detail, stated that the squad 
leader's order given prior to departure of the detail was for the detail 
to prepare their rolls as the platoon was to attack at 0830 hours (RlJ,15). 
Private William C~ Schaff, another mer.lber of the.ration detail, asserted 
the squad leader gave the detail ~h order to nroll up our, rolls" _before 
it departed and that he considered such order an attack order (Rl8,20). 
Private Elmore Seders stated the attack order was given after breakfast 

· (R21). Accused denied that the squad leader gave him either an alert 
or attack order (R2J). . 

The question whether accused was given actual notice as to 
the e:xact hour of the attack is relevan~ to the issue but is not wholly 
determinative. · The over-all situation of the pla~oon must also be con­
sidered. It is manifest that the enerey- was only700 or 800 yards distant 
from it; that during the nibht the platoon had been under artillery fire 
and small-arms fire was heard in the vicinity. Accused and his unit 
were obviously on the front line confronting the enemy. · It was not in 
either a reserve or a rest area. Under these circumstances a question 
of fact for determination of the court was presented (Cri; ETO 1432, ~; 
Cr!. ETO 1589, Heppding;· CUETO 529.3, Killen). The summary above given· 
is convincing that there is· substantial evidence to support the court's 
finding that accused knew when he left the ration detail that his platoon 
would within a short period of time attack the enerey-. The question 
whether accused entertained the specific intent to avoid the hazardous 
duty which he lmew was awaitine ·him W&S also a question of fact for the 
court. The evidence is certainly adequate to support its finding on 
this issue. No other inference was possibl~ under the circumstances 
revealed (CI!, ETO 2473, Cantwell and authorities therein cited; CM ETO 
5293, Killen, supra). AcC\lsed's guilt was proved beyond reasonable 
doubt. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 19 years and two months 

of ,age. He was inducted 7 June 1943 to serve for the duration.of the 

war plus six months. He had no prior service. 
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7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
p~rson and offense. No errors inj'..lriously affectine the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion _,that the record is legally sufficient to suppqrt the 
findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The penalty for desertio~ in time of war is death or such other 
punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58). The designation of 
the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New 
York, a..s the place of confinement, is authorized (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 
14 Sep 1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

__&_,_:___ · _ ·, ____Judge Advocate.;.,..£·u..-_'_. / _.. _:-_

-----~~~-"<-...__ _,,._./._,_ . , _,,.~__.. _./. _ .. ; , _ _ _ : _ , _ _·_· .. .....iJudge Advocate 
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